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CHAPTER XXV.

Rovat. Epwarp LopoGge No. 5, P. R, At EpwarpsBurGH, Town-
sHtP OF EDWARDSBURGH, COUNTY OF GRENVILLE, 1794~
1822.—A LODGE WARRANTED AT QUEBEC FOR UPPER
CANADA.

The evil effect of duplicate names and numbers in connection
with early lodges places not a few obstacles in the way of giving
with absolute accuracy the gencalogical descent of some of the old
lodges.
For forty years past “ Royal Edward Lodge, No. 5, Edwards-
burgh,” * No. 5, Edwardsburgh” and * Ptince Edward Lodge.” at
Halicwwell, have been thought to form an inextricable Masonic
maze It is only within a few vears that the identity of the lodges
was fined, and but during the last few months that a scarch of the
archives of the Grand Lodge of England has dissipated much which
has obscured the Craft vision for half a century.

Of these three lodges two were in the township of Edwards-
burgh, in the county of Grenville, both at a village called Johns-
town, three miles northeast of Prescott in the old Johnstown dis-
trict  The first of these was warranted at Quebec by the Provin-
cial Grand Lodge of Lower Canada on the 3oth October, 1792. It
was hnown as " Royal Edward” lodge. The second was a lodge
known as lodge No. 5, Edwardsburgh, warranted by R. W. Bro.
Wm Tarvis in 1794-3. and included in the return made by him to the
tirand Lodge of England in 1797. The last lodge of the trio was
Prince Fdward at Hallowell in Prince Edward county, which was
in the old Prince Edward district. It was warranted in 1811. These
three badges were separate organizations. DBut the fact that two
were i the township of Edwardsburgh with the word * Edward”
n cach title led to a lengthened search which has eventually
brought the truth to hight.

In 1793 H. R. H. Prince Edward was the Provincial (rand
Master of Lower Canada. The first official record of “ No. 3. The
Renal FEdward lodge.” is in an official list sent with a letter to the
Grand Ladge of Fugland by Bro. James Davidson. Grand Sccre-
zavv. Province of Lower Canada. which states that the lodge was
conetituted “ 3oth October, 1792,” and that it was

Formed and held in the City of Quebec, and to be held elsewhere so iar as
= ay be expedient for the general good of the Ancient Craft, at the petition of
ke Mcmbers, who intend to settle on Lands in the Upper Province. and pre-
ferring His Royal Higneid's warrant to that of Mr. Jarvis, conceiving 1t wili
te *oo the greater advantage of the Ancient Masons. They are ordered to put
e wives under the authority of the Grand Lodge of Upper Canada white
srev are inside there. Meet un every second Saturday of every Month ™

In the official lists of Lower Canada. issued sth January, 1703-
5 the lodge is given as “ No. 5. Roval Edward Lodge at Ed-
vardsburgh, Upper Canada.” and in 1798 in the “list of lodges”
w der Lower Canada. the lodge appears as “ No. 3, Roval Fd-
ward Lodge at FEdwardshurgh, Upper Canada,” the only lodge in
the list which met in that province.



534 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

The minutes ot No. 241, E. R, Quebec, a lodge of the Grand
Lodge of England (Ancients) for 14th July, 1793, show that a Bro
Phillips, of No. 5, Upper Canada, was a visitor. This was the
father of R. W. Bro. Ziba M. Phillips, who in after years was sa
prominent in Canadian Craft circles.

On the oth August, 1793, Bro. Phillips and Bro. F. Scott, both
registering from No. 5, Upper Canada, were made Mark Master
Masons in a lodge of that degree attached to No. 9, E. R., Quebec.
In the minutes preserved of lodges meeting in Quebec for ten
years from this date are found the names of Upper Canada Masons.
Of these Bros. Samuel Sherwood, Reuben Sherwood and Smades
are found in the records of No. 24I.

In the official proceedings of the Provincial Grand Lodge of
Lower Canada, issued at Quebec on 28th December, 1816, under
the heading “ Lodges under the jurisdiction of the Grand Lodge
of Lower Canada,” *“ No. 5, (X) Royal Edward Lodge, at Edwards-
burg, UP. Can,” ard “ No. 10 (X) Zion Lodge, Detroit, Upper Can-
ada,” are given. A foot note shows that all lodges marked ““ X"
were “ Lodges having no permanent situation, and not making re-
turns to this Grand Lodge.” In the official list of Lower Canada
of 28th December, 1817, “ No. 5” is given, but on the list of 28th
December, 1818, that number is blank.

The official circular of the Provincial Grand Lodge at Niagara
iscued 2oth January, 1800, by the secretary, Bro. Tiffany, states
that for the convenience of lodges No. 5 at Edwardsburgh, No. €
at Kingston, No. 7 at Fredericksburgh and No. 13 at Elizabeth
town, all of which were in the Kingston district, Bro. \Wm. McKav.
had been appointed Deputy Grand Secretary. This notice applied te
“No. 5" Edwardsburgh of the Jarvis register, and not to No. &
Royal Edward.

In the same circular the Grand Secretary notifies the Craft ol
an expulsion “ by our lodge No. 5,” thus indicating that there were
two lodges of that number. On the 1st August, 1R0c, the Pro-
vincial Grand Secretary, in his official <.rcular from Niagara, calls
attention to a circular of the Grand Lodge of Lower Canada, and
points out that “the Grand Lodge of that Province " had expelled
a brother of “ No. 5, Edwardsburgh.” This is further proof that
there were two Nos. 5, one under Lower Canada, and the othet
under Upper Canada obedience.

R. W. Bro. Benjamin McAllister in his report to the Kingston
Convention on 8th February, 1819, writes:

* At Johnstown are two lodges, the brethren of No. 5 and of Harmony
I.odgc.' who assembled manifested a strong desire of ambition. and he
entertains no doutt that their exertions wil prove successiul.”

_ This shows that there were two lodges at Johnstown. This
“No. 5" must have been “ Royal Edward,” for at the Grand Ma-
sonic Convention at Kingston on 15th February, 1820, W. Bro.
Richard D. Fraser represented “ Royal Edward No. 5. and W. Bro.
Frederick Keeler “ Harmony Lodge, Johnstown, No. 24" Tt is
peculiar that No. § was not represented at the earlier meetings.

The Harmony lodge No. 24 referred to by Bro. McAllister was
warranted by R. W. Bro. Jarvis in December, 1R810. and was con-
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stituted, and the officers installed on the 19th December, by W. Bro.
J. Y. Cozens and three P. M’s of Athol lodge No. 3, Cornwall.

The investigation into the history of *“ No. 5, Royal Edward”
leads to the belief that “ No. 5, E.dwardsburgh,” of the Jarvis regis-
ter, united with it under the original title of “ Royal Edward No.
s.” and that Harmony lodge, No. 24, was a separate organization
warranted by the Kingston Convention, and that when DBro. Mec-
Allister reported  on the two lodges at Johnstown he meant the
united “ No. 5”°and “ No. 24.”

When the Kingston Convention was fori.ed the secretary ot
that body wrote to the W. M. of No. 5 requesting the attendance
of a delegate from that lodge. In his reply it will be observed that
the W. M. uses the term “ Prince Edward’s Lodge, No. 5.” It
would seem as if the terms “ Prince Edward” and “ Roval Ed-
ward " were used indiscriminately—as will be seen subsequently.
The W. M. Bro. Joel Adams, who certainly did not live in thc
Prince Edward district, writes:

Johnstown, U. C..
3rd February. 1820.

Brother:—I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of vour letter.
dated Kingston, U. C., 1st January, 1820, for the general Annual Communica.
tion of Free snd Accepted Masons, requesting a deputation from Prince
Edward’s Lodge. No. 5. of which I am W. M., and in obedience to the will o!
the Grand Conavention, I beg leave to recommend Brother Richard D'n Fraser,
a< duly authorized and appointed. as Representative from our Lodge. At the
<arie time. T hope our neglect (if any) in non-performance of our duty. will be
atibuted to our long absence from labor. Please inform Bro. Fraser. respect-
ing ducs, &c., also any other moneys to be paid, and to whom.

I have the honor to be, Brother.
Your most obedient servant and Brother.
To John W. Ferguson, Esq., Joel Adams,
Secretary. wW. M

Accompanying this letter was a return of the membership. show
ing that there were fourteen members on the roll. \}'hat the ex
pression “ Received a Dispensation ” meant in connection with cack
member of the lodge. is difficult to understand. The returns read:

Return of Prince Edward's Lodge. No. §, held at Bro. W. Tucker's Int
in Johnstown, U.C,, 3rd February, 1820. o

,\'u_—- Name Present. Absent Received a Remuarke
Dispen<ation.
1t BJoel Adams, WM............. 1. 1
2 B Hugh Munro, SW............ 1. 1
1 B John McDonell, JW.......... 1. 1
4 B George W. Tucker, SD....... 1. 1.
2 B Roswell Cook. J.D............ 1 1
t. B Richard D'n Fraser, Sec'v. ... L I
; B Samuel Adams, Treas . R B 1
S B Andrew Adams ...... . ... 1. 1
o B John Fracer. Steward ........ 1. 1.
1o B Thomas Fraser. Steward .. .. 1. 1.
11 B FEzra Adams, Steward ....... 1. 1.
12 Wm G Fracer ................. 1. 1
12 BGideon Adams ...... ... ..... 1. 1
t4 Thomas Armstrong. Tyler ... . i
Approved by W. M. Joel Adams. W M

R. D. Fracer. Secretary



536 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

The names on this roll are fresh to this day in memories of the
brethren of the district. Bro. Joel Adams lived seven miles west ol
Cardinal on the River St. Lawrence. Samuel Adams, his son, lived
at the old homest:ad four miles west of Cardinal on the River St.

G, wiERE Lo No. § mer.

Feokrk's InN, Fpwagrpse:

P

Lawrence. The Adams grandchildren live on the 7th concession of
the township of Edwardsburgh, near Shanly. Bro. Thos. Arm-
strong, the tyler, lived at the old homestead near Cardinal on lot 11,
1st concession on the River St. Lawrence. Bro. Roswell Cook lived
on the E. concession of the township of Edwardsburgh, in the rear
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of Cardinal. Bro. Ashley Dodge lived on the 3rd concession of
Edwardsburgh. Bro. R. D. Fraser, “ Col.” Fraser, lived at the
windmill, near Prescott, and Bro. John Fraser resided near the same
place. Bro. Tucker’s inn was an old fashioned frame building that
stood on lot No. 6, of the 1st concession of Edwardsburgh, in the
county of Grenville, in the Johnstown district, which was formed by
the three counties of Grenville, Leeds and Carleton, on the main road
between Prescott and Montreal. The house was on the north-east
comner of the main road and a road that runs from Spencerville.

From 1800 until 1825 there was no hostelry so well known on
the Montreal road as Tucker’s. It was the sojourning place of the
gentleman traveller from the old land, and the resting-place of the
emigrant settlers who crossed the sea to find a home. Although
only four miles from Prescott it commanded a trade not only from
the personal popularity of the landlord but from the fact that he
served his patrons well. The house was built in the old style familiar
in early colonial days. The windows were small, twenty-four panes
of glas< to each sash, while the main door looked as if the carpenter
had thought well over his work. The west gable had a semi-circular
opening covered with lattice work, and it was understood that in the
room on this floor the lodge meetings were held. Some of those
now living at the place remember the old house and the lodge meet-
ings, but when, owing to the proximity of Prescott. business left that
part of the main road, the house went to ruin and the memories of
old associations seemed to pass away with it.

In many of the communications * Prince Edward” was used
instead of “ Royal Edward ” and, although \W. Bro. Adams writes of
“ Prince Edward’s lodge, No. 5,” it should have been * Roval Ed-
ward.” Bro. Adams and Bro. B. D. Fraser lived in Edwardsburgh,
and not within miles of the Prince Edward district. In the returns
of 1820 the term ‘ Prince Edward ” is again used but “ W Bro. WV,
Tucker’'s Inn” was “in Johnstown, U.C.,” further evidence that it
had no connection with the Hallowell organization. * Lodge No. §”
was duly represented at the Kingston Convention of 1820, although
the term “ Prince Edward ” is again used in the proxy of the dele-
gate. This letter and the copy of the proxy are important as they
justify the explanation of the error by the W. M. in using the words
* Prince Edward.” The proxy to the Kingston Convention read:

We, the W. M. and Wardens of Prince Edward Lodge, No. 5. of Johns-
town, do certify that Brother Richard D. Fraser. is fully authorized to repre-
sent our Convention, to be held at Kingston, on the second Monday in
February, A.M., s820.

Joel Adams, WM.

H. Munro, SW.

John McDonell. Jw.
Johnstown, 3rd February, 1820 Sed'y

A reference to the original minutes of the Convention, however,
shows that the W. M., when he writes of *“a deputation from Prince
Fdward lodge No. 5” and recommends “ Bro. Richard D'n Fraser
as duly authorized,” should have written “ Royal Fdward ™ for in the
official minutes of the Convention it is given: *“ Richard D). Fraser,
Royal Edward, No. 5,” and also “ Charles Smith, Prince Fdward.
Hallowell.” These entries show that “ Roval FEdward ” and " Prince
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Edward ” were distinct bodies. The use of the terms “ Royal ” and
“ Prince,” and the fact that the latter was used in error by the W. M.
are shown by a letter to the Kingston Convention of February, 1822,
which reads: .
Johnstown, 8th Feby, 1822.
To the Grand Sec’y Grand Convention of
Free Masons held at Kingston.

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter, dated 3ist
Dec’r last, which came to hand last Saturday, and have to nforth you for the
information of the Grand Convention, that the Worshipful Master and Brethren
of Royal Edward Lodge, No. 5, are extremely sorry they cannot comply with
the request contained in your letter, to attend at Kingston at the Grand Con-
vention on the 1oth of this month. We beg, therefore, after due consideration
of our distressed situation, that you will accept of this letter as an ample
apology for us. The Worshipful Master, Sec’y, and Treasurer, are the only
three who attended the last Lodge night, and no money in our chest.

The W. M, therefore, begs leave to request that you will be good enough
to let him know how to proceed, as he, as well as the Sec'y and Treasurer, are
determined to hold out in hopes of getting better members. Our late W. M.
wished to return or give up the charter, but a few held out against it, and we
hope in a short time to give you a more favorable account of our lodge than
at this time.

I have the honor to be,

Yours fraternally,
John Fraser.
Sec'y.

In July of 1822 R. W. Bro. John Dean, the secretary of the
Grand Masonic Convention at Kingston, sent a list of the lodges in
the jurisdiction to R. W. Bro. Simon McGillivray, who was re-
organizing the Provincial Grand Lodge. In this list are the follow-
ing entries: “ Royal Edward lodge, No. 5, Johnstown, Richard D.
Fraser, W. M.;” “Prince Edward lodge, Hallowell, no returns.”
The latter was the lodge at Picton. In the same year there is the
annual return of membership, made presumably for the secretary of
the Grand Convention. The return shows a roll of twenty members,
and is headed “ Return of Roval Edward lodge, No. 5. Bro. John
Fraser had succeeded Bro. Perkins as secretary.

At the formation of the Provincial Grand Lodge at York on the
23rd Sept., 1822, there is no reference to “ Royal Edward No. 5.”
At the same time the Provincial Grand Secretary did not forget that
there was such a lodge, for in November, of 1822, he writes:

Rath, 2¢th of Nov., 1822.
To the W. Master, Wardens and Brethren of Royal Edward Lodge.

T beg leave to call your attention to a resolution contained in the proceed-
ings of the Provincial Grand L.odge respecting dues from subordinate Lodges,
and as there is a balance due from your Lodge to the body of Masons lately
acting as a convention, and as the books are now in my hands for the collection
of such dues, it becomes my duty to request payment as soon as possible, as,
in closing the accounts of the Convention demands appear against it for the
payment of which there are no funds, and whatever balance remains after dis-
charging the demands is to be paid into the funds of the Provincial Grand
Lodge. Such dues embrace the proportion of monies received by vour lodge
account to the time the Convention was dissolved. I remain Brethren,

Yours fraternally.
John Dean, Prov. Grand Seccy.
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There is no record of the lodge after 1822. From the letter of
Bro. Fraser, the secretary, it would seem that the lodge became dor-
mant. Prince Edward lodge, however, continued to exist, and met
in the village of Hallowell, now Picton, in the Prince Edward dis-

trict.
ROLL OF OFFICERS, 1820-21.

N T
H] ' W.M. S.W. W Treas. Sec'ry.
P
8 Adama, Joel . ... 'Muarce, Hugh... [McDonell, Jobn..... Adama, Saml.. . ... Fraser, R. D. .. .
d2s Fraser, R D. . ... .'Ccok. Boswell. . ... Fraser, Thos........ Fraser, J. B... .. 'Frascr. John. ..
—~ ' b
z S.D. J.D. S.S. J.S. Tyler.
-
a0 Tucker. G. W .. |[Cook, Boawell ....|Fraser, Jno.......... |Fras¢r. Thos. . .. Armstrong. Thox.
1% Adams, Gidoon.. . .jFraser, Wm....... Fraser, J. B... ..... Tucker. G. W . .. Armstrong. Thos.

The following is a list of the members of this lodge, compiled from the
minutes:—

Adams, Joel; Adams, Samuel; Adams, Andrew; Adams, Gideon; Arm-
strong, Thomas; Adams, Ezra; Brown, W. E.; Cook, Roswell; Dodge, Ash-
lev. Fraser, Richard D’n; Fraser, John; Fraser, Thomas: Fraser, Wm. G.;
Munro, Hugh; McDonell, John; Munro, Phillip; Smile, \Vm.; Tucker,
George W.

CHAPTER XXVL

Lopce No. 6, KiNngsToN, Towssuip oF Kixastox, Cousry ofF
FRONTENAC, 1794-1822—THE LEeapiNe LobGE oF THE
MipLaNp DistrIicT. — A PROSPEROUs  LODGE IN  aAX
HisToric PLACE.

In another part of this work. in dealing with the history of
the old lodge at Cataraqui, reference is made to the carly scttlement
of Cataraqui from the days of Frontenac. The locality of
Kingston was known originally under the Indian name * Cataraqui,”
although subsequently the name was confined to the small
strcam, which falls into the River St. Lawrence at this point. From
1783, the date of the first English scttlement. Cataraqui was little
more than a military station, and although in the carlier davs the
French preserved in Fort Frontenac a military force. it was not a
populous place until after the English had settled in and about the
district.  Kingston is situated in the township of Kingston. m the
county of Frontenac. In July, 1792, the government of Upper Can-
ada was organized at Kingston, and it was at this place that R. WV,
Bro. William Jarvis sojourned when, as the Secretary of the Pro-
vince. he did his part in putting into motion the executive machinery
which under the watchful eve of Licutenant-Governor Simcoe had
been prepared for the newiv-formed Province of Upper Canada.
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Governor and Mrs. Simcoe visited Kingston in this year, and in
Mrs. Simcoe’s diary is the following entry descriptive of the town:

July 1st, 1792. “ Kingston is 6 leagues from Gananowui, a small town of
about 50 wooden houses and merchants’ store houses. Only
one house is built of stone. It belongs to a merchant. There
is a small garrison here and a harbour of ships. They fired
a salute on our arrival and we went to the house appointed
for the commanding officer, at some distance from the
barracks. It is small, but very airy, and so much cooler than
the great house at Montreal that 1 was very well satisfied
with the change. The Queen’'s Rangers are encamped a %
mile beyond our house, and the ball tents have a very pretty
appearance. The situation of this place is entirely flat, and
incapable of being rendered defensible. Therefore, were its
situation more central it would still be unfit for the seat of
Government.”

No. 1.—The building on the right represents a building on On-

tario Street, near the carriage factory, foot of Princess
Street (Store Street).

No. 2—A building on the site of Gaskin's present residence, s.e.
corner Ontario and Princess Streets.

No. 3.—The old Macaulay House, now a butcher shop, standing
on s.w. corner of Princess and Ontario Streets, west side of
Ontario Street, and south side of Princess Street.

No. 4.—St. George’s Church, back of Masonic Hall of 1792, op-
posite the present Market-place.

No. 5—In front is a building now in Market-square and on the site
of General Bradstreet's hatteries.

No. 6.—Indian storehouse, near the water's cdge. now the site of
Folger and Richardson's wharves.

No. 7—Beyond is vacant space at present occupied by the K. & P.
R. R, and in front of the City Hall. West of vacant space
are buildings on Ontario Street.

No. 8.—Site of Swift’s wharf at the foot of Johnson Street, near
the G. T. R. Depot.

No. 9.—Probably Archdeacon Stuart’s house. now occupied hy Dr.
Oliver.

Governor and Mrs. Simcoe visited Kingston again in 1795, and
concerning their sojourn at that time the following entry in Mrs.

Simcoe’s diary is found:

March 1st, 1795. Kingston. “ We are very comfortabhly lodged in barracks: as

: there are few officers here we have the mess room to dine in
and a room over it for the Govr's office, and these, as well
as the kitchen, are detached from our other three rooms,
which is very comfortable. The drawingroom has not a
stove in it, which is a misfortunc. but it is too late in the
winter to be of much consequence. We have excellent wood
fires.” “T went to church to-day and heard an excellent ser-
mon by Mr Stewart.”

This picture was taken from between Point Frederick and the
main shore, looking southwest. Mrs. Simcoe must have sketched
from a boat at the west end of the present bridge, some distance
from the shore.

In 1841-44 Kingston was the capital of the province.
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From a Masonic point of view Kingston and its lodges have

. always stood high in the esteem of the Craftsmen of the jurisdiction,

and as one reviews the minutes of the work done from 1794 down to

the present time, it is but a just compliment to the brethren of the old

capital of Upper Canada to say that those of the present day have

effectually carried on the work so worthily begun in August, 1794—
over one hundred years ago.

The first meeting of lodge No. 6 was held on the 7th August,
1794, under a dispensation issued by R. W. Bro. William Jarvis at
Niagara. The warrant, which for some reason or other was not is-
sued until 2nd June, 1796, is dated Niagara, zoth Nov., 1795, four-.
teen months after R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby, in emergent
Grand Lodge, held in due form at Kingston, ‘ proceeded to consti-
tute Lodge No. 6.” There is no doubt as to the lodge working un-
der a dispensation, for on 2nd June, 1796, the lodge agreed that
“our dispensation” be returned to Grand Lodge.

The warrant is on a sheet of parchment and is in the usual
form. On the back is endorsed the words “ Lodge No. 6, Kings-
ton, 2d June, 1796, dated Niagara, 2oth Nov.,, 1795.” Under the
figures “ 1795” is written, at the lower end of the endorsement, but
reversed, the abbreviation “ exame,” which probably meant “exam-
ined.”

The warrant is in the neat and carefully penned script of R.-W.
Bro. Davenport Phelps, and is reproduced in fac-simile in this chapter,
with the endorsement.

Wy, Jarvis, PROVINCIAL GRAND MASTER.
R. HavirtoN, P.D.G.M. Joun BuTrLer. S.G.W. WiLrLiam Mackay, J.G.W.

WHEREAS the Grand Lodge of the most ancient and honorable Frater-
nity of Free and Accepted Masons of England, and Masonical jurisdiction
thereunto belonging, according to the Old Institutions, in ample form afsem-
bled in London on the seventh day of March. in the year of our Lord, one
thousand seven hundred and ninety-two, and in the year of Masonry five thous-
and, seven hundred and ninety-two, The Most Noble Prince John, Duke and
Marquis of Athol, Marquis and Earl of Tullibardine. Earl of Strathtay and
Strathardle, Viscount of Ballquider, Glenalmond and Glenlyon, Lord Murray
Belvany and Gask, Heritable Constable of the Castle of Kinclaven, Lord of
Man and the Isles, and Earl Strange and Baron Murray of Stanley in the
county of Gloucester, Grand Master of Masons in that part of Great Britain
called Engand and Masonical jurisdiction thereunto belonging; The Right
Worshipful James Agar, Esquire, Deputy Grand Master: The Right Worship-
ful Sir Watkin Lewis, Knight, Senior Grand Warden; the Right Worshipful
John Bunn, Esquire, Junior Grand Warden, together with the representatives
of the several warranted l.odges held under the sanction and authority of the
said Grand Lodge, did appoint our Right Worshipful Brother William Jarvis,
Esquire, Secretary of the Province of Upper Canada, &c., &c., &c., to be
Prcvincial Grand Master in the said Province, and for the better regulation
and further extension of the most honourable and ancient Craft, did empower
him to grant warrants or Dispensations to such worthy Brethren as should
apply for the same according to the ancient Form.

TO ALL WHOM IT MAY CONCERN. GREETING. KNOW YE,
That we at the petition of our Trusty and well beloved Brethren.
William McKay, Esquire. John Charles Stewart, and John McLeud,
three of our Master Masons, and several other Brethren, to be separated
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and formed into a Lodge, Do hereby constitute the said Brethren
into a regular Lodge of Free and accepted Masons, and do hereby authotize
and empower our said trusty and well beloved William McKay to be
Master, John Charles Stewart to be Senior Warden, and John Mcl.cod
to be Junior Warden, and to form and hold a Lodge in the Town of Kingston,
which is hereby designated Number Six, and at all times and ail lawful
occasions in the Lodge, when duly congregated, to make Free Masons accord-
ing to the most ancient and honorable custom of the Royal York Craft in all
ages and nations throughout the known world, and we do hereby further
authorize and empower our said Trusty and well beloved Brethren, Wilhain
McKay, John C. Stewart, and John McLeod, with the consent o the members
of their Lodge to nominate, chose and install their succeisors, to whom they
shall deliver this warrant, and invest them with their powers and dignity as
Free Masons, &c., &c., &c., and such succefsors shall in like manner nominate.
chuse and install their succefsors, &c., &c., &c., said installation to be upon
or ncar every St. John’s day during the continuance of this Lodge forever,
who shall cause to be entered in a Book for that purpose an account oi ther
proceedings in the Lodge, together with all such ruics and regulations as
shall be made for the good Government of the same for the Inspection oi the
Grand Officers—Provided the above-named Brethren and therr succefsors duly
coniorm to the known and established rules and regulauons of the Crait, pay-
ing due respect to us by whom these presents are granted, and to the Giand
Lodge of England, and coniorming to the rules and reeulations thereot, and
preserving a regular and yearly communication with the said Provincial Grand
Lodge, otherwise this warrant to be of no Force or Virtue

Given under our hand and the seal of the said Grand Lodge at Niayara,
the twentieth day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand scven
hundred and ninety-five, and in the year of Masonry five thousand «cven
hundred and ninety-five.

Davenport Phelps, G Secretary

Of all the early lodges “ No. 6" at Kingston. now \ncient St
John's, is the only lodge which has anything like perfect minutes.
From its history, therefore, one can form a fair opinion of the Craft
life generally, for the records left of the work of the Provinaal
Grand Lodges are few, and the communications irom those bodies
to the subordinate lodges are all that remam of the ofticiai work ot
the Provincial Grand Lodges.

These writings are valued remains of Craft literature, and of these
MSS. certainly the by-laws and regulations of loddge Noo 6 can claun
special attention. The bylaws of all the ecarly lodges were pe-
culiar in construction.  The compilers in their cfforts 1o secure a
combination of all the virtues, without any of the vices, followed to
a certain extent the rules laid down by those who vears before had
first put foot on Plymouth Rock, for the fathers of the pilurims
could not have made any better effort had they been called upon to
institute a Craft lodge. The preamble or preface of these " rules and
regulations ** states that they were framed

-
“in order to prevent all Feuds, Controversies, THesat aioomente or debates,
which might in any sort disturb or make vond the tue Intent ard Meaning
of this our unanimous Conjunction.”

It must be admitted that this covers more than an ordiary mant-
tude of sins.

Having included and disposed of what nught be callad a cen-
eral covering clause, the rules and orders are Lard down i twenty-
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six clauses with interjectory notes, which were supplemented at the
first meeting of the lodge by “ Extra bye-laws for Lodge No. 6,” of
a financial character.

The bylaws are given as examples of the work of the Masonic
lawmakers of a century ago. It is true they are somewhat anti-
quated in form, nevertheless the framers had within them the true
spirit of Masonry when they prepared them for the government of
the brethren. The first clause names the meeting-place as

“ at the house of Brother John Darley, at Freemasons’ Tavern, Kingston,
(or elsewhere).”

O0A0eN Y
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Bro. Darley was one of the leading spirits of the Craft at its
introduction into Kingston. He lived at one time in London, Eng-
land. As Bro. Darley had the reputation of being an excellent pro-
vider, and was particularly hospitable with the members of the Craft,
his house was a popular place of resort. Only seven officers com-
prised the number ailotted to the lodge in the early days, although
in this age the number is nearly doubled, and * every brother shall
appear in clean, decent apparel, with proper clothing, and observe
a due decorum while the lodge is engaged in what is serious and
solemn.”

This suggests the idea that appearance counted for something
in the estimation of the lodge, and that at times the membership
had facetious moments as a set-off to those which were “ serious
and solemn.” The clause reads:

“1st. That a Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons aforesaid shall be held
at the House of Brother John Darley, at Free Masons' Tavern, Kingston, (or
elsewhere) on the first Thursday of each Calendar Month; That the said Lodge
shall consist of One Master, TWO WARDENS, Two DEACONS, one
SECRETARY, one TREASURER, and as many Members as the Master and
Majority may think proper; and that every Brother shall appear in Clean,
decent Apparel, with proper Clothing, and observe a due Decorum, while the
Lodge is engaged in what is serious and solemn, and, for the better Preserva-
tion of Secrecy and good Harmony, a Brother well skilled in the Master’s
Part shall be appointed and paid for Tyling the Lodge door, during the Time
of Communication.”

The second clause defines the hours of meeting, and for non-
attendance exacts a fine, graded by the duration of the absence
* except such absentee be sick, Lame, in Confinement or upwards
of Three miles from the place of meeting.”

The hours of meeting were in the spring and summer time, or
*“from the vernal equinox,” when the sun enters the first point of
Aries, being about the 21st March, “to the autumnal equinox,”
when the sun enters the first point of Libra, being about the 23rd
Sept. “at seven o’clock in the evening, and sit to ten,” while in the
autumn and winter, or * from the autumnal equinox to the vernal
equinox following from six to nine o’clock.”

In these days such limited hours would not prevail. The de-
gree work of modern lodges generally commences when our an-
cestors thought it nme to retire from labour. The clause suggests
a novel feature in that while general debility is provided for, due re-
gard was also had for those whose liberty was curtailed by the
strong hand of the law or through illness. The principle of charity
was evinced in the proposal to apply the accumulated fund * for the
Relief of indigent Brethren.” The clause reads:

“2nd. That the Lodge shall meet at the Hours hereafter mentioned: vizt,
(X) from the Vernal Fquinox to the Autumnal Equinox. at Seven O'Clock in
the Evening, and sit to Ten, and. from the Autumnal Equinox to the Vernal
Equinox following from Six to Nine O'Clock: and if any Member be absent
one Hour after the Appointed Time of Meeting, he shall be fined sixpence,
and, if absent the whole Night, or time of Business. he shall be fined one shil-
ling & sixpence, except such Absentee be sick, Lame. in Confinement. or up-
wards of Three Miles from the place of Meeting. and that such Fines shall he
deposited 1n the Fund for the Relief of indigent Brethren.

33
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“(X) The Vernal Equinox upon or near the Twenty-first of March;
Autumnal Equinox upon or near the Twenty-Second of September.”

The explanatory note was intended, no doubt, for brethren not
deeply versed in the topography of the heavens.

The third clause provides for the election of the W. M. by bal-
lot, but “the wardens shall stand candidates for the chair on stated
Lodge night next before each St. John Day.” The wardens were to
be the nominees for the chair, and the elections were held each six
months. During the election * the candidates shall withdraw, while
every free Member gives his Vote in favor of Him, which he deems
most worthy; each free Member having one Vote, and the Master
two Votes.” The “free members” were those who were not in-
debted to the lodge, for Clause 13 states that those indebted * shall
not have a vote on St. John’s Day.”

History sometimes repeats itself. In 189o at the Annual Com-
munication of the Grand Lodge of Canada, held nearly one hun-
dred years later in the same city and almost on the same site, this
principle was endorsed by an amendment to the constitution which
provides that “ should the lodge desire to do so, it may by bylaw
provide that no member shall be entitled to vote at the annual elec-
tion of officers who is twelve months in arrears of lodge dues.”

. The power given ““the Master Elect” to “ nominate” a brother
“for the Senior Warden’s chair” and that “ the present Master and
Brethren shall nominate one in opposition,” 1s a feature which
might not prove acceptable in modern times. The method of elec-
tion without nomination, which prevails to-day, is in advance of the
pioneer form. The foot note explains when the W. M. could exer-
- cise his dual power in voting:

“3rd. THAT the Master shall be chosen by Ballot; Vizt, the Wardens
shall stand Candidates for the Chair on stated Lodge Night next before each
St John's Day; and the Candidates shall withdraw, while every free (x-Member
gives his Vote in favour of Him, which he deems most worthy; each free Mem-
ber having one Vote, and the Master two Votes. (X)

“ When done, the Master shall order the Candidates before him; and, hav-
ing carefully examined the Poll, shall then audibly declare him (that hath the

Majority) duly elected.
“Then the Master Elect shall nominate for the senior Warden’s Chair;

at which time the present Master and Brethren shall nominate one in Opposi-
tion to be balloted for in like manner, and so on in the Choice of all the in-
ferior Officers; and that no person shall be put in such Election but such as
are deemed to be able and worthy of Performance.
“(X) Vide the Rule 13.
“(X) That is, when the Number of Votes happéns to be equal, in such
case the Master has two Votes; otherwise he has but a single Vote.”

The fourth clause was probably a copy of the bylaw of an
English lodge, for it speaks of the W. M. and wardens attending
“the Grand Lodge and the Steward’s Lodge” * * * “if within
twenty miles of London.” This is owing to the fact of bylaws being
printed, save as to local dates, places of meeting, etc., as a general form
for the lodges under the “ancients.” This code is similar, save the
needful changes, to the bylaws of the present No. 185, London, of A.D.
1787. (History of the Lodge by Bro. Jno. Constable, London, 1874).

There was no Grand Steward’s lodge in the jurisdiction of Upper
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Canada. It may be explained that in England the present and
past Grand Stewards constitute a lodge, which is not numbered
on the register, but stands at the head of all lodges. In Grand
Lodge it is represented by its master, wardens and past masters,
but has no power to make Masons. On this continent the
Grand Lodge of Maryland has a Grand Steward’s lodge, which
acts as a committee for the hearing of grievances during the
recess of Grand Lodge. The clause in the bylaws of No. 6 reads:

‘“ 4th, THAT the Master and Wardens of this Lodge shall attend the Grand
Lodge, and the Steward’s Lodge, when summoned by the Grand Secretary
(if within twenty Miles of London) and, when in the Grand or Steward's
Lodge, he, they, or either of them shall have full power and Authority to
transact all Matters relative to this Lodge, as well, full and truly as if We,
the Whole Body, were there present.”

The fifth clause expressly provides that those who accept office
shall serve their time or be subject to a fine, but that when a mem-
ber has filled an office he shall not be asked to serve again in that
office nor in any office below it while there arc others in the lodge
So that a brother who had served as warden could not be asked tc
serve as deacon, unless there were a lack of members in the lodee
The clause reads:

* sth, That if any Member (past Officers exccpted) (X) rcfuse to serve
any of the aforesaid Offices, he shall be fined as follows: vizt: for the Master,
Five Shillings, cach Warden and Secretary, Two Shillings and Sixpence, cach
Deacon, one Shilling, (the Treasurer at the Discretion of the Majority) and
to be fined the like Sum if they don’t serve their full time, except for the
Reasons mentioned in the second Rule.

“(X) It is not lawful to fine a Member for not serving an office, which
he hath formerly served with Honour; nor for non-servitude in any office, be-
neath the Dignity thereof, while there are other Master Masons in the Lodge.”

The sixth clause provides for the celebration of the festivals.
The proviso is made that all visitors * who dine at such Feast shall
pay Ten Shillings, sojourners always at the Discretion of the Major-
ity.” The term “ visitors” applied to non-Masons who might be
invited. In the old days it was a common practice to invite promi-
nent citizens, non-Masons, to dine with the Crait. The “ sojourn-
ers were to pay as the favor of the majority of the lodge de-
clared.” The clause reads:

“6th. THAT all the Members of this Lodge shall dine together upor
(or near) every St. John's Day, that each Member shall pay 5/- on the lLodge
night (next) before such Feast Day, towards defraying the Charges of the
Festival, that the Wardens shall be appointed Stewards to transact all Matters
relating to the Feast; That the new Master and other Otticers shall be im-
mediately installed after Dinner, at which time all and every of the Accompts
%elonging to the Feast and Lodge Affairs in general, shall be properly scttleé
and Delivered to the new Officers, and that all Visitors, who dine at <uck
Feast, shall pay Ten Shillings, Sojourners always at the Discretion of the
Majority.”

The seventh clause determines the amount to be paid as ducs
* one shilling and sixpence,” Halifax currency. equat in modern
currency to 37 1-2 cents, with “ threc pence.” about 6 1-4 cents, ™ for
the relief of Indigent Brethren.” The junior warden, if he did no:
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give an " exact account” to the lodge, was to be held accountable
for any deficiency, and, further, that if “any member shall order
any liquor on the lodge account,” without the consent of the said
Warden, “ he, the transgressor, must make up the amount due out of
his private pocket.”” The note marked “ X ” to this clause was not
included in the rules, but possibly given to justify the apparently
high rate charged for dues. The second note was inserted in the
bylaws when a change was made on 27th-Dec., 18co, when five shil-
lings or “one dollar” per quarter ” was charged. The clause reads:

“7th. “ THAT, on every stated Lodge Night, each Member shall pay (X)
one shilling & sixpence, Hfx Currency, of which one shillling & three pence
(x) shall be spent, and the Remainder put into the Fund, for the Relief of
Indigent Brethren, that the Junior Warden shall keep an exact Accompt of the
Reckoning. and acquaint the Lodge, when the stated Complement is in. And,
upon his negligence or Omission, he shall be accountable for the Deficiency,
And, whereas, the Junior Warden is accountable for such Deficiency. it is
hereby ordered and Declared that, if any Member shall Order any Liquor, &c.,
on the Lodge Accompt, without the consent of the said Warden, the Trans-
gressor shall pay for the Quantity so Ordered, out of his private Pocket, ex-
clusive of the Stated Expense of the Night.

“(X) Many Lodges pay seven shillings per Quarter, Grand Dues Included.

*“(X) December 27th, 5000, this law was altered to Five shillings per
Quarter. See the Minutes.”

The eighth clause restricts the privileges of visitors, who, if ad-
mitted, must prove themselves Masons before joining in the social
feature of the lodge. Brethren who were resident in Kingston and
unaffiliated could only payv one visit, while to “ sojourners,” those
who were in Kingston on business, the privileges were without
restriction. The lodge was careful that the visitors should pay for
their share of the social enjoyment, although it is to be presumed that
the “ discretion of the majority ”’ was tempered with generosity. The
clause reads:

“8th. That no Visitor (X) shall be admitted after Lodge Hours; Viz:
Nine in Winter and Ten in Summer, nor at any time, without the consent of
the presiding Officer: and, ii admitted into the Lodge Room, he shall perform
a certain ceremony in the Master's Presence, before he sits down; nor shall
any Brother (that is not a Member of a Lodge) visit a Second Time, So-
journers excepted.

‘“(X) Visitors” Contributions to the Reckoning left at the Discretion of
the Maioritv.”

The ninth clause was an important one. It laid down the con-
ditions of membership and outlined those who were eligible, provid-
ing that propositions shall be made one month before ballot, so that
“ the morals, character and circumstances of the Candidate” might
be enquired into, and that a deposit “ of the candidate’s money not
less than one crown.” equal to six DBritish shillings, be made. It
also regulated the fees. making the price for the three degrees six-
teen dollars. four British shillings being equal to the dollar, but
" pot less than two guineas” and * cloath the Lodge if required.”
The term “ clothing the lodge ™ meant furnishing the brethren with
gloves and aprons. In the " General Regulations” approved of by
the first Grand Lodge of England in 1721, it is provided in Article
7 that “ Every new brother at his making is decently to cloath the
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Lodge,” that is all the brethren present; and “ to deposit something
for the relief of indigent and decayed Brethren.” The regulation
no longer exists. In regard to the deposit required, if the candi-
date were rejected “ his money” was to be * faithfully returned to
him,” but if accepted and then he refused the invitation he shall
*“ forfeit his money.” There was no doubt in those days as to
mental or physical qualifications. The candidate must be * upright
in body and limbs,” with the “ senses of a man,” and some " visible
way of acquiring an honest and respectable livelihood.” i.e.. under the
* Ancients.” The original Grand Lodge, as such. never insisted on
physical perfection in the manner so long advocated in the United
States of America. It is the operative requirement really introduced
in speculative Masonry.

“ oth. ANY Person, desirous of being made a Free Mason in this Lodge,
shall be proposed by a Member hereof: that is to say his Name. Age, Descrip-
tion of his Person, Title, or Trade, and Place of Residence: That such Proposal
shall be made in Lodge Hours, at least. one Lodge Night before the Initiation.
in order that the Brethren may have sufficient Time and Opportunity to make
a strict Inquiry into the Morals, Character and Circumstances oi the Candi-
date; And the Brother that proposes him shall, at the same time. deposit such
a Sum (of the Candidate’s money) as the Majority shall think sufficient (not
le<s than one Crown) to ensure the Lodge the Candidate will attend. accord-
ing to the Proposal, and, if the Lodge approve his Person. Age. Character and
Circumstances, and. therefore, Initiate him into the Mystery, &c.. &c.. he shall
pay Ten dollars for the first step, Two dollars for the second. and four dollare
for the Third step. or whatsoever sum the Brethren shall think proper here-
after, (not less than two Guinecas) and Cloath the Lodge. if required. but. if
the Lodge think the Candidate unworthy and refuse to make him. hisx money
<hall be faithiully returned to him: But. in case, the Lodge Approve his Person,
Character, ctc.. and he refuse to be made. then shall he iorieit lns Money jor
the Benefit of Distressed Free Masons, and it is hereby Ordered and Declared
that na person is capable of becoming a member of this Lodge. but such us
are of mature \ge. upright in Body and Limbs, free irom Bondage. has the
senses of a Man, and is endowed with an Estate, Ofhce. Trade. Occupation,
or some Visible way of acquiring an honest and reputable lavehhood, as he-
comes the Members of this Most Antient and Honourable Fraternuy ™

The tenth clause regulates affiliation and reads:

*10th, ANY old Mason, desirous of becoming a member o1 this Lodge,
<hall produce a Certificate of his good Behaviour. 1n hic iormer lodge: upon
which he <hall be proposed and Balloted ior as beiore: and. if admitted as
Member, he shall pay whatsoever Sum the Brethren <hall think proper. nest
less than Five Shillings.”

The cleventh clause covers a multitude of sins, and. if acted up
1o in its entirety, would place lodge No. 6 high in the esteem of
gocd men and women, too. To “curse” or ~swear - -the difer-
«nce is not defined—to “ Lie” or “ offer to lay Wagers.” to " use
any reproachful language in derogation of Gad’s name or corrup-
tion of good manners,” subjected the offender to a fine.  Collateral
evidence in much of the Craft work of the early periods of Masonry
indicates that character was an essential of some moment in a
lodge. and that the work of investigating committees was of more
than a formal character.

“1i1th If any Brother in thus Lodge. Curce, Swear Tae or affer to dav
Wagers, or use any reproachful Language m deroation of GOUYS Name ¢o
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Cémption of good manners, or interrupt any Officer while speaking, he shall
be fined at the Discretion of the Master and Majority.”

The twelfth clause dealt severely with those members who came
to the lodge “ disguised in Liquor,” or became so “ during Lodge
hours.” It reads:

“ 12th. If any Member of this Lodge come disguised in Liquor, or become
30 during Lodge hours, he shall be admonished (by the presiding officer) for
the first offence; for the Second, of the Nature, he shall be fined One shilling;
and for the third, he shall be excluded and reported to the Grand Lodge.”

The thirteenth clause has been before referred to in connection
with tHe payment of fines and dues and the exclusion of members
from voting at the semi-annual elections on St. John’s day, if in-
debtedness were not liquidated.

‘“13th. ALL Fines, Dues, &c., shall be paid on the third (stated) Lodge
Night next after they become due, otherwise, the person indebted shall not
have a Vote on ST. JOHN’S DAY. He shall be excluded, except some cause
appear, which may excite Lenity.”

The fourteenth clause provides for the filling of the office of
master in his absence, and goes further than the code of to-day in
extending all the powers of the master to the wardens—even to the
exclusion of past masters. The clause is, however, qualified by a
note “ X ” which enables the wardens to waive the right to which
they have legal claim. The clause reads:

“ 14th. That on a Lodge Night, in the Master’s absence, the past Master
may take his Place, (X) and, in his Absence, the Senior Warden, and, in his
Absence, the Junior Warden, and, in the Absence of all the Officers, the Mem-
bers, according to Seniority and Merit, shall fill the Absent Officers’ Places,
(x) and it is hereby Ordered and Declared that every Officer, absent on a
Lodge Night, whether stated or on an Emergency, shall be fined a Discretion-
ary Fine, over and above the common Fine of private Members; except for the
Reasons mentioned in the second and Thirteenth Rules.”

“(X) It is the undoubted Right of the Wardens to fill the Chair, even
though a former Master be present: but the Wardens generally waive this
Privilege upon a Supposition that the past Masters are best acquainted with
the Business of the Lodge.”

The fifteenth clause gives the W. M. power to call emergency
meetings. It reads:

“ 15th. That the Master shall have full power and Authority to call a Lodge
on an Emergency, when all the Members are to attend or be liable to Fines,
as on stated Lodge Nights: but such fines shall not be levied until Proof is
made of the Absentee being actually summoned (in Writing) to such
Emergency.”

The sixteenth clause places the property of the lodge under
" the care of " some responsible brother.” This rule disagrees with the
modern regulation that the master has exclusive control of the war-
rant. It was, however. customary in those days to delegate this
duty, as provided in the clause, to a thoroughly reliable "brother.

“16th. THAT the Chest, Warrent, Cash, and Furniturc of this lodge
shall be in the Care oi some responsible Brother, such as the Master and
Majority shall think proper and sufficient; and the Money to be disposed of
ior the Advancement of the Lodge and Benefit of the Brethren.”

The seventeenth clause lays down the rules for the guidance of
the sceretary, in that it reads:
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“37th. THAT the Secretary shall keep a regular Register of the Mem-
Yers, according to the Form annexed; and proper Minutes of all the Transac-
tions (that are fit to be committed to Writing) in Order that the said Transac-
tions may be laid before the Grand Lodge once a Quarter, if Required.”

The eighteenth clause is another which was extracted from the
official English code and incorporated in the “ rules and orders ” of
No. 6. In many of the early lodges, for example, the New Oswegatchie
No, 7, at Elizabethtown, the provision for the adjustment of dis-
putes was ample.

* 18th. THAT no disagreeable Dispute be suffered to arise in this Lodge:
but, if a Dispute (concerning Masonry, or otherwise) should happen between
the Brethren, out of the Lodge, which they cannot decide between themselves,
such Dispute, Complaint or Controversy shall be laid before this Lodge and
here decided, if possible. But, if the Disputants will not then agree, in order
to prevent vexatious Law-suits, &c., the Master shall order the Secretary to
take proper Minutes of such Complaint, Dispute, or Controversy, and lay the
same before the next Grand Lodge, where such Disputants are to attend (if
within Twenty Miles of London) and agree as the Grand Lodge shall order.
But, in case of Non-compliance to such Decision of the Grand Lodge, such
person or persons as refuse to be conformable, shall be forever excluded, and
deemed unworthy of this society: and the Grand Secretary, (according to the
Nature of his Office) shall give Notice of such Exclusion to the Warranted
Lodges (under the antient Constitution of England) throughout EUROPE
ASIA, AFRICA and AMERICA.”

The nineteenth clause is the usual one empowering the lodge
to amend or alter the rules and orders.

* 19th. That the Master, Wardens and the rest of the Members of this
Lodge, when duly congregated, shall have full Power and Authority to make,
amend, correct or explain these, or such other Rules and Orders as may seem
most necessary and convenient for the Welfare of the Lodge, provided such
Additions or Alterations do not remove our antient Landmarks. And, if such
Addition or Amendment be made, the Master shall order the Secretary to send
a fair Copy of such Regulation to the Grand Secretary, for the Benefit of the
Saciety in general.”

The twentieth clause enables the tyler to sustain life by a fee
oi a shilling for every initiate, and sixpence for every affiliate. The
further provision is made regarding visitors and sojourners. A visi-
tor not a member of a warranted lodge was to be admitted once,
while a sojourner who produced a certificate had greater privileges
than the visitor. The rules and orders were to be read to members
and candidates.

* 20th. That the Tyler shall reccive one shilling for every Mason that shall
be made in this Lodge, and sixpence for every old Mason that shall become
a Member of this Lodge. And the said Tyler shall take particular care not to
admit any Person (not even a Member) without the Knowledge and Consent
i the preading ofhicer; neither <hall he admit any Visitor (that 1s not a Mem-
ber of 3 Warranted Lodge) a second time, Sojourners, producing Certifi-
cates, excepted.

* That these Rules and Orders shall be read (by the Secretary, or some
otker Brother of the Master's appointment) to every new Member (or candi-
date, if required) or otherwice. as Occasion shall require in the Lodge."”

The twentv-first clause has heen omitted from the minutes. The

twenty-second requests contribution to “ the Grand lodge Fund or
general Charity.” The Provincial Grand Lodge of Upper Canada
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had no general fund devoted to that purpose. It is stated in the is-
sue of the Upper Canada Gazette, published at Niagara, for 28th
June, 1797, that lodge No. 4, the “ Lodge of Philanthropy,” of Nia-
gara, met for the purpose of organizing a widows and orphans fund
but it did not result in definite action.

“22nd. THAT the Members of this Lodge-shall contribute annually to
the Grand Lodge Fund, or general Charity, for the Relief of distressed Free-
masons, according to the general Mode of contributions PRO TEMPORE:
and that the Master shall send a true List of all the Members to the Secretary
of the Grand Lodge, at the Time of such Contributions, or as often as Occa-
siori shall require.”

The twenty-third clause is drastic. While it provides a penalty
for a brother under charge who shall be found guilty, it is explicit
in regard to a brother who makes a charge which he is unable to
sustain, for the same punishment shall be meted out to the accuser

who fails in his proof, as would have been exacted of the accused
had he been found guilty.

“23rd. If a Complaint be made against a Brother by another Brother,
and he be found Guilty, he shall stand to the Determination of this, or the
Grand Lodge, according to the Eighteenth Rule; but, if a Complaint be made
against a Brother, wherein the Accuser shall forfeit such Penalty as the Person
so accused would have forfeited, had he been really convicted on such
complaint.”

The twenty-fourth clause embodies a rule which would not pre-
vail in the Craft to-day in the exclusion of Entered Apprentices
and Fellow Crafts from lodge fellowship. It reads :,

““ 24th. THAT, in order to preserve good Harmony and encourage (work-
ing) Master Masons, it is hereby Ordered and Declared, That no Brother,
under the Degree of a Master Mason, shall be admitted to visit this Lodge.
upon any Pretence whatsoever.”

The twenty-fifth clause seems to have been specially framed to
secure a proper register of the membership in the books of the
Provincial Grand Lodge. It appears that this duty properly be-
longed to the secretary rather than to the newly-installed and past
officers.

“25th. THAT upon (or near) every St. John's Day, during the Continu-
ance of this Lodge, the new installed Officers shall send a proper List of all
the Members, signed by the said Officers and countersigned by the past Offi-
cers, to the Secretary of the Grand Lodge, whereby the said Secretary may be
enabled to know the Handwriting of such Officers, and pay due Respect to
such Persons as may from time to time be certified by the Officers of this
Lodge.”

The twenty-sixth clause provided for appeal to Grand Lodge
against any decision of the subordinate lodge.

“26th. AND, if a Member be found guilty of any misdemeanor, not
directly specified in the aforesaid Rules and Orders, he shall be dealt with
according to the discretion of the Master and Majority. Such Decision, never-
theless, shall be subject to an Appeal to a general Grand Lodge.”

These were the bylaws of lodge No. 6 at Kingston, and pre-
cede the minutes of the lodge in the first minute book.

The first meeting of the lodge was held on 7th August, 1704.
when a Provincial Grand Lodge was opened with R. W. Bro. Chris-
topher Danby in the chair. The minutes read:
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“ Kingston, U.C.,, 7th Augt., 1794.
“ Grand Lodge of Ancient Free and Accepted Masons opened at 7 o’clock,
at Brother John Darley’'s Free Masons’ Tavern.

Present:
* Christopher Danby, G.M., Pro:Tem:
John Darley, dep’y G.M., Pro:Tem:
Richard Cartwright, S.G.W., Pro:tem:
John Walker, J.G.W., Pro:tem:
J. C. Stewart, act’'g Grand Sec'y.
“ Visitors.”
* William Barron, No. 7.
Nathan Curtice, St. John's.
Abraham Gates, St. John's.

“ The Lodge proceeded to Constitute Lodge, NO. 6, when the following
Brethren were 1installed in due form, according to ancient custom.
** Bro. Richard Porter, Esqr.,, W.M.
*  William McKay, Esqr., S.W.
*  William Burrell, JW.
* Brother J. C. Stewart was appointed Secretary and Brother Hershfeldt,
Tyler.
** The Grand Lodge was then closed at 9 o'clock in due form and perfect
Harmony."”

The Freemasons’ Tavern, in which the first meeting of the
lodge was held, stood on the southwest cormer of King and Bar-
rack streets, not far from the site of old Fort Frontenac. It was a
two-story frame building. R. W. Bro. Danby had journeyed ex-
pressly from Niagara to be present and constitute the lodge No. 6,
and it may be added was the brother who assisted in the organiza-
tion of many of the lodges on the Provincial register. Under the
“ ancient ” system, the officiating officer was described at such consti-
tutions as “* Grand Master pro tem.”

Bro. John Darley was the host who provided the room and
cheer for the Craft.

Bro. Richard Cartwright was the great-grandfather of the pres-
ent Sir Richard Cartwright and Rev. Conway Cartwright. Bro.
Cartwright settled in Kingston in 1790. Born in Albany, he was
compelled to leave his home on account of his loyalty to the British
crown, and after the peace of 1782 he resided at Niagara, and was
business partner of Bro. Robert Hamilton, afterwards the Hon.
Robert Hamilton, the R. W. Deputy Grand Master of the First
Provincial Grand Lodge under R. W. Bro. Wm. Jarvis. Bro. Cart-
wright was a man of business energy and “ liberal education.” In
1816 a new township in the rear of Darlington, in the old district
of Newcastle, was surveyed, and out of regard for the services of
Bro. Cartwright, who was a member of the legislature, the council
and an officer of the militia, the township by order of the Licuten-
ant-Governor of the Province was named *“ Cartwright.” [Ile was
fifty vears of age at the time of his death, which occurred in Mont-
real on the 27th July, 1815.

Bro. John Walker was the host of Walker’s Hotel, which sub-
sequently was built at the south side of Brock street, and by the
corner of Ontario street, about the east end of the present corpora-
tion buildings in Kingston.
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Bro. William Barron was a member of lodge No. 7, at Fred-
-ericksburgh, and Bros. Nathan Curtice, now Curtis, and Abraham
Gates, were members of St. John’s, probably of Niagara, although
their names are not in the records of that lodge.

Bro. Richard Porter, the first W. M. of No. 6, was a captain
in the 6oth regiment, which had two field warrants, one No. 448,
E. R, issued in 1764, originally granted by the. Provincial Grand
Master of New York to Lieut. J. Christie, as Master and others, to
meet as lodge No. 1, at Detroit. It became No. 62 in 1806, and in
1819 No. 3, Grand Lodge of New York, and is now Zion lodge No.
1, Grand Lodge of Michigan, as will be seen in the history of that
lodge. The second warrant was to be held “in H. M. Loyal Amer-
ican Regiment or elsewhere.” This lodge was warranted in 1783 by
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the Grand Lodge of New York, and was No. 7, which eventually

became the New Oswegatchie lodge, which worked at Elizabeth-

town in Upper Canada (see history of No. 7). W. Bro. Porter pro-

bably belonged to the second lodge known as “ No. 7.”

Bro. William McKay, the senior warden, was a resident of
Kingston, and in 1797 was appointed Deputy Grand Secretary of
the Provincial Grand Lodge under R. W. Bro. Jarvis.

Bro. Hershfieldt was Bro. Fred. lershfieldt, who at London,
England, on the 26th Dec., 1791, is included in a list of " Loyal
Americans, who have signed to go and settle in Upper Canada.”
The impression is that Bro. Hershfieldt came over with R. W. Bro.
Jarvis in the " Henniker.”

Bro. John Darley, the first treasurer of the lodge, was in busi-
ness of hotel-keeping up to 1797, and then assumed the manage-
ment oi the Kingston Brewery. Mr. John Stauber succeeded John
I[\garlzy in the tavern business, and in 1798 became a member of

(V1 .

It will be helpful to the reader to see a plan of the town of
Kingston in 1796, with each official residence and the meeting-
places of the Craft marked. The plan has been carefully drawn
from maps of the period and the references have been verified by
R. W. Bro. H. J. Wilkinson, of Kingston.

In order that the plan may he accurately followed by those who
have not old-time knowledge of localities the references to the
Masonic locations are given in the letter press:

J —Freemasons’ Tavern, s.e. corner of King and Barrack streets, red
brick dwelling house, Matthews Estate, known as *‘ Valliere
Terrace.” Aug., 1794; Oct., 1801.

K.—Darley's dwelling, east side Rideau (Brewery) street, on a line
with the north side of Bay street, now a vacant field. Nov,,
1Ro1—Feb., 1802, and June, 1802—Oct. 1802.

[. —Patrick’s house, n.w. corner of Brock (Market) and Wellington
1Quarry) streets, now occupied by the Waldron block. Nov,,
1802—Dec. 1802, and June, 1803—Jan., 1806.

M —Lewis’ dwelling, 60 feet north of Queen on west side of On-
tario street, near n.w. corner of Ontario and Queen streets.
Dec., 1802—May, 1803.

N —Walker's hotel, now site of Kennedy House, brick building,
Brock street, near the n.w. corner of Ontario (Front) street.
March, 1802—May, 1802, and Feb., 1806—Nov., 1807.

O.—Walker's new hotel, “ British American,” s.e. corner of King
(Church) and Clarence streets, present buildings. Dec., 1807—
fan., 1814, and May, 1815—Jan,, 1822.

P- -Bavman’s Inn, north side of Brock (Market) street. & feet
irom n.e. corner of Wellington (Quarry) street, on site of Liv-
mgstone’s store, 75—77 Brock (Market) street. Aug., 1814—
Oct., 1814.

Q —Millward’s dwelling—Same as L. Feb. 7th, 1822—May, sth,
1825,

R —McArthur’s dwelling, south side of Princess (Store) strect, now
No. 178 Princess street, near the corner of Montreal street,
west of Bagot street. June 2nd, 1825—Scept. 2nd. 1832
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S.—Olcptt’s Hotel, now site of Windsor Hotel, north side of Prin-
cess street, No. 204, west of Montreal street. Oct. 3rd, 1833—
Feb. 6th, 1834, and Dec. 15th, 1843—Nov. 20th, 1845.

T.—St. John’s Hall (Patrick’s dwelling), corner of Brock (Market)
and6Wellington (Quarry) streets. Nov. 28th, 1845—Oct. 15th,
1846.

U.—First St. George’s church in rear of old Masonic Hall, front-
ing on Market Square.

The lodge having been duly constituted proceeded to business,
which, it is presumed, included the confirmation of the bylaws al-
ready given and certain “extra bylaws for Lodge No. 6.” These
additional laws increased the fees of the tyler, while other clauses
regulated the extra fines payable for absence. The original “ Rule
No. 10” was amended, making the sum for affiliation two dollars
or ten shillings, instead of five shillings. The extra bylaws read:

“ 1. The Tyler of this Lodge shall be allowed one shilling and three pence
Currency for each night’s attendance, and three pence for every sum-
mons served, independent of the accustomed fees for Initiation, &c., &c.

2. Officers absent shall pay extra fines, as follows, vizt:

“W.M. Two shillings & sixpence.

S.W. Two shillings.

J.W. One shilling & sixpence.

“ And it is further ordered that, if any of the above-mentioned offi-
cers cannot attend that the Master send a letter to.the Senior Warden,
the Senior Warden, in like manner, to the Junior Warden, or Master,
and the Junior Warden to the Master or Senior Warden, stating the
cause of his or their inability to be present, upon which the next
Officer in seniority shall take their respective Places.

3. “ As it appears that this lodge has unavoidably incurred certain Ex-
penses: it is, therefore, ordered that these expenses shall be paid from
time to time out of the surplus of such moneys, as shall arise from
Initiation, &c. on each stated Lodge night, or Lodge of Emergency.

“IV. That, when the Lodge Debts are paid, the preceding Rule to be no

longer in force.

“V. Master Masons, wishing to become Members of the Lodge, shall pay

two dollars, previous to their admission.”

The bylaws were duly signed by twenty members, the last
named being that of Bro. “ Thomas Beasley.” the ancestor of the
Bro. Beasley of lodge No. 10, at- Barton, whose interesting corre-
spondence with R. W. Bro. Jarvis, the reader has already perused.

The second meeting was held on the 11th Sept. The minutes
are as follows:

Free Masons’ Tavern, Thursday, 11th Septr., 1793
* Bro. Richard Porter, Esquire, W.M.
“  William Mackay, Esqr., S.W.
*  William Burrell, JwW.
‘“  John Darley, Treasurer.
* (s) John Stewart, Secretary.

* The Lodge opened in due form in the 3d deg: Brother William Barron,
(late of Lodge. No. 7) wishing to join this Lodge, his certificate was read,
and he was unanimously admitted a member. Messrs. Thomas Plummer and
William Edhouse, two Candidates, were balloted for and, without opposition,
were ordered to attend at next meeting, in order be Initiated. The l.odge
was then closed in perfect Harmony.

“J. C. Stewart, Sec'y.”
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There appears to have been only five members of the lodge
present by the return in the minutes. If others were at the meet-
ing their names have not been given. The figure “ 5” before Bro.
Stewart’'s name would indicate that there were only that number
present. There were, however, no initiations, but when these occurred,
the right number of members were present.

The third meeting was held on the 2nd Oct., 1794, with V.
Iiro. Porter in the chair; Bro. Wm. McKay, S. W., and Wm. Bur-
rell, J. D., Bro. Darley, treasurer, and Bro. John Walker, a visitor,
acting as junior deacon. Bros. Ichabod Hawley, Nathan Curtice ard
John Donovan, of lodge No. 7, were present as visitors.

The lodge was opened in the third degree as were all the
lodges of that period. “ Bro. Abel Gates, late of Dorchester No.
3. wishing to join this body, his certificate was produced to the
lodge, upon which he was unanimously approved of and admitted
a member.”

Dorchester lodge No. 3 was the lodge on the register of Lower
Canada at the town of St. John’s, an old frontier post on the River
Richelieu, in the county of St. John's.

* Bro. Titus Fitch, late of St. John’s No. 8” was aftiliated.
This “ No. 8" could not have been “ No. 8" of the Jarvis register.
as the lodge No. 8 at York was known as *“ Harmony Lodge,” and
the names are not to be found in the Craft history of that place.
* Requisitions were then read from Messrs. William McDonnell,
Jonathan Gorman and Dugald Gray, praying to be initiated, who
were balloted for and approved worthy nem con.” The minutes
close with the entry, *“ Thos. Plummer and William Edhouse en-
tered6in the 1st deg.” This is the first record of an initiation in
No. 6.

On the 16th Oct., 1794, an emergency was called. An absen-
tee, Bro. William }idhouse, was noted as such. The record of the
work done at all these meetings is to be found in the register of
the lodge. It is only when special mention is necessary that the
mere record of work itself interests the reader.

At the meeting of the 4th December, 1794, fourteen were pres-
ent, including three visitors. ‘“ Upon motion of Brother Darley it
was unanimously carried that the present officers of this lodge do
remain in their several stations for six months ensuing.” After
work in E. A. it was “ Resolved, That the members of this lodge
do meet at 10 o'clock on St. John’s Day, in order to regulate that
Festival.” and it was ‘' Ordered, That the Lodge dinner be at 3
o'clock. and that five shillings be paid by each member for hi: ad-
mission.” This was preliminary to the first celchration of the fes-
tival in Kingston, but of the actual celebration there is no record
in the minutes. for the next meeting of the lodge was on the 2nd
January, 1705, in which there is no reference to the occasion

On the 1st February. 1795, there was a large number oi breth-
rc:ﬂrrcscnt, eighteen in all. This meeting was devoted to d-gree
work.

At the mecting of sth March, 17935. Bro. Burrell acted as W
M., twenty-one were present and “ Bro. Curtiss, from Lodge No.
(3) was prepared to become a member of this bodyv. but he was re-
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jected by three brethren.” Before the lodge closed “a lecture in.
the 1st degree was put round.” This was practically the queries of
an E. A. before he becomes an F. C. )

In April two meetings of the lodge were held, one on the
regular night and “ the other an emergency, but no other business.
was done than merely taking leave of our Worthy Brother and
much respected Master, Richard Porter, Esquire, who was unavoid-
ably called off, and much against his wish and inclination was
obliged to resign the chair.” W. Bro. Porter, as captain in the
6oth regiment, had been ordered from Kingston on military duty.

At the meeting of 7th May, 1795, Bro. Burrell, the S. W,
acted as W. M. until the installation in June. The business trans-
acted was degree work. At this meeting one visitor, Bro. John
Slykeman, from No. 5, New Johnston, was present.

On the 4th June, 1795, at the regular meeting ‘“a motion was
made by Brother Senior that the Reverend Mr. Stewart be request-
ed to preach a sermon for this Lodge on Saint JTohn’s Day, and
that he shall be invited to dine with this Lodge at that Festival.”"
The meeting closed with the election of officers for the ensuing six
moenths.

An emergency was called on 11th June, 1795, at which fitteen
were present. After degree work the lodge * agreed that five shil-
lings be paid by each member for Saint John’s Festival.”

On St. John's day the lodge met and the officers were installed.

“ The Lodge afterwards went in procession to the Church, and attended
Divine Service, after which it was resolved that the Thanks of the Body be
offered to the Rev’d Mr. Stuart for his most excellent Discourse, and that
Eight Dollars, be presented to him, & two Dollars to his Clerk.”

After the sermon the lodge, at its dinner perhaps, ordered the
following letter to be sent to the clergyman:

‘“ Free Masons' Tavern
Wednesday, 24 June, 1795.
* Sir
“1 am Directed by the Worshipful Master, Wardens & Brethren of Lodge,
No. 6, to present to you their united thanks for the Honor you have done
them this Day, and that they sincerely hope and wish. that the sentiments so
elegantly express’d in your most excellent sermon may be deeply impressed
upon the minds of the Body, as well as the other part of the Congregation.
“1 have the Honor to be,
* Sir, Your most obedient &
“ Very humble Servant,
“To “ Will. McDonell, Sec'y.
“The Rev’d Mr. Stuart.”

This was the first public celebration of the festival of St. John by
the Craft of lodge No. 6. The service took place in the first St.
George's church, which faced the Market Square in about the centre
of the block. The preacher was the Rev. John Stuart, father of the
Rev. George O’Kill Stuart, who in 1800 was Anglican rector at York
(Toronto).

At the meeting of 2nd July, 1795, “ A motion was made
Brethren absent on their lawful concerns for the dues to the Box,
when the Same shall be beyond their Cable Tow.” This probably
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meant that absentees were not to be charged for dues by the treas-
urer. The word “box ” is often used in early minutes in the sense
of the modern “treasury.” The cost of tyling was also to be done
away with for

“ a motion was made and carried that this meeting the Lodge be tyled by

the Brethren in rotation, beginning with Brother Burrell, and that the present
Tyler be dismissed from his employment.”

At the meeting of 6th August, 1795, eleven members were
present and nine noted as absent, but all were sick or excused ex-
cept one, and his case was promptly investigated for “a mo-
tion made to fine Bro. Wilkins 1s.6d. approved and carried.” “A
mntion made by Bro. Darley to take off the next monthly lodge
till the first Thursday in October,” and “ The Master and Wardens
ordered to attend the Grand Provincial Lodge of U. Canada in
the Home District.” Niagara (Newark) was in this district.

* A motion made by Bro. Senior to have the business settled
on our next meeting, with the Master and Wardens of Lodge No.
s and 7, the sum proposed to pay the Grand Pro. Lodge.”
R. W. Bro. Kerr, of Niagara, was present at this meeting for the
minutes state “ visited by Bro. Kerr.” At this meeting the follow-
ing letter was read from the Grand Secretary:

" To the Worshipful Master and the good Brethren of Lodge, No. 6.

“ It is the will and pleasure of the Rt. W.P.c. Master, William Jarvis,
F<quire, that T inform you that Wednesday, the 26th day of August next, at
Newark, in the Home District, is the time and place appointed, on which the
representatives of the several Lodges in the province are to assemble, and
f~rm a Committee for the purpose of electing the officers to Compose the
Provincial Grand Lodge, at which time and place you are desired to attend

* Fail not. By order of the R. W,

‘“ Grand Master.

* July, Anno Dom. 1795, Anno Luc. 5795.

“ (Signed) D. Phelps, G. Sec’y, pro tem

* N.B. Should it be inconvenient, on account of your distance, or other-
we<e, for your Wardens to attend the foregoing, the attendance of the Wor-
<ipful Master only, with a written instrument, empowering him to act as fully
ard amply in bchalf of the Lodge, as if the Wardens were present, will be
dicpensed with, and he will bring with him the Jewel of the Officer whom he
may represent.

* It will be expedient that you make a Return, at the within-mentioned
time, of the number of your Lodge, when they were Respectively raised, when

made members, &c.
“ (Sig’d) D. Phelps, G.S., pro tem.”

Thus ends the first year’s work of lodge No. 6. The lodge was
known as “ No 6” and not by the subsequent name of “ St. John's ™
It had but five members at its first meeting, but from October 10th it
had the full complement of seven. It cannot be said that in all parti-
culars Craft procedure was followed. Members were proposed.
balloted for. accepted and initiated at the same meeting, members
affiliated without previous notice and the custom of opening and
closing in any degree, at the will of the W. M. was a common
occurrence. While such action to-day would call forth comment it
must he remembhered that all this occurred a century ago, when but
few possessed more than a passing acquaintance with Masonic ritual,
procedure or jurisprudence.
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On the 1st September, 1795, an emergency meeting was called
for the purpose of attending the funeral of a Bro. Neil McLean. At
the meeting of 8th October, 1795, the names of those absent are
given, but not the names of the officers of the lodge. A motion was
made by “ Bro. Senior to have the minutes of the Committee in the
Grand Lodge of U. C. read, which was done accordingly,” but, un-
fortunately, the minutes do not contain a copy of the report. That the
meeting of Grand Lodge was duly held is confirmed by the above
motion, and also by the fact that the W. M. delivered in ‘ his account
of expenses for attending the Grand Lodge, which carried.”

At the meeting of 5th November, 1795, ** The W. M.” said “ that if
any admitted Bro. has certificates from any other lodge and do not
deliver them up to this, cannot or will not obtain any certificate from
this lodge.” Bro. John Peters from lodge “ No. 7, Up. Can.,” was
present as a visitor. This lodge was located at Fredericksburgh.

The passage of this resolution indicated that all joining brethren
must deposit a certificate of withdrawal from the lodge with which
they were formerly connected. Our Masonic pioneers had kindly
thoughts for those in distress, for at this meeting it was also resolved
“that a subscription be made for Bro. Church, being a distressed
brother with a large family, hoping that the brethren of the lodge will
do their duty accordingly.”

At the meeting of 21st November, 1795, “a recommendation ”
was “ made in due form for Brother Burrell, as he is going to join his
mother lodge.” Previous minutes give no clue to this lodge. Bro.
Burrell was present at the first meeting on 7th August, 1794, as J. W.
of the lodge.

On the 3rd December, 1795, the record states: " No business
done this evening,” and at the meeting of 7th January, 1796, the
W. M, S. W, and J. W. were installed, after which it was * voted
that the other officers shall be nominated the next lodge night.” There
is no record of the celebration of the festival of St. John.

On the 4th of February, 1796, “a move” was ‘“ made by Bro.
Sampson to withdraw his certificate from our lodge.” “ A motion
made (by) the Worshipful (master) to appoint Bro. Eckford, S. D.
(was) approved.” This was in accordance with Rule 3 of the bylaws,
or rules and orders. This custom has been varied in modern days.

At the meeting of 7th April, “ Bro. Eckford requested his certi-
ficate as he is leaving the province.” He had been appointed senior
deacon in February. With regard to Bro. Sampson’s withdrawal “ A
motion made by the secretary to certify the time he remained in our
body, as he is about leaving the place.” This was to be done on the
back of the certificate. “ Bro. Sampson moved to let his certificate in
the lodge, and continue to be a member having changed his intent.”

On the 2nd June, “a move made by the W. M. to elect the
officers for the ensuing six months.” This was carried. This meeting
is noteworthy, as it records the arrival of the lodge warrant. No. 6
had from its foundation been working under a dispensation. The
minutes read that the brethren “ should go to Church on St. John’s
day,” and “ Bro. McKay brought from Newark our warrant from the
Grand Lodge, which read in open lodge, and our dispensation deli-
vered to Bro. McKay to return to Grand Lodge.” This warrant was
one of the number issued by R. W. Bro. Jarvis. In this local history
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1t 1s unnecessary to discuss whether Bro. Jarvis exceeded his power
by issuing warrants without communicating with the Grand Lodge
at l.ondon. He apparently did and, as a consequence, his action led
tu serious dissension in the province, which was not settled until the
advent of R. W. Bro. Simon McGillivray. There is this to be said
that had R. W. Bro. Jarvis attended properly to his duties, the limit
of authority in his warrant would never have been questioned.

At the meeting of 16th June, 1796, Bro. Beasley had a special
summons sent him *to give in the reasons for non-attendance to
this body in open lodge.” and the lodge recsived a request from Bro.
Dawson to have a certificate from this lodge- -

* the reason why demanded is that he cannot live in peace with his wife
if he attends the Craft. which the lodge is to take into consideration”

Bro. Dawson had assuredly household trouble, and, while it
would be unfair to impute the cause to his good wife, it would not
have been unjust to enquire whether the protesting brother were as
perfect a man as a Mason should be.

On the 24th June, although no date is given in the minutes, the
linige opened at 10.30 o’clock, and

" Then proceeded in procec<sion to church in due form. and roceive i the
woetit of an excellent sermon from the Rev. Mi Sunut Ketiiood rrom
church and it was resolved that the thanks of this pody be wnitten by the
Sccretary for his most excellent discourse.”

\t the meeting oi 4th August, 1790, = Brother Darley innn <
this body that Bro. ladus has violated his obligation,” and ‘'he
brother was ordered to be summoned for the next mecung, bz to
further mention 1s made in the minutes concerning the watier. A
footnote to these minutes reads: " N.B. Will'm Zddes commirung a
rebbery on Nathan Curtis, of St. John's, formerly of No. 7, U7 "
At a much later date, however, this case was dealt with by ihe io
vincial Grand Lodge, for at the quarterly meeting held v the 3rd
September, 1800, © Sentence of expulsion was passed on .
Fadus of No. 6, Kingston, for a robbery on a brother.”

On the 6th October, 1796, the minutes read:

“ Bro. Barron has withdrawn his certificate, which was deposit-d wi! onar
Secretary, he leaving the Province and Bro. Sampson’s also, he lwin: at
Ni.gana.”

On the 3rd November, 1796. the lodge * reccived two lcctures
from the Worshipful (master) in the 1st degree.” The system pur-
sucd was for the W. M. to explain the purport of the ritual and then
question the brethren, commencing with the member on his noht or
lefs, taking all in turn.

On the 15t December the lodge met and

- A move made by Bro. McLeod to call Bro Snnth to make o apee v
tr the Lodge for leaving it so abruptly Bro. Gates declared that B2 St 2o
informed him he was going away, and Brother Smith further <avs tivat he hd
wnitten two letters to Bro. Fitch, during the ume he was abeent «boi B
Fitch says he never received The Body in conaderation of these eserr e
admits him as a Member once more.”

The accompanying picture is taken from between Pomt bFredesc
and Main street. looking in a north-western direction
36
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A VIiEw oF KINGSTON IN 1796. FrOM A DRAWING BY
MRs. SIMCOE.

No. 1. Is Cartwright’s wharf and storehouse, built on the Horn
which turned in toward the ground now occupied by the
Montreal Transportation Company’s shipvard, there be-
ing formerly a bay on the site of the shipvard and extend-
ing in close to the present site of the Havmarket. It is
now occupied partly by the military stables on the south
side of the road leading to and across the Cataraqui
bridge, partly by the road itself and partly by Knapp's
boathouse. It is on the north side of the road and close
to the end of the bridge.

No. 2 These buildings were storehouses, formerly occupied by
the Quartermaster-General’'s department. They have
long since been swept away, their site being oaccupied by
officers’ quarters within the walls of the barracks. The
foundation walls are still visible in the barrack square.

No. 3. This is Forsyth’s Wharf, now called the Queen's Wharf.
in the barrack vard, on the south side and on the line of
Barrack street.

No. 4. The flag on Fort Frontenac. probably the s. e. bastion,
where there was a round tower, the foundations of which
are visible in barrack square.

No. 5. Probably the gable of the present Central Hotel. corner
Queen and Ontario streets.

While the brethren were strict in looking aiter the deportment of
their fellows, they did not apply the same rule to the lodee business.
for in direct violation of their by-laws * .\ move (was) made bv Bro
MCALeod that the officers now in office remain 6 months longer.”
which was * carricd by a shew of hands ™ The hvlaws had provided
for a ballot. but that regulation on this occasion id not cancern the
brethren.
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On the 27th December, 1796, the lodge found that the system of
tyling by brethren in * rotation” was not acceptable, and it was
resolved that “ Bro. Fleming to be the Tyler of this body in future,
to be paid out of the lodge fund,” and, as will be secen, it was a benefit-
iny appointment.

On the sth January, 1797, after the minutes had been confirmed,

“ Brother Darley presented a Petition from Brother Flemming. our Pre-
sent, Tyler, being a poor, Distressed Brother, Craves assistance from our Body.
After maturely examining his Situation, Brother McKay proposed to allow
him 20‘ at 4 different Payments, that is to say 5/6 for 4 weeks, which was
unamimously done by a show of Hands.”

At the meeting of 4th February, 1797, the lodge dealt with
another applicant but in a much different manner.

* Bro. Mcl.eod presented a Petition from Bro. Robert Brown, who Craves
thic Lodge to lend him 12 Dollars, as a Mr. Moziers’ oxen ate his wheat. He
being an old residenter of the Place, and did not make himself known to the
L.odge, or any Member, that he was a Brother, 'till he had Craved their assist-
ance, Directed that Brother Darley should acquaint Bro. Brown that we Can-
not Comply with his request, being an old Residenter, and never iniormed the
Body he was a Brother.”

The reply of the brethren emphatically enunciated the correct
principle that brethren who were non-contributors were not c¢ntitled
to the benefits of the charity. On the 4th March, 1797,

*“ A few of the Brothers met, but the key of the Box not being Brought,
and no particular Business to do, the Worshipful thought that it might be
dicpensed with till the next night.”

The books, jewels and cash were kept in ** the box,” and, there-
fore, without the key the work was at a standstill. From the minutes
of the meeting of 8th April, 1797, it would appear that the Free
masons’ Tavern had changed hands for

“ Bro. Mcl.eod made a move to Consult, if we could have the use of tlus
room for our Lodge, or Dctermine how the Treas'y., Chest, & Jewels are to he
taken care of, as none of the present possessors of the House are Masons, &
proposes that the present W. M. should have charge of them until we were
fully settled. Agreed to by a Shew of Hands & Closed in perfect Harmony

“ Will McDonell, Sec'y
At the meeting of 6th May, 1797,

* Bro. Darley proposed Charles McDonell a Candidate, and to be entered
to-night, it being so nigh St. John's Day, which was confirmed by a shew of
Hands. which accordingly was done & entered.”

and then

** A motion made by Bro. McKay that Brother Dar’ey takes the Chair ior
the ensuing 6 months.”

The brethren had little respect for rules, orders or constitution
On this night they quietly ignored two of the most important claus: <
in the code which governed the lodge. At the meeting of tst June.
1707. the minutes state

“ Read over the Petitions of Solomon Ball & Silas Nicholas of 2d Town-
ship. praying to be admitted into our Body They being strangers to anv - f
our body, referred to Brother Amos Martin, a Visitor of St John's A Meve
made by Bro. McKay to communicate the same hy lLetter to T.odge, No 7.
if they had made any application to their Body to be admitted.”
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The applicants were residents of the second township. The first
township was named after King George I11., the King’s Town, and
all of the other townships, both upon the St. Lawrence and the Bay of
Quinte, were named after royalty. The second township, Ernestown,
was named after ““ Ernest Augustus,” the eighth child of George IIIL
The second township was allotted to the 2nd battalion of the 84th
regiment, or the New York Royal Rangers. The entry in the
minutes is important as indicating whether the visitors to No. 6 at
Kingston from “ No. 7” were members of the New Oswegatchie,
which met at Elizabethtown, now Brockville, or of *“ No. 7,” Fred-
cricksburg, a township in the county of Lennox. A foot note to the
minutes of Ist June says:

“N.B. Bro. C. McDonell received his 2nd step.”

On the 24th June, 1797, “ Bro. McKay informed the lodge that
Solomon Ball, who had made application to this lodge, had likewise
made application to lodge No. 7, and could not be admitted.” The
lodge celebrated the festival of St. John, and “ walked to Church in
due form, had an excellent sermon ” and “ dined together inviting the
Rev. Mr. Stuart.”

On the sth October, 1797, the “lodge opened in 1st degree.
Bro. Simpson repeated his charge and the W. M. return Bro. T. Mc-
Dcnald thanks for his attention to Bro. Simpson, who was passed to
the 2nd degree.” Bro. McDonald had been the instructor of Bro.
Simpson prior to the F. C.

‘“ A Motion made by Bro. M'Kay that a bolt should be put on the outside
of the Door, seconded by the W. M.”

Why the bolt was placed on the outside of the door is not ex-
plained. One could understand the action if it had been on the inside.

“ Bro. Clark. a visitor from Lodge, No. 7, having suggested to this Body
that a necessary communication should be opened between both Lodges 6 & 7
of the Midland District, signifying that no Persons who have lived in the
Neighborhood of the c¢ne Lodge, should be admitted into the body of the other
without the copsent of both Il.odges.

“ It was agreed that, when it is confirmed in Lodge, No. 7, it will be ad-
mitted of in Lodge No. 6.”

There seems to have been quite a friendly feeling between the
members of No. 6 and No. 7. The intent of this motion was to
preserve in its entirety the jurisdiction of the respective lodges. There
was no such question as infringement of jurisdiction in the days of
1797. "

“ A Motion made by the W.M. that the Body of this Lodge should meet
to-morrow evening to settle the acc’ts to go before the Grand Lodge with Bro.
M'Kay, who is going up.”

This gives the assurance of another meeting of the Provincial
Grand Lodge at Niagara, under R. W. Bro. Jarvis. Amongst the
visitors were Bros. Priam and Courtier of “ No. 7,” and Petto of “ No.
3.” The latter lodge was that of the Queen’s Rangers meeting in
York garrison. On the 6th October, 1797:

“ Bro. Clarke made an acknowledgment in behalf of Lodge, No. 7, for
Bro. Dowzenbourgh, for his irregularity the last night in abusing Bro. Mec-
Leod, and using very aprobrious language in calling him a rascal, & threaten-
ing to kick him. After discussing their affairs, closed till the first Thursday
of the ensuing month.”
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On the 21st November, 1797, the W. M. * desired that part of
the bylaws to be read concerning Law suits.” The master may have
scen litigation in the distance. At the mecting of 7th December, 1797,

* A Bro. Gibson, of Lodge, No. 4, wished to be admitted as a Visitor. Bro.
Petto (of Lodge, No. 3), said he was present in Lodge. No. 8, with the said
Bro. when sgme misbehaviour was committed by Bro. Gibson, which he (Bro.
Petto) believes he has not made an apology for the same ™

This Bro. Petto was expelled for unmasonic conduct on 7th
June, 1boo, from No. 3. No. 4 was ~ The Lodge of Philanthropy,”
and this is the first record of a member of that lodge. It met at
Niagara and was represented at the Provincial Grand Lodge. The
officers were elected without ballot for the ensuing six months.

On St. John'’s day, 27th December, 1797, the first business after
reading minutes was * The petition of James Richardson read.”
This was the well known Captain James Richardson, who conmimanded
the sailing vessel running between Kingston and Niagara via York.
He was for years the harbor master of Toronto and died in 1870.

At the meeting of 4th January, 1748, J. I'. Dame and James
Richardson were “ initiated,” and a ** motion by the W. M. that the
Tyler should have 1s. /6d. every night he attends: 1s. /- every step:
3d. every summons, and 1/- everyone joins.” .\mong the visitors that
evening were “ W. Bro. Vananistine * (Van \listine). W. M. of No. 7,
Scofal (Scofield) of probably the same lodge. Gilford Mires and
Shepard of No. 4.

At the meeting of 2nd February, 1708, the business consisted of
work in the second degree, Bros. Dame and Richurdson being passed.
Bro. Dame was not well up for examination, for the minutes state
that “ Bro. Dame promised to be better instructed under the hands of
Bro. J. McDonald.” while ** Bro. Tames Richard<on received applause
for his attention in being so well instructed.”  \n interesting letter
was read from Pro. Cozens, of lodge No. & at Yark. concerning the
conduct of Bro. Gibson referred to at the meeting of sth December,
1797. The letter reads:

“York, Tan'y ud. 1708

War<hipful Brother: °

*“T have it in charge from the Brethren of Novo X to inform vou, which we
beg vou would be pleased to communicate to the Brethren of No 6, that Rro.
Petto has been mistaken in representing to vour hody the condict of Bro Gib-
<on, when at York He stands fair on the mirutes of onr Lodge If RBro
Petto will recollect that James Pitney, not a member of aur I.adge. but hired
as Tyler, & who now associates with the modernc committed some irregulari-
ties, for which he was corrected. and. in the end. causcd the [ odge to retire.
he will throw the imputation on the deserving person The [ odee further
begs voo would be pleased to communicate thic to BRro DPitto in soothing and
maderate language, for, on account of the verv fricndlv tern's between Noo 3
& No 8 we have the highest esteem for that hadyv The T adge bege throngh
thic channel. to return their cordial thanks te Bro Gibcon for his Labours in
the Craft when at York & the instructionc given to the voung member< and
likewise wish to be remembered to Bro Petto Mav Pesce, harmory & lave
cement the Brethren of No. 6. is the sincere praver of

“ Yaour aifectionate
* Bro Darley. *and <ivcere Brother
“Sam D Cosene™
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The letter fully exemplified the principle of Masonic courtesy.
The request that *" the Lodge further begs you would be pleased to
communicate this to Bro. Petto in soothing and moderate language
was characteristic of W. Bro. Cozens. He was an exemplary man in
life and in Craft work. The reference to the " Moderns” was to
Rawdon lodge, No. 498, I:. R., which met at York, and which had
been warranted on the 15th June, 1792, by the first Grand Lodge of
England (Moderns). The appointment of R. W. Bro. Jarvis came
from the third Grand Lodge (A\ncients), and the antipathy of one to
the other was carried out at York in the rival lodges of the English
bodies. At the meeting of 2nd March, 1798,

“ A letter was read from the Grand Lodge to Bro. McKay, proposing a
Dep’'y Grand Sec’y to be appointed in this District. Therefore, as Bro. Mc-
Kay's situation does not suit him to accept it, he pitches on Bro. McDonell,
who meets the unanimous consent of the Lodge.”

Bro. McKay was a government official, and his constant absence
from home rendered it in.possible for him to fill the position of De-
puty Grand Secretary. To " pitch on” is an energetic way of making
an appointment.

At the meeting of oth April, 1798, ** Dro. J. McDonald made a
motion that a Large Bible should be bought for the good of The
Lodge.” At the meeting of 7th June, 1798, Bros. Finkle, of No. 7,
and W. Bro. Gardner of * No. 2"” (Newark) and Bro. Wm. Fortune,
of “ St. John’s ” were present as visitors. Bro. Finkle was a member
of No. 7 at Ernestown.

At the meeting of 21st June, 1798: “ Bro. Sills of Richelieu lodge,
No. 6.” Lower Canada. affiliated. Richelieu lodge was located at

William Henry, now Sorel, P.QQ. There was also a motion by Bro.
Sparham.

* A Motion by Bro. Sparham. Jun., that wishes some other person should
be appointed as steward in his place, & being called upon to name, he names
Bro. Dame.

“ Bro. Sparham, Jun., further adds that, as he has not been out of office
this 3 vears, he wishes to resign., being Sec'y any longer. Some altercation
arising both the last night and this, through Bro.*Sparham, Jun., He wishes
to withdraw from the Lodge. Bro. Sills, seeing what has passed, begged to
recall his wish of being a member, which hurt Bro. Sparham. Jun.,, very much,
being his fault. The Lodge then closed till St. John’s Day at nine o'clock
A.M., by Lawful summons.”

Some difficulty, of which there is no record, had arisen at the
last meeting. Bro. Sills regretted his petition for affiliation and had
no desire to sit with brethren who were so demonstrative. In giving
a list of the officers and members at the close of the minutes, after
Bro. J. W. Plummer’s name. a note states that he was “ Rendered
incapable to close the lodge.” The strength of the refreshment, for
the lodge had been called off. was more than the J. \W. could stand,
hence the candid remark of the secretary.

At the meeting on St. John's day, the 24th June, 1798, the

“lodge walk’d in procession to church at eleven o'clock, return’d to Bro'r
Darley’s. Motion made by Bro'r Mackay, informing the Lodge of Bro'r
Spencer’s engagement with Mr. Bravan Crawford. and wishing to know if it
would be agreeable to the Iodge that Bro'r Spencer should bring Mr. Craw-
ford to Dine with him, & Carried by a Shew of hands.”
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There is no record of installation. On the 7th September, 1798, a

* Motion made by Bro. Mackay that the Constitution Book should not
remain with any Brother more than three weeks, or be produc’d one weck
previous to the l.odge night.”

There was but one book of constitution for the lodge, and, con-
scquently, 1t hag te be passed around. After refreshment at this
meeting the lodge resumed and

* Bro. Sills moves that the minutes of each preceding night be entered in
the books and not, as usually, put upon a scrap of paper.”

The minutes of many of the meetings were not as fully reported
during the past year as in the earlier years. Bro. Sills dctermined to
correct the neglect. From the minutes of the meeting of 1st Novem-
ber, 1798, it appears that

“The Secretary being absent, and the minutes since June last not appear-
ing, a blank space is left for their insertion the next ensuing lodge night.”

A motion was made by Bro. Sparham:

“ to have three chairs provided for the use of the Lodge, for the Worship-
ful. Senior, & Junior Wardens, with the emblems of thcir offices on the back
oi them.”

The secretary had not been performing his duty satisfactorily for
on the 6th December, 1798, the lodge determined that:

“ In future, when the Secretary shall neglect his duty by non-attendance,
or reserving to himself such minutes as he may have made that he shall be
fined the sum of five shillings, or nominate a proper person to go through with
the dutics of his station.”

Another indication that No. 6 was attentive to its dutics a> a
lodge on the I'rovincial Grand Register for

* W. Bro Mackay. past Grand Ofhcer, having taken the Chair, moves that
this Lodge muke thar proper returns to the Grand Lodge of our proceedings,
to see that the fees be paird. and to proceed with any other Business that muay
be Deemed necessary.”

Iiro. Licasley, for some reason, had neglected to attend the lodge
and

Bror oy moves that Bro. Worshiptul propose to Bro'r Sills to ¢
appointed to speak to Bro  Beasley, respecung his non-attendance, and thar,
upost a proper concession hie wiil be adimtted a member of this Lodge agan.”

On the 27th December, 1798, they worked the 3rd degree, then
“ adjourned until three o'clock, opened, then called to refreshment.
They dined & called to labour.” On the 3rd January, 1799, = The
lodge open’d m the first degree.  ‘The lodge call'd irom labour to
rareshment lugh Twelve,” aiter which the lodge opened, the otheers
were installed and the lodge was called to refreshment.” It was
" called to labour " then and after ** Brother Murray paid his dues of
Fellow Crait and Master Mason ™ the lodge was again “ call'd to
reireshment.”  This was the third occasion at the same mecting on
wihich the lodge thought fit to refresh themsclves with the alleged
comforts of life.

On the ;th March, 1799, two candidates were * rejected ™ and
five member< withdrew from membership. An emergency was called
on the 15th \pril, 1700. The state of the finances of No. 6 occupied
attention.
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“ Brother Mackay moved that a Regular return be made to the Grand
Lodge by the 24th inst., and that those Brethren that have not attended the
duties of the lodge, after being regular summoned, in order to settle the same,
that, in case of non attendance on the 24th must be reported accordingly, also
that the moneys arising from the Lodge shall (in future) be deposited in the
Lodge Chest, and, when found sufficient sum, it shall be put into the hands of
some person of property, who can be entrusted with the same, to bear
Interest, the Treasurer to come forth the 24th to give in his accounts, in order
that they may be adjusted and settled.”

The funds could not have been properly husbanded as the
moneys were to ‘‘ be put into the hands of some person of property,
who can be entrusted with the same” and “ to bear interest.”

On the 2nd May, 1799, it was

“ Moved by Br. Mackay that all the members of this Lodge shall pay to
the Grand Lodge one shilling A quarter, and one Dollar for every Member,
from the fund, that has been entered since last return to the Grand Lodge, &
one shilling for every Regular Master Mason’s enregistering.”

And a letter to the following effect was read from the Grand
Secretary at Newark:
“ Newark, 16 April, 1799
“ Worshipful & Brethren:

“I am requested to call on you for the return of your Lodge, and the
dues owing to the Grand Lodge. The datc of vour Last return on record is
June 11. 1795. To that there is to the s5th of June next, 4 vears, to be assessed
on the members, (Master Masons) 1/ per quarter while he was a member. and
one Dollar for everyone Raised since that date, which must be paid from vour
fund. None but Master Masons are to be returned. and those who would he
enregistered must send 1/ therefor; from this vou can make up your own
statement of dues, and if you have paid any moneys since then, deduct them
from the sum. We are obliged to adopt this mode of adjustment in too many
cases, because the Grand Secretaries heretofore have maost astonishingly
neglected their duties, and deranged the accounts. It is. however. the inten-
tion of the Grand Lodge to be diligent in rectifying the negligence. and, to
put the Business on a proper footing. It is wished your attention may soon
be taken up in complying with the request. For the more easy transmitting
of the Business of the Eastern Lodges, I shall be diligent in finding and
appointing a worthy and qualified Brother, in Kingston, deputy Grand
Secretary.

“1 have also to inform you that a Lodge is constituted at the third town-
ship, on River Letrench, by name of No. 14. and that Bro’r James Fleming is
Master thereof.

“1 also notify to your Lodge and all L.odges & Brethren that, at the Last
quarterly Grand Communication, Joseph Edwards, Esqr., of this town was
convicted of infamous. contemptucus, and highlyv unmasonic conduct. and.
therefore, expelled all the honors and benefits of Masonry.

“T am, Worshipful and Brethren,
“ Your devoted Brather,
*(Signed) Silvester Tifany. Gr Seccty”

“P.S. The Dollar is paid only on those raised in your I.odge, No 6.”

That No. 6 should have been nearly four years in arrear is a
matter of surprise. The fact that the state of the finances had been
investizated would lead to the supposition that there had been
dereliction of duty on the part of the treasurer, or of the previous
Grand Secretary to collect the fees. which mayv account for this
remissness on the part of the lodge. This letter reveals the fact that



HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA. 56')

the former Grand Secretaries, had been inattentive to their duties, and
that to remedy such a state of matters a Deputy Grand Sectretary was
to be appointed at Kingston.

The lodge No. 14 was in the township of Southwold in Middle-
sex. The river L.¢ Trench is the ** La Tranche ” (or la Trenche) call-
ed the Thames by proclamation on the 16th July, 1792.

At the mceting of the 8th June, 1799, the brethren werc in a
charitable frame of mind, for Bro. Mackay moved that

** as there are some Rrothers that are indigent, at present, that their notes

of hand be takcn. pavable in two or three months, or sooner, if their finances
«WJIE allow ™

The ofticers were elected and Bro. Darley was continued as
treasurer * provided that he kecp regular books that may be adjusted
every three or six months as it may be deemed (by the body)
necessary.” This closed the minutes of threc years and ten months’
work of the lodge. When the lack of general knowledge in the open-
ing years of the Craft in Canada is taken into consideration one must
admire the plodding and conscientious manner, in which the brethren
of those days discharged their duties.

The minutes of St. John's day, 24th June. 1700, are preceded by
a copy of the rules and orders * corrected and revised” “on the sth
January, 1801.” duly signed by the members. On the 24th the lodge
orencd at 10 am . and after business, was called to refreshment and
then to labour. after which it was

“ Moved by the W M as no par<son was here, begged leave to read the
zo<pel and epistle wdapted ior the day, which was unanimously agreed to and
rrad accordingly ™

On the 4th July, 1799, a motion was made by the W. M. that

“No old Macerr hoeoviee 4 momber, shall hold any office without tiest
paying ten shi'linze ‘or hie admittance. and also that any Br that is not within
three miles of thv [ odpe, <l pav only three pence for cvery abeent nigint.
and, when present the tated dues of 1/6.”

And then ~ Br. Sellar of No. --, Royal Artillery, prays to become
an extra member of this lodge and was agreed to by the unanimous
concent of the hodv.”

This Bro Sellar was the father of Bro. Robert Sellars, who died
at Kingston an the 14th October, 180, aged 00 vears and ten
months. At the time of his death he was the oldest Freemason n
Canada, havisge in 1819 been admitted a member of this lodge, No. 6.
whken it was knoown by the name of “ St. John's.”

By the minutes of 15t August, 1709, it would appear that cowans
were about Tt was:

* Maved by Brother McKay that as impositions have been committea on
ceveral of our Sicrer Tadees, it was unanimously agreed that cvery pereon
wrhaeg applicat. a0 hocome a Member or Visitor, shall be duly exanined
& tri'd by come brother that as qualified.”

At an emergency held on the 23th August, a motion was made
“he Br Senr. Warden”:

* that there are Brothere that cannot at all times Be pre<ent. and others
that can, <o as the ontctanding Dues may be Collected conformable to the
i etier as above Dated ”
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The intention clearly of Bro. senior warden’s motion was to free
the lodge of the payment of its just indebtedness to Grand Lodge.
The suggestion that No. 6 should not be taxed for the expenses of a
representative to the quarterly meetings of Grand Lodge was not un-
reasonable. On the 3oth of August, 1799, the treasurer was short in
his cash and a motion was made by Bro. senior warden that:

“One or two shall call on Br. Treasurer to Request of him to give his
note of hand for the balance of what he owes the Lodge. As life is transitory
to all mortals, therefore, it is requested that the above must be adopted.”

A foot note shows that the convivial feature was not to be
neglected, for

*“ The Members of this Lodge, at a meeting of an emergency, unanimously
agreed to have a supper every Lodge night, During the Winter Season, &
that those Brethren are to pay their equal proportions the same as if it present.
The suppers to continue until the first Thursday in March.”

At the meeting of 7th November, 1799, “ A move made by Br.
Sen’r (warden) that it might be incommodious to some of the
Brethren to attend at the Hour of five in the evening, in lieu of six
o'clock, for the Benefit ot Lecturing on Masonry.”

The meeting of the 6th December, 1799, is important, for at this
date there was an indication of the dissension at Newark and York.
The Provincial Grand Master had in 1797 left Newark and was at
York with the warrant from the Grand Lodge of England in his
possession. The brethren at Niagara were full of bitterness, denounc-

ing R. W. Bro. Jarvis, and proposed to ignore his authority. At
this meeting

“A Letter & Summons read from the Grand Lodge corroborated Br.
James Richardson, who asserts to have had conversation in person with the
R.W.G.M., who said that at Newark there was mo Grand Lodge, as at that
time was removed to York, and that the Lodge was to pay no attention to
those Letters that might be Received, as the warrant was withdrawn from that
place and in his possession.”

It was moved by the W. M. “that one or two Doz'n lamb skins
be provided for the good ot the lodge. If possible they can be pro-
vided by St. John'’s day.” A motion was also made by Br. Bayman,

 that new Ribbon be purchased for the Jewels, and enquiry to be made
whather there can be a Bible to be had for the Good of the Lodge, and also
that three Locks be furnished for the Chest, with Keys for each, that is to say
one Key for the W. M., one for the S. W., & one for the Treasurer, & should
any of the above officers Lose or neglect to bring their respective Kevs.
the lock to be broken, and the expense of the same to be charged to their
private account.”

No action was taken at this meeting with regard to the letter from
the Grand Lodge at Newark, but at the meeting of 27th December,
1799, it was moved by Bro. Darley * that we hold no communication
with the lodge at Newark until we hear from the R. W. M. Jarvis.”
At the meeting of 6th March, 1800, the lodge opened and

“ During business—brother Bayman and Brother Hershfield having some
words, the preceding night, Br. Hershfield Beg’d pardon for his conduct, to
which Br. Bayman gave his consent, but it is incumbent upon him to come
here in sobriety for the future.”



HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA. « 571

A lodge of emergency was called on the 1st April, 1800, for the
funeral of Bro. McLeod, and “ the lodge walked in procession for the
interment of our Late Br. McLeod, and, after that, the lodge was
Closed at 5§ 0’Clock, in the afternoon in good Harmony.”

Bro. McLeod was an official of the Commissariat Department.
The question of the differences between the Niagara brethren and
thase at York came up at this meeting (1st May, 1800). Bro. McKay
was loval to R. W. Bro. Jarvis. A letter had becn received from the

Griund Lodge at Newark on the 2oth January, and a motion was made
by Br. Mackay:

* That a Member of this Lodge, previous to the receipt of the above letter,
had told. 1 open Lodge. that the Provincial Grand Master, Wm. Jarvis, Esqr.,
had withdrawn the Jewels and Warrant from Niagara and that, in consequence,
they are not entitled to hold a Grand Lodge at Niagara. Upon said information,
Br Mackay applied to the R.W.M., Wm. Jarvis By private Letter, but as yct
has had no answer. Having received Communications from the Grand Lodge,
at Niagara, and the ducs paid, & returns made to them without authority, &
further that he will forward the enclos’d to the Diflerent lodges, & further
the minutes of this night be Coppy’d and sent to the RW.M. Wm. Jarvis,
Fsqr., and to the Grand l.odge at Niagara who Call themselves such a Com-
mittee to he held at Br. Mackays on Friday eveming at seven o'clock upon
particular business when and where the officers oi the Lodge are to meet. but
aiterwards postponed till the arrival of the first vcssel from Niagara, then the
L.odge clos’d in Harmony.”

At an cmergency meeting on the 2oth May, 1800, a motion was
made by Bro. Darley

“that it is inconceivable that quarterage Should be paid to the Grand
I odie a< we conceive that according to the rules of Lodges in particular,
when a Bra in Dictress Calls upon us for Relief it is hard that he should be
at the kapense to go to the Grand Lodge for support.”

This meant that the lodge could better discharge the duty of dis-
pensing charity than by sending the applicant to Grand Lodge. At the
meeting of 4th June, 1800, it was resolved * that a small box be pro-
vided for the purposc of recciving donations for relief of indigent
brethren.” At the meeting of 7th August, 1800,

“ A motion was made by Br. Wm. McKay that it was the wish of the
Right Worshipiul Grand Master to remove the Grand l.odge from Ng\\.ark
+0 York. Scconded by Bro Darley, this motion was agreed to by an unammous
shew of hands "

The charge made some years previous against Bro. Eadus
had apparently reached Grand Lodge for * Bro. McKay presented
the iollowing letter from the G. Secty. to Bro. Win. Eadus

“ Niagara, June 7th. 1800

“ Bro

“ Lodze, No. 6, having reported to the R.\W. Grand Lodge that you hid
v fated v ueself 1n a speares af injury on a Brother of so great a degree as to b
the nature of a robbery. The said grand lodge this day ordered me to require
vou to shew cause tc them on the first Wednesday in September next why
sentence of Expulsion should not be confirmed on you then, and you w:l!
govern yourself accordingly.
) “ By order Silvester Tiffany,
“\r W Fadus”

Tt i< noted that at the meeting of 4th September,



572 o HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

“ Bro. B. Hay procured from Montreal a painted Floor cloth and Bible
for the use of the Lodge the expense of each four Dollars. Bro. Darley made
a motion that the thanks of this Lodge is due to Bro. B. Hay for his kind
attention in procuring the above usefull articles. Seconded by W. Master.”

On the 2nd October a letter was read from the Provincial Grand
Lodge at Newark, dated 1st July, which stated

‘ that unless all the dues of this Lodge were paid by the 1st. Monday of
Sept. following that censure would be imposed on this Lodge.”

And at the meeting of November, 1800,

** A letter was received from the Grand Lodge dated October 5th, 1800,
expressing a willingness to wait with the delinquent Lodges until December
next. This Lodge was summoned to attend the Quarterly communication on
‘Nednesday the third day of December next at 11 O'clock A.\.”

On the 17th November, 1800, a lodge of emergency was called
to attend the funeral of Bro. Wm. Thacary of the Roval .\rtillery and
of lodge No. 9, Missisquoi Bay, Lower Canada. The funeral took
place from the garrison.

At the meeting of 6th December, 1800, Bro. Jermwn Patrick was
clected W. M. This brother of all the early W. M.’s did excellent
work not only in his own lodge, but he exerted considerable influcnce
in the management of the Craft in the Province.

On the 11th December, it

“ Being Represented to the W. M. there is some subsisting difficulties
betwixt Brother James Richardson and Brcther John Murray. thereiore. agreed
that Broth. McKay, Broth. Darley and Broth. Patrick be a Committee te
examine and Settle the difficulties betwixt those brothers, on the 13th Instant,
if possible—and that Brother Richardson Summons for that purpose.”

At the meeting of 27th December, 1800, the

“ Lodge met for the purpose of Celebrating St. John's agreeable to the
anpointment of the Committec of the last meeting of the Lodge. Bro. McKn

Reported that all subsisting difficulties betwixt Bro. Richardson and Bro.
Murray are amicably settl'd.”

Bro. Plummer had not behaved as a Mason at a former lodge
meceting. This the W. M. did not forget, for *“ a reprimand was given
by the Worshipful M. to Bro. Plummer for his past conduct lies over
for him either to withdraw or be reported to the Grand Lodge if he
does not mend his conduct.”

The lodge then attended Divine service, for the minutes state
that the “lodge received a very good sermon by the Rev. Doct.
Stuart, text taken out of 133 Psalm, 1st Verse.” The officers were
duly installed at this meeting

At the meeting of 1st January, 1801, there was degrec work and
general business. It was moved by

“The W. M. that three Chairs be made, one for the East with three steps,
one for the West with two steps, one for the South with one step 10 assend. an

estimate to be given by the W. M. Next Lodge Night of the expense attend-
ing the same.”

At the meeting of s5th February, 1801, William Atkins, of the
Queen’s Rangers. was rejected. and a committee was appointed to
settle “ the old accounts.,” and the estimate of the three chairs “ of

cherry ” was given as ““ twenty dollars” or £5. -” -”" Currency.”
At the meeting of 4th March, 1801.
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“ Bro F. Herschfield attended, according to Summons, to answer certain
charges exhibited against him. Br. Hershfield was accused of living in open
violation of his obligations in maner following, that he the said F. Hershfield
hved in Carnal knowledge with a Bros. Wife, which in open Lodge confessed
he did The sense of the Lodge was taken, Shall we report Br. H. to the
Grand Lodge. Was carried unanimous. F. Hershfield Suspended this Lodge
till the Report of the Grand Lodge. Bro. Plummer also to be reported to the
Grand Lodge for Contempt of orders—the Lodge afterwards Clos'd n
harmony.”

On the 19th of March the lodge had a sad duty to perform in
that Bro. Wilham McKay was * called to his account.” The W. M.
Bro. Patrick prepared an oration, read it to the lodge, and it was
ordered to be delivered at the grave. The lodge

*“ then proceeded in procession to the Court House where the Corps was
:aying, from thence to the Church, from thence to the Grave yard where the
Corps was interred with usual Solemnities, and at the conclusion the oration
~as Delivered by the W. M. Return’d in order to the l.odge Room ™

At the mecting of 2nd April, 1801, the bylaws were amended so
that ~ none shall become a member of this lodge, whose petition for
initiation has already been rejected.”

The personal affairs of the late Bro. Wm. McKay had given rise
to considerable discussion, and his effects had apparently been
handled without-leave by divers persons. The lodge felt that they
were called upon to protect the brother s property, and it was resolved
that Bros. Sparham, Richardson and Darley should be nominated as
a committee to

* wait on Capt. Andrews to know by what authority he retain’d the key of
Rr McKav’s House where his property was. It was acreed by Capt. Anderson
that he was ready to attend at 10 Oclock to Morrow Morning to Deliver the
key & inventory of such Goods as Might be found in the House, by giving a
receipt for the same, and allso an order on Mrs. Andley for £2 3 10 Currency,
which 1s to be presented to Mrs. Ansley the first opportunity.”

W. Bro. McKay's name is given in the MSSas  MceKay © and
" Mackay.” The former rendering is correct.

At the meeting of 7th May, 1801, " a letter was read from R. W,
Bro. Sylvester Tiffany, the Grand Secretary, at Newark.” ‘I his letter
contauned a list of brethren expelled. Although it was read, a copy
is not given in the minutes, but a committee of three, viz.: Bros. Spar-
ham, Darley and Cox, were appointed to enquire as to whether the
organization at Newark was a Grand Lodge or not, this committee to
report on the 11th. Bro. Darley, the treasurer, was indebted to the
lodge in £68, cy., for which he gave a certain bond, dated May sth.
1800, payable sth May, 1806, as security for his indebtedness. The
proposal seems to have been acceptable.

At the meeting of 4th June, 1801, the officers were elected and
the report of the committee appointed to deal with Grand Lodge
matters was read. The report was decidedly avainst the position
taken by the Niagara brethren, and a copy was ordered to be sent tn
R. W. Bro. Jarvis at York, and also to lodges No. 3. York, No. 5,
Edwardsburg, No. 7, Fredericksburg, and No. 13, Elizabethtown.
The report was headed

“ Copy of the Remonstrance sent to the Members of the Grard 1 odee
utting at Niagara. also to the Right Worshipful Grand Master at York, and o
different Country l.odges—"
and read:



574 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

* Right Worshipful Brothers:

) e Hoxrever painful, Lodge No. 6 feel constrained to point out certain
irregularities that appear to them in the Members of the Grand Lodge. In the
ﬁ::st place certain Members of that Body are holding a G. Lodge at Niagara
without a Warrant, they are giving directions to the different Country Lodg®s,
requesting Quarterages, and Quarterly communications, we as one of them hold
it our indespensible Duty to pay due reference to our Gr. Lodge, if in due
organization, but can we possible consider nur G. Lodge duly organized, when
the Grand Warrant, and Grand Master are removed to a considerable distance
from them, and the latter claims the privilege of holding the Grand Lodge at a
different place, and is there despensing Warrants for the establishment of new
Country Lodges. We are fully persuaded by our Constitution we cannot hold
a Lodge without a Warrant, and where we for certain reasons so improperly to
act, our proceedings during that period would be null and void, and how
far censurable will leave for you to determine. We feel proud in being
tenacious of our antient Land Marks, and cannot wilfully err, we hope never to
be deficient in true Masonic duty even towards an individual Brother much
more to our G. Lodge, but it too plainly appears to us that the proccedings of
the G. Lodge favors too much of an house being divided against itself. We do
not presume to point out were the error lays, wither in the Grand Master or in
the Members of the G. Lodge, but that a palpable error does exist is too
evident.

“We have further to observe our warrant expressly says, ‘ we shall hold
yearly Communications with our Provincial G. Lodge,’ where as our Brother
Grand Secretary has requested our Quarterly Communication we presume were
Quarterly communications are held, it is from those Lodges who are within
the Bills of Mortality of the G. Lodge of England. for we know all Country
Lodges without said Bills pay one Guinca pr year to the G. Lodge, but no
Quarterage has ever been exacted from them; but even if it has been the
practise in England were communications are easy, our local situation renders
it impracticable here; for instance, the expence oi attending one year by the
four Quarterly Communications 16 Guineas must be expended for passage
money only independent of the expenses while attending.

“ We presume it cannot be the right. neither the will of the G. Lodge to
distress us, if the above have Charity in view it swallows up itself.

*“In looking over our papers we find a Copy of a letter sent to the Grand
Lodge respecting Country Lodges paying one Guinea pr year, bearing date
the 21st day of October, 1799, the answer bearing date December 12th, 1790,
4ces not appear satisfactory, the Grand Secreatry there says ‘ Quarterages in
all Countries laid on membership:’ our Constitution says ‘ within the Bills of
Mortality ’ and that ‘ Country lodges shall pay one Guinea yearly.’

“ We have next to observe the singularity of the Grand Secretary’s diction
in his communications. We presumne whatever transfering from the Seccretary
of a private Lodge is done by the sanction of the presiding officer; whatever is
communicated from the G. Lodge, we have from the same principles to
presume, ought to be sanctioned by the Grand Master; what then must have
been our surprise in finding the words “ By Order” scratched out, and not a
word mentioned of the G. Master. We have next and last to observe it has
ever becn the established usage in England as in other countries ior the G.
Lodge to be held at the seat of Government.

“ These considerations Right Worshipful Brethren. bear great weight in
our minds, we hope an answer soon, and that effectual conciliatory mcasures

may soon be adopted, is the prayer of your affectionate Brothers.
“ Kingston. May 18th, 1801.”

At the meeting of St. John’s day, 24th June, 1801, certificates
“to be made on parchment ” were ordered for brethren for the sum
of “ one dollar ” and

“ A Small jewel having been Delivered by Br. Sparham of our Late
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Brother Wm McKay, Deceased, it is the wish of the W. Master and the rest
of the Brethren present that the said jewel be left in the Box unul the affairs
of our Late Brother Wm. McKay deceased be scttled by his admi-nstrator:

* After Dinner the W. Master Call’'d from Refreshment to Lahour to Install
the officers Elect, the ceremony of Installation was Periormed ™

A letter was read from the Grand Secretary and also from lodge
No. 13, to the " remonstrance ” sent out at a previous meeting.

On the 4th August, 1801, W. Bro. Joseph Kendrick of York was
a visitor. lle was a prominent York Mason. a member of Rawdon
lodge, and afterwards of No. 16, York. The ladge was desirous of
changing its meeting place, and a committee was appointed * to visit
Mr. Coffin respecting obtaining a room in the Court House in pur-
pose to hold a lodge at stated meetings.” At the meeting of 1st
October, 1801, however, the meeting place was not changed to the
court house for it was

* Moved By Br. Sparham, Junr,, that in Consequence of Br. Darleys offer-
ing a room in his House for the purpose of holding a Lodgc. therefore thought
1t not necessary to call on Mr. Coffin respecting the Court House.”

* The unanimous consent of the Lodge was given by shew of hands thu
the L.odge be held at Br. Darleys on the first thursday of the ensuing month,
thene to be furnished with a colation of Brcad & Checse as a reireshment
which agreed.”

At an emergency held on 1st October, 1801, a letter was read
from R. W. Bro. S. Tiffany, the Grand Secretarv of the Grand T.odge
at Niagara, after which it was

* Moved by the W. M. and Scconded by Br. Darley & the Roest of the
Body unanimous, that the thanks of the Body be given to Bror. Saml. Gardner
for Jus particular attention in behalf of this Lodge and the rest of the Country
Lodges. Mov'd By Br. Darley & Scconded by Brs Price & Milton, that a
Committee of three, Viz: Br. Sparham, Junr. Br Datlev. Br Stauber, for the
purpose of answering the aiorcsaid Letter to the Grand 1 odge & unanimously
avreed to by Shew of hands, thene the Lodge Call'd tiom ibour 1o Reirech-
ment for a short space—thene the Lodge Cal'd irom Roirestoment «o labous ™

Then is given the correct story of the eapulsion ot bro. Ladus,
It appears that goods were given him to deliver 1o iro. Nathan Cur-
tice, and that, for some reason, he broke open i hoxes and <old the
goods. It was evidently a commercial disputc. and he stay have sold
the goods for the carriage.

At this mecting there is the first record of Noo 6 as connceted
with the Royal Arch degree, for it was

“ Mov'd by the W. M. and Seconded by Br. Stother :iat a report be Made
to the G. L. that the Lodge is Mov'd from Frce Masons Faarn to Br. Darioyv's
Room, passed unanimous that in Contunction with the RKoval \red Chapter &
Masters Lodge, that twelve Wine tilasses & *woive 's pint tumblers be
purchased for the use of the Body, and whatever 1o T o catirer Dearie <00
Breake, Decanter, tembler or glass, <hall pay « ¢ v o' o sle oo g e suarn.
porting the Stock.”

At the meeting of 5th November, 1801,

* After being recalled to labor, the Commuttee apeinted Tast Yodee nieht to
answer the Grand Sccretary’s letter, reported thev hud e e recnested: ond
produced a Copy of the letter, which was read and vnenoeandy

The letter read:

proven



57 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

“R. W. Brother:—

“ By brother Saml. Gardner, No. 6, received your answer dated Sept. .
to their Remonstrance, dated June 6th. Are happy to find that a proper und
standing has taken place, for by the tenor of your letter, we draw an intenti
of a reconciliation. Also by the report of Brother Gardner, we are led to und
stand that former irregularities will be done away, which we trust will
accomplished by virtue of the new Election of Officers.

“ Assuring at the same time. it is our firm determination to adhere stric
to the antient landmarks of our Order, whatever may be the consequen
Persisting still the necessity of a Provincial lodge holding and ever keepi
in its profession, the instrument by which they were created, namely the D
pensation, or Warrant, granted them by their Mother Grand Lodge; for t
moment that ceases, the power and authority of the P'rovincial Grand Lod
sinks to nothing; and until we shall be convinced to the Contrary, our cond:
will be according.

“We are fearfull the proceedings of the G. lodge have been too mu
biased, by the whimsics of some superannuated member, who has said a
acted agreeable to present conveniences; if we are wrong in our conjectur
allow this as appalliation, that No. 6 has for some years past, been subject
“nch inconveniences, by means of a litigious Member, whom they were unw
ling to correct by means of his age, and still in Masonry; if such is the case,
hope the new arrangement will obviate the evil

‘ Respecting the impropriety of the Grand Masters conduct, and whateys
information you may have received thereon, we here acknowledge that we 3
strangers to it; but trust that no cminence of station will make you forget
are all brothers, and error even in the most exalted stations among Masos
cannot pass with impunity.

“ It is immaterial to us who is Grand Master, so that he is worthy, and {
the honor of the Craft, Respectable.

‘“We hope to be favored with the proccedings and the result of the ne
arrangements. in the mcantime R. W. Brother. we are Yrs faithfully,

“Jermyn Patrick, W. M.
John Darley. S. \WV.
John Stauber. J. \W.
Thomas Sparham. Junr.. P )

“ Br. Silvester Tiffany.
“ Grand Secretary.”

No reasons are assigned for removal of the lodge room from tl
Freemasons’ Tavern, but the record shows that it met in the house
Bro. John Darley, situated on the cast side of Rideau street, the
known as Brewery street, and now the property of a member of ti
Bajus family.

The Darley house was originally built in rubble stone-work, b:
many years ago it was given a coat of rough-cast, and from time
time alterations have been made. so that the original building, :
given in the engraving, is somewhat different to the one of to-da
When first built it was a large house for that period, and Bro. Darle
could well afford to offer St. John's lodge a room in which to hold i
meetings. The ground upon which it stands slopes well to the rea
This was made available for increased cellar room. being quite ne;
the Robbin’s brewery. The cellar was used for storing the barre
of beer. The crown patent for the lot was issued to Joseph Forsyt
and soon afterwards the ownership was transferred to James Robbin
Some yvears after John Darley left it, and Samuel Shaw, once a har«
ware merchant in Kingston, and later a clerk in the Royal Engineer
resided in the house. Bro. A. Shaw, now of Kingston, is a descendaut «
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Tue Housk oF Bro. DARLEY, WHERE LODGE No. 6, MET FROM
NoOVEMBRER, 1801, To OCTUBER, 1802.

Bro. Samuel Shaw, the secretary of No. 6. The Darley house
was afterwards the residence of Col. Boucher, Town Major, and more
recently became the property of Phillip Weuze, and then of his
nephew, the late Jacob Bajus.

The meetings as ordered were held at Bro. Darley’s room. At
the meeting of 28th Decembcer, 1801, Dro. James Richardson with-
drew from the lodge. On the 7th January, 1802,

* It is agrecd by the Worshipful Master and rest of the Brethren that for

the time we have occupied Br. Darley’s room that we shall make Mrs. Darley
a present of a new hat, and the same to be charged to the body.”

At a meeting of 4th March, 1802, the minutes read that

* The Worshipful Master received a letter of date 13" of Janry., 1802, irom
the Grand Secretary desinng him to acquaint the Body that he cannot do any-
tlung until March when the instalition of the new otticers will take place.”

This meeting was held at the house of Bro. Walker. On the 3rd
June a letter was read by the W. M. as prepared by the committee
appointed to reply to the letter of the Grand Sceretary. At this
meeting we have the appointment of a committee on henevolence to

37
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take into consideration all applications. * The lodge then appon
Bro. Zenas Nash to prepare new shutters for the windows in the lo
room.” At what is presumed to be the September meeting—for :
undated—

‘“ The minutes of the preceding night read and confirmed, on accoun
the general sickness no further business was done, the Lodge closed in pe:
harmony.” ' .

The nature of the ‘‘ general sickness” which prevailed at
time is unknown. A similar record appears in the proceedings of
of the York lodges. It may have been typhus fever which
epidemic at that period.

The meeting of October 7th, 1802, was held at Bro. Darle
and of December 2nd at Bro. Patrick’s, and from December 2
1802, until May, 1803, the meetings were held at the house of 1
Isaac Lewis, which stood at that time near the foot of Queen str
This house was torn down many years ago. The minutes of
January, 1803, are peculiar in the line of “ refreshment.”

“ The minutes of the last Lodge night being red & confirm’d by shor
hands, the Lodge proceeded to Business. Brs. Titus Fitch petitioned the L
for a longer forbearance to pay up his complete dues, when the Lodge V
two months longer for Brother Fitch to complete his payment, the one ha
be paid at the expiration of one month. The Lodge then call’d from Lal
to reireshment & then from refreshment to Labour, when the first sec
enter’d Prentice Lecture was given by the W. M. when the Lodge call'd {
Labour to refreshment and then from refreshment to labour, when the sec
section of the same Lecture was given & the Lodge calld from Labovu
refreshment & then from refreshment to Labour, when the third section of
Sd Lecture was given, & the Lodge closed in due form & perfect harmony.

This was surely sufficient refreshment to have satisfied
brethren for many meetings. On the 18th February an emerg
lodge was called for the purpose of attending the funeral of Bro
Allan Cameron, of Union lodge No. 286, Bridge Town, Barbad

At the meeting of the 3rd of March, 1803, the “W. M.
duced a letter from the Grand Secretary showing that the Gr
Lodge had made choice of a new set of officers, when a del
arose respecting the authority of the new elected officers of
Grand Lodge.” A footnote states that “ The Lodge voted that
W. M. do write a letter to the G. M. Jarvis respecting the late |
ceedings of the G. Lodge.”

The first meeting of the Royal Arch chapter in connection 1
No. 6 was held 7th June, 1797. There is no record of the dat
which Royal Arch powers were given to the lodge, but it was doub:
in 1795 when the Craft warrant was issued. All petitions for
higher degree had to be recommended by the lodge, for at
meeting:

“The W. M. read a petition from Thomas Milton desiring the approb:

of this lodge to recommend him as a member worthy to receive the Holy R
Arch degree, which was signed by all the members present.”

All lodges of the “ Ancients ” were empowered to work the R
Arch degree. as by the rules enforced by that bodyv in the “ Ahi
Rezon”
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At this meeting (7th April, 1803)

“The W. M. produced the copy of a Letter which he had wrote to the
R. W. G. M. Jervice respecting the late proceedings of the Body of Masons at
Niagara: Br. Senior then rose to return the thanks of the Body to the W. M,
for the letter which he had wrote to the G. M. Wm. Jervice.”

An emergency was called on the sth May, 1803, summoned by
order of the Grand Lodge at York, for the purpose of installing
the officers of a new lodge " under the Title of No. 17 in the Reg-
istry of Upper Canada, to be held at Thurlow in this Provincc.”
At this emergency Bros. Samuel Sherwood, John Bleeker, John
Myers and — Richardson were present.

A Grand Lodge was duly opened with Bro. Jermyn Patrick as R. W. G M.
P. T

* After the usual ceremonics, the R. W. G. M. Constituted the above
mentioned Brethren, into a regular body of Free and Accepted Masons, agrec-
able to the ancient forms of our honorable Fraternity. They first produced
their Warrant from the Provincial Grand Lodge. The following brethren were
then Installed in their respective offices. Viz: Bro. Samuel Sherwood, W.
Master; John Blecker, S. Warden: and Caleb Gilbert, J. Warden. The Grand
honors were given and the same was proclaimed by the Grand Secretary in
form. The R. W. G. M. then dclivered a charge, suitable to the occasion. The
business being intirely gone through for which the G. l.odge was opened, it
was then closed in perfect harmony.”

This gives information regarding the erection of the warrant of
No. 17, at Thurlow, which for a long time was unknown. On tne
sth of May, 1803, Bro. John Sellars was suspended, and

“ Bro. Wm. Cottier, W. M. of the l.odee in Farnestown, rose & in behalf
of his Lodge represented that a Social Intercourse be established between the
two Bodys of Farmmestown & Kingston. for the purpose of communicating sucn
application as may be made to each body by persons residing within  the
vicinity of each bodv. & also to report them all Suggestions oi members or any
orber usefull informauon, and the Lodue clodd i due form & harmony ™

The meeting of 3rd June. 1803, was held at the house of Bro.
Jermyn Patrick, and at the meeting of 24th June, 1803, the officers
were elected.

The house of Bro. Patrick was situated on Brock street, then
known as Market street. at its junction with Wellington street, then
known as Quarry street. It stood on the site of the present stone
block at this corner.

At the meeting of 4th August, 1803.

“ The W. M. read the contents of a letter. which he had re'd from Brother
TiTany from Niacara, dated iLe 27th of Janr. last. when the subject of the con-
duct of the new Bady calling themselves the grand Lodge at Niagara took
place, & ended without heing brought te an issue.”

A footnote to these minutes states that * To close the business
of the Lodge DBrother Grant made the Bodv a present of a snuff
hox of 2 most enormons ~ize At the mecting of the 15t Septem-
ber, 1803.

“ The minutes of the last T odue night being read & confirmed by <show of
hands, The W. M 1aid before the Lodee the contents oi a number oi Masonic

Letters & papers from the R. W. G ). and others respecting the conduct of
the Irregular Body of Masone ar Niagara & cal’’d to reireshment & then
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ordercd to labour. The W. Al after reading the before mentioned papers :
letters read the report of the Standing Committee Summon’d by his or¢
which was as ifollows:
“ Kingston, Augt. 18, 1803.
“The Standing Committee of Lodge No. 6, met at the request of
W. M. to take into consideration the contents of certain papers receiv’d by |
from the R. W. G. Master, concerning the reestablishment of a legal P.
Lodge, do hereby report,
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“ That it is their opinion that it will be proper, & it is their wish, that
I.ndge No. 6 do forthwith request the P. G. Master, Wm. Jervis. Syr., to sum-
mons them or their respective officers or presiding officer, at least, to attend
him at York or elsewhere for the purpose of establishing a regular P. G.
Lodyge

“ Signed—Zenas Nash,
‘ Robert Walker, ) Standing Committee.
* John Darley, )

** The W. M. Then produced a copy of a letter which he wrote to the P. G.
Muicter respecting the afforementioned proceedings of the Masort at Niagara,
& Call'd for the Vote of the Lodge to concur in the report oi their Standing
Committee respecting the same, which was done accordingly and voted in th
affhirmative.” :

At the meeting of Novemter 3rd, 1803,

“ The minutes of the Last L.odge night being read & confirm'd by show of
hands, the W. M. read a letter & summons from the R. W. M., Wm. Jervis, for
the several Lodges under his jurisdiction to meet him by their officers at York
the next grand festival on Business of a very interesting nature to the Craft,
and likewise his answer to the summons & letter together with the coppy of
the summons from him to the different Lodges, & the l.odge call'd tn refrech-
ment & then order'd to Labour.”

At the meeting of 3rd December, 1803, it was determined that

“ On account of incidental expences to the Lodge at present it might be
economical to dispense with the insuing Festival, and i1t was agreed wnani-
mously that no dinner shall be provided on that day at the expense of the
members.”

vt the meeting of 27th December, 1803, the officers were in-
stalled. The W. M. read a letter from R. W. Bro. Jarvis, dated
December 6th, postponing the time of the general meeting at York
until the 10th day of February next. The intluence of No. 6 was
felt at York, and the meeting, which it is presumed had been called
for an earlier date, was duly postponed. as requested. At the
meeting of 1st March, 1804, held at “ the lodge room ™ (no report
of a removal in the minutes),
* The W. M. produced a copy of the Minutes oi the Provin-ial Grind
I.odge Sitting at York, the 10th, 11th and 13th days oi February, 124, vhich
was read and ordered to be entered on this Book.”

And it was further ordered that

** A Silver Medal ” be * unanimously Voted to Worslupiul Brother Willhiam
Cottier, Master of Lodge No. 13, Ernestown, For hi< friendly as<ustance to the
W M. of this Lodge in prosecuting the business oi Es<tabhshing a Provinaal
Grand l.odge at York.”

The minutes of this meeting have already been given in full in
the history of the Provincial Grand Lodge. .\t the meeting of sth
April. 1804, the expenses of the \W. M., Bro. Patrick, to the Pro-
vincial Grand Lodge at York were audited and pas<ed, and so
highly did the brethren appreciate the work of their W. M. that

“ Bro. John Darley rose and moved (seconded by Brother Robert Walker)
that Lodge No. 6 do present our Worshipful Macter, Jermyn Patrick, with a
Gold Medal. for his eminent services in Maconry in promoting the Fstabhish
ment of a Provincial Grand T.ndge at York. and therebvy restonng harmony
and good order among the Crait in this Province.
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* The same was voted by a unanimous show of hands.

“ Brother John Darly & Robt. Walker were a Committee to see that (
above Gold Jewel, and also that voted to Bro. Comer, were properly app:
priated.

These two brethren fully deserved the encomiums and testimo
ials voted them. Bro. Patrick. as a Grand Secretary, showed zeal
his office, while W. Bro. Cottier was determined that the gover
ment of the Craft should be in good and legitimate hands. Th
had relied~however, too much upon the promises of men, and t!
aftermath of Craft work—from 1804 to 1822—exemplified the fa
that a body wnthout a governing head and.mind could not progre
successfully.

An emergent meeting was held for the purpose ‘of attendir
the funeral of Bro. John Carey. The solemn services had an ame
iorating effect, for on the return to the lodge room,

“ Bro. John Darley moved. that Br. John Sellars be remstated a Memb
of this Lodge, and in consequence of Bro. Sellars great contrition, and makis
hearty promises for his future good conduct, after receiving-a severe char,
from the W. M. He was admitted by an unanimous shew of hands, the L.od,
then closed in perfect narmony.”

. A public reproof was common in the early lodges. In ever
case it seems to have been received with * great contrition.” At t}
meeting of the 3rd May, 1804, o

* The minutes of the last regular night were read and confirmed by sho
of hands, as was also the lodge of Emergency.

*“ Brother Robt. Walker as one of the Committee to see the Medals pr
perly executed voted by this body before, presented the same.

“The Worshipful Master accepted the Gold Medal with sentiments .
gratitude which He hoped to retain with lasting remembrance.

“ The silver Medal voted to W. Brother Wm. Cottier was presented an
given in charge to Brother Samuel Gardner with a note to Bro. Cottier, whic
He promised to deliver to Bro. Cottier. Called to refreshment-—Recalled t
labor. Brother Walker produced the bill ot the aforesaid Medals, which wei
as follows:

“Gold Medal .......... ....... .......... £4. 10. 6.
Silver do. ......... ........ ......... L 12. 6.
“£6. 2.6

At the meeting of 7th June, 1804, a public dinner was ordere:
for St. John’s day, but of this festival there is no report in th
minutes.

On December 27th, 1804, the officers were installed. At the
meeting of the 3rd January, 1805, seven members were present
There were no weather probabilities in those days. The winter wa:
exceptionally cold. The minutes are in accordance with the facts fo!

“ The minutes of the last Lodge night being read & confirmed by show o
hands, in consequence of the intence cold the W. M. calld to refrehsment, wher
the Brethren all gathered round the stove, he then ordered to lahour when the
Brethren again gathered round the table, when Brother Patrick observed to th
body that the candlesticks now on the table was a present from Brother Cottier
when the Body unanimously voted thanks to Br Cottier for the same. The
W. M. then ordered that the Members attend to a Lecture, which having been
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performed the Lodge calld to refreshment & was then ordered to labour, and
having no further business the Lodge closd in due form & perfect harmony.”

While the cold weather may have interfered somewhat with the
work it had no such effect upon the time spent in refreshment. The
minutes of all the meetings of No. 6, when not confined to work,
were diversified with the business incidents, extracts of which are
given. The truth is that in the early days none of the lodges were
within range of a modern District Deputy Grand Master, and,
therefore, liberties were taken with the constitution, which would
nat be tolerated by the membership of to-day.

The minutes of the meeting held on -sth January, 1805, are
given as an example of the manner in which business was trans-
acted Bro. Talbot was initiated on the 27th December, passed on
the sth January, and on the 7th he was raised at an emergency.
The minutes read: '

*“ The Minutes of the last L.odge night being read and confirmed by show
of kands. Brother Olcott rose & proposed that Brother Talbert now receive his
second degree, a Vote being then calld Passd in the affirmative he having been
‘wund qualified to receive the same. The Lodge then closed on the first &
~pend an the second degree for the purpose of Passing Brother Talbert to the
degree of fellow craft, which having been done the Lodge proceeded to the
performance of the Ceremony, which having been duly & regularly performed.
with a suitable charge delivered from the chair, the Lodge ordered to refresh-
ment & then ordered to labour. The lodge was then ordered that a Lodge of
emergency be held on Monday night next by the W. M. for the purpose of
rarang Brother Talbert to the sublime degree of a Master Mason, he expecting
soon to leave this place & go on a long journey, and after a serious and well
nmed admonition from the chair for every member of the Body to pursue a line
of 1ust Morality for the ensuing year, the l.odge closed in due form & perfect
harmony.”

The minutes of the emergent meeting are also interesting.

* The Minutes of the last Lodge night being read & confirmed by shew of
hands. Brother Darley rose & proposed B. Bush to become a member of this
body. his Petition was then read & accepted, he is therefore considered a mem-
ber of this Body. Brother Talbert was then desired by the W. M. to repeat his
Fellow Crafts obligation, which he did to the full satisfaction of the Body.
the lodge then closd on the second & opend on third degree for the purpose
~f raising Brother Talbert to the sublime degree of a Master Mason he having
Seen found worthy to receive the same. Preparation was then made, the
Ceremony Performed & the Business finished with the greatest Propriety &
due decorum. The W. M. then calld to refreshment and then ordered to labour.
The W M. then proceeded to deliver a charge suitable to the occasion to our
newly raised Brother Talbert. who accepted the same with due respect, the
L 'dze then closed with due decorum & perfect harmony.”

At the meeting of 7th February, 1805, *“ The lodge then re-
ceived some information from the chair, and made some improve-
ment upon the Master Masons' obligation.” This might not have
been news for a Provincial Grand Master. It could not be said that
“No. 6" had not the morality of the Craft at heart.

On the 10th March, 1805, an emergent lodge was called for the
purpose of burying with Masonic honors Bro. Stauber, the treas-
urer The Rev. Geo. O’'Kill Stuart officiated and was duly thanked.

At the meeting of 4th April, 1805, “ Bro. Milton excused him-
self for non-attendance this night by saying he was obliged to at-
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tend the King’s work in bringing a raft of timber into the ya
Brother Patrick

“ motioned, seconded by Brother Allen that this lodge be furnished
three sockets for the candle-sticks and likewise that a pair of snuffers, w
were voted accordingly, and Bro. Patrick was appointed to procure the sa:

At the meeting of 4th July, 1805, Mrs. Stauber, the widow
the late treasurer, presented the lodge with “a pair of elegant «
dlesticks,” which were gratefully accepted. At the meeting of
August, 1805,

“ On motion by Brother Nash, seconded by Bro. Talbert, that it was
animously agreed that this lodge be furnished with Decanters and ¢
requisites, and that our liquor, &c., shall be lain in by the quantity, and
Steward be appointed for that purpose. Brother Nash was appointed Stew:

The meetings had been held “at the lodge room.” This
in Bro. Patrick’s house, but on 7th November, 1805, the lo
met at Bro. Walker’s,  on account of the extreme ill-health of )
Patrick.” At this meeting

“ A letter was presented by the W. M. from Brother Thos. Milton on
subject of his suspension. the tenor of which shewd humble contrition on |
Milton, and heart felt sorrow for his late conduct, earnestly praying to be
instated in the body, it appeared by the W. M. and brethren that Bro
Milton was so sincere in confessing the tavlt, and that he would probabl
hereforward more on his guard in his general conduct, and be more partic
in his observance in the Duties of Masonry, that on taken the vote it was
animously agreed that the suspension should be taken off Brother Thos. Mil
and that he should again be restored to this body as a Member, and that
Secretary should notify Bro. Milton accordingly.”

At the meeting of 5th December, 1805, the officers w
elected, and on the 27th December, they were installed. At :
meeting W. Bro. Patrick withdrew from the lodge. At the m
ing of 6th January, 1806. “ the propriety of holding the lodge in
present lodge-room on account of the cold” was discussed,
nothing was decided on. The meeting of gth January, 1806, °
an emergency, called

*to determine whether the Lodge under the present circumstances w¢
agree to remove from the Lodge room to some other place, as Brother Pat
has refused to give a lease to the Lodge agreeable to his promise of the rc
which the Lodge have generally occupied. Voted accordingly, & Bro
Walker’s was the place agreed on till the Lodge could be further provided
a room.”

“ Walker’s Old Hotel ” was a long and rather narrow woo
6uilding, which stood on a part of the Market Squarc prope:
With its yard it occupied the land on which the eastern part of
Kingston City Hall block now stands. Its front gable faced
wards, on the Market Square, and looked towards the site of
modern market, the rear of the hotel yard being bounded by Brc
street, then known as Market street.

The meeting of 1st February, 1806, was devoted to the disc
sion of a charge brought by Bro. Darley against Bro. Nash. a
also a dispute between Bros. Nash and Richardson, the latter clai
ing that Bro. Nash had at one time been suspended by a lodge
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Moqtrcal. The matter was left over, however, for “ further consid-
eration.” At the meeting of 6th March, 1806,

*“ The Minutes of the last Lodge being read, they were found incorrect and
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ordered to ly over vaull a fuller Lodge should be ascembled to take them int s
consideration & correct them, if they shall thick proper by order oi the W M ™

On the 10th April “the minutes were scparately read and ail
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confirmed by show of hands,” and on May 1st there was an initia-
tion, and a committee appointed to write up “ all the minutes which
are now entered on loose paper” and “a reconciliation now took
place between Bro. Darley and Nash to the full satisfaction of .the
body.” From May, 1806, until January, 1808, the records had
been kept on loose slips.

On St. John’s day, 24th June, 1806, “the brethren voted that
Bro. Walker should write to Montreal for an account book for the
benefit of the lodge.” The minutes had not been entered up in a
proper manner, as will be seen later. Appended to this book of the
original minutes are “the rules and orders of No. 6 as corrected
and revised by the unanimous consent of the lodge on the fifth day
of January, 1801.” With a few additions these were practically the
same as those passed at the institution of the lodge. There were
twenty-six clauses in the original rules and thirty-one in those re-
vised. The most important referred to the balloting for candidates
and the procedure to be observed. The new rule read:

“3oth. That every candidate previous to his being Initiated into this
Lodge shall be properly Balloted for in manner following.

“The W. M. shall order his Deacon to deliver to every regular Member
present who has the freedom of voting two Beans or Balls, the one shall be
white, the other shall be black, the W. M. shall then declare from the chair,
that the white beans or balls admit the candidate, and that the black beans or
balls reject him; and it is hereby ordered and declared that on examining the
Box after Balloting if one black bean or ball shall be found against the Candi-
date his petition shall be considered as rejected, but he shall have the privilege
hereafter if he thinks proper, to offer another petition, in which case one black
bean or ball shall be sufficient for a final rejection.

“ But if two black beans or balls shall be found in the Box aforesaid, the
Petitioner shall be forever rejected as a Member of this Lodge. And it is
further ordered and declared. that if one or more black beans, or balls, on
examining the Box aforesaid, shall be found against the petitioner, that no
questions shall be asked respecting it, or them, except on supposition of a
mistake.”

At the meeting of 24th June, 1806,

“The W. M. then order'd that Br. Nash should write a Letter to John
Kendrick at York respecting the Business of his being long since endowed with
a Jewell to represent No. 6 in the Grand Lodge, and as being inform'd at this
time that he is so far Degenerated at present as to join an unwarranted &
clandestine Lodge at York.”

There is no apparent reason for this complaint against Bro.
Kendrick. There was no irregular lodge at York. Rawdon or
“The Lodge between the Three Lakes” at York had gone out of
existence, and its membership had entered St. John’s Royal Arch
lodge No. 16, in the same place—a lodge with 'a regular warrant
from R. W. Bro. Jarvis. Bro. John Kendrick was a member of this
lodge. No records of No. 16 contain any trace of disloyalty to
R. W. Bro. Jarvis. Yet it is quite possible that it did not stand
firm in the cause of the Grand Master for it advocated the forma-
tion of the Grand Masonic Convention at Kingston, and at its first
meetings was represented by Bro. John H. Hudson. In 1806 there
were meetings at York of both No. 8 and No. 16.

At the meeting of 3rd July, 1806, “ The W. M. proposed that
two Roval Arch Masons do wait on Bro. Sparham before the next
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regular Chapter of Royal Arch Masons do meet, to desire him to
remove the box belonging to that Body to Bro. Walker’s,” but this
proposal “ was opposed in consequence of the business not belong-
ing to the Masters’ Lodge.”

The Craft work and that of the Royal Arch were independent
and distinct, and the members desired that this position should
continue. There is no record of the receipt of a Royal Arch war-
rant from R. W. Bro. Jarvis. The lodge, probably with the con-
sent of R. W. Bro. Jarvis, assumed the authority on the ground

WaALKER'S HoTEL, KINGSTON, 1807.

that the Royal Arch was the completion of the Craft work. The
torand Lodge, which appointed R. W. Bro. Jarvis, defined Crait
Masonry as including the Holy Royal Arch, and he had been exalted
1n that degree before leaving England in order that Canadian lodges
might have the opportunity of exemplifying the capitular part of
the work.

The minutes of all the meetings for the remainder of the vear
and down to December of 1807 are mere records of degree work,
as contained in the tabulated statement with this history.

On the 2nd October, 1806, " on account of NMrs. Walker's ill-
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ness,” Mrs. Walker being the wife of the landlord, the lodge did
not meet, but adjourned until the 6th November, 1806.

On the 13th June, 1807, the lodge met “at Bro. Walker's old
house and continued to do so until 5th November, 1807,” when on
3rd December, 1807, it moved its quarters to “ Walker's New
Hotel,” afterwards known as *‘ The British American Hotel.” It
was at this house, while occupied by Bro. Walker, that the Grand
Masonic Convention of Kingston met in 1817.

On October 1st, 1807, * The Lodge received two books from
Bro. Robert Walker, price not known.” These were the books
sent for to Montreal in order that the minutes might be entered up.
On the 28th December, 1807, “ A memorial was received from Bro.
T. Herschfieldt, which is laid over for consideration.” This brother
had some years previous to this been disciplined for unmasonic
conduct.

At the meeting of 7th January, 1808, it was ‘“agreed by the
body that Secretary Bro. Bartlet shall have the regulation of the
minutes of this ‘lodge and inserting them in the new book,” and
then follows the entry:

“The first, Twenty seven Lodge nights are copied from the original
records kept on papers, filed & Numbered.
“ Copied by order of the Worshipful Master & Brethren—
* Jany, 1808,
“ Smith Bartlet. Secy.”

The lodge, therefore, for nearly twenty months was without a
minute book. On the s5th May, 1808, “ A motion was made by
the Worshipful Master that Bro. Walker should get Bro. Nash to
mend the chairs and confirmed by a show of hands.” On the 24th
June, 1808,

“ The Ballot being taken for James Adams to become a member of this
Lodge, was rejected by two black balls.”

A meeting of emergency was called on 6th August, 1808.

‘ Worshipful Master gave his reasons for calling the Lodge of emergency,
that Br. Darly had said that he would bring an action against the Chair, saying
that Pattrick was a rogue and all those concerned with him. Brother Darley
says he was in Liquor at the time, and does not remember anything about it,
and if he hurt any Brothers feelings he is sorry for it. Brother Walker says
that he was present with Pattrick, and he said that he would get Br. Darley
to sign a note with one Cromly for the purpose of being paid sooner, on Br.
Walkers saying to him that then Darly would have to pay it. Pattrick gave
answer that as a man and a Mason Darley should never be hurt for so doing—
then the Lodge closed in perfect harmony.”

In September, October, November and December the lodge
was occupied with degree work, and in December the officers for
the ensuing six months were elected. At the meeting of 2nd
March, 1809, “ Bro. Darley motioned to meet on every Sunday
evening for the purpose of lecturing,” which was “ unanimously
agreed to.” On the 4th May, 1809, assistance was given to Bro.
Rogers, “the lodge agreed to lend him five pounds,” and on the
3rd of August, “ Bro. Frederick Bush petitioned to the lodge for
the loan of seven pounds. ten shillings, which was unanimously
granted by show of hands.”” On the 35th October, 1809. Tro.
Joseph Kendrick, of No. 16, York. was a visitor.
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At the meeting of 27th December the officers were installed,
and a motion was also carried " to send Bro. Wm. Cottier a bottle
of wine as a token of their friendship—unanimous.” A motion
was also made “that the present committee shall mcet Sunday
evening at 6 o’clock for the purpose of completing the settlement
of the book.” The state of the books had been a fruitful source of
discussion at intervals for years. The meetings of the lodge up to
June were of an ordinary character.

On the 23rd of June, 1810, the lodge assembled to attend the
funcral of W. Bro. Jermyn Patrick, a brother, who as a member
of No. 6 and as Grand Secretary of the Provincial Grand Lodge
had performed estimable service. There were eleven members of
Nou. 6 present, nine visitors from scattered lodges not named, and
nine from No. 13 at Ernestown. There are no particulars regard-
ing the services other than that after the funeral “ The business
being conducted in harmony the lodge was closed in due form.”

At the meeting of 2nd August, 1810,

" The Worshipful Master directed Brs. Patton & Moore, Masters, to In-
vestigate and settle a Greviouns between Brothers Campbell and Jones.”

At the meeting of 4th October, 1810, * the petition of Frederick
Herschficldt laid by as nothing could be done concerning it at pre-
sent.” This case of a brother’s expulsion by the Provincial Grand
Lodge for unmasonic conduct has been before referred to.

At the meeting of 1st November, 1810, 1t was resolved * to
have printed summonses for the good of the lodge.” and at the
mecting of 6th December it was decided that these should be * pre-
served for emergencies only.” At the celebration of St John's day
in December, the lodge * proceeded to church to honor Divine
service, after which the ofhcers for the ensuing six months were
nstalled,” and the W. M. closed the lodge so that the members
might * retire to dine.”

At the meeting of 3rd January, 1811, Wm. I Platrick, jr.. son
of the late W. M., was proposed, and duly accepted at the meeting
of 7th February, 1811. On the 14th May, 1811, it was resolved
“to send by Bro. Moore to Quebec for a Constitntion book and
bvlaws.” The vote was * unanimous.” The price of the book was
10 be " one guinea and a half.” The stock of constitutions and by-
laws at Newark and York had previously become exhausted, hence
the enquiry at Quebec. This incident is another evidence of the
neglect of the executive officers of the Provincial Girand Lodge at
York

On the 6th June an adjournment was made to the 13th, and
en that date the officers were clected by open vote. The brethren
had little thought for the rigorous bylaws passed by their prede-
cessors of 1797, for this action of clecting officers by a show of
hands " was contrary to all law and precedent

At the meeting of St. John's dayv. 24th June. 1811, the officers
uwere installed. but no other business was transacted. .\t the mcet-
inz of 24th July, the minutes state that,

* It seeming by the communication receiv'd this evening that Doctor Reed
aheolutely refuses to assist his wife in returning home o her fnends. or to
rer der her support in this place. the W. M. made a maron the bady should
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assist Mrs. Reed in returning home that she might be enabled to procure suffi-
cient proof according to law to obtain her right rom Doctor Reed.

‘“ Br. Hastings Carpenter made a motion that the Body should allow Mrs.
Reed fifteen dollars, seconded by Br. Spafford, it was unanimously agreed by
the show of hands the above mentioned sum should be allowed.”

The W. M. felt that it was necessary to show the action of the
lodge to Mrs. Reed, so a motion was made that,

‘“a letter should be furnished Mrs. Reed of the transactions of Lodge No.
6, with a recommendation to the Lodge in Montreal for further assistance.”

No further particulars of this charge ‘against Bro. Reed are
given, but at the meeting of 1st August, 1811,

“ A complaint was brought forward against Br. Asa F. Reed for having
his lawful wife in the United States coming into Canada and living in adultery
with another woman, and for absolutely refusing to aid or assist his lawful
wife in her wants, but to continue in the same unlawful way of life.”

This was followed by “A second complaint made by Bro.
Walker against Bro. Reed for having used him with the greatest
contempt and likewise, using the Lodge in the same manner.”

The lodge was determined, however, that some discipline should
be shown, so a motion was made by Bro. Walker,

“ Seconded by Brs. Spafford and Patrick that Br. Asa F. Reed should be
suspended from this Lodge for the ensuing six months, that during that space
of time he should if possible clear up his character if it lies in his power, and
again become a worthy member.”

At the meeting of 5th September. 1811, there was no partic-
ular business other than the reading of a petition for initiation, and
a brother who was going to the lower provinces was * declared off.”
In the old minutes this expression is frequently used, either “ He
declared off ” or “ declared off.” In modern phraseology it signi-
fies the issuance of a withdrawal certificate or demit.

The minutes for the end of the year were not enlivened by
anything more than the ordinary work of initiating, passing and
raising. The minutes of June 3rd, 1812, are those of the last meet-
ing recorded for about six months, when a meeting was held on
the 3rd December, 1812, by the minutes of which it appears that an
emergency had been called for the 19th August. Its minutes were
approved of on the 3rd December, but are not reported in the min-
ute book. It is supposed that after the declaration of war on the
18th June, 1812, it was found impossible to hold the meetings with
regularity. This was certainly the case after April, 1813.

At the meeting of 4th March, 1813, three candidates were in-
itiated, and the W. M. presented to the lodge a letter from Bro.
Huffman. The minute reads:

“ The Worshipful Master prcsented to the Lodge a Letter from Brother
Huffman, complaining that Brother Smith has refused paid him the Balance of
Wages which is honestly due him. & praying that the members of this Lodge
will use their endeavours to conciliate the Matter. The Worshipful Master and
Brethren have appointed a Committee of three Members to investigate the

busiress.”

Here again is a repetition of the settlement of business disputes
by the lodges. Many of the old records show that similar matters
were disposed of and in nearly every case satisfactorily.
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In the minutes of the meeting of April 27th, 1813, we find that
the lodge had not met from April 27th of that year until December
2nd. This we learn from the following foot note.

“ Recorded for the information of succeeding Lodges: that owinyg to the
unpleasant situation of publick affairs and various inconveniences occasioned
By the war—"* Lodge No. 6, ancient York Masons, have Been unavoidably pre-
vented from meeting in regular form during the months of May, June, July,
August, September, October, and November of this present year, Dec. 2. 1813."

There must have been exciting times in Kingston during the
war. Many of the brethren of No. 6 were connected with the mili-
tary forces and, thcrefore, their time was fully occupied in attending
to their duties in the defence of the country.

On December 13th, 1813, the lodge met as usual at Bro. Walk-
er's hotel. The minutes of the meetings held on March 4th and
April 27th, 1813, were read and approved. The third degree was
worked and the officers for the year elected “ by show ot hands.”
The lodge met on January 6th, 1814, and the third degree was
worked. Following these minutes there is a note to the effect that

* Brother Robert Walker having disposed of his house with the Ludge
Room. The Worshipful Master has not been able to obtain a room convenient
for opening the Lodge in regular form during the several preceding regular
Lodge nights: Feby. 3d, 1814, March 3d, 1814, April 7th, 1814, May sth, 1814,
June 2d, 1814, July 7th, 1814, August 4th, 1814

There is no record of the business transacted at any of these
meetings. The next two meetings of the lodge were convened at
“ Brother Bayman’s Inn.” At that held on the 1st September,
1814, " Bro. L. Bayman requested to become a member—Being put
proved unanimous by show of hands.” This inn was situated on
the north side of Brock strect, below Wellington street, about No.
75 of the present time. On September sth there was another meet-
ing, at which considerable degree work was done. This was fol-
lowed by two emergencies, one on the 7th and the other on the
12th September.

That there was enthusiasm in Craft matters at this period is
evident. The meetings up to October 10th were of the usual char-
acter. No meetings are recorded between that date and May 28th,
1815. On the latter date

** Lodge No. 6 ancient York Masons Convened (Lodge of Emergency)
at Br. Robt. Walkers Hotel for the purpose of regulating the concerns oi the
Lodge, the same not having been opened for some time, owing to the difficulty
of getting a room convenient to carry on the respective duties of the Lodge.”

It will be noticed that this meeting was held at Bro. Walker's.
The removal to Bro. Bavman’s had not proved satisiactory, for at
the same meeting it was decided that

** For the Brethrens convenience it was deemcd necessary to remove the
lLodge from Br. Baymans to Br. Walkers, the W. Master was authorized
(previous to the opening of this l.odge) to remove the Box containing the
jiewels with the several articles Belonging to the Lodge .

At the meeting of the sth June, 1815, the officers for the en-
suing six months were elected. and on the following St. John's day
the same were duly installed. On the 7th December, 1815, there
was a very large attendance. The officers were clected, and the de-
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grees worked. The festival of St. John, the Evangelist, was duly
celebrated by a dinner although the minutes do not so state. On
the sth January, 1816, there was again a large attendance, and the
degrees were exemplified. There were six petitions for initiation
read.

At the meeting of 8th February, 1816, a brother—an E. A.—
desired to affiliate without having a certificate from his mother
lodge. However,

“in consequence of his long established good character in this Town,” he
was “ permitted to take the 2nd & 3rd Degree of Masonry in this Lodge with-
-out subjecting him to the inconvenience of sending to his original lodge in
England for a letter of recommendation, being put to the Lodge proved un-
animous.”

The succeeding meetings were held with the usual regularity.
At the meeting of 4th April there were present forty members and
six visitors. Five petitions were read and five brethren were bal-
loted for, three of whom were rejected. An emergency was called
on 23rd April for the purpose of “interring Bro. Hamilton, he
being a sojourner.” Although the emergency was called for this
purpose the Master had no scruples regarding the conferring of the
second and third degree upon two brethren who expressed their
-desire to have this done.

At the meeting of 6th June, 1816, the officers were elected and
the Rev. Mr. Stuart was invited to preach to the Craft on St.
John’s day. At the meeting of July 4th, 1816, there were 33 breth-
ren present and eight visitors. The minutes of 13th July, 1816,
'state that alterations were being made in the lodge room, for

“by a reading of the carpenter’s bill for erecting the seats for the officers
.of the lodge with chairs being thought too much—It was proposed that A
Brother & One of the Carpenters Shou’d Attend & Value the Work, & Br.
Dickinson was accordingly propos'd to attend on Monday Evening for that
purpose, agreed to Nem Con.”

On the 1st August, 1816, the carpenter’s bill was read, with
‘that of the estimate made by Bro. Dickinson, “ and the latter agreed
to Nem Con, with authority to Brother Walker, the treasurer, to
pay the same.”

At the meeting of 5th September there were fifty-eight mem-
bers present. At the regular meeting on the sth December, 1816.
“ A Bill for Making 11 Dress & Eight Plain aprons was then read
& approved unanimously: Louisa Oliver £5 1s. 6d.” “ This being
the night for the election of officers,” the minutes state that several
‘were proposed, and

“ After scveral other Brs. Had been proposed Who each Declar'd his
Inability to attend to the Important Duties of the Office, When the Worshipful

Master, Br. Butterworth, was unanimously requested to fill the chair for the
ensuing Six months, which he accepted.”

It seems to have been a difficult matter to induce brethren to
accept office in these days. The present condition of affairs affords
a striking contrast. At this meeting

“The W. Master then proposed that the Lodge do Meet on the 27th
Tnstant to Celebrate the festival of St. John, agreed to Nem. con., to meet at
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Ten o'clock in the Morning, & Brs. Oliver & Walker are requested to Enquire
of the Keverend Mr. Stuart if he will preach to the Lodge, so that the Brethren
may be enabled to proceed to Church in procession, agreed to, & that the Same
be published in the Gazette, agreed to.”

On the 8th December, 1816, another meeting of the committee
of the lodge was held on * Sunday morning to settle the accounts
of the lodge.” The brethren may possibly have thought that the
* better the day the better the deced.” On the 27th December,
1816,

= After the Installation of thc officers the whole of Brethren present
Walk'd to church in the usual form, and heard a Discourse by the Rev. J. O.
Stuart, after returning from church the Lodge closed in perfect Love &
Harmony.”

‘“ A motion was made by the W. M. that the thanks of the Lodge be
returned to the Rev. G. Stewart with an offer of a present of the sum of two
guineas for the kindness he has shown in preaching to the Body on the
Festival of St John—which was agreced to Nem com—and Brother Bayman &
Shaw are to wait on him accordingly.”

That charity was characteristic of the members is evident, for
at a meeting of No. 6 in March, 1816,

“ A petition was read from Br. Ireland, a sojourner, praying relief, to
assist him on his journey to New York. A motion was made from the Chair
that the sum of $25 dollars be paid from the Treasury for his relief, which was
agreed to Nem Con.”

That brethren appreciated the services of a clergyman on St.
John’s day is shown in the fact that
“ A Motion was made from the Chair that brothers Walker & Oliver may

wait on the Rev. (). Stuart. and present him with the sum of 2 guineas, and
at the same time to make an apology for not waiting on him before.”

The next mecting of importance was held on the 3rd April,
1817, when a motion was made from the chair that

* a letter may be sent to Br. Wm. Jarvis, W. G. M. P. G. Lodge of Upper
Canada, respecting a correspondence between this Lodge and the Grand Lodge,
which was agreed to unanimously.”

No reference to the Provincial Grand Lodge is to be found in
the minutes for severai vears. The absence of correspondence with
the governing body does not seem to have greatly troubled the
brethren.  That they were on terms of amity with the Provincial
Grand Lodge is shown in the visits of members of the regular lodges
on the roll of the Provincial Grand Lodge at York to lodge No. 6.
It will be recollected that during this yvear the Grand Masonic Con-
vention was held at Kingston, convened for the purpose of re-estab-
li-hing the Provincial Grand Lodge of Upper Canada.

At the mecting of sth June. 1817, a circular letter was read,
“gequesting that a Candidate may be appointed from every Lodge
in the Province to meet at No. 6 Lodge, at Kingston, on the 4th
Wednesday in August next, for the purpose of establishing a Grand
Lodge ™

This circular was sent bv lodge No. 13 at Frnestown. The
Convention met on August 17th, although in this paragraph the
4th is the date mentioned.

18
Y
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At this meeting it is shown that a knowledge of the English
language was considered a pre-requisite for initiation.

“In consequence of the Candidate who has been ballotted for not under-
standing sufficient English to understand the nature of an obligation, a motion
was made that his initiation may lay over until the next regular night—
agreed to.” .

At the meeting of 1st May, * A Petition was read praying re-
lief for a visiting Brother, which was rejected on account of the
lowness of the funds.”

On the s5th June apparently the funds were in a better condi-
tion as “ A Motion was made from the Chair that the sum of Five
Guineas be taken from the FFund and subscribed to the Bible &
Prayer Book Society—agreed to Nem Con.”

The brethren, too, were socially inclined for in order to display
their fraternal feelings towards brethren at a distance, *“ A Motion
was also made that Lodge No. 13 may be invited to dine with
L. N. 6 on St. John’s Day, which was agreed to unanimously.”

On the 24th June, 1817, " After the installation of the officers
the whole of the brethren present walked to Church in usual form
and heard a discourse from the Revd. Wm. Wilson, after returning
from church the Lodge closed in perfect love & harmony.”

At a former meeting it had been agreed that the Rev. Mr.
Stuart should be invited as a preacher, but probably the rector who
had served them so long had other engagements. Therefore, the
Rev. Mr. Wilson occupied the place. The records in the next min-
ute book commence with the 3rd July, 1817, and bear the preface,
“ The Records of St. John’s Lodge No. 5 Prov., No. 758, R. E.)” but
in the records the “ No. 6 ” is still adhered to. No. 758 was the war-
rant issued 23rd September, 1822, by England, but in Canada really
dated from 2oth November, 1795, locally as St. John's lodge, Kingston,
Upper Canada. The warrant was erased from the English book in
1857. The lodge did not receive its local ““ No. 5 ” until the re-organ-
ization in 1822. The entry of “ No 5” on the title page of the minute
book of 1817 was made after 1822, and not at the time the book was
opened. On the second fly-leaf we find the following entry:

* Grand Convocation held
1817. Kingston, Dr.
Oct. 2 To Paid Postage of a letter
to the Grand Secretary )
of England )
One letter by Hallifax, 5. I1.
D by N. York. 14. 2.

£1 0. 1.

The postage on a letter to England seventy years ago was a
serious expense. In these days of fast Atlantic liners a similar let-
ter—probably double weight—would cost for postage about ten
cents. A duplicate had been sent by New York.

At the meeting of St. John’s held on the. 3rd July, 1817, the
minutes are headed: * Kingston, St. John’s Lodge No. 6.” This
is the first time that the title of “ St. John’s” occurs in the minutes.
The celebration of the festival of St. John in 1817 must have been
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of morc than ordinary character, for not only did the lodge wait
upon the Rev. Mr. Wilson and present him with “ Two Guineas for
preaching to the Body on St. John’s Day,” but also voted that the
“sum of £2. 10 should be paid out of our funds to the band of the
37th Regiment for playing on St. John’s Day.” At the meeting of .
7th August, 1817, .

“ A Motion was made that the Worshipful Master, Brother Olcott, be
appointed as a Delegate to meet Delegates from other lodges in this province '
at this Lodge room on Wednesday, the 27th Inst., at 10 O’Clock, A.M., to
consult measures for the establishment of a Grand Lodge in this province
which was agreed to unanimously.”

This was the Grand Masonic Convention which did such mar-
vellous work in connection with Masonry during the period of 1817-
1822. .

At the meeting of 4th September, 1817, the name of Bro. Rod-
erick Mackay is given amongst those present as visitors.  This
brother at a later period was nominated as Provincial Grand Mas-
ter, but unfortunately was drowned shortly after the recommenda-
tion had been sent to England. At the same meeting Bro. Ziba
Marcus Phillips, a brother whose influence upon Craft work was
extensive, was also present.

At the meeting of 4th December, 1817, “ A motion was made
by the W. M. that Brothers Walker & Oliver shall wait on the
Revd. Mr. Stewart and beg he will preach to the Body on St
John’s, which was agreed to.” And in exemplification of the spirit
of charity a motion was also made that “sum of Twenty Dollars
be given out of the funds to Bro. McCadden as a distressed Brother,
which was unanimously agreed to and paid him accordingly. Two
pounds was also granted to another Distressed Brother unanim-
ously.”

At the meeting of 1st January, 1818, the new year was marked
Ly a motion made by Bro. Olcott and seconded by Bro. Oliver,
- that the sum of two Guineas be allowed to the Revd. G. O. Stuart,
and one Guinea to the Clark of the Church out of the funds of the
Lodge for their services on St. John’s day,” and in the same feeling
of liberality, “ A motion was also made that the sum of Five
Guineas be allowed out of the funds of this Lodge to the Kingston
Comﬁssionate Societv and agreed to.”

e meeting of 2oth February, 1818, was an emergency called
for the purpose of “ granting certificates ” to candidates to be * ex-
alted to the degree of Royal Arch Masons.” From this it would
appear that the Craft lodge gave certificates of recommendation to
the Royal Arch chapter.

At the meeting of 2nd April, 1818, Bro. H. C. Thomson re-
ceived the Fellow Craft degree.  This brother wa< a prominent pub-
lisher. and afterwards owned a printing house in Toronto. At
the mceting of 7th May, 1818,

** Brothers Will Dean & Robt. Smith having been specially summoned by
order of the W. M. for charges brot against them did not think proper to
attend the same, the former Brother was expelled the benefi's of Masonry for
Ninety Nine years, and the charges against Brother Smith was ordered to lie
over until Saturday oth inst., being an Emergency.”
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A precedent for an expulsion of “ 09 years,” it is needi
. ) ess to
say, cannot be found in the annals of B)/,Iasonic discipline. At
the meeting of gth May, 1818, Bro. Smith's case was dealt with.
::hc minutes state that the following charges were preferred against
im :

“ For non-attendance to a special summons, for non-payment of Back
Dues, and for a Brgach of promise to Br. John W. Ferguson. On the first
ch.arge !u was acquitted, second guilty of culpable Negligence, and on the
third guilty of a Breach of promise, and thereby deceiving Br. Ferguson, in
consequence of which the Lodge have unanimously agreed to suspend him
until next regular Night, and if at that time the dues of the Lodge be not paid,
mq Br. Ferguson and the other Brethren to whom he is indebted not be
satisfied Br. Rt. Smith shall then be expell'd from all the benefits of Masonry.”

At the meeting of sth June, 1818, the brethren anticipated the
eelebration of St. John's day by requesting the Rev. Mr. Stuart to
preach to them. Whatever eruptions may have occurred during
the year the brethren always seemed to recognize the first prin-
ciples of Masonry by attendance at Divine service on the festivals
of St. John. At this meeting the case of Bro. Smith was again
dealt with. He had not complied with the resolution of the lodge,
for the minutes state:

“That in consequence of Br. Rt. Smith non-compliance with a certain
resolution of this Lodge, and conduct unbecoming a Mason, he is hereby
expelled from this Lodge and all benefits of Masonry for Nine Hundred &
Ninety Years.”

The brethren had determined that whatever chance Bro. Dean
might have of again affiliating Bro. Smith certainly should have
none. At the meeting of 2nd July, 1818,

* It was unanimously agreed, to present the Revd. Geo. O. Stuart with the
sum of Two Guineas, and the clerk with one Guinea, for their services on St.
John's Day—Brother Saml. Shaw and Brother George Oliver were nominated
to wait upon the Minister & clerk to present the gift—and, upon the motion
of Bro. Pringle it was unanimously agreed, that should the minister decline
accepting the present, the Brethren who wait upon him shall use their dis-
cretion in requesting him to appropriate it to what use he pleases.”

At the meeting of 6th August, 1818, it is recorded that: " The
gift granted on last regular night to the Revd. G. O. Stuart of two
Guineas for Preaching to the Body on St. John’s Day was accepted
by him, and afterwards returned to the Body for the benefit of the
institution.”

On the 1st October, 1818, " it was resolved the members of the
Lodge wear suitable mourning, a crape round their left arm, dur-
ing the time of communication in Lodge, for the space of three
months, in consequence of the late Death of our Grand Master
Elliot Rodwell Mackay, Esquire.”

The lodge recognized the appointment of Bro. Mackay as Pro-
vincial Grand Master as having been fully made, although it had
not received confirmation from the Grand Lodge of England.

The minutes of 7th January, 1819, read *“1818.” Bro. S. D.
Fowler, the secretary in 1849, makes a note of the error. In the
records of February, 1819, there is no reference to the receipt of any
authority from the Kingston Convention, but we find on the orig-
inal warrant an endorsation in the form of a dispensation from Bro.
John M. Balfour, Vice-President of the Grand Convention. It reads:
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Upper Canada.

To all whom these presents may concern.

* Greeting.”

Know ye, all men, by these presents that We, at the petition of our trusty
and well beloved Brethren, George Oliver, W. M., John Strange, S. W., John
W. Ferguson, J. W., and a constitutional number of Brethren, to hold a Lodge
of Free Masons in the Town of Kingston, by the name, style and title of St.
John's Lodge, No. 6. I, John M. Balfour, President, for Ziba M. Phillips,
President of the Grand Convention of Free Masons, held at Kingston, on the
oth day of Feb'y, 5819, have thought fit to grant this, my dispensation, to be in
force during the continuation of said Convention and no longer, to the afore-
mentioned Brethren, to hold a Lodge in the Town of Kingston aforesaid, to
make free Masons to the third degree, according to the ancient custom of the
Craft, as in all other parts of the world in all ages and nations.

In Witnefs whereof I, John M. Balfour, for the said Ziba M. Phillips, have
hereunto set my hand and seal at Kingston, this tenth day of February. in the

vear of our Lord, 1819.
John W. Ferguson,

Sec'y to the Grand Convention. )
) John M. Balfour, V. President.

P. President, Grand Convention.
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Apparently one of the members had lost his liberty for at the
meeting of 1st July,. 1819,

o Upon motion of Bro. Coy, it was resolved that a committee of Brothers
Oliver, Walker & Coy do visit Peter Lowe (a Brother) now in jail, and ad-
minister such relief as his situation may demand.”

In the records of this year there is no reference whatever to
the proceedings of the Grand Convention at Kingston other than
the statement that on the 5th August, 1819, upon motion of Bro.
Ferguson, * it was unanimously agreed that Brother George Oliver
‘be allowed Six Dollars for his attendance upon the grand Conven-
tion.”

On the 15th September, 1819, an emergency was called for the
purpose of burying Bro. Ward, who had died at Point Frederick,
and on thé¢ 1gth inst.,, another was called for the purpose of inter-
ring the body of Bro. George Douglas. The expenses of these
funerals must have been borne in part, at least, by the lodge, for
at the meeting of 7th October, the following rule was submitted,
and adopted:

“That no other than Members of this Lodge be interred with Masonic
honors at the expense of the same, and in the event of an application to inter
a Brother who is not a member the expenses must be guaranteed previous.”

An effort was also made to charge brethren attending funerals
who were not members of the lodge, 2s. 6d, and members, 1s 3d,
“the same to be collected at the entrance of the brethren,” but this
proposal was not carried out. A third motion of a peculiar char-
acter was proposed but not carried:

“ That from the frequent irregularities committed by the Military Brethren
whilst visiting this Lodge, and for the better management in the future, no
Military Brother shall be allowed to attend except in plain clothing, which was
unanimously agreed to and ordered to be annexed to the ByeLaws.”

After this resolution the word “ Expunged” is written. It is
impossible to form any idea of the “ irregularities ” committed. They
were probably of a jovial character.

At the meeting of 3rd February, 1820, a petition was read for
the first time, “from Robert Sellares, wishing to become a Mem-
ber, which was ordered to lie over till the next regular communi-
cation the following Brethren were appointed a committee to en-
quire into the character of the petitioner: Chrisr. F. Collins, Wil-
liam Evans and A. J. Fearns, and to report the same.” And at
the same time Bro. Oliver was appointed delegate to the Grand
Masonic Convention to be held on the 14th February, 1820.

The Bro. Sellars mentioned in the minutes is the same brother
whose petition was read a second time at the March meeting. He
was then balloted for, and accepted, and on the 6th April was init-
iated, on the 3rd August, 1820, was passed to the degree of Fellow-
craft, and on 2nd November, 1820, was raised to the sublime degree
of Master Mason.

At the meeting of the Grand Lodge of Canada, held in Kings-
ton, in 1890, Bro. Sellars was introduced to the Grand Lodge by
the writer, then Deputy Grand Master. As the aged brother, feeble
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with the weight of his hundred years, and yet active, passed up the
Grand Lodge room and saluted the Grand Master, the entire as-
sumblage of over a thousand brethren, including visitors, rose to
its feet and gave the aged brother a most generous wclcome. The
M. W.,, the Grand Master, Bro. R. T. Walkem, spoke a few kindly
words and gave the venerable brother a seat at his right hand dur-
ing the rest of the afternoon meeting.

On March 21st, 1821, a resolution which affected the morals of
certain brethren was passed on a motion of Bro. Thomas, seconded
by Bro. Strange: ’

“that a committee be appointed to investigate the conduct of certain
brethren, whom it is understood are walking disorderly, and to admonish
refrain from their evil ways.”

At the meeting of 24th March, 1821, the report of the commit-
tec appointed to investigate the conduct of certain brethren was
called for and read as follows:

* Kingston, March 21st, 1821.

“ The committee appointed at last communication for the purpose of in-
vestigating the conduct of certain Brethren met at Harts Hotel accordingly.

* Present Geo. Oliver, John Butterworth, Jerry Whitehead, \Wm. Donald-
son, & A. J. Fernes.

“The following Reports were made to the Committee, that Mr. James
Meager has a wife and family in Ireland, and was excommunicated from the
Catholic Church in consequence thereof.

“ It was likewise reported to the committee that Mr. R. Walker is living in
adultery with a woman, by whom he has had a child.

“ It was reported to the committee that Mr. Richard Bond is keeping a
disorderly House.

“ It was reported to the committce that Mr. John Main is hving with a
woman by whom he has had a child.”

“ The Body having taken into consideration the case of Brother Magher
find that he is not guilty of the crime imputed to him, and. therciore. honorably
acquit him.

“ Brother Walker having admitted the charge preferred against him, it was
moved and unanimously carried, that a committee be appointed to admonish
him to abstain from his evil ways, and should he remain refractory after the
Regular Communication in May, that he then be dealt with according as the
Body may deem expedient. The following were appointed, viz: Brother Oliver
& Brother Olcott.

* No specific charge having been snpported against Brother Bond, it was
moved & Carried that he be admonished to be more circumspect in his conduct
generally.

** Brother Main’s case having been taken into consideration it was unani-
mously agreed that he is not guilty of the charge imputed to him

Bro. Robert Walker evidently felt the reproof he received. for
on 3rd May, 1821, he “signified his wish to withdraw from the
lodge, to settle his accounts with the Body, and hand over the Bal-
ance of the funds in his hands, which was unanimously agreed to.”

At this meeting Brothers Ferguson and Strange also signified
their desire to withdraw. The minutes state: *“ At the request of
Brother John W. Ferguson to withdraw from the Lodge it was
agreed to, he not having any particular reasons for doing o™ * Br.
Jno. Strange signified his wish to withdraw from the Lodge which
was agreed to.”
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The brethren were determined that the principles taught within
the lodge room should be exercised without it. The conduct of the
late treasurer was so scandalous that a motion was made and sec-
onded that

“the late conduct of Br. Walker be laid before the Secretary of the Grand
Convention, and that the Secretary of this Lodge transmit the same.”

At the meeting of 3rd June, 1821, a lodge of emergency was
called for the purpose “ of paying the last sad tribute of respect to
the remains of Brother John Darley, who departed this life, 13th
May, 1821, aged 70 years.” It will be remembered that Bro. Dar-
lev was one of those present on the 7th August, 1794, acting as
Deputy Grand Master pro tem, when the lodge was instituted. He
was one of the most faithful attendants at all the meetings.

The meeting place of the lodge was removed in December of
1821 from Bro. Walker’s to Bro. George Milward’s tavern. This was
the old Patrick House on the corner of Brock and Wellington streets,
where the lodge had met in the earlier years of its existence. It was
in Bro. Millward’s time known as “The King's Arms” and was
pulled down in 1842 to make way for the erection of the stone block
that now occupies the site, built by Mr. William Wilson, whose wife
was a daughter of Bro. Jermyn Patrick, and the mother of Mrs.
James A. Henderson, wife of the late M. W. Bro. Henderson, P. G. M.
of the Grand Lodge of Canada.

At the meeting of October 4th, 1821, a committee for the purpose
of considering the case of distressed brethren was formed. The com-
mittee was limited to an expenditure “ not exceeding 25s.”

At the meeting of 3rd January, 1822, “ Bro. Oliver was unani-
mously approved of as a delegate to the Grand Masonic Convention.”

At the meeting of 18th April, 1822, it was resolved that * there
shall be a Marshall appointed (regular) whose business it shall be to
attend upon all funerals, processions, &c., and see no irregularities
carried on, which was unanimously agreed to by the usual show of
hands.”

On the 6th June, the officers were elected for the ensuing six
months, and a motion made that “ not more than five shillings be
taken from the funds to Defray the Expenses of St. John Dinner for
each member Present.”

On the 1st August, 1822, an announcement was made by the
secretary of the Masonic Convention to lodge No. 6, stating the
appointment of a Provincial Grand Master, pro tem, for Upper
Canada. This was the arrival and appointment of R. W. Bro. Simon
McGillivray, who reorganized the Grand Lodge in the following
September. St. John's lodge with a desire to bring as many members
into the fold who were in arrears as possible agreed to the extension of
time for one month. A meeting of the lodge was held on the 12th
September, 1822, for the purpose of “ communicating to the body
Certain Letters received from the Grand Secretary, which was read
accordingly.” There are no particulars in the MSS. regarding the
communications, but they certainly referred to the warrant of lodge
No. 6, granted by R. W. Bro. Jarvis and the dispensation from the
Masonic Convention. Bro. Ziba M. Phillips was admitted a member
at this meeting, and, on motion, the expense of sending a representa-
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tive to the Grand Lodge was paid out oi the funds of the lodge. A
further motion was carried that the master, wardens and secretary be
* a committee to make such arrangements as may seem to them meet
respecting the ensuing representation to the Grand Lodge.”

This brings the history of lodge No. 6, founded in 1794, down to
the September meeting of 1822, the last meeting held under the first
Provincial Grand Warrant, and the dispensation of the Grand
Masonic Convention at Kingston. A continuance of this history will
be found in the period, which embraces the history of the second
Provincial Grand Lodge from 1822 until 184s.

LIST OF MEMBERS OF ST. JOHN'S LODGE, No. 6, KINGSTON,

1794-1821.
o i : Hon e
a. Richard Porter ohn Size a. 0 Leshie
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a John 1800, 1809,
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Jobn George | lames Robins
L 1803, Abraham Grenier
1797. a. Benjamin Olcott a. Peter Page
a. George Douglas
Charles Macdonell 1804. a. ancgii Cartl:sle
& john Macdonald a — Killba a. E. A. T, Duran
& Joseph Douglas R me Henry Katzback
Robert Simpson obert Talbot a George Huftwan
a, Frederick l'lenhﬁeldl & a:b‘b‘}‘)’;‘"h a E),,;E Hough
William Allen *. George Douglas & Charles Keitn
1798. 1806, ! A, Alexander Oliphant Petnie
. Henry Baker i
fobm Frederick Dame William Osborne ' 1812,
L:’" A Lauglin Mclntyre Stephen Mills .
- “""3" Appollins Mdcal
ohn Stouber 1807.
onatban Sills Alexander Stewart 1813,
imon F. Nabb & Smith Bartlett a. Frederic Bush
Angus Mclntyre l Francis Macdonell
James Murray | 1808, Albert McM:chacl

a Parke Allyn L Samuel Lord Thomas Hard'e
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LIST OF MEMBERS OF ST. JOHN'S LODGE, No. 6—Continued.

1814.
Samuel Shaw

24
a. George Henry
a, John McCullen
v, Daniel E, Allen
Daniel May
obn Jones
iliam Lutman
Godfrey Brenton

1815,

a. Angus Mclntosh
a. Robert Young
a. Etienne Petrie

J

a, John McCsllum
Jewell

a. John Hughes

a. George Oliver

a. Robert Johnson

a. Berpard McGee

a. John McMuller

a. Nathaniel Cherry

James Sinclair
John Martin, 1st
Henry Latham
a. John Mason

a. E.

a, Reuben Cahoon 1817.
a %.Aiaje!emiah Whitehead | 5, A, Patterson
& Dav a. C. H. Clements
o. Samuel Goudy a, — Hammond
a {l.mes Bowie ames Medley
a. John Goudy John Bond
a. James Purdy Hiram Todd
* Jobn Mosier John Sirange
a E. A. John Bone Thomas Murphy
oho Ward B8, -
enry Gillett
- Robert Tait Robert Grabam
James Woody Hugh C Thompson
Abraham Whitchead a, JAlle‘nrder' Pringle
.& Joseph Rumse; a. John Jennings
a Jma Kelly Y a. Horatio Gates Bertrand
ohn Moore Christopher F. Collins
affel Coy a, }osepb tt
Francis Redmond ohn Moore .
James Dickinson Alexander F. Ferris
Asa Yeomans
a. John H.CClal;npbell 1819.
oseph Collam . .
;ohn Daveaport David Morrison
RLEE | e
James Meagher ) {Nilliam Donaldson

A ) h Daley

a. John Martin

a. John Aue}y a. Robert Smith 1820,
a. John C. Wilson a. William Main a. James Medle
a, qhu Aldersley John Martin, 2nd * Robert Sellars
John, Waller a. George Bryan & Jeremish Whitchead
a Andm;lr Cunningham George Millward
a. John Hall
1816. a. Walter Patrick 18a1.
William Dunn James Keough Jonathan Goldsmith
Richard Shaw Adam Coyle ohn Miskin
2. Duncan Thompson Richard Miskin &, William Dean
William Boyd Robert McConaghty Hugh Kelly
John Oakshot John Diggory a. Roderic McKay
John Main a. George Scougall a. John Hynes
Henry Main John Wilson Fergu<on
ROLL OF PRINCIPAL OFFICERS.
w. M. s, W. ! J. W,
1
Aug., 1794...... Rich. Porter Wm. McKay, v.v...| Wm. Burrell
Dec., . DT “o . o
!une, 1795. ..... Wm, McKay......... Jno, C. Stewart........ Jno. McLeod
s e Jno. McLeod........ Thos. Sparham, jr..... James Bag::n
Eune, 1796..... Tl hos.‘ Sparham. jr ...... James Baymon........ Wm. “Mc ne
L1} {3 “
Eunc; 1797...... Jno. Darley.......... o o
. o Ino.McLeod........... Thos. Plummer
{;;e, 17“98 ..... Jno, L‘icLeod OO ‘I‘hos.uﬂersbfeldl ...... Chas.“McDonne .
gi;e.: 17.?9 .... Thoc.“Sparhan;,‘ jl’ Wm.‘?{cKny Jas. %aymon
{nne: 1800...... ¢ Jno. Grewer ..........| Dugald Gray
s James Baymon ... ... Ino. Size........... ...| James Murray
June, 18o1....... i lermyn Patrick....... Ino. Darley .......... Ino. Stauber
Dec., * .... ! “o ... James Baymon
June, 1802. ..... ' o . Park Allyn
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ROLL OF PRINCIPAL OFFICERS—Continued.

|
|
|

W. M, S. W, J. W,
Dec., 180a.......| Jermyn Patrick. ...... Ino. Darley .......... Park Allyn
‘ue. :8'?3. ...... :: ........ Park ﬁllyn ............ Robt.“Walker
lune, 18aq.......| Park Allyn............| Robt. Walker ....... | Benj. Olcott
Dec., ** ..... " e “o ¢
June, 1803 Robt, Walker Benj. Olcott ... ...... Zenas Nash
Dec., “ ... “ TP o
June, 1806.. . .... Jno. Darley........... . T, .
Dec.. ¢ ...... U Y Jno. Size
{;l;.t. 1807..... .| Benj “O!eou e | JmoO, Size.....oo.lll Fnd.“Bmh
June, 1808... . .| Fred. Bush ...". 77| Asa . Reia ... 11| Smith Bartlett
Dec.,, ** . o veweer ... | Robt, Tolbert ........ Geo. Douglas
{;‘ue, 10‘09 ....... Asa F. Reid ‘: ...... Jno. Darley
{i:e',' 10.....""| Jno. Darley .... .| jabraz Sizer ..... ... | Rich. Smith
[ Hy. Moore ... .... | Rich. Smith _...... ... Wm. Pation
};ﬂ:. tg'u ....... Fuac‘i? Carlisle. . .. .. .. Elnjal: 'Spaﬂ'otd ........ Jno. Butterworth
Tune, 1812 20| Benj. Otcont ... Robt, Tolbert ... ... o
o, Yol L L o
lune, 1813 ... . e, T .
Dec.. **° .. ...| Robt. Walker .. Ino. Butterworth . . .. .. Rd. Smith
&:’ 1814, ... . “ o L o
. s c s eenw b . e e . o
une, 1815 ...... Benj. Olcott ... ...... ' e Charles Keith
Jec., ** . ....| Ino. Butterworth . Robt. Young.......... |no, Allen
June, 1816 .. .. o .. .. Rd Shaw .. ... ... | Thos. Smuth
Dec.. ** .. ... “ A Thos. Smith . ....... Geo. Ohiver
Juoe. 1817....... Benj. Olcott. . .. | bt e o
Dec, * ... |Sam’l. Shaw.... | Geo. Omer . ...l.]. Jerry Whitchead
Tune, 1818 . s . Jno. Strange
Dec., ¢ ...... Geo. Oliver ....! Ino. Strange..... . ..| Ino. W, Ferguson
ane, 181 o’ . | b o
O . U . vieeen....| Chris, F. Collins
fune, 1820... .. o . .. Ino Butterworth ... .. Alex. }. Ferns
Dec., * ... . cvwee ... lames Whitehead o
{;:e, (1.7 TP .| Jno. Butterworth .. ... | Alex. |. Ferns ....... Ino. Spence
. ..| Alex. ]J. Ferns .... ... Jno. Spence .. . .... | lames Meagher
June, 1823....... s L ! Jas. Meagher ..... ... Wm. Donaldsoa
Dec, ¢ ...... Jno. Butterworth . ..{ Benj. Farhead........ Geo. Oliver

CHAPTER XXVII

St. JaMES’ LobpGE, No. 7, P. R, Tow~suiP OF FREDERICKSBURG,
CounNty OF LENNOX, 1794-182:.—TuE FIrst MasoNIic
HaLL IN THE MipLaxp Districr.

Fredericksburg, where lodge No. 7 met, is one of the oldest
settlements in Upper Canada. It is a township of the old Midland
district, now the counties of Frontenac, Lennox and Addington,
having the township of Ernestown on the north-cast, Richmond on
the north-west, the Bay of Quinte on the south-east, and Adolphus-
town on the south-west. It is now in the county of Lennox. With
the pioneers of the district it was known as " The Township of Fred-
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erick,” so named in honor of Augustus Frederick, the Duke of
Sugsex, ninth child of George III., and the Grand Master of the
United Grand Lodge of England after the union in 1813. The town-
ship was settled by Sir John Johnson’s disbanded soldiers, but there
" not being sufficient land in the township, thirteen lots were added.
The first portion was known as “ Fredericksburgh original,” and
the second as “ Fredericksburgh additional.” There was a reserve
for a village in the township for years, but the population was never
large enough for even a small hamlet.

The records of this lodge arc meagre. The number “7 " has
son.'letimes been confused with that of the New Oswegatchie lodge,
which met at Elizabethtown, but this lodge exchanged its number
for No. 13 about 1800. The minute book of the latter gives the date
as 1799, but the names of the members do not in any way correspond
with those of No. 7, Fredericksburg. The lodge was warranted in
1794, and was included in the official return made to the Grand
Lodge of England in 1797 by R. W. Bro. Jarvis. The earliest
record of it is in a petition presented on the 4th February, 1812,
when, as will be seen by the records of No. 25, which met at Rich-
mond Mills in the township of Richmond, in Lennox, a petition was
sent to R. W. Bro. Wm. Jarvis recommending “ Joseph Pringle,
Jehial Hawley and Elisha Phillips, three proper persons to be ap-
pointed officers of a lodge to be holden in the township of Richmond.”
This petition was signed by “ Bros. H. Spencer, Duncan Bell, Daniet
Kingsbery, Jos. Gunsden, Gilbert Sharp, Garnet D. Clute, Henry
Sharp, B. C. Spencer.”

The petition asked for “a warrant to establish a lodge in the
Township of Richmond, in the Midland District, Upper Canada,”
with “ Joseph Pringle as Master. Jehial Hawley, Sen’r Warden and
Flisha Phillips. Jun't Warden.” The officers signing were “ Duncan
Bell, W. M.; Daniel Kingsberry. S. W.; Gilbert Sharp, J. W.; B. C.
Spencer, Secretary. P. T.”  As directed the officers of No. 7 proceed-
ed to Richmond. installed the officers and reported to R. W. Bro.
Jarvis, that the duty had been performed on the 1oth March.

The report of the proccedings gives about the only records pre-
served of the membership of No. 7. It reads that:

“ Agreeable to the instructions from the Grand Lodge, No. 7, assembled
at Abel Goold's, on the 11th of March. 1812, in the Township of Richmond,
for the purpose of installing Richmond Lodge, at present without Number.

“ Br. D. Bell. Master of the Chair.

Br. M. Laraway, Past Master.

Br. J. Cornscolus, Past Master.
“ Then proceeded to open a Master's Lodge and proceeded to Instail
Joseph Pringle. Worshipful Master.
** Jehial Hawley, Senior Warden.
Fhsha Thillips, Junior Warden
“~ Then closed the Master's 1 odge in order to cpen that of an Entered
apprentice.  Members present: Rr. B. Rell. Worshipiul Master: Br. M. Lara-
way. Past Master: Br G. D. Kingsbury, Senior \Warden; Br. G. Sharp.
Junior Warden: Br F Phillipe. Senwor Deacon: Br. J. Pringle, Junior Dea-
con: Br. J. Hawley, Treasurer: Rr T D. Sanford, Sect’y: Br. G. D. Chute,
Tyler: Br. H Sharp: Br }. Ou<. Rr T Pringle: Br. S. Ashley: Br. P \'n.
Drder;: Br. I Cumnuns
* Lodge closed in peace and harmony at 8 o'clock.”

The first building exclusivelv for Craft purposes was built iw
£ \ purpe
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the township of Fredericksburg by a Bro. Finkle. The records of
No. 6 at Kingston show that the members of lodge No. 7 were oft-
times visitors as early as 1794. On the 2nd October of that year
Bro. Ichobed Hawley, Nathan Curtice and . John Donovan were
wisitors at No. 6.

Then on 1st September, 1795, Bro. Dusenbury, and on the 2nd
July, 1795, Bro. Bell, who was master in 1812. Bro. Clarke was at
No. 6 on the sth January, 1797, on the sth October, 1797, and on the
15th May, 1803, while Bro. Curtice visited on 5th June, 1797, and
Bro. Priam and Courtier on 5th October, 1797. Bro. Van Alstine,
the W. M. of No. 7, was a visitor at No. 6 on the 4th January, 1797.
This brother was amongst the early settlers of Adolphustown. He
was of Dutch descent and spoke English imperfectly. He was noted
for his hospitality—even to a fault. He was a Lutheran in religion,
and for services in the rebellion of 1837 was granted a pension by
the government. He was known as Major Van Alstine.

Fredericksburg was convenient to the townships of Richmond,
}:;:lncstown and Kingston, in all three of which there were Masonic
odges.

Bro. Henry Finkle visited No. 6 on the 7th June, 1798, and on
the sth May, 1803, and registered from No. 7. There were three
brothers in the Finkle family—llenry was the youngest. Geo.
Finkle, the father of Henry, emigrated originally from Germany,
and settled in New York, but, being a loyalist, his estates were con-
fiscated. His son Henry, the Brother Henry referred to, came to
Qucbec about 1770, and at the age of sixteen entered the Royal
Enginecers department. When Bro. Iinkle settled in the west he
erected the first frame building in Upper Canada. The first court
which was ever held in the province of Upper Canada was opened in
his house.

An old record says that a negro for stealing a loaf of bread re-
ceived thirty-nine lashes. The basswood tree to which the culprit
was tied stood until 1878. Bro. Finkle was a slave owner and one
of the first settlers to give them freedom.

On the 1oth March, 1805, Bro. Thomas Stauber, Jr., Francis
Wvcock, Bro. Garlow, Bro. Brass, were visitors at Kingston, and
Bro. Sherwood visited on 2nd August, 1810. The brothers Sherwood
were also members of the New Oswegatchie lodge, No. 7, which met
n 1787 at Elizabethtown. Dro. Peter Vandertuden, or * An Drider,”
visited No. 6 on the 3rd December, 1812, and on the 21st February,
1813, the name of Bro. Jehial Hawley, the senior warden of the
newlv-established lodge in the county of Richmond is on the list of
visitors. R. W. Bro. Ziba Marcus Phillips, a brother who did so
much work for the Craft all through the Midland district, was a mem-
ber of No. 7, and visited No. 6 on the 4th December, 1817. It was
his relative, Bro. Elisha Phillips, who was the junior warden of the
lodge in the county of Richmond. Bro. A. B. Huff. of No. 7, was
a usitor to No. 6 on the 15th September, 1819. .

These names antcdate any list extant of the membership by
manv vears. Had the visitors' register been carefully kept much
more information would be at hand in compiling the history of this

earlv lodge. N .
In the MSS. there is a certificate of a delegate to the Kingston
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Convention of 1820, which is signed by the officers of the lodge.
In 1799 at a quarterly meeting of the Grand Lodge at Niagara after
the election of Grand officers, for the convenience of lodges, No. s,
Edwardsburg; No. 6, Kingston; No. 7, Fredericksburg; and No.
13, New Johnstone; Bro. Wm. McKay of Kingston was appointed
l?eppty Grand Secretary. The lodge was not represented at the Pro-
vincial Grand Lodge meeting of 1804, for the minutes state that “ No. 7,
Fredericksburg, did not attend but showed good cause by letter.” The
minutes also state that “ The G. S. then observed he had also received
a letter from No. 7, Fredericksburg, expressing the like satisfaction
and cordial approbation, but for local circumstances could not attend.” -
The “like satisfaction ” alluded to a similar letter from No. § at Ed-
wardsburg, “ showing cause for non-attendance.”

As already stated, the records of Richmond lodge, in the county
of Lennox, show that on the 4th February, 1812, the members of No.
7 recommended “ Bros. Joseph Pringle, Jehial Hawley and Elisha
Phillips, three proper persons to be appointed as officers of a lodge
to be holden in the Township of Richmond.” And it is also in the
MSS. that “ St. James’ Lodge, No. 7,” which was the name given to
Fredericksburg lodge, “ met on the 1oth of March for the purpose
of installing the new Lodge held in the township of Richmond, at
present without number.” The lodge, therefore, must have been in
working order, as the installation was carried out, agreeable to the
instructions of R. W. Bro. Jarvis.

In the proceedings of the Grand Masonic Convention of 27th
August, 1817, “ Bro. Elisha Phillips ” represented “ Lodge No. 7,”
and in 1819 R. W. Bro. Benjamin McAllister in his report to the
Kingston Convention writes concerning this lodge: “ On visiting th=
brethren * * * * at Fredericksburg the second time, a suitable
degree of ambition seemed to have been raised, which I hope will
have a proper effect.” The lodge, however, was not represented at
the Convention of 1819. In the MSS. there is a certificate for a dele-
gate to the Kingston Convention in 1820, signed by the officers of
the lodge, which contains the names of Bros. Spencer, Elisha Phillips,
Duncan Bell and Alexander Clark, all names familiar in the history
of this lodge. The certificate reads:

We, the Worshipful Master and Wardens of Lodge, Number Seven, do
certify that Brother Timothy Thompson is fully authorized to represent our
Lodge in the Grand Convention, to be held at Kingston, on the second
Monday in February, A.M. s820.

Bro. Conger Spencer, W.M.
Elisha Phillips, S.W.
Duncan Bell, JW.
Alex’er Clark, Secretary.

To
John \W. Ferguson,
Secretary to the Grand Convention,
Kingston.

In the minutes of the Convention of 1820 under the head ot
“ Returns ” is entered ““ Lodge No. 7, at Bath.” This was the lodge
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at Bath, perhaps re-numbered by the Convention. That No. 7 did
not pass out of existence is established by the fact that in 1822, under
the re-organization of the Provincial Grand Lodge, No. 7, was re-
numbered as * No. 6,” and “ No. 759" on the English register. The
warrant was granted for a lodge at “ Fredsburgh,” not Fredericks-
burgh,” an evident error in transcription. In this warrant, dated 23rd
September, 1822, is the name of W. Bro. Duncan Bell, who stood
faithfully by the lodge from its foundation. The history of the lodge
—all that can be ascertained of its work—will be found in the period
devoted to the second Provincial Grand Lodge, when it was re-
organized by R. W. Bro. Simon McGillivray.

The following is a list of the members of this lodge:

Bell, Duncan, J. W., 1820, X Pringle, Joseph, W. W., X
Brass, — Phillip, Elisha, J.W., 1812, and S.W.,
Curtice, Nathan, 1820, X .
Clark, Alex., Sec'y, 1820, X Priam, —
Couruer, — Phillips, Z. M.,
Donovan. John. Stauter, Jr., Thos.,
Dusenbury, — Sherwood, —
Finkle, Hy., Spencer, Conger, W. M., 1820, X
Garlow, — Thompson, Timothy,
Hawley. Jehial, S. W, 1812, X Van Alstine, —
Hawley, Ichobed, Vandertuden, Peter,
Huff. A. B, Wycock, F.,
e < mark dighcates the only ofticers of the lodge whose names are re-
corded

CHAPTER XXVIIL

Harmony LoocGe, No. 8, ToroNTO, 1796-1811.—A LODGE THAT
Hap Many PIONEERS AMONG ITs MEMBERS.—THE FIRST
MasoNic FUNErRAL IN YOrk (ToroNTO).

It has always been a matter of doubt as to the exact position
occupied by lodge No. 8, at York, in its relation to the action of the
irregular Grand Lodge at Niagara. The lodge was warranted in
1796 by R. W. Bro. Jarvis, and is included in his official return made
in 1707 to the Grand Lodge of England. The first record of its work
is to be found in a certificate issued to Bro. Samuel D. Cozens. The
document i on parchment, and in the ordinary form of the modern
ceruficate. with parallel columns, one in English, but the other, instead
of the orthodox Latin, is in French, a language which at that period
was n ore or less spoken in western Canada.

The names of the members have been compiled from the scant
records ieft in the MSS. Those of the membership are familiar to
a'l readers of early Craft history. Many of their descendants are in
Ontario at the present time.
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The text of the certificate of S. D. Cozens is as follows:

To

All Ancient, Regular, Free and Ac-
cepted Masons.

Urion, Health, Happiness.

We do hereby certify that the
bearer hereof, Brother Samuel D.
Cozens, a member of Lodge No. 8
(Ancient Free Masons), under the
jurisdiction of the Provincial Grand
Lodge of Upper Canada, hath been
raised to the sublime degree of a
Master Mason, and hath performed
all his work among us to the entire
satisfaction of the brethren, he is
therefore recommended as such.

In Testimony whereof we have de-
livered him this certificate, and that
it may not be of use to anyone else,
we have caused him to sign his name
in the margin " Ne Varietur.”

Done at York in Upper Canada,
this 10th day of July, A.D. 1797.

Approved.
Wm. Jarvis, P.G. M.
Samuel D. Cozens, Sec'y.

A
tous .les anciens Macons reguliers
sur les deux Hemisphers.
Union, Sante, Bonheur.

Nous certitions que le porteur du
present le Frere Samuel D. Cozens,
member de la Loge, No. 8 (An-
ciens York Macons), Sur le jurisdic-
tion de la Grand Orient, de Haut
Canada, a ete eleve au sublime
grade de Maitre Macon, et quil a
travaille parmi nous a I'entiere sat-
isfaction de seo freres, cst pourquoi
nous le recommendous commetel.

En Foi, de quoi nous liu avore
delivre le presente certificat, et affin
quil ne puisse servir a aux antre per-
sonne, nous lui avons fais signor
son nomme a la marge ‘‘ Ne Varie-
tur.”

Donne a York en Haut Canada
La 10 Juillette A.D. 1797, A.L.
Samuel Heron, Master.

Jonathan Scott, Senior Warden.
Thomas Stoyelle, Junior Warden.

At one time a seal was attached to the certificate by a blue rib-
bon. In the margin is written the signature of the owner of the
certificate above the words * ne varietur.”

The Cozens family were of the early settlers. The original
owner of lot 22 on the west side of Yonge street near Richmond Hill
was Captain Daniel Cozens, a man who took an active part in the war
of American independence.

On the breaking out of the American revolution of 1776, Daniel
Cozens, whose grandfather had emigrated to North America with
William Penn, adhered to the British crown, and took an active part
in raising a military force in Gloucester county, who readily embodied
and put themselves under his command, and whom he victualled at
his own expense a considerable time before he made application for
rations. For this he received the commission of captain from Sir
William Howe, then in Philadelphia, commander of the British
forces. The company of Captain Cozens was called the *‘ West
Jersey Volunteers,” and he continued firm in his adherence to the
crown throughout all the protracted struggle of the revolutionary
war.

The active exertions which Captain Cozens made in enlisting
men and maintaining them at his own cost until mustered into ser-
vice, and the extensive influence which he exerted in West Jersey,
excited the enmity of the colonial government, and led to the con-
fiscation of his entire estate, which extended between Philadelphia
and Trenton, and the forced ejectment of his family, consisting of
his wife and five children.

This firm and unyielding loyalist was rewarded for his devotion
to the crown, by a grant from the British Government of 3,000 acres



HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA. 609

of land, situated in Upper Canada, on the shores of Lake Ontario,
and lying in " Little York,” now Toronto, and Vaughan and Clarke
townships.

Captain Daniel Cozens, in whose name this grant stands, had
issue two sons (both of whom received grants from the crown) and
three daughters, one of whom only was ever married—Susan Cozens,
who married Stephen Carnick, of Philadelphia, and whose son,
Edward H. Carnick, of New York city, and her five grandchildren,
four of them being the children of her eldest son, Stephen Carnick,
Jr.. of New York city, and the other the child of her youngest son,
Louis Carnick, Philadelphia—are the only living descendants of
Captain Daniel Cozens.

Captain Daniel Cozens, after receiving this grant from the
crown, went to Toronto where he built one of the first houses erected in
that city. His sons, Daniel and Shivers, also had grants of land. In
the carly plans of Markham on lots 2, 4 and §, in the sixth concession,
the name of Shivers Cozens may be scen. Shivers removed to New
Jersey, and died there. In an early plan of Toronto the name of
Shivers Cozens is on No. 23, in block E., on the south side of King
street. The name of Benjamin Cozens is on No. §, on Market strect
(Wellington), and the name of Captain Daniel Cozens on No. g4,
King street (new town), north side with the date of the grant, 2oth
July, 1799.

The Niagara “ Herald ” of 31st October, 1801, has an announce-
ment to this effect: “ Died on the sixth ult., near Philadelphia,
Captain Daniel Cozens.”

Captain D. Cozens, eldest son of Daniel Cozens, was born in
New Jersey, December 6th, 1769, and cducated in London. He
died suddenly in a fit in Toronto, January 27th, 1808, and was in-
terred with Masonic honors, on the 3ist ult., in the churchyard of St.
James’ cathedral.

In the “Upper Canada Gazette or American Oracle” of
January 27th, 1808, there is the following record relative to the death
of Samuel D. Cozens, whose certificate is given: * Departed this life,
on the 2gth ult.,, Mr. Samuel D. Cozens, one of the first inhabitants
of this town (York). His remains were interred with Masonic honors
on the 31st.”

The following is a copy of a letter, written by Benjamin Cozens,
a cousin of Samuel D. C?ozens, and now in the possession of his
grand-nieces. One paragraph refers to the death of Samuel D.
Cozens:

York, Upper Canada.
8th April. 1808.
Mr. Jonathan Paul,
West New Jersey.
Dear Sir -

Yours of the 26th Jan. I received the 1st oi March, which is the first and
only one I have received from that quarter since I arrived here. 1 am
happy to hear you and family are well.

There is a perfect stagnation to business here. We have no communi-
cation with the States, and cannot get goods from Montreal before May. East
India goods we bring from New York: they come much cheaper; and that
communication being cut off, makes them scarce and very dear.

39
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. Tt has been a very hard winter here. Snow fell four feet on the level, and
there is considerable snow at present back in the country. ’

The people in this country are much alarmed for fear of an American
War, which God forbid there ever should be. If the Americans declare war
against France, I should like to go to South America. I belong to a Vol-
unteer Company of Horse that is ready at a minute’s warning to go on any
expedition they are ordered.

Samuel D. Cozens died this winter. He was taken in a fit, fell back-
wards, and never spoke afterwards.

There were orders arrived this morning to raise two Regiments of foot
in this Province and two thousand Regulars, and there march from the
Lower Province to this place.

Dear Sir, I remain,
Yours most truly.
(Signed) Benjamin Cozens.

The “ Upper Canada Gazette or American Oracle” of 15th
December, 1800 (a paper published in York by William Waters and
T. G. Simons), gives a description of a Masonic funeral, the cere-
monial being conducted by lodge No. 8. The report says: .

“ Brother Alexander Perry, a member of Lodge No. 12, of Montreal.
was drowned on the 11th December, 1800, whilst crossing the river (now
called the Rouge) seventeen miles from town, being on his way home.”

The Rouge River is in the Township of Scarboro’, County of
York, seventeen miles east of Toronto.

The following extract from the minutes has reference to the sad
event. Captain Daniel Cozens, of loyalist fame, was W. M. The
extract is the first record of a Masonic funeral in this province.

“ Lodge of Emergency called on Sunday, the 15th Inst. (15th Dec'r,
1800) to pay the fung¢ral honors to the body of Brother Alexander Perry
of St. Paul’s Lodge No. 12, of Montreal.”

“ The Lodge was opened in due form at half-past two o'clock, P.M. anc
honored with the attendance of the R. W. the Provincial Grand Master of
U. C, William Jarvis, Esquire, Secretary of this Province, and a respecta-
ble number of visiting brethren.”

* Before removing the body the following short oration was pronounced
by the Worshipful Master o1 said Lodge, Brother Danicl Cozens™:

*““Like Leaves on trees the race of man is found,
Now green 1n youth, now withering on the ground.’

‘“ Fellows and Brethren:—

“ Knowing your feelings on the present melancholy occasion, I shoul.
conceive it unnecessary for me to urge anything on my part, or to point out
to you the necessity of observing a particular deccorum in doing the last
offices to the remains of this our degparted brother. had not his fate whilst
living scemed strongly to mark for ‘ commisseration,” and whose untimely
end demands the tribute we are about to pay. The spectacle betore vz
should inculcate the most awful lesson on the minds of us. lus survivirg
brethren, and I doubt not but that it will leave impressions on cach i u-
impressions, whose benignant operation may convince us, that there 15 nath-
ing terrible in death. To Freemasons more particularly, death should not
be terrible, to them whose sole object is a moral one, bound by their vows
to a moral union, to the practice of charity, and the Cardinal virtues, f
their lives but conform to the spirit of Freemasonry their deaths however
untimely, however accomplished, cannot but be happy. Could our participa-
tion alleviate the distresses of a childless mother, nr  <nothe the affh:-teg
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mind of an affectionate father, their burden should be light, and their cup
not overflow. We leave to God and Religion the task we cannot periorm,
what is now in our power we piously and affectionately will do. Little
further remains for me to add, my brethren, but that we proceed in the most
dccent manner, to discharge the last and only duty, which this lifeless mass
can receive at our hands. We wish his immortal part at rest, as this lus
mortal will shortly be.

* With your concurrence we will now convey the hody to the grave, that
goal of eternity which Priors and people, and collective humanity must pre -
gressively inhabit.”

The procession then moved to the place of interment in the following
order:

Preceded by the Rev. Geo. Stuart,
Corpse with six Master Masons as pall beuarers
Two Tylers
Two Deacons
Past Master, with the Bible, Square, & Compasscs,
Senior and Junior Wardens with columns.
Master Masons, two and two, ,
Secretaries and Treasurers,
Past Masters, two and two,
Masters of Lodges, two and two.
The Right Worshipful, the Prov’'l Grand Master.

Between visiting Brethren, Angus McDonnell, Esquire. and John Car
cron, officiating as Deputy Grand Chaplain and Deputy Grand Master.

The most perfect order and silence was observed. After sceing the baody
deposited in the grave, the procession returned in the same order, and o -
I dge was cloced at 4 o’clock, P.M,, in due form and pericct harmony

“ York 15th Dec'r in the year of our Lord Jesus Chnst, the Mascter
Builder of our hope, 1800, and of Masonry, 5800."

Bro. Angus McDonell was an old Torontonian  In 1801 he was
wember of the legislature for the " county oi Durham, the Fa
Riding, and the County of York, and the County of Simcoe.”  These
three counties clected conjointly one member. (n the 2nd of july,
101, the election took place, under the colonnade of the govern-
ment buildings in the town of York. Mr. William Alan, father
Senator GG W, Allan, was returning officer.  The writ. issuing iro
His Excellency. Peter Hunter, Esq., directed the returning officer

*“tu cause a Knight, girt with a sword. the most fit and discreet, 1t he
frecly and indifferently chosen, to represent the aforecnd county, riding and
weunty, 1 assembly, by those who shall be present on the day of election

Two candidates presented themselves, Mr. A. McDonell, an..
Mr J. Small. Mr. McDonell was duly elected  there appearing to-
ivn.” as the " Oracle” states, *“ 112 unquestioned votes, for J. Smai’
Esq. 32; Majority 80.” In 1804 there was another clection contes
and Iiro. McDonell was again returned for the <iene constituencics
Bro. McDonell, a vear later, however, met a icariul fate in hemg
one of the thirtyv-nine persons lost on Lake Ontario in the govers
ment schooner " Speedy.”  He was then shernifi of York,  Judy
Cochrane, Solicitor-General Gray, and others were lost at the s
ume.  No trace of the vessel was ever discoverad

‘ro. John Cameron was a printer in York, and in 1813 pubhs
e " The York Gazette,” the official paper, formerhv known as i
*Upper Canada Gazette or American Oraclc ™ In the carhy tun

- et
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View ofF York (ToronTo), 1803.
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the government press was set up in Mr. Cameron's house on King
street, east of George street, but in later days from 1808 till the war
of 1812, Cameron’s press was in the old house occupied by Andrew
Mercer, on the south-east corner of Bay and Wellington streets
The lodge met in this house.

Bro. Thomas Humberstone, the S. W., was a sergeant in the
3rd regiment of York militia in 1812, and afterwards a lieutenant,
fighting with Col. Fitzgibbon at Beaver Dams. He resided on
Yonge street, near Hogg’s Hollow, where he had a factory for
pottery ware. It was on his farm that the noted William Morgan, oi
Niagara river fame, worked as a laborer in 1823, afterwards coming
to Toronto as a brewer and maltster in the Doel brewery on the north-
west corner of Bay and Richmond streets. ’

The accompanying view is interesting as it gives an idea of To-
ronto in the earlier part of the century. The locality is the castern end
of the city east of the present St. Lawrence Market and north of the
shore linc of the bay—in those days on the bay shore. It is also the
only view of the then Parliament buildings extant. The buildiny in
front of the man on horseback was at the present corner of East Mar-
ket Square and Front street. The building to the north. with the door
in the centre, was McGinnis & Montgomery's genera! store. That in
the centre to the left of the tree was George Monro's private house. at
the foot of the nresent George street. This house is still standing
(180R). The bui'ding with the gable towards the reader was the Post
Office at the foot of Frederick strect. The block house which was
destroyed by the Americans in 1813 stood within a few feet of the
water's edge, near the mouth of the Don River. This is the earhest
p'cture which gives any idea of the embryo city.

“The Gazette” of 20th June, 1801, contained the iollowing
oration, delivered by the Master of Harmonv lodge. No & on the
occasion of his resigning the chair of the lodge.

Brethren:

As this is the period which the constitution of our order has hnoted 1-
my holding the high and important, and most honorable seat, in which
brotherly love and Masonic affection has placed. and <o long conunued me,
I cannot resign the dignified charge without giving expression to the w:rm
and tender emotions, which this charge has created

First then, Brethren, accept my grateful and unicigned thinks< for the
distinguished honor of voting me into the chair, I have endeasvored voth
earnest <olicitude to discharge the duties attached to it. in svch a manver
as to sccure your applause and my own approbation as a Mas<on. If in anv
inctance I have been delinquent, my abilities anly are taxable, my heart s
purcly blameless.

Accept Brethren. my warmest thanks for the order and harmony whech
Lac <hane conspicuous in the Lodge, since [ have had the honor of pres:c-
irg over it It is only by such praiseworthy and exemplary conduct. that
we can be enabled to restore Masonry to its original dignity, and render *
wihservient to the design of its institution. It 1s thus only, my Brethier,
that we can  display to the world the native beauties ot our order. .and
avoid being the reproach of the unenlightened. and it is thus only that we
ran raise oursclves above the common level

I.et us then, my Brethren, so order our meral conduct and doportmen:,
ttat we may reflect new  lustre on the badge of wmnocence and  bond of
friendship, which is more ancient than the golden flcece or Reman Eagle,
mare honorable than the gilded star or silken carter
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Road to the Mills.” In 1802 it is described “from the Bay Road
to the Don Mills.” Helliwell’s mille subsequently occupied the site
of Terry’s mills.

Bro. Isaac Swayze, or Sweazy, and Bro. Parshall Terry, had
the monopoly of contracts for the supply of the fort at York. Bro.
Swayze was originally a member of lodge No. 7, New Jersey, and
was initiated in 1776, receiving his E. A. and F. C. in the United
States, and affiliating as an F. C., was raised to the sublime de-
gree of a M. M. in 1801, in lodge No. 2, at Niagara. This was
the original “ St. John’s Lodge of Friendship,” No. 2, at Niagara.
Wm. Heward was a son of Hugh Heward, clerk in the Lieut.-
Go;r;:rnor's office, in 1803. Bro. Thos. Hamilton was a storekeeper
in York.

Duke W. and Hiram Kendrick are names thoroughly identified
with the early history of Masonry in Toronto. There were four
brothers, Joseph, Duke, Hiram and John, respectively. They were
originally pussessors of lots Nos. 6, 7, 8, and 9, on the west side of
Ycnge street. They all displayed nautical proclivities, or, as one
who knew them said, they were all “ water dogs.” In 1799 Duke
Kendrick established a pot-ashery on lot 7, and his advertisement
headed “ Ashes! Ashes! Ashes!” appears in the ‘ Gazette” of
21st December, 1799. The name of Kendrick appears frequently in
cornection with the early marine of York. In Masonic matters
they took the greatest interest, and in connection with Rawdon and
other lodges displayed much energy and zeal in advancing the wel-
fare of the Craft.

Of Bro. John Edgell nothing is known save that in the
* Gazette ” of 14th March, 1801, he is named with other inhabitants
as a subscriber to the extent af $5 towards the improvement of
Ycnge street.

Samuel ‘-Heron was one of the town-wardens of York in 1739.
He was a brother of Mr. Hewnn, of Niagara, the father of the late
Andrew Heron of Toronto.

The Grand Secretary, Bro. Jermyn Patrick, had some doubt
as to the work of No. 8. He wrote to R. W. Bro. Jarvis on the
2nd March, 1808, and his letter exhibits the unsettled state of the
Masonic mind in the province at this time. The records show that
the lodge No. 8 of 1797 had not met for two vears prior to 1811,
so that the lodge w=e really dormant. Bro. Patrick writes:

“When I had engrossed the Warrant, I propose <ending them a copy
of our minutes for the mode of proceding, but I suppose they will fall into
the same channel the other sulordinate Lodges have donc. I hear nothing.

nor do I receive anything from them, and as I hcar nothing from York, I
cannot call them to account.”

The words “ When I engrossed the warrant” could scarcely
refer to the charter of 1797, and yet as there was no other lodge
No. 8 between 1797-1808, it might refer to a new warrant. The
new warrant, which followed “ Harmony,” was not issued until
1811. The term “T suppose they will fall into the same channel
as the other lodges” is also unintelligible. unless it should refer to
an incoming warrant. Whatever may have been the result of Bro.
Patrick’s letter the last document in the MSS. proves that the lodge
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was dormant from about the beginning of 1809 until 1811. It
reads:

On the 12th January, 1811, “ Various brothers of the ancient and honor-
able fraternity of Free and Accepted Masons, assembled by verbal summons,
on Saturday the 12th of January, 1811,” and adopted the following preamble
and resolution:

“ We, the undersigned officers and members of Harmony Lodge, num-
ber eight, from the following existing and cogent reasons thereto, have sur-
rendered to the Deputy of the Right Worshipful William Jarvis, Esquire,
Provincial Grand Master of Free and Accepted Masons, all the jewellry,
furniture, badges, implements, ensigns (Insignia ?) of the said Harmony
Lodge No. 8.

“Reason 1st. To wit, from the death, absence and removal, of many
members of the said Lodge from the town of York, wherein such Lodge
was heretofore held.”

“ Reason 2nd. For that whereas the non meetings of the said Lodge
have been from weakness in number of members, existing for two years and
upwards.”

‘“ And 3rdly and lastly, That whereas a number of brethren, members of
Lodges without this Province, and of Lodges in distant Districts thereof,
are now resident here, and desirous of becoming members of a l.odge to bhe
newly organized., and to be denominated “ Toronto.”

Caleb Humphrey S. W.
Benjamin Cozens 1. G.
** Signed and approved in presence of
John Cameron,
Secretary elect.”

These resolutions are signed only by the senior warden and
inner guard. The meeting may have been called at the suggestion
of the Provincial Grand Master, for on the 3rd of January. nine
days previous, a deputation waited on the R. W. Rrother. and pre-
sented a letter, having for its object the establishment of a new
lodge. The letter reads:

York. ird January. 1811
“To the Right Worshipful Grand Master of and in the Province of Upp:r
Canada.

We, the undersigned Brothers of the Ancient and Honotable Fraternity
of Free and Accepted Masons, viewing with painful sensat:ons that the due
organizations and duties of regular Lodges have been neglected. and negl:-
gently performed, have met for the purpose of designing some plan. and
have deputed Brothers Thomas Hamilton, Glennon Cozens, Stebbins and
Carfrae, to wait on the Right Worshipful, and with his approbation and ac-
quiescence to concert such further measures. and take such further steps, as
may be necessary to obtain a Warrant for our constitution. into a regular
Lodge forthwith.”

John Cameron

Joshua Leitch

John Campbell

Caleb Humphrey

Joseph Kendrick.
P.S. The Brethren deputed were also present.

The result of the efforts of the deputation was~ the ad.grin
and transmission of the following memorial-
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January 19th, 1811.

To the Right Worshipful William Jarvis, Esquire.

Provincial Grand Master of Upper Canada.

“ The petition of the undersigned Brethren belonging to the Ancient and
Honorable Fraternity, being all Master Masons, and desirous to establish a
Lodge in the town of York.

They therefore pray your Worship to grant them a Warrant for that
purpose, and beg leave to name Brother Thomas Hamilton, Master, Brother
Hugh Carfrae, Senior Warden, and Brother Benjamin Cozens, Junior War-
den. and also beg leave to have tne Warrant for the above mentioned Lodge,
to be designated ‘ Toronto Lodge, No. 8’ and your petitioners, &c.”

. Thomas Hamilton, Master.
Hugh Carfrae, S. W.
Benjamin Cozens, J. W.
John Cameron, Caleb Humphrey,
John Campbell, Joshua Leitch,
and Thomas Deary.

The prayer of the petitioners was granted forthwith and the
officers of this new lodge were installed on the 26th January, seven
days after the application was dated, and thus Toronto lodge No.
8, a« the successor of Harmony lodge No. 8, was fairly sct in work-
ing order.

After the lodge had been organized the W. M., Bro. Hamilton,
on St. John’s day in June, 1811, made an address to the lodge, and
it so commended itself to the brethren that it was determined to
draft a reply thereto, and a committee was accordingly appointed
for that purpose. No copy of the address has heen preserved in the
MSS,, but a copy of the reply was found in 1897 at St. Catharines,
Ont.

" A Committece was appointed to draft an answer to the Address of the
Worshipful Master on St. John’s Day, and the iollowing was read and ap-
proved of in Lodge, 6th July, A.D. 1811.

Worshipful Master:

" We are pleased once more to witness your rising amongst us, to renew,
cnforce, and strengthen doctrines and sentiments which you in a former in-
stance delivered to our Brotherhood. instilled in our principle, interwove
with our common duties, and forcefully strove to engrait on our practice. '

“We now, Worshipful Master, in a body testify with commingled emo-
tions our unfeigned happiness to see you again preside over a body whom
you aim to render virtuous and ‘delight to honor.” \Where the practice, the
whole tenor of his public and private conduct are in perfcct unison with his
duties as Master of Toronto Lodge No. 8; let us ask., yes, let us ask un-
answered where or how we could have selected a Brother more worthy te
fill the honorable Seat. which our truly worthy Brother is again felected
to fill and now fill with such dignity and exemplary rectitude

“ We individually hope that the complimentary thanks with which vou
favor us for our general conduct is neither misplaced nor misapplied: In-
deed with the conduct of our Master for our example, and his instructive
admonitions, he who will wantonly deviate from his precepts or estrange
himself from the fpirit or fubstance of his moral lessons. would be unworthy
a Brother's seat within these walls. It makes one of the ever during pillars,
the prop of our Craft, that our Mafter's conduct should be our guiding
Beacon, and yours, Worshipful Brother, is to us fuch a desired Beacon

“ We cordially participate 1n vour congratulations on the increase of our
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numbers, and with you we as cordially prefume that they will not dishonor
the Craft. -

“ With your Worfhip we fecl that the facred order we are Members of
neceffarily excludes the prying Eyes of wanton curiosity from witneffing the
tormal steps which lead to Masonic super-excellence. Our oaths are too
solemn, our institution and duties too fublime to publifh the effence of Ma-
sonry; but from our moral deportment let the World form its opinion of the
Society, and fhould the generality of mankind find cause of wonder in Ma-
sonry, let that wonder be excited by the tenor of our exemplary lives.

“ With you, Worshipful Sir, we deplore that the immorality and lost
characters of fome unworthy beings who are called Mafons, have attached
4 stigma to honors more antient and honorable than the Golden Fleece o1
Roman Eagle. But we implore that Power whose will and inspiring affist-
ance alone can decree it, that our lighted Candle may not be placed unde:
the darkening Bufhel.

Painful indeed it is (and with sorrow we declare it) that the destructive
«nects of intemperance are too multiplied; whilft they caufe disgust, the)
not only fhock feeling and sympathy, but degrade us as men and Masons
and sink us below the lowest grade of the instinctive brute. With us it re
mains in fome meafure to dispel that gloom cast over our Socicty by fuch
as are enemies to Masonry, and strangers to its purity, and know not the
1oundation on which Brotherhood is built; still let it be our object, and may
~wur every act tend to rend the veil which prejudice has thrown over then
«ves, and may our orderly lives establifh the sanctity of the inititution. and
«ur conduct be a letter of recommendation which thofe who run gnay read

* We join with you in reflecting that under every circumstance we ought
1 view ourselves as happy a people as the Earth now contains, and whilst
we deeply lament the sufferings of War-worn Europe, still it is our duty ta
tow to thofe dispensations which decide the destinies of the World,  That
Scourge and Tryant who is suffcred to exist. and whoic cvery stride to um
versal dominion is marked with inhumanity and blood, is instead oi Mason
s human monster. to which let the victims to his ambition, the flaughtered
millions, with the widowed wife and houfcless orphan <tand forth the melan.
chaly witnefses.

“ We unite with you in the sentiment that our duty urges us to endcavo.
Liv every reafonable mean, by every lawful motive to cement in bond< ot
‘nendship and union, the people of our happy country, to fulfl which obiect
't it be our pleasure and our pride.

* The rules which you recommended us to follow a< Masons, lead to or-
ver, peace and harmony—as it is our first duties to follow them. let 1t e
«ir first of hopes for fortitude and resolution to perfevere.

“ May we ever remember that as not an unworthy branch, the interost:
ot Masonry are also placed in our hands, and if the World are diiappointeq
in what they expect from us, may that difappointment be lost in their ad
miration of our irreproachable lives, and the dignity winch will distinguil
us as real Masons, and may our whole conduct render 1t truly illustrious
[ et our only competition be to rival each other in good works, and fhoule
a Brother's weaknefs lecad to his backsliding, let us through Brotherly love
admonish him to return, and let us endeavor to recliim lim trom lus vt
ways

“ We cannot forget that as fellowmen we muay be ifenviceable to othert
in this World, and that upon our desert and menit will depend our accept-
ance in that GRAND LODGE of another World in which may our Stew:
ardship in this be the pafs-word which will be answered with = Well donc
thou good and faithful Servant.”

In a letter written on 12th November. 1817, by Bro. John
Purch. Grand Secretary of the irregular Grand Lodge at Niavara
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to Stamford lodge No. 12, asking that body to send representatives
to a quarterly meeting of the Grand Lodge at Niagara, he states
that he had enclosed to them a printed copy of the proceedings of
the Grand Lodge of England, received between 1812-15, and that
he had also sent a copy to lodges “ No. 6 and 7” and to “ No. 8
at York,” adding “the officers of the above lodges formed a part
of the committee out of which the Grand Lodge of Niagara was
constituted.” This letter, written in 1817, referring to an occurrence
of 1802, confirms earlier MSS., which show that one Toronto lodge
was opposed to R. W. Bro. Jarvis.

A review of the MSS. forces the conclusion that Harmony
Lodge was the original No. 8 on the list of the Provincial Grand
Lodge under R. W. Bro. Jarvis. That after 1802 it allied itself with
the irregular Grand Lodge at Niagara, to which organization it
held allegiance until about 1809, when it became dormant. That
in 1811 either a number of the old members changed their views
as to the legality of the Provincial warrant or a few of the original
No. 8, who were loyal to R. W. Bro. Jarvis, handed in their war-
rant and petitioned the Provincial Grand Master for a new warrant
to be known as “ Toronto No. 8.”

The following is a list of the membership of this lodge:

Benson, John, ) Heron, Samuel.
Campbell. G. Kendrick. Joseph,

Cozens, S. D., Leitch, Joshua,
Cozens, Benjamin, McPhie, H..

Cozens, Daniel,
Cameron, John,
Humphrey, Caleb,
Humberstone. T..
Heward, William,

Pilkington, Isaac,
Stoyelle. Thomas,
Scott, Jonathan,
Terry, Parshall.

ROLL OF OFFICERS.

Year. W. M. S.w. I J. W, Sec'y L. G.
|
1797..|Heron, Samuel. .[3crtt. Jonathan .| Stoyelle, Thos...[Cozens, S. D.. |..........
1800. . |Cozens, Dani-1. |Humberstone, T.| ..... ......... | coo0 coon weiieeenaia,
..... Campbell, Geo. .|Pilkington. T.... .. D R
................................. Terry, Parshall. .[Cameron, John..|..... ....
............................ McPhie, H..... |[Renson J. ... [..........
1808. . |[Humphrey, Caleb|Pilkington, Isaac| ... ....... Heward \Wm...|Cozens, B.

CHAPTER XXIX.

Lobce No. 9, P. R., TownsHir oF BERTIE, COUNTY OF WELLAND,
1796-1825.—TRACINGS OF MasoNic WORK aT Fort ERIE.
A LopGe wiTH THIRTY YEARS OF LIFE BUT WITHOUT
RECORDS.

The Niagara district is composed of three counties—Lincoln,
Haldimand and Welland. In the townships of Grimsby and Nia-
gara in Lincoln, and in the townships of Bertie, Stamford and
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Welland, there were Masonic lodges as early as 1794. Bertie is the
township in which is situated Fort Erie, and lies directly opposite
Buffalo.

There is no trace or reference to “ No. 9" in any circular, let-
ter or record in the MSS., until January 2oth, 1800, when in a cir-
cular issued by the Provincial Grand Lodge at Niagara in the list
of lodges is given * No. g, Bertie,” and also in another circular of
6th April, 1801. On the 29th March, 1802, the name appears in
the Grand Lodge roll. In the financial statement of the Provincial
Grand Lodge on 3ist December, 1802, No. 9 is credited
£3.0.0. The lodge was not represented at the Grand Lodge meet-
ing at York in 1804, which renders it probable that it adhered to
the irregular Grand Lodge at Niagara. None of the lodges in the
district of Niagara were represented at this meeting. In the min-
utes it is recorded that ** No. g, Bertie, did not attend.” There is
no mention of the lodge in the minutes of the Kingston Conven-
tion of 1817-22, but of those present at the Convention was " No. 9,
Haldimand,” as if the number being dormant at Bertie, had been
transferred to the township of Haldimand. This is a copyist's
error, for at a later date the same lodge is entered as ~ No. 19,
}{aldimand,” reverting to the number under which the lodge in that
township was originally formed.

No lodge on the roll has caused more research than that of
**No. 9, Bertie.” In the days of 1794, about the time warrants
were 1ssued by R. W. Bro. Jarvis, as Provincial Grand Master, the
late Bro. Lewis Palmer, of Bertie, states that there was a warranted
lodge at the date mentioned in Fort Eric. The original warrant, he
said, was brought out from England by Col. Joseph I'almer, accord-
ing to the statements of many old residenters., and was known as
* Fort Erie, No. 5.” Whether after the issue of the warrant by R. W,
Bro Jarvis * No. 5" amalgamated with No. y it is impossible to state
further than that there is no record of any kind in the MSS. or ar-
chives of Grand Lodge of a * No. § " at Fort Erie. That there was a
* No. 5" at this place is proved by the evidence of brethren, twenty in
number, who in 1850 were alive and who were members of “ old
No. 5.” At the festival of St. John, the Evangelist, held at the
village of Ridgeway on December 27th, 1877, Bro. Lewis Palmer,
who died in 1889, and who ior sixty years was a member of the
Craft, was present and corroborated the statements made concern-
ing the earlier history ot Masonry in the township oi Bertie. He
had his father’'s word for the authenticity of No. 5. This celebra-
tion was held by the members of Dominion lodge, A. F. & A. M.,
of the Grand Lodge of Canada. Of the earlv names connected
with “ Fort Erie, No. 5,” were Bros. Henry Warren. Sr.. Benjamin
Hardison, Sr.; Henry Warren, ]Jr.; John Palmer, Henry Trout,
lohn Warren, Thomas Baxter and John Daxter.

Associated with Col. Joseph Palmer, grandfather of Bro. Lewis
Palmer, was Col. Henrv \Warren, grandfather of Dro. R. G. War-
ren, of Victoria. These brethren were ofticers of the British army
and had been made Masons before leaving England, under probably
a field or military warrant. It is stated that before leaving England
thev obtained a warrant, of which however there is no trace in the

”
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English records. On being stationed at Fort Erie the brethren
organized the lodge, which was designated * No. 35” Fort Erie.
Before his death Bro. Palmer stated that the lodge was under the

Fort ERrik--1812-15.

jurisdiction of Fngland with ~a deputy Grand Master A “old
Fort Niagara” This. of course. must have been R WL Bro. Wm.
Jarvis.
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The records of Stamford—1815-20—lodge No. 12, which met
in the township of that name, at what is now known as South Niagara
Falls, formerly of Drummondville, give the names of some of the
members of No. 9. They were Bro. Mahlon Burnell, Charles Fell,
John Lafferty, John Fanning, Angus Mclntyre, Crowell Wilson,
Asa Coltrie, Richard Moore, and Francis Goring.

Shortly after formation a number of gentlemen from Buffalo
were admitted to membership in Fort Erie lodge. Their names were
Dr. Cyrenius Chapin, Messrs. Ransom, Barker, Crow, Webster,
Mabee and Johnson.

But the war of 1812 broke out and so disorganized matters
that mectings could not bec held. The warrant, papers and para-
phernalia of the institution were concealed by Mr. John Palmer
(father of Bro. Palmer) until the close of the war, when he removed
the documents to his house in the township of Willoughby. In
the fall of 1815 a few brethren collected at Bro. Palmer’s house and
determined on a reorganization of the lodge, which was accom-
plished. The senior Bro. Palmer was the first worshipful master
after the reorganization. Two years after this event, viz.: in the
vear 1817, Bro. Lewis Palmer was made a Mason. Among
the members at this time were: Bros. Andrew Miller, Edward
Carr, Dr. Benjamin Hall, Charles Hibbard, Mathias Haun, Benj.
Hardison, Sr., Peter Wintemute, John Miller, Joseph Palmer. Jr.,
;’Ictcr Laur, Peter Edsall, Conrad House, Nicholas House and Jacob

aun.

) Bro. Lewis Palmer was installed as W. M. of Fort Erie lodge
in the year 1822. and had for his senior warden Bro. Benj. Hall,
for junior warden, Bro. Andrew Miller; treasurer, Bro. Edward Carr
and sccretary, Bro. Charles Hibbard. The brethren encountered
many difficulties in keeping their band together, but to make mat-
ters worse a crushing blow came when least expected, for in the
early part of the year 1825 Bro. Palmer’s house was burned to the
ground, together with its contents. Nothing was saved. The char-
ter. books, records, regalia, jewels, and even the funds of old Fort
Erie lodge No. 5 were lost beyond recovery. An attempt to re-
cuscitate the lodge was made after the fire and an application for
a new charter forwarded. but for some reason the lodge was never
revived.

The following shows the membership of this lodge :

. Raxter Thos | Raxter, Ino.; Rurwell, Mahlon: Rarkey, - ;. Coline. Asa, Chapin, Dr.
(:nrmus Crow —, Carr, Edward, Treas.. 1R22; Edsall Peter; Fell. Charle< : Fanning. Ino.,
Gonng  Francie, Houce. N-cholas; Houce. Conrad ; H-rdicon, Sr.. Ben) ; Hall. Bemamin,
SW 1822: Hi' berd Charles Secretary. 1822 Haun, Mathias; Haun, lacob ; lohneon —
Laferty Ino.  laun Peter: Miller |no ; Moore, Richard ; Mabee, —: \Miller. Andrew, | W,
1222, Melntvre Angu<: Palmer Ino.; Palmer Ir.. loceph: Palmer. Lewis, W\l 1822
Rareem — . Trout Henry; Warren, Sr. Henry., Warren, Ir.,, Henry: Warren, lonr
W mtemute, Peter . Wilson, Crowell ; Webster, —,
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CHAPTER XXX.

Lopce No. 10, P. R.,, TownsHIPp oF BARTON, COUNTY OF WENT-
WORTH, 1796-1810.—THE LODGE AFTERWARDS KNOWN As
“TRE BArTON,” HAMILTON, U.C.

Two hundred years ago La Salle and his French voyageurs
ascending the St. Lawrence reached the Seneca village at the mouth
of the Genesee river, and with a few of that tribe further proceeded
west in canoes, and in about four days reached the sheet of water
known now as Burlington Bay. * The Head of the Lake” was the
popular name for that part of the township of Barton, centering
for scime miles around the location of the present city of Hamilton.
Indeed, a settler who lived anywhere within a few miles of what is
now known as Burlington Bay would be described as living at
‘“The Head of the Lake.” Among these early settlers were Charles
Depew and his brother-in-law, George Stewart. Bro. J. H. Smith,
in his historical sketch of Wentworth county, states that these men
coasted the south shore of Ontario and landed at the mouth of Big
Creek rear the present waterworks pumping house, at the south-
east correr of the bay, portaged across the beach and pursued their
course along the south shore of Burlington Bay, landing about half-
way between Hamilton and the Beach on what is now the Depew
farm, and tenanted by Mr. S. P. Stipe. Mr. Stewart located further
west on what is now the “ Grant Farm,” east of the city limits.
Bro. Smith thinks that 1785 was the date of this pioneer voyage.
He also states in his interesting sketch that Mr. Richard Beasley,
who traded with the Indians, claimed the land where Dundurn
Park is now situated.

A View at “THE Heap oF THE LAKEe,” UppeEr Canapa, 1794
FroMm A DrRAWING BY MRs. JoHN GRAVES SiMCOE.
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The accompanying sketch is a pen-and-ink reproduction of a
drawing made by Mrs. Simcoe, wife of Sir John Graves Simcoe,
Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, 1792-96. The sketch is
taken from a point on what is now known as Burlington Beach,
north of the canal, looking west into Burlington Bay, then known as
Lake Geneva, and, by the Indians, as Quilqueton. Early writers
state that it was at one period called Macassa Bay. Mrs. Simcoe
made the King’s Head tavern, at the north end of the beach, her
home when sketching in the neighborhood.

*“ THE KING's HEAD TAVERN,” 1795. FroM A DRAWING BY
MRs. SIMCOE.

This was a well-known public house to the pioneers of 1792-1800.
It stood near the south-east or southerly end of Burlington Beach, not
far from the present filtering basin of the Hamilton Water Works, and
north of the pumping house. The house was about a mile and a half
south of the Burlington canal, 200 feet from the bay shore, and its
front faced north or north-westerly, looking towards the Brant home-
stead. It was on the east side of the road between the Burlington Bay
and Lake Ontario across the road from the present Fitch’s tavern.
The view given is of the rear or southerly side of the house. It was
a two-storey building, and is described by Mrs. Simcoe as *“ a pretty
plan.” The water shown to the left in the picture is that of Burlington
Bay. The high land in the left distance is the north shore of the bay—
the *“ sand cliffs ” of which Mrs. Simcoe speaks. The Forty-Mile Creek
1s at Grimsby. Distances were vague when those streams were named.
The Twelve-Mile Creek was at St. Catharines; the “ Twenty” at Jor-
dan ; the “ Thirty ” just west of Beamsville; the  Fifty ” near Win-
ona. Then came Stoney Creek. Flamborough Head is the bend of
the mountain north of Burlington. It is quite a prominent feature
on the northern horizon, looking from Burlington Beach. The Des-

40
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jardins bridge of the Grand Trunk Railway is at the west end of the
ay, five or six miles from the scene of the sketch—that is, to the left
hand, but not shown in the drawing.

The King’s Head was the house of call for all travellers going into
the townships of Barton and Ancaster, and the officers and detach-
ments of the Queen’s Rangers often tarried at the hostelry on their
way to York.

Mrs. Simcoe’s diary contains the following description of the
“ King’s Head Inn”:

“11th June, 1796. King'’s Head Inn. This house was built by the Govr.
to facilitate the communication between Niagara and La Tranche, where he
intended the seat of Government, and its situation was not without reference
to a military position. There are 8 rooms in this house, besides two low
wings bchind it, joined by a colonnade where are the offices. It is a pretty
plan. I breakfasted in a room to the S. E,, which commands the view of the
lake on the s. shore, of which we discern the Pt of the 40 Mile Creek,
Jones’ Pt. and some other houses. From the .ooms to the n. w. we see
Flamborough Head and Burlington Bay.

The old Gore district of Upper Canada was set apart in 1816
and comprised the counties of Wentworth and Halton. Of the
townships in the former, Barton and Brantford possessed Masonic
lodges even as early as the last decade of the eighteenth century,
while in Wentworth the township of Flamborough West owned an
active band of Masonic workers in the early years of the present
century. The Gore district is nearly octagon in shape, and is pene-
trated on its eastern boundary by Lake Ontario with its continua-
tion, Burlington Bay.

This sketch is also a reproduction of a drawing in color by
Mrs. Simcoe. The artist evidently stood on the beach, where the
figures are shown, with the bay to the west, the site of the present

A VIEW OF “ TnE HEAD OF THE LAKE” (ON'}‘ARIO)TI794. Frou A
DrAwING BY MRs. J. G. SimcoE.
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city of Hamilton being to the left of the picture. The west centre
would show about the site of the present Desjardins bridge.
Hamilton is situated on the south-western shore of Burlington
Bay, and in the north-western angle of the township of Barton.
The first settlers in Wentworth were almost exclusively United Em-
ire Loyalists, who came to Canada after the revolutionary war.
ot a few of these were Masons, made in military lodges and in
American lodges, principally under the jurisdiction of the
Grand Lodge of New York. This fact is particularly noticeable in
the old Midland district of Upper Canada, and the initiations of
quite a number of brethren who belonged to lodges in that dis-
trict may be seen recorded on the rolls of American lodges. The
township of Barton, in which the well known Barton lodge worked.
is bounded on the north side by Burlington Bay, while nearly half
of the township is below the high range of land known as “ The
Mountain.” This township was settled in 1787, and in 1817 con-
tained about one hundred and fifty houses and nearly a thousand
inhabitants.

~ THE HEAD OF THE LAKE.” ANOTHER VIEW OF BURLINGTON Bay,
1794. (FroM A DRAWING BY MRs. SiMCOE).

The history of the work of the lodge is embraced in its min-
utes from which extracts have been made, which mayv be of inter
est to the members of Barton in particular, and the Craft in general

Barton No. 10 was formed under duly constituted authontv in
the person of R. W. Bro. Jarvis, the Provincial Grand Master from
1702 until 1817. The Craft ancestors of Barton deserve much from
their descendants. One hundred vears ago the county oi Went-
worth was in many places an impassable forest, and when the mem-
*«rs of Barton assembled at the Masonic altar they did so after a
long and weary journey through the woods. The mail delivery wae
regular. and on the arrival of ships at Ouebec letters for the far
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west were dispatched by the vessels sailing up the St. Lawrence to
Montreal, thence by road to avoid the rapids, and either by the In-
dian trail from Kingston west or by small coasting vessels or bat-
" teaux which traversed the western part of Lake Ontario. After
1811 the mails were sent from Toronto to Hamilton and London
via Dundas street, which was opened in that year.

Supplies in those days were obtained from Newark. The
road was nothing more than an Indian trail which ran not far from
the lake shore through places such as Grimsby, then known -as the
Forty Mile Creek, and St. Catharines, named the Twelve Mile
Creek. The emigrant Craftsman paid heavily for his supplies, and
after 1800, when goods were sent from Montreal, the time of transit
was generally five or six weeks, the price being increased almost
in proportion to the length of the journey. Wheat, which our
brethren paid over in lieu of cash for dues, was half a dollar a
bushel, and goods given for wheat cost about four times-the pres-
ent price. Rye was a quarter of a dollar a bushel, and whiskey,
such as it was, sold for two dollars a ga'lon.

“THE HEAD oF THE LAKE.” ANOTHER VIEw OF BURLINGTON Bay,
1794. (FroM A DRAWING BY MRs. SiMCOE).

This sketch was probably made from the west side oi the pres-
ent beach, looking up the bay. The most accurate sketch by Mrs.
Simcoe is one in the collection in the British Museum, giving the
original entranre to the bay, as it was in 1794.

Ancaster was laid out as a village in 1817, and the lot on
which the meeting place of Union lodge No. 24 stood was sold for
fifteen dollars per quarter acre, while a corner lot was worth one
hundred dollars. Strange stories are told of doings in those early
davs. A log house, 20 by 15, served as a lock-up or jail. It was
not only insecure but uncomfortable, so much so that prisoners
who were fonder of home comforts than those provided at the public
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expense, frequently went home at night, had a good supper, a com-
fortable bed and returned to jail the following morning. On one
occasion a man imprisoned for debt sent word to the Sheriff that

(MOIWIS 'SHIA Ad ONIMVE(J V WodJ) ‘POLI1 ‘AvY NOLONITENY OJ. 4ONVELNY TYNIDIA()

if he was not more liberal with the county cordwood. and let hin
have better fires in the log jail, he would have to leave the lock-up.
Hamilton, which is situated in the garden of Ontario, was laid
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out in 1813. The bay in earlier days was almost land-locked. The
only break in the sandbar before the present canal was built, was a
narrow opening over half a mile north of the present canal. The
water was deep enough for small craft, but not for sailboats or
schooners. In 1823 the Burlington canal was built, and in 1826. it
was opened, after which the more northerly entrance fell into dis-
use and gradually filled up with sand. As a business and manu-
facturing centre Hamilton is engaged in a large trade, and to this
it may be added that the majority of its business men from the
carliest days have been connected with the Masonic fraterma

This is the only sketch known of the entrance to Lake Geneva
or Macassa Bay, now Burlington Bay. The original of this and other
sketches by Mrs. Simcoe, are in the Manor House at Wolford, near
Honiton, in Devnn, England, the family residence and burial place of
Lt.-Gov. Simcoe. The sketches are reproduced by the kind permission
of Mrs. Henry Simcoe, the widow of Capt. Simcoe, grandson of the
Lt.-Governor.

The picture shows the original entrance to the bay. It was
about half a mile north of the present canal. At times it was closed
by easterly storms throwing up the sands and forming a dam,
which would be reopened by an accumulation of water in the bay.

With these preliminary observations, made so that the reader
may understand geographically where he is, let us open the original
minute book of Barton iodge No. 10, warranted by the authority
of the Provincial Grand Lodge of Upper Canada, under R. W.
Bro. William Jarvis, P. G. M., which met on the 3Ist January,
1796, the warrant being dated 2oth November, 1795. There were
eight Craft warrants issued prior to this date by R.”W. Bro. Jarvis,
viz.: to No. 2 at Niagara, No. 3 at Niagara and at York in the
regiment of the Queen’s Rangers, No. 4 at Niagara, No. 5 at Ed-
wardsburg, No. 6 a* Kingston, No. 7 at Fredericksburgh, No. 8
at York and No. 9 in the township of Bertie.

The first MS. which aftracts attention as one turns over the
writing of bygone days is the account rendered by the Grand Sec-
retary for the warrant of the lodge. The original warrant was re-
turned to England in 1844, at least, the records so state. How-
ever, it has not been found, although an exhaustive search for it
was made in the archives of the Grand Lodge of England in 1896.

The fac-simile given in the receipt of fees for the warrant and
for a copy of ths proceedings of Grand Lodge. The warrant cost
£1. 3. 4., the feen were a similar amount ard the proceedings 8s. 3d.
The latter wer~ in MS. and, as was the custom, were sent to each
lodge in the jurisdiction. The account was rendered in November
of 1795, probably about the beginning of the month, and was paid
in L'Earch of 7796, some months after the lodge had commenced
work.

The firs minutes extant are dated 3ist January, 1796. Those
of the meeting at which the lodge was constituted "are missing, so
that the exact date on which it first met cannot be given, but it
probably met in November or December after the receipt of the
warrant.

It will be remembered that in the return made by R. W. Rro.
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Jarvis to the Grand Lodge of England in 1797, Barton Lodge is given
as having been warranted in * Ancaster.” meaning the township of
that name. The minutes of the lodge, however, contain no reference
'o any meeting-place but the township of Barton.
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R. W. Bro. B. E. Charlton states that formerly among the
archives of the lodge were the draft minutes of a meecting held on
fth January, 1796. They were contammed in a small book, paper
covered, and were extant in 1868, but have heen missing since that
date.
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“ Pursuant to a summons from the Worshipful Master of Lodge No. 10
The members met at Smith’s Tavern, in Barton, January 31st, 1796, and
A.D. 5796. Lodge opened in the entered apprentice degree; Fellow Crafts
and apprentice’s being present. That Lodge was closed. and opened in the
Master’s degree, when Brother James Wilson was duly installed Senior
Warden. The Masters’ Lodge was then closed, and an apprentice Lodge
opened, when the ByeLaws were laid before the Lodge and being read and
considered, paragraph by paragraph, were approved. Brother Daniel Young
was elected Treasurer—and Brother John Thomas, Secretary, for the ensu-
ing six months, or until St. John'’s Day next. The Lodge closed at a Quar-
ter past Ten, in good harmony.

“John Thomas. Sec'y.”

“ Brethren prest.

Worshipful Davenp’t Phelps, Esqr., Master, Barton.

Brother James Wilson, Sr. Warden, Barton, Merch.

Brother John Rykeman, J. W. Pro tem, Barton, Capt.

Bro'r Daniel Young, Treas'r pro tem, Barton, Farmer.
Bro’r John Thomas, Sec’y pro tem, Barton, Schoolmas.
Bro’r Warner Nelles, Barton, Farmer.
Bro’r Wil'm Nelles. Barton. Farmer.
Bro’r John Aikman, Barton, Farmer.
Bro'r Will'm Smith, Barton, Farmer.
Bro’r Saint John, Barton, Farmer.
Bro’r John Young. Barton, Farmer.
Bro’r Capt. Brant.* Wellington.
Visitors.—Bro’r Fry. Bro'r Bradt, Bro’r Clark, P. M., Brot'r Cozen, P.M.
“ N.B. The Lodge Expense of the night amounted to £5. 6. 0.
J. T., Sec'y.
* Chief of the 6 nations.”

Bro. Davenport Phelps was not only the W. M. of “ No. 10,” but
also the first Grand Secretary of the Provincial Grand Lodge under
R. W. Bro. Jarvis. He was a clergyman, an attorney and notary, and
transacted much of the legal business for the settlers in the Niagara
district. His biography will be found in the chapter devoted to the
officers of the first Provincial Grand Lodge.

Bro. James Wilson, the S. W., was a pioneer of Ancaster, a U. E.
Loyalist, from Pennsylvania. He kept a general store for the supply
of the settlers.

Bro. John Rykeman, who acted as J. W, was a farmer and one of
the first settlers of Barton township. He is given in the U. E. List as
“Lt. John Ryckman, H. District, Indian Department, S. G. Stamped
Book.”

Bro. Daniel Young was a farmer, and his name is found on the
list of the United Empire Loyalists, made in 1789 by the Privy Council
at Quebec. The roll is now in the Crown Lands Department,
Parliament Buildings, Queen’s Park, Toronto. His name is
given as “ Young, Sergt. Daniel, S. G. Indian Department, Stamped
Book. Niagara. A wife and two children, P. L. N. 1786 ” (Provision
List, Niagara).

Bro. John Thomas, who filled the position of secretary at the first
niceting, was a pedagogue of repute, who possessed the faculty of im-
parting information to the sons and daughters of settlers, who lived in
the log farm houses, scattered throughout the newly settled town-
ships. He is believed to have been a soldier in the 8th or King’s
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Regiment of Foot, which was at Niagara in 1785, but his name is not
on the roll of the members of the lodge No. 156, in that regiment.
From his after avocation it is likely that he was a man of some ability.

The Bros. Warner and William Nelles were farmers, who lived in
the township of Barton, relatives of the Nelles family of Grimsby.
The latter were sons of Capt. W. Henry Nelles. The name is given
as “ Nellis” in the U. E. List. Capt. Nelles belonged to the Indian
department, and in the U. E. list is given “ Indian Department: a wife
and 5 children, P. L. N., 1786: Niagara Stamped Book.”

Bro. Aikman was a farmer and tavernkeeper, who lived in Barton.
in a house situated on the site of the present residence of Mr. Michael
Aikman. His wife, Mrs. Hannah Aikman, born in 1778, was the
daughter of a loyal refugee from the Wyoming Valley, who was one of
Butler’s Rangers. The family fled after the battle of Wintermoots
Fort and sought Canada as a resting place. Their journey was a
perilous one. The boat used in crossing the river became disabled
and messengers had to be sent to Newark on foot to obtain aid.
During the interval the family subsisted on roots dug from the
ground, but fortunately help came to them from a party of Mississagua
Indians who were on a hunting expedition. There were about 500
Butler’s Rangers, each of whom received a thousand acres of land.

Dr. Case, an old resident of Hamilton, savs that in 1812 the
Aikman habitation was an old log house with a frame kitchen, but
that soon after the war the log portion was either torn down or
built over by the present clap-boarded building, the frame kitchen
being retained. Bro. A. T. Freed states that the present building
does not form any part ot the old log house.

Bro. William Smith was also a farmer, while *“Bro’r Saint
John” stood for “ Bro. Jean Baptiste Rousseaux,” “St. John”
being the short and familiar name of Bro. Rousseaux. His signa-
ture appears in the minutes as “J. B. Rousseaux.” His name is
found again as “ St. John” in the minutes of §th August, 1797, and
3rd February, 1798. Bro. Rousseaux was a French Canadian, and
one of the first settlers in Ancaster. He built the first grist and
saw mill on the site of the present village. Bros. Rosseaux and
Wilson were personal friends, and on lodge nights invariably walked
to the meetings of the brethren of Barton. The reader must recol-
lect that in the days of the first settlement, the county was a wilder-
ness, and that the best road was the Indian trail, along which the
early settlers had to travel.

In Mrs. Simcoe’s diary is a paragraph concerning Bro. Rous-
seaux, which shows that he was living in York in 1793. Tt is dated
the 2gth July, of that vear, and reads:

“ We had gone under an easy sail all night for, as no person on hoard had
cver been at Toronto, Mr. Bouchette was afraid to enter the harbour till day-
light, when St. John Rousseau. an Indian trader. who lives near. came in a
boat to pilot us ™

Bro. Rosseaux died in 1815. In the York (Toronto) Gazette of
.23rd September, 1815, is the following notice with reference to his
estate. Tt reads:

For Sale.—Being dvly authorised by the last will of John Baptiste Rous-
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seau, Esquire, deceased; the Executors thereof will sell by Public Auction on
Monday the 9th day of October next, at the Hotel in Ancaster, Five
Hundred Acres of land in the township of Barton common]y known as St
John's farm situate on the littlc lake adjoining the lands of Col. Beasly. If
payment be made at the hour of sale a title will be then given. If not securi.ty
will be required for payment within one month, and the Deed with-held till
payment. William Croors, Executor. Margaret Rousscau, Executrix, Sept.
1, 1815,

This advertisement contains more information than is shown on
its face. The Rousseau and Beasley properties adjoined one another,
and the St. John's farm, named after Jean Baptiste Rousseau, was
* on the little lake,” that is, the small bay at the north-west corner of
Hamilton Bay. While the lodge met at Bro. Beasley’s, it was certainly
convenient for Bro. Rousseau.

Bro. John Young was another farmer from Barton. He was
a lieutenant in Butler's Rangers and resided in the Home district.

Bro. * Capt.” Brant, of Wellington Square, was the chief of
the Six Nations Indian tribe. His name appears as a member in
the minutes of the first meeting, but he did not sign the “ Rules
and Regulations.” Bro. Brant does not seem to have visited the
lodge at any time from 1796 until 1803, when on the 24th June,
on the festival of St. John, he was with the brethren when they
* walked in procession to the house of Bro. Richard Beasley, Esq.,
and heard a sermon given by Bro. D. Phelps,” the first W. M. of
the lodge.

In 1821 John Brant visited England, and while there refuted

the dastardly calumnies thrown upon his father by Campbell in his
poem * Gertrude of Wyoming.” In 1827 the Earl of Dalhousie,
the Governor-General of Canada, appointed him a captain in the
British army and superintendent of the Six Nations. He was
elected for the county of Haldimand in the provincial parliament
in 1832, but on the ground of technical disability was forced to give
up his seat. He died of Asiatic cholera at the Mohawk Village in
the same year in which he sought parliamentary honors. His op-
ponent also died about the same time, and of the same disease.
Bro. John Brant was 48 years of age at the time of his death. He
was buried in the same vault as his father in the burying-ground
of the Mohawk \Village, near Brantford. His sister, a woman of
many virtues, married W. Bro. Wm. Johnson Kerr, who was W.M.
of Darton lodge m 1842, and his son, the grandson of the great
chief Thayendanegea. is a P. M. of the Craft lodge No. 165 at Wel-
lington Square.
. It is supposed that Bro. John Brant was initiated about 1815
in Union lodge No. 23 which™ first met in Flamborough village,
and afterwards at Dundas and .Ancaster. onc of the lodges of
the schismatic Grand Lodge at Niagara. He was present at the
meeting of this ladge held at Dundas village, Flamboro’ West, on
the 10th May. 1818 and received his sccond degree. The minutes
state that “a motion made and seconded to pass Bro. John Brant
and Pro. John Kievelle to the second degree of Masonry.” and
* Pro. johq Brant and Rro. John Kievelle both passed to ‘the de-
gree of a Fellow Craft  Bro. John Kicvelle paid three dollars for
passing: Bro. John Brant paid three dollars. fecs. for passing.”
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On the 7th November, 1818, Bro. John Brant was acting sec-
retary, and on the 2oth December, 1818, aiter the lodge had opened
and proceeded with business the minutes state that “ Bro. John
Brant arrived.” On the 27th December, 1819, Bro. Brant was
present at the meeting of the lodge in Dundas village, and was
elected junior warden for the six months ending June, 1820. He
was also present in January, 1820. There is no record of his in-
itiation nor that he received the third degree.

_ Of the visitors, Bro. Fry was a member of “No. 13,” known
in 1799 as “Lodge No. 13, in the County of Leeds,” and Bro.
Bradt, who held a commission in a colonial regiment. Bro. Clark
was a P. M. of lodge No. 7, Fredericksburgh, and Bro. Cozens
was a P. M. of Harmony lodge No. 8, York (Toronto). The lodge

expenses for this meeting were £5.6.0., or about $21. Details are
not given.

SmitH’s TAVERN, BARTON TOWNSHIP, 1795.

This is a sketch of Smith’s tavern. where Barton lodge No.
10 met from January, 1796, until 6th November, 1797. It is now
the northwest corner of King and Wellington streets, Hamilton,
Ont. The drawing is made by R. W. Bro. B. E. Charlton from a
small sketch in his possession.

The minutes of the first meeting of No. 10 are followed by the
“Rules and Regulations,” which state that the lodge is to “ be held
at Smith’s Tavern or elsewhere in Barton.” The lodge met here for
some months, and, from subsequent minutes, is supposed to have
removed to Bro. Beasley’s house about the latter part of 1797

Bro. A. T. Freed. the historian of Barton lodge, states upon
information received from R W. Bro. B. E. Charlton that “ the front
door of the original tavern was about eighty feet west of Welling-
ton street, and the same distance north of King street.”” There is
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some doubt as to the length of time during which the lodge met at
Smith’s tavern. After the first meeting there is no further record
of the place of meeting for a long period, but on 6th January,
1797, it was resolved “ that as the members of this lodge «could not
meet on St. John's Day, the brethren present go in procession to
Smith’s Tavern and dine together, which was unanimously agreed
to by the brethren present.” This is the first entry regarding a re-
moval. But this does not indicate the date of removal to Beasley’s,
for on the festival of St. John the Baptist, in June, 1797, the
lodge walked in procession to Bro. Beasley’s and, after dinner, *re-
turned to the lodge room.”

The minutes of September 4th, 1797, state “ That as it was
not certain whether Bro. Aikman would not furnish a room for the
use of the lodge, the question was put to Bro. Aikman, to which
he consented, and it is unanimously agreed that the lodge shall be
held at Bro. Aikman’s as soon as the room is fixed for their recep-
tion.” This house was situated at the east end of King street,
Hamilton, near the site of the present Aikman dwelling.

The lodge must have removed at some date prior to 7th April,
1798, for the minutes of that date state that “* Bro. Aikman says
the lodge shall sit no more at his house, if it is to sit on Satur-
day.” In consequence of Bro. Aikman’s refusal to let the lodge
sit at his house, if it were on Saturday, it was moved by Bro. J. W.
Ryckman, seconded by Bro. John Smith, that

** A lodge of emergency be held at the house of Bro. P. M. Beasley, our
former lodge room, on Monday, the 9th of April, there to take into con-
sideration the present circumstances of Lodge No. 10, and to know how and
where we may find a convenient room for said Lodge No. 10.”

Importance seems to have been attached to the fact that this
meeting was held  at our former lodge room,” for it is recorded
that * Pursuant to a summons from the W. Master, Lodge No. 10,
met on Monday, April gth at the house of Bro. P. Master Beasley,
their former lodge room, on emergency, at 3 o'clock.”

In the end Bro. Aikman consented that the lodge should con-
tinue at his house, on coundition that the “lodge sit no longer than
ten o’clock, let whatever business be before the lodge.”

It is reasonable to infer from this review of the minutes that
the lodge met from January, 1796, until November, 1797, at Smith’s
Tavern, and at Beasley’s house, which was situated at Dundurn,
and that in November, 1797, it removed to Bro. Aikman's and re-
turned on gth April to Bro. Beasley’s, and there it continued up
to June, 1798, when it leased Bro. Aikman’s rooms for a period of
three years.

The minute book contains the by-laws of the lodge, which are
interesting. The rules have the following preamble:

“ Rules and regulations concluded unpon and adopted by lodge number
Ten, under the sanction and authority of the Provincial Grand Lodge of
Upper Canada.”

It is evident that these were copies, with alterations, of the
rules of an English lodge and not specially compiled for Canadian
bodies. The bylaws of No. 6 at Kingston, which met in 1794, were
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compiled from similar sources. In rule 18 of “ No. 6” at Kingston
we have the expression, “if within twenty miles of London.” The
secretary had, no doubt, neglected to erase the word “ London”
and insert “ Kingston.” The first secretary of No. 10, however,
was careful not to tall into the same error as regards location. The
belief is that the bylaws of all the lodges up to 1813 were modelled
on the form adopted by lodge No. 2, at Niagara, which was war-
ranted on the 2oth November, 1795, by R. W. Bro. Wm. Jarvis.

The bylaws in the first minute book are signed by fifty-seven
members of the Craft. These enactments read:

“ 1st. THAT a LODGE of Free and accepted Masons shall be held at
Smith’s tavern, or elsewhere in Barton, upon the first Monday in
every other month, to commence on the first Monday of March
next, and that the said LODGE shall consist of one Master, two
Wardens, two Deacons, one secretary, one Treasurer, and as many
mernsbers as the Master and majority shall think proper to admit:
And that every Brother shall appear in clean, decent apparel, with
proper clothing, and observe a due decorum, while the LODGE
is engaged in what is serious and solemn, and, for the better
preservation of secrecy, good harmony, a Brother well skill'd in
the Master’s degree, shall be appointed and paid for tyling the
Lodge door during the time of communication.

IInd. THAT the LODGE shall meet at the hours hereafter mentioned,
(viz:) from the vernal Equinox to the autumnal Equinox at seven
o'clock in the evening, and sit until ten, and from the autumnal
equinox aforesaid to the vernal equinox following, from six o'clock
until nine, and if any member or members are absent one hour
after the appointed time of meeting, he or they shall be fined two
shillings, and, if absent the whole night, or time of business, he
or they shall pay five shillings each, except such absentee be sick,
lame, in confinement, or more than three miles from the place of
meeting, or some other sufficient excuse, and that such fines shall
be deposited in the fund for the relief of Indigent Brethren.

I1%rd. THAT the Master shall be chosen by ballot, (viz:) the wardens
shall stand candidates for the chair, on the stated LODGE night
next before St. John's Day, and the candidates shall withdraw
while every free member gives his vote in favor of him, whom he
deems most worthy; each free member having one, and the Mas-
ter two votes; when done the Master shall order the candidates
before him, and, having carefully examined the poll, shall then
audibly declare him, who hath the majority, duly elected: Then
the Master elect shall nominate one for the senior Warden's chair,
at which time the present Master and Brethren shall nominate one
in opposition to him, to be ballotted for in iike manner, and so
on in the choice of all the inferior officers, and that no person
shall be put in such elections but such as are deemed to be able
and worthy of performance.

IVth. THAT, if any member, (past officers excepted) refuse to serve in
any of the aforesaid offices, he shall be fined as follows, (viz:) for
the Master, seven shillings and sixpence; each warden and sec-
retary, two shillings and sixpenc~: each deacon, one shilling and
sixpence, (The treasurer at the discretion of the majority) and to
be fin'd in like manner, if they do not serve their full time; ex-

, cept for reasons mentioned in the second rule.
Vth. THAT the members of the LODGE shall dine together upon or
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near every St. John’s day: that the wardens shall be appointed
stewards to transact all matters relating to the feast, That the new
Master and other officers shall be install’d before dinner, at which
time all and every of the accounts belonging to the feast and
Lodge affairs in general shall be properly settl'd and delivered
to the new officers: and that all visitors, who dine at such feasts,
shall pay their equal dividend; sojourners always at the discretion
of the majority ————
THAT on every stated LODGE night, every member shall pay
two shillings and sixpence, such part of which as shall not be
spent shall be put in the fund for the relief of indigent Brethren.
. That the junior warden shall keep an exact account of the reck-
oning, and acquaint the Lodge. when the stated complement is in,
and, upon his neglect or omission, he shall be accountable for
the deficiency; and whereas the junior warden is accountable for
such dcficiency, it is hereby ordered and declared that, if any
member shall order any liquor, &c., on the Lodge account, with-
out the consent of the said warden, the transgressor shall pay for
the quantity so ordered out of his own private pocket, exclusive
of the stated expense of the night.
THAT no visitor shall be admitted after Lodge hours, (viz.) nine
in the winter and ten in the summer, nor at any other time, with-
out the consent of the presiding officer.

EVERY person, desirous of being made a Freemason in this
lodge, shall be proposed by a member thereof. that is to say, his
age, name, description of his person, title, or trade, and place of
residence; That such proposal shall be made in LODGE hours,
at least one LODGE night before the Initiation, in order that the
brethren may have sufficient time and opportunity to make strict
cnquiry into the morals, character and circumstances of the can-
didate, and the Brother who proposes him shall, at the time, de-
posit such a sum of the candidate’s money as the majority shall
think sufficient, (that sum not less than two dollars) to insure the
l.odge that the candidate will attend according to proposal. and,
if the L.odge approve his person. age. character and circumstances,
and, therefore, initiatc him into the myvsteries. &c.. he shall pay
cight dollars for the * first” degree, Three dollars for the * sec-
ond” degree. and four dollars for being raised to the sublime
degree of a Master Mason: but, if the Lodge think the candidate
unworthy and refuse :0 make him, his money shall be faithfully
returned to him. But. in case the LLODGE approve his person,
character, &c. and he refuce to be initiated, then shall he forfeit
the money so deposited. and it shall be for the relief of indigent
free Masons.

Any old Mason, desirous of becoming a member of this Lodge
shall produce a certificate of good behaviour in his former
LODGE: upon which he shall be proposed and ballotted for, as
before, and. if admitted a member, shall pay two dollars for the
fand.

If any brother in the LODGE, curse, sweai, lay, or offer to lay
wagers, or use any reproachful language, in derogation of GOD’S
name, or corruption of good manners. or interrupt any officer,
while speaking, he shall be fine’d at the discretion of the Master
and majority.——

1f any member of this LODGE comes x x x x x disguis’d
with liquor, he shall bec admonished by the presiding officer for
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the first offence, for the second of the same nature, he shall be
fin'd five shillings; and, if a third of like nature should happen,
that member shall be excluded and reported to the grand
LODGE————

All fines, dues, &c., shall be paid on the third stated Lodge night,
next after they become due; otherwise the person so indebted shall
not have a vote in the Loage; and, if not cleared or paid off on
the next St. John's Day, he shall be excluded, except some cause
appear, which may excite lenity.———

THAT every officer absent on- a Lodge night, whether stated or
on an emergency shall be fined a discretionary fine, over and
above the common fine of a private member, except for the reasons
mentioned in the second and fourteenth rule.

That the Master shall have full power to call a LODGE on an
emergency, where all the members are to attend, or be liable to
the same fines as on stated Lodge nights, but such fines are not to
be levied until proof be made of the absentees having been actually
summoned in writing to each emergency.

THAT the chest, warrant, cash, and furniture of the lodge shall be
in the care of some responsible Brother, such as the Master and
majority shall think proper and sufficient, and the money to be
disposed of for the advancement of the L.odge and benefit of the
Brethren.

‘THAT the secretary shall keep a regular register of the members
and proper minutes of all the transactions (which are fit to be
committed to writing), in order that the same may be laid before
the GRAND LODGE when required ———

THAT no disagreeable dispute be suffered to arise in the Lodge;
but, if a dispute (concerning Masonry or otherwise) should happen
between the brethren (or any of them) out of the Lodge, which
they cannot decide between themselves, such dispute, complaint,
or controversy shall be laid before the Lodge, and there decided,
if possible, but, if the disputants will not then agree, in order to
prevent vexatious lawsuits, &c., the Master shall order the secre-
tary to take proper minutes of such complaint, dispute or. contro-
versy, and lay the same before the next GRAND LODGE, where
the said disputants shall attend, if within Fifty miles of the Grand
Lodge, and agree as the GRAND LODGE shall order, But in
case of noncompliance fo such decision such person or persons as
refuse to be conformable shall be forever excluded and deemed un-
worthy this society.———

THAT the Master, wardens. and members of the Lodge, when
duly congregated, shall have full power to make, amend, correct,
or explain these or such other Rules and orders as may seem
necessary and convenient for the welfare of the craft, provided
such amendments, &c., do not remove our ancient landmarks, and
such amendments or alterations, the Master sHall order the
secretary to send a fair copy of to the grand secretary for the
benefit of the society in general.

THAT the ‘Tyler shall receive five shillings for every Mason, that
shall be made in this Lodge, and one shilling for every old
Mason, that shall become a member of this LODGE, And the
said Tyler shall take particular care not to admit any person (not
even a member) without the knowledge and consent of the
presiding officer; neither shall he admit any visitor (who is not a
member of a warranted Lodge), a second time, sojourners produc-
ing a certificate excepted.
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THAT these rules and orders shall be read by the secretary, or
some other Brother of the Master's appointment, to cvery new
member or candidate, if required, or otherwise, as occasion may
require in the Lodge.

IF a complaint be made against a Brother, by another Brother,
and he be found guilty, he shall stand to the determination of this
or the Grand Lodge, according to the seventeenth rule, but if a
complaint be made against a Brother, wherein the accuser cannot
support his complaint to conviction, such accuser shall forfeit such
penalty as the LODGE shall think just.

THAT, upon or near cvery St. John's day, during the continuance
of this Lodge, the new install’d officers shall send a proper list of
all the members, signed by the said officers and countersigned by
the past officers, to the secretary of the Grand Lodge. whereby
the said secretary may be enabled to know the handwriting of such
officers, and pay due respect to such persons as may. from time to
time, be certified by the officers of this Lodge.

AND if any member be found guilty of any misdemeanor not
directly specified in the aforesaid rules and orders, he shall be
dealt with according to the discretion of the Master and Majority.
such decision, nevertheless, shall be subject to an appeal to a
general grand l.odge.

THAT, upon an application of anyone to be made a Mason in this
Lodge, two objecting votes shall be considered as a bar to his
being made; but one alone 1s insufficient, without satisfact: ry
reasons assigned.
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Fac SIMILE OF SIGNATURES ATTACHED TO ByYLAWS OF BARTON
LobgEg, Nn. 10, 1706.
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1. James Wilson.

2. Daniel Young.
3 Juo. Thomas.

4 Warner Nelles.
6. John Smith.

7. James Henry.
8 D. Phelps, M.
9 Robt. Nelles.
30. John Ryckman.
11. Richard Beasley.
12. John Young.

13- J. B. Rousseau.
i4 John Aikman.
1s. Caleb Reynolds.
16. Elias Long.

17. John Depew.
18 Daniel Springer.

19. Benjamin Springer.

20. W. K. Smith.

21. William Nelles.
22 Robert Land, Col.
23 John Lottridge.
24 Ebenezer Jones.
25. A. Jones.

26. Peter Bowman.

. George Sturd (probably Stewart).

27
28. James Morden.
29 Conrad Philman.

30. Allan Nixon.

31. Jonathan Moore.
32. John Showers.

33. John Treanor.

34. Willi. Wedg.

35. Henry Skinner.
36. Abel Land.

37. George Ransier.
38. Stephen X. Coon.
39. Philip Jones.

4». George Chisholm, Sap'n.

41. Charles Depew.

42. Robert Shearer.

43- Ralph Morden.

44. Ephraim Land.

45. Josiah Bennitt.

46. Matthew Bennit.
47. William Lottridge.
48. Adrian Marlet.

49. Joshua Pollard.

so. Joseph Birney, Capt.
51. Jacob Paterson.

52. Abraham Lockman.
53. John Will.

54. John Connell.

55. Aron Brink.

6. Char's Redman.

57. George King.

643

An endeavor has been made elsewhere, with the aid of the

United Empire lists, to give a word or two regarding the members
of the lodge present at the first meeting. The bylaws have ap-
pended the names of fifty-seven brethren, and some of these can
aiso be traced by the U. E. list.

No. 15.—Bro. Caleb Reynolds—belonged to Butler’s Rangers.

No. 17.—John Depew, Jr., was a son of “ John Depew,” Sr., a
“S. G. Loyalist, Lieut. Indian Dept., S. G., a wife and four children,
P. L. N,, 1786, Niagara Stamped Book.” The initials *P. L. N.”
or “ N. P. L.,” indicate that those to whose names they were append-
ed were maintained in the year indicated by the Commissariat
Department at Niagara. Bro. Depew, Jr., is also entered in the S. G.
Listas *S. N. P. L, 1786.”

No. 18 —Daniel Springer was a “ Soldier in Butler’'s Rangers.”

No. 22.—Bro. Robert Land (Col) was in the “ Indian Depart-
ment ” in 1786.

No. 23.—Bro. John Lottridge was of the family of “ Capt'n
Robt. Lotridge, H. District, Indian Department, S. G. (Five in fam-
i) P. L. N, 1786.” )

No. 24—Bro. Ebenezer Jones was a *‘Sergt. in Orange
Rangers, S. G.”

No. 26.—Bro. Peter Bowmsn, was in Butler’s Rangers.

No. 27.—Bro. George Sturd, probably intended for * Stuart™
or * Stewart,” was a “soldier in Butler’s Rangers.”

No. 28—Bro. James Morden is thought by Bro. Freed to
have been 2 son of a patriot, named Ralph Morden, who was rx-
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ecuted by the Americans in 1780. The entry in the U. S. List
gives “ Ralph Morden, H. District, Deceased, condemned and ex-
ecuted by the Rebels in 17f0, had three sons, fohn, Ralph and
ames.”

J No. 30 —Bro. Allan Nixon was a resident, after 1799 of
Grimsby, aud a member of No. 15, which met “at the forty mile
creek.”

No. 31.—Bro. Jonathan Moore was another resident of Grims-
by, and a member of No. 15.

No. 32.—Bro. Freed thinks that “ John Showers” was the son
of a Michael Showers, a soldier in Butler’s Rangers.

No. 33—Bro. John Treanor was a “S. G. Soldier.”

No. 36.—Bro. Abel Land, the U. E. Record gives as “ States
to have served last war, say Indian Department and Engineer’s De-
partment at York Town.”

No. 37—Bro. George Ransier was a soldier in Butler’s Rangers.
He was in 1799 a member of No. 15 at Grimsby.

No. 38—Bro. Stephen Coon was a son of Sergeant John Coon
of Butler’s Rangers, and was in 1799 a member of No. 1§, at
Grimsby.

No. 40.—Bro. George Chisholm, regarding whom the U. E.
List contains the following entry: “ H. District—}". states a car-
penter in Gen» Burgoyne’s Army.”

No. 41.—Charles Depew was a “ Soldier (in) Butler's Rangers,
a wife and one child. P. L. N, 1786.”

An early resident of Barton township, if not the first, was Bro.
Richard Beasley, whose name appears as being present at the meet-
ing of 1oth March, 1796. Bro. Beasley was an Englishman by birth,
born about the year 1762. He owned the land now known as Dun-
durn Park, with a large acreage adjacent, which for years was
known as Beasley's Hollow, and he built a flour mill on the creek,
which flows into a marsh known as Coote’s Paradise, which ex-
tends from Burlington Bay west to Dundas. Coote was a keen
sportsman, who enjoyed duck shooting, and who spent so much of
his time in the marsh that it was called his “ Paradise.” Mrs. John
Graves Simcoe knew My, Beasley and made a number of sketches
of Burlington Bay and Coote’s Paradise. Bro. Beasley was not
only a mill owner, but storekeeper, and located in Barton town-
ship about 1794-5. He traded with the Indians and kept a gen- °
eral store on what is now King street, Hamilton. He was buried
in the churchyard of Christ Church, James street, Hamilton. and
on his monument is the inscription:

“In memory of Richard Beasley, Esquire, who departed this life on the
16th day of February. 1842, aged 80 years and 7 months. The first settler at
the Head of the Lake.”

Bro. Richard Beasley was the W. M. of the lodge prior to 1810,
and was active with R. W. Bro. Jarvis during the period when the
Niagara brethren were antagonizing the Provincial Grand Master.
It was Bro. Beasley who had a conversation with the W. M. of
Barton lodge, W. Bro. John Lottridge, who had attended a meet-
ing of the Provincial Grand Lodge at Niagara just prior to the for-
mation of the irregular Grand L.odge Bro. Beasley had written to
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R. W. Bro. Jarvis in February, 1802, but not receiving an answer
he again wrote on the 13th March, stating that the W. M. of No. 10
had attended the Provincial Grand Lodge, where the “ demission ”
of Bro. Jarvis had been advocated, and that W. Bro. George For-
syth, of Niagara, was to succeed to the Grand east on the removal
of R. W. Bro. Jarvis. Bro. Beasley had also urged a meeting of
all the lodges at York, and there is no doubt that his advice had
some weight with R. W. Bro. Jarvis. A letter of the 22nd March, 1802,
concerning Masonic and personal matters, is in the MSS,, and has
also been given in the history of the Provincial Grand Lodge. It
shows that on the 17th March Bro. Jarvis had in his reply consented
to the calling of the Provincial Grand Lodge as suggested
by Bro. Beasley. The personal matter is a business transaction, in
which R. W. Jarvis desired to sell a female slave and child to Bro.
Beasley. This portion of the letter read:

“ With regard to your negro woman, she is certainly not worth as much
as when you first purchased her: in the first place, she is older and she will
never make 80 good a servant as what she had been as she has adopted dif-
ferent ideas from what she formerly possessed. The female child you mention
worth thirty pounds, New York currency, I do not want. [ will give you
for the negro woman, fifty pounds, New York currency: if you owe that much
to Barry estate shall settle it with your executors. I remain, dear sir, your
very humble servant,

* Richard Beasley.”

“ Wm. Jarvis, Esq.”

Bro. Beasley was so firm a friend of R. W. Bro. Jarvis that
the latter desired him to preside at the meeting of the ‘Provincial
Grand Lodge. The entry in the minutes of this meeting of the
Provincial Grand Lodge reads: ~ No 10, Barton, W. Bro. Richard
Beasley, Esquire, M.” At the meeting held on the 1oth February,
Bro. Beasley acted as Deputy Grand Master and on the 1ith was
appointed to that position. The minutes read: “The R. W. P. G.
Master then appointed our R. W. Bro. Richard Beasley, Esquire,
Deputy Grand Master.”

With the friendship which existed between R. W. Bro. Jarvis
and Bro. Beasley, it is not a matter of surprise that Barton lodge
was not represented at the Kingston Convention. Bro. Beasley
was in the chair at the revival of the lodge in 1836. Bro. Ephraim
Land, Bro. George Chisholm and Bro. Joseph Birney were brethren
who in 1836 aided in the re-opening of the lodge. In the minutes
of 31st October, 1836, Bro. Land’s name appears with the note:
* First visit, and from whom we have received the jewels.” This
minute refers to the fact that in 1810 Bro. Ephraim Land, a zealous
Mason, fearing that the warrant and jewels might be lost, took
charge of them and guarded them carefully until the revival of the
lodge in 1836, when he handed the property over to the lodge in
as good order as when he received it.

An emergent meeting of the lodge was held on the 7th March.
1796. at which * the petition of Messrs. John Smitk and Caleb Rey-
nolds were a second time read.” There is no record of the first
presentation of these petitions. but they may have been read at a
meeting. said to have been held on the 6th January. 1796. They
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were not read at the meeting of 31st January, 1796, to which reference
has already been made. It is possible that an emergency may have
- been held in February, of which no record was kept.

The second regular meeting of the lodge was held on the 1oth
March, 1796. W. Bro. Phelps presided and Bro. Robert Nelles was
installed as junior warden of the lodge.

“On motion of Bro. Beasley for the consideration of the Brethren of
this Lodge, that any person offering as a candidate to this Lodge, who had
offered as a candidate to any other Lodge, and was refus’d admittance, their
petition ought to be taken no notice of in this Lodge.”

“The motion of Bro. Nelles that, instead of Monday in the week, that
Saturday should be the day appointed for the Lodge to meet, laid over for
future consideration.”

“ Motion of Brother Beasley that the Lodge meet every month laid over
for further consideration.”

The expenses of the lodge for this night were somewhat less
than at the first meeting, for they were reduced to forty-four shil-
lings or £2.4.0.

At the meeting of 2nd April, 1796, Bro. Beasley, Bro. Aikman
and Bro. Henry were made M. M.’s.

There is no record of Bros. Beasley, Aikman and Henry being
initiated or passed, and the surmise is that they may have received
their E. A. & F. C. degrees at Niagara or at a meeting held in
January or February, of which we have no minutes. At this meet-
ing we find that Bros. “ Rousoue, Smith and Raynolds, who had
ser'd a lawfull time as enter’d apprentices,” were “Made Craft
Masons,” but of the initiation of Bro. Rousoue (Robert Rousseaux)
we have no record.

At the meeting of 2nd May, 1796, Bro. Phelps was re-elected
W. M. and Bro. Beasley S. W, with Bro. Rykeman as J. W. The
lodge was without jewels, although an order had been sent to Nia-
gara for a set, but as the order had not been filled Bro. Beasley
proposed

“ that as the Lodge had been disappointed in not getting the jewels from
Newark, he would procure Jewels from Kingston as soon as possible.
Resolv'd that brother Beasley procure the jewels as soon as he possibly can
do it.” .

The jewels were in due course received, and when the lodge
ceased working in 1810 were taken care of, as has been stated, by
Bro. E. Land and returned to the lodge on the 22nd August, 1836.
An emergent meeting was called on the 23rd of May and brethren
were instructed and raised. At the meeting of 8th June, 1796,
after opening in the E. A. degree

“ That Lodge was then closed, and a Lodge open’d in the Master’s de-
gree, when it was proposed by Bro. Rykeman, that, as Bro. Dan’l Springer
was going to travel, that he supposed there was a real necessity of raising
Bro. Dan'l Springer, to the sublime degree of M. Mason; by order of the
Worshipful Master the members were desired to let their opinions be known
whether they thought it necessary to give Bro. Springer two steps the present
night, or not. The brethren present, in consequence of the great progress
that Bro. Springer had made in Masonry, together with the necessity of his
going to travel, were unanimous of opinion that Bro. Springer ought to be
rais’d to the sublime degree of Mas'r Mason.”
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The degree was then conferred. There does not seem to have
been any written or unwritten law in connection with the government
of Masconry that the members of Barton lodge were not able to cir-
cumvent. In this they were not exceptional, for all the early lodges
could so read the constitution of the Grand Lodge of England that
thcre was no trouble in adapting the clause so as to meet the exigen-
cies of the case. There was this much to be said in favor of such
innovatior—that it was always for a good purpose, and with a view
to confer benefits on either individual members or the Craft at large.
At the meeting of 24th June, 1796, the

* Lodge opened in the Fellow Crafts’ degree, fellow Crafts being present.
The minutes of the preceding Lodge night were read and confirm’'d as they
stood, and then proceeded to take into consideration a motion made by Br.
Sen'r Warden, Beasley, the preceding Lodge night, That, as there are
several of the members of this Lodge that do not attend on regular Lodge
nights, and, as the fine mentioned in the bylaws is too small to command the
attendance of such absentees as are unnecessarily absent: That it be annexed
to the bylaws that, if any member be absent from the Lodge on stated Lodge
nights or from Lodges of emergency, if legally summoned to attend, he or
they so absent shall pay the sum of two dollars, unless such absentee be as
is specifi'd in the second article of the bylaws of this Lodge, and such
absentee being absent two regular Lodge nights unnecessarily, and he or they
being summon’d to attend the next stated Lodge night, on account of such
absence, unless he render such reasons as, in the opinion of the Majority,
shall be deemed sufficient to justify such absence, such absentee shall be
suspended and dealt with as the constitution directs: and that the secretary
shall transmit a copy of this vote to all the members that are absent; the
question was put in consequence of the aforesaid motion and Unanimously

to.

On the principle of regulating the community by act of parlia-

ment the brethren determined to see what a stringent bylaw and
the imposition of a fine of $2 would do in securing better attend-
ance.
On the 4th July, 1796, Mr. George Chisholm was initiated. His
apron was an historir one. It was wi rn when he was made a Mas-
ter Mason, and on special occasions, notably at Chief Brant’s funeral,
the general public obtained a view of it. In size it would make four
modern aprons.

One of the most important symbols of speculative Masonry,
one which commands the attention of the Craft from the earliest

iod of a Mason’s progress, is the apron. The ceremony of cloth-

the Masonic candidate has its archetype in the secret societies
of all nations from the earliest periods. In the priesthood of the
Israelite the girdle was part of the investiture. In the Mithraic
mysteries of Persia an apron was used in the ceremony. The Es-
senes clothed their novices in a robe of white material, cotton or
inen, while the Japanese, in rites of initiation, invest with the apron,
and in Scandinavia a white shield is used in its place.

In color the apron should be white and of lambskin. The
normal size is about 14 inches by 16 inches. The decorations vary;
some are plain, others have an edging of blue ribbon, with roscttes
and silver tassels. The regulations are not alike in all jurisdictions.
In Canada the size and style correspond with those of England
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In the old times there was no attempt at uniformity in Canada.
The lodges of 1792-1822 used aprons which ranged in size from
twelve by fourteen inches to nineteen by fifteen inches, while the use
of any size or style by affiliates from England, Ireland or Scotland
was permitted. The apron, of which a reproduction is given, is one
of the oldest in the jurisdiction. It is 33 1-2 inches by 32 inches,
with a flap, 25 inches by eleven inches deep. It belongs now to
Bro. Samuel éull of Simcoe, and was, as stated, owned and worn
in Barton lodge No. 10, P. R., by Bro. George Chisholm, better
known as Col. Chisholm, of the township of Nelson, county of Hal-
ton, who was initiated in Barton lodge on the 4th July, 1796. The
apron is made of Indian silk, edged with blue ribbon, and origin-
ally came from Scotland, having been worn by Bro. Chisholm's
father. The designs on the apron have been printed from three
sets of blocks, for the apron is in three colors. It was carried by
Col. Chisholm through the war of 1812-15, and also the rebellion
of 1837-38. There was a piece of crape on the apron about 1865.
when Bro. Chisholm wore it at the funeral of his brother-in-law.
the late Bro. Joseph Birney. The apron has been lent many times
to P. M.’s, who desired to use it as a tracing board, in conferring
degrees upon candidates. .
~ The members of Barton were not always in funds and. accord-
ingly, they had to resort to the now modern idea of giving
I.O.U.s. This they did in due and proper form. and some of these
intcresting documents are herewith reproduced.

Fac SIMILE NoTEs FOR MoONTHLY DUES.
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At the meeting of sth September, 1796, the lodge

““took into consideration a verbal message from the right W. M. of this
province, by Bro. Rousoux, to the worshipful master, Sen'r and Jun'r Wardens.
and members of this Lodge, That as Mr. Chars. Depew had formerly peti-
tioned to Lodge No. 8 of this Province before Lodge No. 10 Existed, that
in consequence of the sd petition, Sd Lodge balloted for Mr. Depew, and upon
the examination thereof found they were unanimous in Mr. Depew's favor,
But, as certain causes prevented Mr. Depew’s attending, at the time appoint-
ed for his initiation, and as he had deposited the sum of four dollars in that
Lodge, as a security to the sd Lodge for his attendance, But as the members
of sd Lodge are convinced that his not attending was not thro’ any neglect
of his that could be avoided, and as he, the sd Mr. Depew, lives within the
limits of this Lodge at present, and as the members thereof are universally
acquainted with the character of Mr. Depew, That, if they think proper to
admit him into the mysteries of Masonry, that the grand Lodge should credit
this Lodge with the sum so deposited by Mr. Depew. The question was then
put whether the petition of Mr. Depew should be taken notice of by this
Lodge, in consequence of his former petition, the usual sign being requested,
was found unanimous in Mr. Depew’s favor.”

Briefly this lengthy explanation meant that Mr. Depew had
been prqposed and accepted by the lodge No. 8 at York, that he
had deposited four dollars as a pledge that he would attend for in-
itiation if accepted, but that being unable to keep his promise, and
in the meantime having removed to the jurisdiction of No. 10, the
$4 paid to No. 8 was to be transferred, if Mr. Depew were ac-
cepted, to the credit of No. 10 on the books of Grand Lodge.

At the meeting of 7th November, 1796, after accepting the
offer of Bro. Reynolds to act as tyler, the lodge then )

‘“ took into comsideration'a motion made by Bro. Thomas, that, as the
members of this Lodge were, in general, unexperienced Masons, and none of
the members so0 capable of instructing in the necessary masonic Lectures as
all that society ought to be instructed in, That the officers that are at this time
elected shall attend Newark. or some other well informed Lodge’s lectures,
at least, once between each and every regular Lodge night, so as to be capable
of informing the members of this Lodge, with the necessary principles and
lectures of operative masons, and that they soliat the degree of Mark
Masons, that the brethren of this lodge may be benefited thereby, and that
any Brother proposed as a candidate shall make known whether attendance
will be convenient to him, previous to his election. The sd motion was
seconded by Bro. Sen'r W. Rt. Nelles and unanimously agreed to by the
brethren present.”

The thirst for knowledge of the ritual was frequent in all the
early lodges. In the days of the pioneers of Barton, such brethren
" as Bros. Phelps and Beasley were fairly well informed, but the ex-
pert of the day was Bro. Danby, of Niagara. His services were al-
ways in demand. The allusion to the desire for the Mark degree
was made, no doubt, from the fact that many of the Niagara breth-
ren who visited Barton had received it.

The election of officers followed, as recorded in the tabulated
statement which accompanies the history of the lodge and which
also contains its work. At the meeting of 4th December, 1796,
Bro. Bowman, of lodge No. 4, known as the ‘““ Lodge of Philan-
thropy,” at Niagara, affiliated. For some reason “it was thought
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inconvenient for the members of this lodge to meet on the anni-
versary of St. John.” At the meeting of 6th January, 1797, the

*“lodge opened in the fellow Crafts’ degree, Crafts being present, and
took into consideration the deplorable situation of Mr. George Stewart, from
his having his house and property burnt, and thought him an object (requir-
ing) and deserving the relief of all charitable and well disposed people. On
motion of Br. Worshipful Beasley., That Mr. Stewart should receive out of
the fund of this Lodge, the sum of Ten pounds, which motion was seconded
by Br. Rykeman and unanimously agreed by the rest of the brethren present.”

The brethren were determined to have a festival, even if it could
not be on that of St. John, for at this meeting

“ On motion of Br. Beasley that, as the members of this Lodge could not
meet on St. John’s Day, the brethren prest go in procession to Br. Smith’s
Tavern, and dine together, which was unanimously agreed to by the brethren
present.”

It may be that the lodge was meeting in Bro. Reasley’s house
at this time, from the fact that it walked in procession to Smith’s
tavern.

The brethren had again resolved that reguar attendance was
essential, for on the sth February, 1797,

“On motion of Br. Thomas, seconded by Br. Sen'r Warden Beasley,
That the secretary shall keep a book, in which the names of the members
present, and the members absent. shall be registered. and that such registry
shall be call'd over every regular lodge night. and that such members as are
at any time absent shall give reasons why they were absent, and that such
reason shall be laid before the members present to consider whether such
absence was necessary or not, before the member may be fined.”

At this meeting, sth February, 1797, the lodge received a visit
from R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby, of Niagara. His visit was,
perhaps, the result of the motion at a former meeting concerning
the instruction of the membership. He must have given the breth-
ren a goodly share of knowledge on this occasion, for at the meeting
of 6th March, 1797:

“ On motion of Bro. S. W. Beasley, That, as bro. P. M. Danby has been
so obliging as to take the trouble to visit the Il.odge, and instructing the
members thercof in the lectures of the three first degrees of Masonry, thinks,
therefore, this Lodge is in duty bound to make bro. P. M. Danby a present,
in consequences of the services he has render'd this Lodge. and proposed
that the sum of forty dollars, with the thanks of this l.odge be presented to
bro. P. M. Danby. The aforesaid motion was seconded by bro. Robt. Nelles,
and unanimously agreed to by the rest of the brethren present. Therefore,
the worshipful Master, Sen'r and Jun’r Wardens, and the rest of the brethren
of Lodge No. 10, return their hearty and sincere thanks to bro. Danby for
his brotherly love and masterly instructions given to this lodge, hope bro.
Danby will accept of the small sum of forty dollars from this lodge as an
acknowledgment of their thanks, brotherly love, and affection to him.

Bro. Danby, as is known, was considered the bright Mason of
the Provincial Grand Lodge. His visit to Barton may have ex-
tended over a week, for even in these days forty dollars would he
considered a large sum for such services.

On the 24th June, 1797, the lodge opened early and was called
from labor at two o’clock. “ and walked in procession from the lodge
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room to Bro. Beasley’s to dinner,” to celebrate the festival of St.
John. This is another mention of the lodge without naming its
locality, but it may have been Smith’s tavern.

The meeting of 2g9th July was scarcely regular. The minutes
state that “ at the request of Bro. Dan’l Springer, a few of the mem-
bers of the Lodge No. 10, met at their lodge room in Barton on
Wednesday, the 29th July, 1797, A.L. 5997, for the benefit of a
lecture.” Then a “lodge ” was open’d in the Masters degree.

““ when it was motion’d by br. Jun’'r Warden, pro tem, J. Smith, that as
Mr. Andrew Wesbrook, who had been balloted for on the last regular Lodge
night was then in waiting, whether the brethren present were not duly quali-
fied and invested with power to initiate Mr. Wesbrook. The question been
puc ‘tis the unanimous opinion of the brethren present that they are invested
with that power, and accordingly that Lodge clos'd and Lodge open’d in the
apprentice degree, when a Mr. Andrew Wesbrook was bro't forward and in-
itiated in the first degree of Masonry.”

This meeting could not even be called an emergency, yet it
suited the purpose of the brethren to make it a legal meeting and
confer degrees.

The lodge met on s5th August, 1797, when Bro. Beasley was
installed as W. M., and in September, when it was resolved

“ that the liquors for the use of the lodge shall be purchased with the
money belonging to the lodge by the barrel or quarter cash, and that the
money to purchase the same may be obtained from the Treasurer by a person
appointed by the lodge to purchase the same, and that said liquor be deposit-
ed with Bro. S W. Aikman and that he is to be accountable to the lodge for
the same.”

On the 6th November, 1797, the lodge met, transacted degree
work and elected Bro. Thomas as “W. M.” No meeting was
held in December, but on New Year’s day of 1798, the lodge met.
The irregularity of the meetings led to a motion being carried

" “that the lodge should meet once a month ” and on “the first Sat-
urday in every month.”

The W. M. of the lodge in 1796, Bro. Phelps, was present at
the meeting of 3rd February, 1798. Amongst other matters after
degree work it was

“ Moved by Br. P. Master Phelps that this Lodge take into consideration
the utility of appropriating a part of the fund for the purpose of purchasing
a public library to be under such regulations as shall hereafter be agreed
upon, and that, to this end, a committee be chosen to report a sketch of rules
and regulations respecting this design, as also the sum to be appropriated,
the mode in which and place where a selection of books might be best pur-
chased, &c. Sd Motion seconded by bro'r J. W. Rykeman, and unanimously
agreed to by the rest of the brethren present, and the committee, therefore,
appointed for that purpose is Br. W. Thomas, Br. P. M. Phelps. Br. P. M.
Beasley, Br. J. W. Rykeman. Br. Chisholm, Trea'r, Br. D. Young and Br.
Roeauseaux.”

This was the first move towards the establishment of a public
library in this district, if not in Western Canada. The resolution
adopted, however, does not seem to have been carried into effect.

The expenses of this night were thirty-one shillings, New York
currency. The expense of the meeting of the gth February
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amounted to thirty-two shillings, “ which was paid by the benefited
brethren,” so that those who did not partake of refreshments were
not called upon to defray the expenses of those who did.

At the meeting of 7th April, 1798, the lodge * proceeded to settle
their accounts with the Treasurers.” There were apparently three
defaulters, “ Brothers Daniel Young, Aikman and Bowman.” That
there was financial difficulty was evident as *“a balance was found
of £14. 2. 6. due from Br. Aikman, which he could not account for,
£-6. 3. 10. from Bro. D. Young, for which he also was unable to ac-
count, and Bro. Bowman’s was “ left unsettled until the next Lodge
night.” On motion of Bro. Beasley it was resolved “ that the Treas-
urers shall give their bonds for the money that they cannot account
for the next lodge night.” )

The shortage in cash by the custodians was a feature in a few
of the early lodges. The members would not permit advancement
from one degree to another unless the candidates were sufficiently
instructed, for at this meeting the

“ Lodge then unanimously agrees that Br. Williams and Br. Skinner are

not entitled to receive a further Degree in Masonry until they shall be
better instructed.”

Bro. Robert Land had been too earnest in debate, for on mo-
tion of Bro. Beasley, “ Bro. Robert Land” was “fined for inter-
rupting the harmony of the lodge.” Bro. Smith was also fined and
the cash, two shillings, each, was “ put in the fund for the relief of
indigent brethren.”

The meetings of the lodge had been held on Saturdays, but
this was not a convenient day for the landlord of the house, so at
this meeting, 7th April, 1798, Bro. Aikman proposed “that Lodge
No. 10 meet the first Friday in every month, instead of Satur-
day.” The motion was lost “ by a majority.” Bro. Aikman having
tried moral suasion and the pacific course of endeavoring to carry
out his wishes by resolution when he found that this did not suc-
ceed, said “ the lodge shall sit no more at his house if it is to sit
on Saturday.” This led to discussion, and

“ In consequence of Br. Aikman's refusal to Let the Lodge sit at his
house, if it were on Saturday, Motion by Br. J. W. Rykeman, Secon’d by Br.
John Smith, that a Lodge of emergency be held at the house of Br. P. M.
Beasley, our former lodge room, on Monday, the 9 of April, there to take into
consideration the present circumstances of Lodge No. 10, and to know how
and where we may find a convenient Room for sd Lodge No. 10.

An emergent meeting was accordingly held on the gth April,
1708, at the house of W. Bro. P. M. Richard Beasley, “ their former
lodge room.” The lodge opened and it was resolved “that the
<«cnse of the members be taken, whether we now proceed on the
business for which we have met” This was “ agreed upon.”

It must be noted that the minutes up to this date do not record
any meeting of the lodge at Bro. Beasley's, but it is clear that some
of the earlier meetings of the lodge must have been held at the
residence of that brother.

“ On motion.” Bro. Beasley was requested “to prepare a room
for Lodge room. to rent the said room for a term.” but this was
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“laid over for further consideration.” Then on motion of Bro.
Beasley, seconded by Bro. Wilson, it was resolved “ that the Lodge
meet at their Lodge room, at the house of Br. Sen’r W. Aikman,
at the usual hour and day, there to take into consideration the re-
maining part of this our present meeting.”

Beasley’s house and stores were on the north side of King
street, between what is now Ferguson avenue and James street. The
building was standing in 1860. It was built of hewn timbers and
in the early twenties covered with clap-board. It stood about eight
feet back from the present strcet lire.

BeasLey's House, NorTtH Sipg, KiNG St., HAMILTON, 1860
(200 YARDS WEST OF SMITH'S TAVERN).

There has been considerable doubt as to the site of " the house
of Bro. P. M. Beasley, our former lodge room.” Bro. Beasley
owned two sites in Hamilton, one on the* north side of King street
and another which comprises the site of the present Dundurn cas-
tle. The vicinity of Smith’s tavern was a central locality, even in
the days of 1794-98. The pioneer buildings of Hamilton were built
in that neighborhood, and it is within the recollection of the writer
that buildings near by were old buildings in 1850, structures which
were said to have been erected about and prior to 1800.

It is, however, stated by the Beasley descendants that the house
of Richard Beasley was west of the present site of Dundurn castle
and that the building was afterwards incorporated in the present
castle, but this is not at all likely as the first dwelling must have
been built of logs. The so-called castle is a substantial residence.
built of brick and well proportioned. Senator MclInnes, the present
owner, states that the stone building at the western part of the
castle, now used as a nasium, was built prior to the main
structure. It shows indications of having been incorporated in the
main building. The descendants of Bro. Beasley’s family state that
Richard Beasley moved to his house at Dundurn immediately after
his arrival at Hamilton, or more properly speaking, Barton town-
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ship, and that his sons, Richard, George, David C. and Henry
Beasley were born in the house, and that Henry was born there in
1793. Without documentary evidence it is believed that Richard
easley’s, the U. E. Loyalist's first house, was at Dundurn, and
that his elder sons were born in a house on this site.
At the meeting of sth May, 1798, after degree work, it was
resolved,

*“ On Motion of Br. P. Master Beasley that, as we have Not time this
evening to do all the business that is on hand in this Lodge, that the distant
brethren may received their degrees if they are qualified for them, and that
those brethren who have most contiguous, may Appoint any evening they
think proper for receiving a degree, if they are qualified for the same, with-
out any expense.”

The brethren had not been paying their ducs, for
* On motion of Br. P. Master Beasley, seconded by Br. J. W. Rykeman,
that it may be understood that those bro’r, that do not choose to pay the

cash for their dues, on or before St. John's, shall give their notes for the
same, bearing interest from the dates.”

The cause of the difficulty at Bro. Aikman’s seems to have
been the late hours kept by the brethren, for at this meeting ** Bro.
S. W. Aikman agreed for the lodge to continue at his house, on
condition that the lodge sit no longer than ten o’'clock, let whatever
business be before the lodge.” Then " Br. Aikman agrees to rent
the room for one or two years. This was followed by a motion
that required a definite answer as to date and terms, *“ That Bro.
Aikman let the lodge room, positive, how long, and at what rate
he will rent the room.” As a further inducement it was resolved
that “Br. Aikman provide suppers to be regularly paid,” and Bro.
Aikman was ‘“to give an answer the next mceting.”

In reference to Bro. Aikman’s connection with the lodge, Bro.
B. E. Charlton says:

~ Many years ago Ephraim Land told me that, being Tyler of the Lodge
in 1ts early history, he had waited upon Bro. Aikmar 1o ascertain the causc
of his non-attendance upon meetings, and had found him shingling his house
and using his lodge apron as a pocket for shingle nails. Land said this visit
was shortly after the Morgan excitement and that a Methodist revival was
in progress, in which Aikman took part. This Land said was the reason why
Aikman told him he did not intend to attend any more lodge meetings.”

Whatever differences may have existed with reference to Bro.
Aikman’s connection with the lodge were swept away by its subse-
quent action, which must have been satisfactory to the brother con-
cerned.

The next meeting was an emergency, but on the 2nd June,
1798, the officers were elected and Bro. Aikman was elected W. M.
This may have been one of the unwritten conditions connected with
the meeting of the lodge in his house. Bro. Aikman at this meet-
mg

“ agrees to furnish the Lodge with a Room for three years, at the rate of
twenty dollars per year. He likewise agrees to furnish the Loudue suppers for
six persons on every stated Lodge night. Unanimously agreed to.”

This resolution removes all doubt as to the meeting-place. and on
the 25th June the lodge returned to Bro. Aikman’s. At the
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meeting of St. John’s day the officers were installed. The sec-
retary in error, caused no doubt by the celebration, has entered in
the minutes that “ B. John Aikman, Installed Worshipful ‘Grand’
Master.”

At the meeting of 7th July, 1798, it was “ reported to the lodge
that a gentleman stranger wished to visit the lodge,” and it was
‘“voted that a committee should be appointed to try the sd visitor.”
The result was satisfactory, the visitor proving to be a “ Bro.
Duff.” After installation it was resolved on motion of Bro. Beas-
ley that

“ four gallons Rum be provided for the use of the Lodge, & paid out of
the fund. The question ‘was put & Carried, Br. Worshipful Master to furnish
the Same & a keg to contain it.”

And on another motion by Bro. Beasley it was resolved

“ that Bro. Rousseaux furnish the lodge with one barrel of spirits and one
of wine, at prime cost and charges, and be paid the same out of the fund.”

The fees for raising at this meeting were ninety-six shillings,
and the expenses of the night thirty-four shillings and six pence.

At the meeting of 1st September, 1798, the lodge “ settled ac-
counts with such members as were present by taking their notes of
hand,” in all amounting to £72. 11.6., New York currency. A letter
was read from the secretary of the Grand Lodge at Niagara re-
questing the attendance of the W. M. and wardens of No. 10 at the
Quarterly Communication on the sth September. The W. M. was
unwell, lots were drawn as to who should attend, and “ the lot fell
on Bro. S. Warden, Robert Land.”

At the meeting of 3rd November, 1798, it was resolved “ that
Rro’r Samuel Williams be summoned a second time to perform the
duties of his lodge.” Bro. Ephraim Land gave a due bill for “his
crafting fees.”

At a lodge of emergency held on the 19th, it was resolved that
“ provided Bro. Williams does not attend the duties of his lodge.
after the 2nd summons, he shall be proceeded with in a summary
manner, provided he has received his summons.”

At the meeting of 1st December, 1798, it was resolved “ that
the sense of the lodge be taken whether Br. James Wilson be fined
or reprimanded from the chair for undecorum in the Lodge.” Tt
“ was unanimous” that he “be reprimanded.” It will be remem-
bered that Bro. Wilson was the S. W. at the first meeting and the
first signer of the rules and orders of the lodge in 1796. Prior to
this business there was degree work and before the close of the
meeting the new officers were elected. The reading of these meet-
ings is out of the ordinary. The minutes state:

“ Proceeded to the election of officers for the ensuing six months, when
the Sn'r & Jun'r Wardens retired, and the wish of the Lodge that Br'r
Beasley should retire as a candidate, as Br. S. Warden Land has Declined
taking the Chair. Ballots taken, on examination, were found unanimous in
favor of Br. Beasley, was duly elected Master for the ensuing 6 months.
Brr S. W. & Br'r Jun'r Warden retired Moved by Br. Beasley that R.
Lottridge should retire as a Candidate for the office of Sen’r Warden. Upon
examination, found that Br. Robert Land was unanimously re-elected S. War-
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den. The Jun'r Warden retired, and Br'r John Lottridge was requested to
retire as Candidate for the office of Jun'r Warden. Ballots, when taken, were
found unanimous in favor of Br. John Lottridge, and he was duly eclected
Jun'r Warden for the ensuing 6 months.”

It appears that when a candidate for office was being balloted
for it was his place to retire from the lodge during the process of
the ballot. The cause of Bro. Wilson’s " undecorum” was a dis-
pute with Bro.'Elias Long, for at the meeting of 27th December,
“ Bro. James Wilson gave a written application for his certificate
to leave the lodge” and “ leave was granted.” Then on motion of
Bro. Beasley, scconded by Bro. Rousseaux, it was resolved that
** Brother James Wilson should not leave the lodge till a disputce
betwcen him and Bro. Elias Long was decided.”

On the 31st December an cmergent mceting was called, and
the lodge

* Proceeded to examine the Complaint of Br. James Wilson, against Br.
FElias Long & Br. John Smith. The complaint was that Br'r Smith should
have told Br. Long that Br. James Wilson did not keep a secret that Br.
Smith had given him as a Masor which charge Br'r James Wilson denied
Br. Smith & Bro. L.ong being Present, the Lodge, upon examination found
the Charge not sufnciently supported, & Br'r James Wilson cleared of the
same, by the unamimous voice of the Lodge.”

The installation of officers then followed, after which the lodge
sesolved that * twenty shillings be appropriated to purchase candles,”
and the lodge closed in * perfect harmony.”

At the mecting of sth January, 1799, the F. C. degree was work-
ed. Bro. Wilson had suffered loss by fire since the last meeting and
in the true spirit of generosity, it was resolved on motion of Bro
Henry, seconded by Bro. Thomas

“that the wife and 1anuly of Bro. James Wilson should be presented with
such sum, out of the fund of this lodyge, as the majority shall think meet to
replace part of the family clothing lost by fire.”

And it was also resolved that on behalf of the lodge Bro. Beasley
* present Mrs. Wilson with the sum of sixteen pounds, N.Y. Cy., in
such manner as he shall think most proper.”

Oun motion of Bro. Phelps, it was resolved * that the sum of six
dollars be allowed any brother that attend the Grand on the business
of this lodge.”

This was done for the purpose of ensuring a representative of
“ No. 10" at the meetings of the Provincial Grand Lodge at Niagara.
Of the meeting of 2nd February, 1799, there is a curious entry, which
would scarcely appertain to modern work. The Lodge opened in the
Master<” degree and. after the minutes of the last meeting had been
read and confirmed,

*“ Bro'r James Morden, seconded by Bro’r Showers, that Bro'r Secretary
sagmmon Bro'r Philman to attend next Lodge night, to answer the charge of
Brother Fellow Craft Miracle, who thinks that Bro'r Philman received a grip
from him, a Fellow Craft Mason, and told him it was a Master's grip, an¢
knows the Masters’ grip: Bro'r Philman then appeared, and, on examinaticn
«aid Brothers Morden & Showers affirm that Bro’r Fellow Craft Miracle
denre< that he told Bro'r Miracle whether it was the Masters’ Grip. or not.
1.aid over for furthe- proof.”

32
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The question of Bro. Danby’s expenses was discussed. He had
been voted $40, which had been paid to him, but all his expenses
contracted during his stay in Barton had not been liquidated, so tha:
question of paying for his stay *“ at Bro’r Rykeman’s was laid ove- "
At the meeting of March 2nd, 1799, it is recorded that Bro. Thomas
the secretary, * is to remove to the Grand River.” As to the expenses
of Bro. Danby it was resolved that:

* Upon the application of Bro'r Rykeman, for payment of his account for
boarding & Lodging of Bro’r Danby, voted that the Sum of Three pound,
nine shillings, N. Y. C'y be paid him out of the fund, which with the sum of
four pounds, unpaid, of the sixteen pounds, before voted to Bro'r Danby, will
amount to Bro’r Rykeman’s account of £7 g9/, N. Y. C., seven pounds. nine
shillings, N. York currencv.”

The minutes of 6th March, 1799, show that forty dollars, or ten
pounds, had been voted to Bro. Danby, and not sixteen pounds,
which would be in N. Y. currency $64, so that the claim was
liqu{;iated by an additional amount of “three pounds, nine shillings,
N. Y. Cy.”

W. Bro. Davenport Phelps was elected to the office of secretary,
which had been rendered vacant by the resignation of Bro. Thomas.
At the meeting of 4th May, 1799, *‘ communications” were “ read
from the Grand Lodge. At the previous meeting Bro. Sainuel
Williams had been * excluded ” for refusing “ to attend to the duties
of the lodge,” and at this meeting it was resolved “ that the Grand
Lodge and sister lodges be made acquainted with the exclusion of
Bro. Samuel Williams.” In the minute book, following the record
of this meeting, is a financial statement, showing the indebtedness of
Bro. Geo. Chisholm, as treasurer from 1798, followed by a state-
ment of the indebtedness of Bro. Samuel Young, and a third state-
ment showing the account against Bro. Aikman, Bro. Lottridge and
Bro. Bowman, with contra accounts from all the brethren except
Bro. Chisholm. The total amount involved amounted to about £300.
a large portion of which was in notes of hand given by brethren for
degrees.

The next meeting was on the 6th July, 1799, no meeting having
been held in June. The meeting nights were changed to the second
Friday in the month. It was resolved that * window curtains be pro-
cured for the lodge to be provided by Br. Beasley,” also that “ the
rest of the brethren be acquainted with the alteration of the stated
lodge nights.” On the 2nd of August the lodge met and a “ sum-
mons was read from the secretary of the Grand Lodge ” at Niagara.
The minutes stated that at eight o’clock after refreshment, ““ Re-
ceived from Br. Charles Depue, Treasurer, in notes and due bills and
monevs, £126. 10. 7., N. Y. cuy.”

The lodge for the second time proceeded to refreshment, and on
return, “ On motion of Bro. Beasley it was resolved that the lodge
will accept good merchantable wheat delivered at Br. Rosseaux’
Mills from any Bro. of the lodge in payment of their dues.”

When cash was not available, rather than see the lodge financiallv
embarrassed. the brethren were prepared to take dues “in kind.”
At the meeting of 11th October,
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* On motion of Bro. Beasley, 2nd by Br. James Mordan, that the Secrc-
taries, Br. Robt. Land. Br. R. Beasley, Br. D. Phelps. do make out the
accounts of the absent dues during the terms they were Secretaries to the
Lodge and to have those accounts ready against the festival, so as to enable
the present or future Secretary to give or make out certificates for such of
the Members as have received the Lodge sanction for that purpose.”

And a motion was carried that “ the lodge pay Br. J. Smith for
the lock that Bro. Aikman furnished the old lodge room.” The
brethren, however, were dissatisfied with Bro. Aikman’s promises to
make the room comfortable, for on motion of Br. Beasley, it was
resolved that “if Br. Aikman should not have the room furnished
according to agreement the lodge conclude not to sit in the room in
its present state. Br. Aikman is to have timely notice of this night’s
proceedings.”

On the 8th November Bro. Phelps, who was an expert
accountant, was “ summoned to make up the accounts during his
Secretaryship against the next lodge night.” On the 22nd Novem-
ber, “ a letter and summons ” were read “ from Grand Lodge,” and
it was resolved on motion of Br. Beasley, “ that each brother present
shall pay up in order to enable the Lodge to pay up their dues to the
Grand Lodge.”

On the 13th December, after opening, Bro. Phelps “ informed
the lodge that a stranger of the name of Osburn wished 40 be ad-
mitted as a visitor.”” He was examined and “ admitted accordingly.”
The brethren of No. 10 desired to assist other lodges which were
forming and agreed to “ pay their sister lodges forty dollars out of the
fund.” At this meeting Bro. Beasley was elected as master, and on
motion c¢f Bro. Rousseaux, it was resolved that “ the lodge meet on
the Festival at ten o’clock in the forenoon.”

At the meeting of 10th January, 1800, Bro. Rousseau was ordered
“to furnish the lodge with one lock, one quire paper, 1/4 hundred
quills, 2 sticks sealing wax and paper, ink powder, 3 lIb. candles.”
This was quite a miscellaneous order but one which could be readily
filled in the general store of the district. It will be noted that writing
material in the days of the pioneers was more popular in the form of
“ink powder.”

The lodge No. 15, at the Forty Mile Creek, Grimsby, had been
formed, and with the view of aiding that lodge, and in harmony with
the resolution of 13th December, Bro. R. Land moved * that this
lodge lend their sister lodge at the ‘forty’ in the Township of
Grimsby fifty dollars,” but the motion was lost. It should be said that
all resolutions which came before the lodge were duly moved and
seconded. The name of the seconder in all cases is omitted. as un-
necessary in this history.

The meetings of the 14th February, 14th March, and 11th of
April were of an ordinary character. .\t the meeting of 25th April,
1800, it was resolved that “ No candidate in future be admitted with-
out paying the fees in cash at the time of his admission.” The former
resolrtion to accept ‘‘ good merchantable wheat ” had not the anti-
cipated results. Another resolution was passed at this meeting * that
any Br. that shall be disguised in liquor in the lodge room. after the
lodge is closed shall be fined at the discretion of the lodge.”
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At the meeting of gth May, 1800, “ a committee was appointed
to examine Br. G. Tiffany ” and “ the committee reported him Just.”
Bro. Tiffany was one of the Tiffany Brothers, printers and publishers,
of Niagara. A letter was ‘‘ read from the Grand Secretary, requesting
the attendance of the lodge at the Quarterly Communication on 7th
June, and to come prepared to pay up their dues agreeable to a former
resolution of the Grand Lodge.” At the meeting of 28th May—an
emergency—a letter was read “to the Grand Lodge enclosing the
returns and the amount of the sum due to the Grand Lodge, which
letter and returns were approved of by the lodge.”

At the meeting of 13th June, 1800, Bro. J. Morden was elected
Master, followed by the election of the other officers. A letter was
also “read from the Grand Lodge ” dated “ gth June.” On the 24th
June the officers were duly installed.

At the meeting of 11th July, it was resolved that every brother
“ who has not paid the initiation fees be requested to pay the same
on the next lodge night;” and a further resolution was passed on
motion of Bro. Beasley “that every member of this lodge is to pay
off the whole of their dues by the 27th December, such as are not
discharged by that period will be reported to Grand Lodge.”

The next meeting on the gth August was for degree work. On
the 29th August at an emergency “£7. 7. 6.” was to be “paid to
the Grand Lodge towards defraying the debt of the lodge,” and the
W. M. was requested to attend “ the Quarterly communication ” and
“ pay the last quarterly dues, amt. 34/- Halif. Cuy.”

On the 12th September, 1800, it was resolved that “ Bro. Aikman
should furnish the lodge with liquor and light.” On the 10th October
the lodge “received a lecture from Br. Robert Land.” On motion
“of Br. Beasley it was resolved that “ any Br. petitioning to become a
member of this lodge must with his petition deposit one dollar.”

On the 14th November Bro. “ The senior Warden ” was request-
ed to attend the meeting of Grand Lodge, and at the next meeting,
the minutes of which are also dated “ 14th November,” the J. W..
not being satisfied with the efforts of the caterer, it was resolved
“ that Br. John Aikman should be fined the sum of 4/- for not fur-
nishing the lodge with refreshments agreeable to the minutes of the
last lodge night.”” On motion of Bro. Rosseaux it was resolved “ that
16 dollars be sent to the Grand Lodge exclusive of the quarterly dues
as part payment of the debt we owe Grand Lodge.” Evidently the
brethren were anxious to see their liabilities decreased.

At the meeting of 12th December, 1800, a letter was read from
the Grand Secretary, and Bro. Trainer produced a receipt from that
official “ for 23 1/4 dollars.” This receipt probably covered a large
number of payments by lodge No. 10. At this meeting Bro. Trainer
was elected W. M. and the other offices were duly filled. After re-
freshments a letter was read

“{rom the Grand Secretary informing this Lodge of Communication re-
ceived from the Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania announcing the death of the R.
W. G. Master Washington, and requesting this Lodge to go in mourning at
their public and private meetings Six months, including their first meceting, in
Consequence of which Br. Aikman moved, 2nd by Br. J. Showers that a
piece of black ribbon should be purchased for that purpose. The motion
being put was carried. Br. John Lotridge agreed to furnish the Lodge with
the ribbon.”
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George Washington died on the 14th December, 1799, but at
that time news from New York, which to-day would travel in a few
hours by electric wire or by post in a day, did not reach the brethren
of Barton for a year. The accounts of the lodge occupied the time of
the brethren at ncarly all the meetings, and after a motion for an
emergency “to enable the secretary and treasurer to settle their
accounts,” it was resolved that “ six dollars should be taken out of
the funds to purchase liquor for the lodge.” The brethren of No. 10
all enjoyed the social feature of their meetings.

At the emergency on the 3ist December, 1800, the accounts
were adjusted, and it was resolved that * every Br. that has not fur-
nished himself with clothing ” shall pay a * fine of 4/-.”" This, hows
ever, was repealed at the meeting of January gth, 1801. In the
minutes of the 31st December, Bros. Wedge, Bennet, A. Land,
Showers, E. Land and Depue, are given, with the note “ those above
had no clothing.”

At the meeting of gth January, 1801, the lodge opened and the
minutes were confirmed. The lodge was called from labor to refresh-
ment for half an hour. Labor was then resumed and Adrian Marlat
was balloted for and accepted, after which the lodge was again called
to refreshment, then to labor, when Mr. Marlat was initiated, after
which there was another call to refreshment and a return to labor.
business was transacted and before closing ““in perfect harmony ”
the brethren were called to refreshment for the fourth time that even-
ing. Surely there must have been “ perfect harmony!” The ex-
penses of that night were twenty-four shillings.

The reproduction of the certificate in half-tone is as good as can
be obtained from a time-worn document. It reads:

“To all whom it may Concern, We do hereby certify that Brother
Adrian Marlat has been entered, pafsed and raised, and is a regular Register-
ed Master Mason in th number ten, and has during h amongst
us, Behaved himself———Became an Honest Brother: under our hands
lhi; eight Day of January in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and two.

“ Br. John Lottridge, W.M.
“J. B. Rousseaux, S.W.

“ Br. Ephraim Land, J.W.

“Br. Rolert Land, Sec'y.”

The seal of the lodge is not decipherable, and no impression
of the first seal can be found that would give any idea of its design.

The reproduction of the old apron gives an example of the style
of Masonic clothing worn in 1802. for the case containing the certi-
ficate and apron is marked 1802, which correspords with the minutes,
for Bro. Marlat was initiated in January, 1801. The apron is of lamb-
skin, trimmed with ribbon, and has on it the customary emblems.

On the 15th February it was resolved * that there should be a
petition sent to the Grand Lodge to lessen our quarterly dues, so
to know the reason why we pay so much money, and if they would
not comply to take our warrant.” It would appear that the dues were
tou heavy, but bcfore the lodge closed it was resolved * that eight
dollars should be sent to the Grand Lodge.”

At the meeting of 27th February, 1801, the minutes of the last
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meeting were read but “ not confirmed,” for which action, however,
no reason is given. A letter was read “ from the Grand Lodge esti-
mating ”’ the “fees” at forty-eight shillings. DBro. Beasley was
requested to act as delegate to the Provincial Grand Lodge meeting
in March. and on motion of Bro. Smith “ Br. Beasley is authorized

to request the Grand Lodge to accept of a yearly stipend instcad of
the dues now exacted by the Grand Lodge for the reason which Br.
Beasley shall state to the Grand Lodge.” Degree work followed with
the usual call to refreshments.

The mecting of the 13th Marcl, 181, was rcutine The ex-
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penses of the meeting of 10th April are entered “ Expenses of the
night 3 pints whiskey.” At the meeting of 8th May Bro. Aikman was
directed to represent the lodge at the next quarterly communication
of the Provincial Grand Lodge. The meeting of the 1oth July, 1801
was of a routine character.

At the meeting of 14th August, after routine business, Bro.
Aikman agreed “ to furnish the lodge with a room for one year at the
rate of one dollar for each night the lodge shall sit,” and he also
agreed “ to furnish the lodge with tables, benches, two chairs, deacons
rods, two tills in the chest, candles and refreshments.”

On the 3rd October it was resolved “ that Bro. Aikman be fined
2 dollars for not furnishing the lodge room agreeable to the minutes
of a former lodge night,” and he was also ordered “ to furnish a lock
for the lower door.” The questions of non-attendance, not appear-
ing in Craft clothing, and non-payment of dues were topics that
always furnished texts for discussion with the members of No. 10,
when they were not occupied with degree work, to which, by the way,
they were most attentive.

At the meeting of the 13th November, 1801, the “lodge pro-
ceeded to examine the members without clothing,” and Bro. Showers,
J. Bennett, M. Bennett and R. Morden “ were fined 4/- each,” and, on
raotion of Bro. E. Land, it was resolved “ that every Master Mason
shall repeat his Master’s obligation the next lodge night.” Also,
“Bro. Aikman agrees to make a handle to the seal of the lodge
against the next lodge night or submit to be fined.”

At the meeting of 11th December, 1801, the officers were elected,
Bro. Lottridge being chosen as Master. It was determined to hold
the celebration of the festival of St. John on Saturday, the 26th. The
brethren had not forgotten their resolution concerning Bro. Aikman
for the minutes inform us that “ Bro. Aikman fined one shilling for
not putting a handle to the seal.”

On the 26th December, 1801, Bro. Lottridge was installed as
W.M. The J. W. “read a summons from the Grand Lodge request-
ing the officers of lodge No. 10 to attend the Grand Lodge,” but it
was resolved “ to write the Grand Lodge that they did not receive
their summons till late—the 26th, too short notice for their attend-
ance, and inform them that lodge No. 10 will pay their dues as soon
as possible.” The secretary had neglected to note the election of
the S. W, secretary and treasurer, so he appended the note *“ Minutes
amended, the Senr. Warden, Secretary and Treasurer were re-elected.”

At the meeting of 8th January, 1802, after routine, it was resolved
‘““ that the Sec’y be ordered to summon every brother to attend the
next lodge night, and such as are indebted to the lodge, if they can't
provide more, one dollar will be accepted,” and it was also resolved
that as “ Br. Rosseaux is going to Niagara the first sleighing, he shall
be authorized to purchase one piece of blue ribbon and half a yard of
broad cloth for the use of lodge No. 10.”

The brethren apparently were in a imaderate frame of mind with
regard to dues. Rather than lose what was due, they were prepared
to accept paymenis on the instalment plan from * one dollar” up.
As for the purchases ordered through Bro. Rousseaux, what a
contract to “ shopping ” in modern davs. Ninety vears ago Niagara
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was the metropolis, and all purchases had to be made from the shpp-
keepers of that once thriving place. Now the order is reversed, and
Niagara people to a large extent deal in St. Catharines or Hamilton.
One can scarcely realize Hamilton without a shop or store where a
piece of ribbon or a yard of broadcloth could be bought. It must
be remembered that the Gore and the locality of King and James
streets were in those days naught but a forest of tall pines, and that
ther> was hardly a foot-path down James street to the bay.

At the meeting of 12th February, 1802, Bro. Lottridge, the W.
M., was requested to attend the quarterly communication of the
Grand Lodge at Niagara. At the meeting of 12th March, 1802, “a
committee of not less than three” was “ appointed to examine Mr.
Dexter’s rooms, and if they find them convenient to learn from hin
the condition that the lodge can attain them.”

The house of Mr. Dexter was on the site of Barker’s resi-
dence, on Upper John street, Hamilton. There is no report from
the committee recorded, but it is presumed that the lodge changed
its meeting place from 1g9th March, 1802, and met in this house until
the 12th August, 1803, when it removed to the residence of Bro.
Beasley, at what is now the site of Dundurn. .

At the meeting of Friday, the 19th March. 1802, Bro. Aikman
was ordered to produce his accounts by the next lodge night, but
o motion of Bro. Land, seconded by Bro. Beasley. it was resolved
that “ if there shou!d be a balance found in favor of Bro. Aikman, he
shall not be paid until he furnishes the lodge with deacons rods
agreeable to the vote of the lodge.”

The brethren kept close to the lines of the contract, and even an
old P.M. was not allowed to escape the fulfilment of every detail.
At the meeting of 3rd April, 1802, brethren were summoned for dif-
ferent reasons, and “ the sec’'y ” was “ordered to give Br. Steward
an order upon Br. Rt. Nelles for money that he owes lodge No. 10,
and Bro. G. Steward to give his note bearing interest for the same.
as soon as he receives the money.”

The meeting of the 14th May, 1802, was formal. “ The expense
of the lodge ” was only “ three shillings York.” On Friday, the 11th
June, the secretary read “a summons from the Grand Lodge re-
questing the attendance of Lodge No. 10 on the 2nd inst.” Rro.
John Smith was elected W. M., and for the celebration of St. John's
day it was ordered “ that Mr. Dexter provide dinner for twelve mem-
bers on the 24th inst., if there should not come as many, the lodge
should make up the deficiency.”

On the 24th June the officers were installed, and the lodge was
called “to refreshment at one o’clock, to labour at half past three.”
“ The expense of the feast” was “4. 8. 6. N. Y. Cv.”

At the meeting of 13th August, 1802, it was again resolved “ to
summon every member who is absent.” Bro. R. Nelles was ordered
to pay what was due No. 10 to Grand Lodge. .\ candidate was
initiated, and Bro. Rousseaux ordered to * purchase a pair of candle-
sticks, two quires of paper and one paper of ink powder.” The supply
of stationery and furniture was to a certain extent limited, although
this is but the second time that the * ink powder " required replenish-
ing. At this meeting Br. D. Phelps finding it ** inconvenient for him

N
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to attend the duty of the lodge wishes to obtain a certificate from the
lodge.” “ The members were all agreed,” and it was ordered to be
“made out.” At the meeting of 13th September on motion of Bro.
Lottridge,

“ that two trustees be appointed to take notes from the members of the
Lodge to the amount of their dues, and those trustees to account to the
lodge for the monies as they Receive them, that on giving such notes such
as Require it may have their Certificates. Motion Carried.”

And Bros. Beasley and Depue were chosen “ trustees to the
lodge for the purpose aforesaid.” Bro. Lottridge “ wished to know
why Bro. Aikman did not bring his accounts against the lodge,” and
was answered that the omission was through “ neglect.”

The meeting of the gth October was routine, but on the r2th
November the question of dues again carae up, and “a committee ™
was appointed for the purpose of * settling” accounts due and “to
make out the quarterly returns to send to the Grand Lodge.” At
the meeting of the gth October Mr. Wm. Piper Paul had been pro-
posed for initiation, and at this meeting Bro. Land and Bro. Aikman
desired, for some unexplained reason, that Mr. Paul’s petition be
withdrawn, but Bro. Beasley and Bro. Lottridge proposed that “ Wm.
P. Paul’s petition be not withdrawn but balloted for.” This was
carried, but when search was made Mr. “ Paul’s petition” was “ not
to be found,” and Bro. Beasley proposed “ that the balloting be post-
poned till the next lodge night.” This was negatived, and the lodge
proceeded “to ballot for Wm. P. Paul.” “ The ballots when taken”
were “ eight black and one white.” There was no need of a second
ballot. The brethren who were urgent for postponement knew well
what was coming. Yet with all this difference of opinion the “ lodge
closed in perfect harmony.”

On the 27th October, 1802, the W. M. “ presented a summons
from the Grand Lodge ” at Niagara, requesting lodge No. 10 “to at-
tend the Grand Lodge the first Wednesday in December for the pur-
pose of chosing officers” and Bro. Beasley was “ appointed and
authorized to represent No. 10.”

At the meeting of the 10th December Bro. Rousseaux was elected
W. M,, and the usual procedure of candidates being proposed for the
other offices and retiring during ballot was gone through until all
were elected. The case of Mr. Paul came up again, and it was resolved
that “the sister lodges be made acquainted with the application of
Mr. Wm. Piper Paul, and his being debarred the benefit of Masonry
by Lodge No. 10.” A foot-note to the minutes states that the pre-
vious minutes were amended for “ the committee met and reported
that the accounts were all arranged and ready for settlement.”

At the meeting of 27th December, 1R02, the festival of St. John
was duly celebrated by two calls to refreshment, the expenses of “ the
feast” being £6. 16. N. Y. currency. At the meeting of the 14th
January, 1802, Bro. Morden, who had heen censured at a previous
meeting for not attendirg, appeared before the lodge and explained
that ‘‘inability to pay his dues” was the cause of absence. After
this explanation the vote of censure was expunged, but Rro. Morden
withdrew from the lodge by certificate and settled his dres bv siving
“his notes for dues” tc. the amount of “ nine pounds, fifteen shillings
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and two pence.” The M. M. degree was worked, after which on
motion of Bro. Beasley, “ Bro. Rosseaux” was to be “fined one
shilling if he does not bring a Bible to the lodge the next night.”

The meetings of 11th February and 11th March, 1803, were
devoted to initiating, passing and settlement of dues. Bro. Beasley
was paid “ six dollars. for his attendance at the Grand Lodge.” The
meeting of the 8th April was confined to work in the M. M. degree,
and that of the 13th May was noted for “ refreshment ”’ only.

At the meeting of the 1oth June Bro. Lottridge was elected
W. M. It was resolved that “ any Br. Taking the constitution book out
of the Lodge and not returning it on or before the next lodge night
shall for every such offence pay a fine of four shillings N. Y. C.”

The cost of a copy of the constitution was about $2 and only one
copy was provided for each lodge. The stock on hand in the west
was so small that in the central part of the jurisdiction extra copies
required for lodges had to be procured from Quebec pending the
arrival of copies from England.

The arrangements for St. John’s day, June, 1803, were also made,
and it was resolved that “lodge No. 10 meet at their Lodge Room
the 24th of June at ten o’clock A.M. in order to settle the business of
the day, then to walk in procession to the louse of Br. Richard
Beasley to hear divine service providing Br. I). Phelps will attend
for that purpose, then return to their lodge room and dine together
at three.” And it was resolved that * the secretary write to Bro.
Phelps to acquaint him with the wishes of the lodge.”

The so-calied right exercised by the Niagara brethren to meet as
a Grand Lodge agitated the members of No. 10, and accordingly on
* Motion of Br. John Aikman, seconded by Br. Caleb Reynolds that
this lodge shall make no Returns to them that calls themselves the
Grand Lodge untill the dispute between them and the Grand Master
is settled.”

On St. John’s day, 24th June, “lodge No. 10” was “called to
refreshment ard at half-past eleven walked in procession to the
house of Bro. Richard Beasley, Esqr., heard a sermon given by Br.
D. Phelps” and “returned to the lodge room.” “Br. J. Brant,”
the chief of the Six Nations, was amongst those present on this in-
teresting occasion. Brant was an intimate friend of Bro. Phelps
and journeyed from Wellington Square where he lived. not only to
honor his friend, but because he enjoyed the reunion with his breth-
ren. Those who remember Brant as late as 1850 declare that he
always had an enjoyable time with his brethren.

At the meeting of the 8th July, it was moved that “ Bro. J. Aik-
man,” the treasurer, be * fined four shillings for non-attendance and
disappointing the lodge.” The reason for this discipline was that
“the Treasurer not attending we could not get clothing.” The mo-
tion was lost. Four shillings represented in York money half a
dollar. It was not a heavy enough fine, and on motion of Bro. Smith.
the Treasurer was fined “‘ one dollar.”

At the meeting of the 12th August. 1203, the lodge requested
“Mr. Dexter’s attendance to enquire of lim respecting the lodge
room,” for Mr. Dexter had said “that it is not convenient to let
the room any longer.” This led to a motion by Bro. Smith “ that
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the lodge be kept at the old house of Br. Beasley, providing that
it is agreeable to Br. Beasley.” The motion was carried for Bro.
Beasley said “he is agreed that the lodge should sit there.” The
lodge, therefore, removed at this date from Mr. Dexter’s house on
Upper John street to the dwelling of Bro. Beasley, now the site of
part of the present Dundurn castle, where it met until the 13th of
December, 1805.

On motion of Bro. Aikman it was resolved that * the Treasurer
take as much money out of the chest as will purchase three gallons
of whiskey against the next lodge night,” and it was also resolved
“ that Bro. Wedge take the furniture of the lodge to the house of
Bro. Beasley by the next lodge night.” There does not seem to
have been any expense on this evening for the minutes read: “ Ex-
penses of the night 0000.”

At the meeting of the gth September it was resolved that * the
lodge provide themselves with six pounds of candles, a half gallon .
pitcher, and one pair of snuffers, and the Treasurer is desired to
furnish the money for the same if there is so much in the chest.”
And it was also proposed that “ Br. Beasley be paid eight shillings,
N.Y.C, for the use of the lodge-room every night that the lodge
shall sit therein, providing that Br. Beasley furnishes firewood for
the use of the lodge.”

This motion was lost and also one for “ten shillings” per
night, and finally it was resolved “ that Br. Beasley be paid 8/ per
uight when there is no fire wanting and°12/ when fire and wood is
prepared.”

The supply of refreshments was always an object of import-
ance, so that it is not a matter of surprise to read that a motion
was carried to.the effect “ that any member of the lodge that chooses
to furnish the lodge with liquor it will be accented of.” It was or-
dcred “that Br. Wedge be paid 14/ N.Y.C. for bringing the fur-
niture of the lodge to the lodge-room.”

At an emergent meeting of the 17th September, 1803, after the
minutes had been confirmed, a summons was read “ from the Grand
Lodge at Niagara,” and on motion of Bro. Smith, seconded by Bro.
Depue, it was resolved

“ that the Secretary prepare a letter for the Grand Lodge against the next
Lodge night, informing them that Lodge No. 10, does not Consider them as
authorized to summons them to attend their quarterly Communication as
Lodge No. 10 Knows no other Provincial Grand Master than Brother
William Jarvis, Esqr., nor Grand Lodge that act without a warrant.”

And after refreshment it was resolved to insert in the minutes
that

“ after reading the summeoens from the Grand Lodge of the 8th of August,
Requesting their attendance at the nuarterly communication in October to
have with them their Return, as the Grand Lodge does not acknowledge Br.
Wm. Jarvis, Esqr., provincial Grand Master, and that this Lodge knows that
he has a warrant from the Duke of Athol. Grand Master of Masons in that
part of England called Great Britain ard the Jurisdiction thereunto Belong-
ing, and further that the present Grand Lodge is destitute of a warrant, that
this Lodge will acknowledge no other Provincial Grand Master than Br. Wm.
Jarvis unless Br. Jarvis be duly and Regularly suspended by the Grand
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Lodge of England, nor attend the summons of those that term themselves the
Grand Lodge at Niagara.” -

This was an open declaration of allegiance to the properly con-
stituted authority, and evinced a spirit, that from the earliest days
characterized this well known lodge. The brethren at Niagara were
making every effort to bring No. 10 under their banner, but Bro.
Beasley was a sincere friend of R. W. Bro. Jarvis and thoroughly
understood the position of the contending parties.

The meeting of the 11th November was routine. At the meet-
ing of gth December, 1803, the election of officers took place with
Bro. E. Land as W. M. After refreshment business was transacted
and the treasurer was directed to “take money out of the fund
sufficient to purchase one small bible.” It was also resolved

“ that the secretary be Desired to send a copy of the letter sent to Br.
Danby to the present Sec’y of the Grand Lodge, and merely to inform the
Sec’y that the Lodge has Recd. his summons and Request him to present
the enclosed to the Grand Lodge.”

R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby, the brother who on a former
occasion had visited “ No. 10™ and instructed the brethren, had
been elected the Deputy Grand Master of the irregular Grand
Lodge at Niagara. At the festival of St. John, on the 27th De-
cember, the officers were installed and the lodge ‘‘ adjourned to the
home of Br. John Aikman to dine and celebrate the festival.”

At the meeting of the 13th January, 1804, the minutes of the
last meeting were not confirmed * being incomplete.”” On motion
of Br. Aikman the lodge directed “the Secretary to send a copy
of their Letter to the Grand Lodge to their sister I.odge at the
forty in order to open a communication between the Lodges re-
specting the Conduct of the Present Grand Lodge.”

A foot-note states that “ there was nothing paid by the mem-
bers present.”

At the meeting of 24th January, 1804, a letter was read from

* J. Patrick, styling himself G. Secretary to the Provincial G. Master, W.
Jarvis, Esqr., acting by dispensation under authority of the Grand Lodge ot
England, which letter contained 2 summons for Lodge No. 10 to mcet at

York, a Grand Convcention, in order to endeavour to settle and arrange the
present confusion that subsisted in the craft.”

And it was resolved that Bro. Beasley should “ represent lodge
No. 10 in Convention at York, the 10oth February, agreeable to the
P. Grand Master W. Jarvis, Esqr. summons for that purpose.”

After an initiation a brother who thought that cash *“ down”
for initiation was too rigid a rule, moved. “that so much of the
former minutes of the lodge as savs that every person taking a de-
gree in Masonry, that the money for such degree be paid down, be
dispensed with,” but the motion was * not carried.”

The meetings of 10th February, gth March and 11th May, 1804,
were devoted to routine and degree work. At the meeting of 11th
May, it was resolved that “ Bro. Beasley represent this lodge at the
Quarterly communication at York.” This is the only record in ex-

istence of a quarterly meeting ot the Grand Lodge at York in June,
1804.
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The meeting of 28th May, 1804, was routine, and at that of
11th June, ‘the officers were elected, being duly installed on Mon-
day, the 26th June. A note to these minutes states that on the 13th
July and 10th August there was “no lodge for a want of the suf-
ficiency of the members.” The meeting of the 14th September, 1804,
was routine, and at that of 12th October the fees were “ reduced
to one shilling, N.Y.Cy.” It was moved that Bro. Dexter return
‘ the tumblers that he has of the lodge or the money for the same,”
but this was lost and a resolution passed * that Bro. Lottridge call
upon Mr. Dexter for the tumblers or the pay for them.” This was
a distinction without much of a difference.

At the meeting of the gth November balloting and other rou-
tine business was transacted. In these days “ petitions ” for initia-
tion were “read a second time.” On this night that rule by vote
was suspended in the case of John Wire. The usual motion was
made for payment of dues. Bro. Beasley was anxious to know
how Bro. Warner Nelles should account for a four years’ absence,
and, seconded by Bro. John Lottridge, he moved that,

"‘““as Br. Warner Nelles has not attended his Masonical Duties for more
than four years past, that he has frequently been summoned by writing also
by a Brother at Different times, and has not attended the summons nor the
duties of his lodge, when so often and so regu'arly thereunto summoned, he
treating the Lodge with such gross contempt and by his conduct violating
his obligation as a mason, that he be excluded from Lodge No. 10, and that
the Secy. be Directed to Inform the Grand J.odge of his unmasonical be-
haviour, and also our Sister Lodge at the Township of Grimsby, and all
Lodges acknowledging the Jurisdiction of the Grand Lodge at York. Br.
Beasley moved that the W. M. Direct the Sec'y to inform Warner Nellis that
he is excluded from Lodge No. 10 consequently from the benefits of masonry.”

This minute shows at any rate that up to this date there could
be no doubt of the allegiance of the lodge at Grimsby to the Pro-
vincial Grand Lodge at York.

At the meeting of the 14th December the officers were elected,
Bro. Barney being selected for the east. On the 27th December,
1804, the brethren celebrated the festival of St. John the Evangelist.
“The lodge received a leter from Bro. Warner Nellis wishing to
be heard and to give his reasons” for “not attending the sum-
mons of the Lodge.” Bro. Nelles was admitted and acknowledged
the summons, but pleaded “the want of and the ignorance of his
Masonical obligations,” asserting at the same time that he had no
one near him to give him any instructions, and that “ after receiv-
ing the last summons” he was “under the necessity of going to
Niagara.” The meeting closed with the installation and in “ per-
fect harmony.”

At the meeting of 11th January Bro. John Wire was passed to
the second degree, and ‘““ applied to the lodge for a further degree
in Masonry, stating for his reason that he expected to take a long
journey.” The lodge granted “ his request,” and also reinstated
Bro. Warner Nelles and moved that “ the Secretary be ordered to
Write to the Grand Lodge and to their Sister Lodge at the forty
Bro. Warner Nelles and moved that “the Secretary be ordered to
factory reasons for his former Conduct.”
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At the meeting of 8th February, 1805, Bro. Shower was or-
dered to furnish the lodge with 10 gallons of whiskey.” Those
of gth March and 8th April and 10th May were for degree work.
On the 14th June, 1805, the officers were elected, and on the 24th
were installed, Bro. Philman being W. M. The meetings for the
12th July and during August, September, October and November,
were occupied with degree work and ordinary business. At the
mceting of 13th December, 1805, Bro. Abel Land was elected W. M.
After the officers had been elected

“ The Lodge then took into consideration the offer made by Br. Wedge
to furnish the l.odge with 2 room for the purpose of holding the Lodge,
namely to pay Br. Wedge 8/, N. Y. C, each night when no fire, and
12/ each night when fire was wanting. The Lodge considering Br. Wedges
house the most Convenient as well as the most Centricle accepted of Br.
Wedge proposal, and the Lodge with the unanimous consent of the mem-
bers present was moved to the House of Br. Wm. Wedge in Barton.”

This was the fifth place of meeting, the four previous meeting-
places being Bros. Smith’s, Beasley’s, Aikman’s and Mr. Dexter’s.
The minute of 13th December, 1805, shows that the lodge desired
to meet in a central location, and Bro. Wedge's house was not
more than half a miie from Smith’s tavern. The lodge et in Bro.
Wedge’s until 1810, when the records cease.

The house of Bro. William Wedge was near the site of the
military hospital, formerly the residence of Mr. Peter Hamilton.
The house of Mr. Wm. Hendrie now occupies the site.

At the meeting of 27th December, 1805 Bro. Beasley was
granted his certificate of withdrawal. The minutes of 1oth January,
1806, point to the fact that this action of Bro. Beasley was proba-
bly a personal matter, for on motion it was resolved * that the ab-
sent members be summoned to attend the next lodge night in
order to take into consideration (he difference between Bro. R.
Beasley and Bro. J. Smith.”

At the meeting of the 18th January, 1806, as Bro. G. King ex-
pected “to go a journcy to the United States shortly,” he asked
for and received " a travelling certificate.” At the meeting of the
t4th February the differences between Bros. Beasley and Smith
were adjusted by Bro. Smith being suspended * for one year.”

The meetings of March, April, May, June, July, September,
October, November and December were all routine. In October
*“a lock for the chest ” was ordered; in December the officers were
not elected " as the lodge did not meet at the mght of election,
owing to badness of the weather” and as on St. John's day, when
the lodge did meet, “the election” was “ neglected for unknown
reasons.”

At the meeting of 13th February, 1807. the lodge " heard a lec-
ture from Bro. Rt. Land.” That of 1oth April was routine, as were
also those of May and June. At the festival of St. John *‘ none of
the officers elect being present ” there was no installation. Proba-
bly the officers did not think that under the circumstances installa-
tion was necessary. There had been no election—why then installa-
tion? The lodge “ dined at 3 o’clock,” the expense being * £1. 12.”

There were no meetings of the lodge in July, August nor Sep-
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tember. Those of October and November were poorly attended.
At the meeting of 11th December, 1807,

“ Bro. Showers informed ‘the lodge that a Br. of the name of Harry
Lamb wished to visit the Lodge. Or being asked whether he could vouch
for him he answered in the negative. The W. Master nominated a committee
to examine Harry Lamb, the members of which were R. Beasley and R.
Land. The committee reported that * nothing Satisfactory could be obtained
from Harry Lamb he being in a state of intoxication,” he was not admitted.”

This was a brother who was disciplined by a Toronto lodge for
probably similar conduct. The records of No. 16, York, show that
on the 24th June, 1803, this brother had applied for admission as
-a member, when he was not only refused admission but his certifi-
cate was endorsed, “ Denied admission, 24th June, 1803,” and the
word “ Unworthy ” was written across the margin of the certificate,
with a further endorsement on the back stating that the bearer had
been found unworthy “of becoming a member of a lodge, No. 16,
held at York.” There was, therefore, good and sufficient reason
for his exclusion. Bro. Lamb had evidently been guilty of miscon-
duct on other occasions.

The celebration of St. John was held on the 28th December.
The lodge dined, but “ the officers elected not being there no instal-
lation took place.”

It is not often that a W. M. elect declines office, but on the 11th
March, 1808, we find that “ Bro. John Showers signified to the
lodge that he did not wish to do the duty of the Master for the
lodge,” and after debate Bro. Lottridge was requested *‘to fill the
chair until the next installation.” At the meetings of 1808 there
was no deviation from the usual routine. In December Bro. Lott-
ridge was elected W. M., but on the 27th December, 1808, he de-
clined office and requested that another brother be elected “in his
stead to fill the chair.”” The lodge promised to take * his request
into consideration,” and Bro. Patterson, who had been elected for
the previous six months, but had not been installed, * having given
sufficient reason to the lodge for his non-attendance, was re-elected ”
to the seat vacated by Bro. Lottridge.

The next meeting recorded in the minutes is that of 27th De-
cember, 1809. There is no reason given for the lapse in the meet-
ings. This was followed by a meeting on the 12th May, 1809, at
which six members were present, and a “ petition” from Edward
Peer was “read.” On the 16th May, 1809, an emergency meeting
was held, and Bro. Forfar received the third degree.

On Friday, the gth February, 1810, the next meeting was held
and on motion of Bro. Beasley it was resolved

‘“ that every member of the Lodge that lives within the limits of four miles
of the lodge room shall attend the Duties of his lodge every regular Lodge
night, sickness or absent from home on his necessary business excepted.
motion put and carried.”

Bro. Charles Depue and Bro Jno. Aikman “ were exempted
from attending every regular lodge night and that they attend once
a vear unless particularly summoned.” * Br. Barnum” was “ fined
for swearing in the lodge.” The lodge then closed, and as this is
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the last meeting recorded from 1810 until 1836 the names of those
present are given:

“A. Land, W.M. G. King.
J. Smith, S.W.,, P.T. G. Chisholm.
E. Land, J.W. G, Stewart.
R. Beasley, Secy. C. Depue.
J. Burney, Try. John Aikman.
R. Land. J. Lottridge.
* Visitors. J. Burney.
* Br. Barnum. T. Atkinson.
R. Cockrell. William Wedge, Tyler.”

This closes the first period in the history of Barton lodge No.
10, on the register of the Provincial Grand Lodge, and No. 733 on
the register of England, now No. 6 on the register of the Grand
Lodge of Canada. The lodge opened on the 1st of January, 1796,
and closed its work, as far as can be ascertained, on the gth Feb-
ruary, 1810, resuming work in October, 1836.

In this year were heard the first murmurings of the eventful
war of 1812-15, and although many of the lodges clung together
during those stirring times, those on the line of march had in the
defence of their hearths and homes other than Masonic matters
which required their close attention. Fortunate it was that Bro.
Ephraim Land, an earnest Craftsman, took charge of the jewels
and property left at the house of Bro. Wm. Wedge, the old meet-
ing place of the lodge, and on the revival in 1836 presented them
to the lodge in as perfect a condition as when he had received
them twenty-six years before. The veteran brother, now gone to
his rest, relates an' incident relative to his charge. In the days of
1813 on the 6th oi June, the American forces encamped at Stoney
Creek, within seven miles of the British force under Col. Vincent.
A night attack on the enemy was decided on and seven hundred
British bavonets burst on the American camp, routing the enemy,
capturing four guns and two American generals.

EraraiM LAND's Housg, SouTh SIDE OF MAIN STREET, NEAR
ONTARIO AVENUE, HAMILTON.
43
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Bro. Land’s residence was at the extreme eastern limit of what
is now the city of Hamilton. The engraving shows the house as
occupied by him in 1855. The ground to the left and rear of the
house was an orchard, while to the right was a field of grain. On
the morning of the attack Bro. Land’s wife—for he had shouldered
a musket in defence of his country—knowing that her husband
prized the jewels and that the records of the lodge, if lost, could
never be replaced, buried these with some of her own valuables .in
the garden attached to the house, planting a flower in the centre
of the bed so as to be able to identify the spot. As has been stated
the enemy was put to flight, and the jewels were unearthed and
again placed in a more suitable hiding place until eventually restored
to the lodge.

There are no records of the meetings of Barton until the 1o0th
August, 1836. On that date a meeting for reorganization was held
at Kennedy’s tavern on Hughson street south, between Main and
Jackson streets, Hamilton. The jewels and warrant were returned
by Bro. E. Land on the 22nd August, 1836.

The brethren were anxious to meet again under a proper war-
rant, and, with that object in view, they made no less than two ap-
plications to the Grand Lodge of Ireland, but their communications
were unanswered, or, if they were answered, the replies miscarried.

Neither the lodge nor any of its members took part in or were
represented at the Grand Masonic Convention of 1817-22 at Kings-
ton, nor is there any reference to “ No. 10” in the proceedings oi
the second Provincial Grand Lodge under R. W. Bro. Simon Mc-
Gillivray in 1822. In 1810 Union lodge No. 24, a lodge warranted
by the irregular Grand Lodge at Niagara, met at the tavern of
Manuel Overfield in the village of Flamborough West, about three
miles north-east of Dundas, and it records as a visitor on January
2sth, 1812, “ Adrian Marlat, from lodge No. 10,” where he had been
initiated on the gth January, 1801, and on the 29th March, 1817.
Bro. John Showers, of No. 10, was a visitor. The latter had been
initiated in No. 10 on the gth April, 1798, and was W. M. of that
lodge in 1808.

From August, 1836, until 21st October, 1841, there were 27
meetings of the lodge. The first minutes in the book for 1841 are
those of 28th October, 1841, but it is said that a meceting was held
on the 13th.

The continuation of the history of Barton lodge will be found
under the period devoted to the second Provincial Grand Lodge of
1822-45 under R. W. Bro. Simon McGillivray, the Provincial Grand
Master of Upper Canada.

The following is a list of the regular and emergent (E.) meeti .
Jow Lodge, from Jan. 1796 until Feb. 1810: 1796,KJan.(3lzt; Ef.m;g:r:{: 3:!:
E., April 2nd; May 2nd; E., May 23rd; June 8th; June 24th; July 4th: Sept. Sth;
Nov. 7th; Dec. 4th.

1797, Jan. 6th; E., Feb. sth; March 6th; May 1st; June 24th; Ju :
Aug. sth; Sept. 4th; Nov. 6th. Y 1sti June 24th; July agth:

1798, Jan. 1st; Feb. 3rd; E, Feb. gth; March 3rd: April 7th; E,, April oth:
May sth; E.,, May 12th; June 2nd; June 25th: July 7th; Aug. 4th; Sept. 1st:
Oct. 3rd; Nov. 3rd;: E., Nov. 19th; Dec. 1st; Dec. 27th; E. Dec. 31st.

1799, Jan. sth; Feb. 2nd; March 2pd; April 6th; May 4th; July 6th; Aug. 2nd;
Sept. 13th; Oct. 11th; Nov. 8th; E., Nov. 22nd; Dec. 13th; Dec. 27th.
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1800, Jan. 1oth; Feb. 14th; March 14th; April 11th; E., April 25th; May oth;
E., May 28th; June 13th; June 24th; July 11th; Aug. gth; E., Aug. 29th; Sept.
1zth; Oct. 10th; Nov. 14th; E.. Nov. 14th, (?); Dec. 12th; Dec. 27th; E., Dec.
31st

1801. Jan. gth; Feb. 13th; E., Feb. 27th; March 13th; April 10th; May 8th;
E., May 16th: July 1oth; Aug. 14th; Sept. 11th; Oct. 3rd: Nov. 13th; Dec. 11th;
Dec. 26th.

1802, Jan. 8th: Feb. 12th; March 12th; E., March 1g9th; April 3rd; May
14th; June 11th;-June 24th; July gth; Aug. 13th; Sept. 13th; Oct. oth: Nov. 12th;
F . Nov. 27; Dec. 10th; Dec. 27th.

1803. Jan. 14th; Feb. 11th; March 11th; April 8th: May 13th; June 1oth;
June 24th. July 8th; August 12th; Sept. gth; E., Sept. 17th; Oct. 14th: Nov
11th; Dec. gth; Dec. 27th.

1R04. Jan. 13th; E., Jan. 24th; Feb. 1oth; March gth; April 13th; May 11th;
E. Mayv 28th; June 11th; June 24th; Sept. 24th; Oct. 12th; Nov. oth; E,
Nov 20th; Dec. 14th; Dec. 27th.

1805. Jan. 11th; Feby. 8th; March gth; April 8th; May ioth; June 14th,
June 24th; July 12th; Aug. gth; Sept. 13th; Oct. 11th: Nov. —: Dec. 13th;
Dec. 27th.

1806, Jan. 10th; E., Jan. 18th; Feb. 14th; March 14th; April 11th; May otn;
June 13th; June 24th; July 11th; Sept. 12th; Oct. 10th; Nov. 24th; Dec. 27th.

1207, Jan. oth; Feb. 13th; April 1oth; May 8th: June 13th; June 24th:
Oct. gth: Nov. 13th; Dec. 11th: Dec. 28th.

1808, Feb. 12th; March 11th; April 12th; June 10th; Aug. 12th: Sept. --;
Dec. gth; Dec. 27th.

1809. May 12th; E.,, May, 16th.

1R10. Fcb. oth.

MEETING PLACES oF BarTON LopGE, No. 10, 1796-1810.

From 3ist January, 1796, to November, 1797.—Smitli's Tavern,
Barton, located at n. w. corner King and Wellington streets,
Hamilton, and at Bro. Beasley's, near Dundurn Castle.

From 6th November, 1797, to 7th April, 1798.—John Aikman’s
House, site of present residence Michael Aikman., Mamn
street, Hamilton.

From gth April, 1798, to 2nd June, 1798.—Beasley’s House, near
Dundurn Castle.

From 2s5th June, 1798, to 12th March, 1802.—Aikman’s House.

From 19th March, 1802, to 12th August, 1803.—Mr. Dexter’'s House,
Upper John street.

From gth September, 1803, to 13th December, 1805.—Beasley’s House.

From 27th December, 1805, to gth February, 1810.—Residence of
Bro. Wm. Wedge, near site of Military Hospital. Ham-
ilton—formerly residence of Peter Hamilton.

INITIATIONS IN BARTON LoDGE, No. 10, 1796-1R10.

1796. .. .12, 18o1....1. 1806. .. .2
1797.... 6. 1802....1. 1807....0.
1798....11. 1803....3. 1808. .. .1.
1799.... 4. 1804....3. 1809. .. .0.
1800.... o. 1805....3. 1810. .. .0.

The meetings were neld generally with regularity. From the
opening of the lodge on the 31st January, 1796. until and including
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the gth February, 1810, there were 154 regular meetings and 24
emergencies. The regular meetings until the 3rd of February, 1798,
were upon the first Monday in each month. After that date, how-
ever, the day was changed to the first Saturday of every month,

SuiTHE’S TAVERN, NORTH-WEST CORNER OF KING AND WELLINGTON STREETS, WHERE LODGE No.
10 MET IN JANUARY, 1796.

and from the 3rd of September, 1799, a further change was made
to the -second Friday in each month.

The meetings were held with regularity from the 7th March,
1796, until December, 1807. In 1796 there was no meeting in
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August or October; in 1797, none in April, October or December;
in 1798 all the meetings were held; in 1801 there was no meeting
in June; in 1802 and 1803 all were held; in 1804 there was no meet-
ing in July or August; in 1805 all were held; in 1806 August was
omitted; in 1807 there were no meetings in March, July, August
or September, and in 1808 there were no meetings in January, May,
July, October or November. In 1809 the only meetings recorded
are those of May 12th and 16th; and in 1810 there was only one
meeting, that of gth February, the date of the last meeting.

The election of officers took place at the regular meeting prior
to the festivals of St. John the Baptist, and St. John the Evangelist.
The list of officers is incomplete. There were only three instances
in which senior and junior deacons were appointed according to by-
laws, viz.: in 1798-99. Of the W. M.’s Bro. Phelps held the office
for three terms and Bro. Beasley for the same number. All the
senior wardens up to 1810 reached the east, except Bros. Wilson,
Philman and Brink, and all the junior wardens except Bros. Ryck-
man, Thomas, Philman, Pollard and Brink. Bro. Aikman was
treasurer for eight terms; Bro. L. Lottridge for nine, and Bro.
Birney for three. As secretary Bro. Thomas acted for three terms,
Bro. R. Land for seven and Bro. Beasley for thirteen.

The attendance at a large number of the meetings was fair.
At the opening meeting in 1796 there were twelve members and
four visitors, and at the meeting of 13th December, 1799, there were
thirty members present and one visitor. From the 7th March, 1796,
to the meeting of gth April, 1798, there were twenty-seven initia-
tions, and from 1796 to 1810 there were forty-eight initiations.

Smith’s tavern in Barton, or rather in the city of Hamilton.
was a more extensive building in 1850 than in 1800. The log house
had disappeared. It had been covered with a sheeting of clapboard
and is shown in the engraving with the extension of the larger
building which was erected about 1830-40, and which after 1840 was
known as the “ Victoria Gardens.” Part of the old driving-shed
remains at the present time, and it is a concidence that the brief
but interesting history of the lodge, prepared twenty years ago.
should be from the pen of R. W. Bro. B. E. Charlton, who is now
the occupant of the property, which was so well known as “ Smith's
Tavern, in Barton.”

List of members of Lodge No. 10, Township of Barton, 1796-1808 :

Charter Members— Davenport Phelps, W.M., James Wilson, S.W., Robert Nelles. J.W.,
john Thomss, Sec’y, Daniel Young. Treas.,, Wheeler Douglas, Warner Nelles, James Henrv,
Jobn Ryckman, Richard Bessley. John Young, Jean Baptoste, Rousseavx, John Aikman, James
Morden William Nelles, William K. Smith. 1796—Capt John Smith. Major Caleb Reynolds.
Elias Young, John Depew, Daniel Springer. Benjamin Springer, Colonel George Chishalm,
Charles Drpev.' Col. R. Land, Jr, Capt. &hn Lottridge. Ebenezer Jones, Philhp lones. 177
lohn Kitson, Genrge Stewart, Andrew Westbrook. Conrad Philman. Allan Nixon, Jonathan
Mboore. 1798 —Samuel Williams, John Trainer, William Wedge. Henry Skinner, Ge- ree Ran
sier. Stephen Caon, Abel L.and, John Showers, Robert Shearer Ephtum laard, Fal; h Morden,
1799 -- Peter Fergusnn  Josiah Bennett, Mathew Rennctt, Wilham Lottridge 18~ 1—Adran
Marlet 1802— Joshua Pollard. 1803—Capt. Joseph Birnev Jacob P ttercon. Ahrabam Lock

man. 18a¢—Genrge King. John Wier, {;;'hn Cornwall. 1805 Rrockawav Ymes, lhos. Forfar,
Axzron Brnink. 1806 —Charles Redman, Daniel Taylor. 1808—Thomas Atkin<on.
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CHAPTER XXXI.

LopGe No. 11, TownsHir oF BranTrFOorRD, COUNTY OF WENT-
WORTH, 1796—THE STORY OF THE MOHAWK VILLAGE.

The counties of Wentworth and Halton originally comprised
the Gore district. In the former there were eight townships, and of
these, Ancaster, Barton and Brantford possessed Masonic lodges.
In Halton there were also eight townships, in one of which, Flam-
borough west, there was a Craft lodge. The site of the Mohawk
village is on a bend of the Grand River in Brantford township, near
rantford, the county seat.

Years ago Wentworth was redivided and the new county of
Brant formed, so that now the prosperous city of Brantford is in
Brant county. The town, or rather city, is situated on a high gravel
ridge skirting the north bank of the Grand River, and has fine views
over a large extent of country, the picturesque valley
of that stream. Its name is derived from the Indian chief,
Joseph Brant, the Indians having a ford or crossing at this point,
which is known as Brantford. During the revolutionary war the
Six Nations Indians fought on the side of the British until the peace
of 1783.

In negotiating the terms of peace with the United States, the
commissioners on the part of Great Britain omitted to make any
conditions for the treatment of their Indian allies, although the
country of the Six Nations was within the boundaries of the terri-
tory ceded to the United States. When the Mohawks first aban-
doned their native valley to take part in the conflict, Sir Guy Car-
leton promised that at the close of hostilities the tribe should be
placed in the same condition as before the war, at the expense of
the British Government. In accordance with this promise General
Haldimand, the Commander-in-Chief in Canada in 1779, confirmed
the promise of Carleton and pledged himself to execute it “ as soon
as that happy time should come.”

At the termination of the war the Mohawk tribe were living on
the Amencan side of the Niagara river in the vicinity of the fort.
The Sencca tribe. which had been allied with. the Mohawks during
the war, offered them land in the valley of the Genesece. but this
was declined by Brant, who said that the Mohawks would “ sink
or swim” with the British. Subsequently, Haldimand agreed that
land on the Bay of Quinte should be purchased, but as the Senccas
were unwilling that their allies should be so far from them, the land
on the Grand River was chosen. In 1812 when the war between the
United States and England broke out. the Mohawks, true to their
ancient faith, fought under the flag of Britain and took part in manv
actions,

The Mohawk village is about a mile and a half from Brantiord
It consisted originally of a cluster of fifteen or twenty houses. built
o log and framec. :

The writer, while examining records in the British Museum in
Londan. England, found in the King’s Library a portiolio of water



HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA.

THE MOHAWK VILLAGE.



HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY IN CANADA. 681

color sketches, executed in 1792-6 by Mrs. John Graves Simcoe,
and presented to King George III. by Lt.-Governor Simcoe, the
first Governor of Upper Canada. In this collection is a picture of
the Mohawk village on the * Ouse River.” The Grand River was
originally called the Ouse by proclamation of 16th July, 1792. The
sketch is taken from the south.

The Rev. Bro. Ashton has submitted this sketch to the only
two persons alive, who knew the village prior to 1829. Mr. James
Wilkes did not recognize any of the buildings, other than the church.
He stated that the spire was at the west end, while the drawing places
it at the east. He further stated that the building with the
flag and marked No. 1 was the house of Captain John Brant. The
Rev. 1. Bearfoot states that he remembers an old Indian woman
saying that a large two-story building stood near the church, and
that this building was used as a council house for the accommoda-
iton of visitors to the village and for dancing. The large building
marked 2, with the gable facing the reader, answers the description.

The village is only a memory to-day. The river still flows as
it did one hundred years ago, but all signs of habitation have long
since disappeared, in fact, but one log shanty marks the site of
what was not an unimportant place prior to the war of 1812.

The principal house in the neighborhood was that occupied by
the agent of the “ New England Company,” and the officers who
had charge of the establishment for the support and education of the
Indians. This company was constituted in 1649 as a socicty *‘ for

TaE ONLY HouskE oF THE VILLAGE NOW STANDING.
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the Propagation of the Gospel in New England.” and in the early
part of the reign of Charles II. a royal charter was issued renewing
the title and adding the words, "' and the parts adjacent in Amer-
ica.” It was this company that supported missionary undertakings
in- New England during the 17th century. In Canada the opera-
tions of the company have been carried on in New Brunswick and
Ontario. :

The principal object of attraction in what remains of the origin-
al village is the Mohawk church. It is interesting to strangers,
more for its antiquity rather than its beauty.

The church, which was commenced early in 1785, during the
reign of George III. and finished about the end of that year, was
erected by the British government, and not by Brant or with money
he collected. The building was erected for the government by John
H. Smith, a U. E. Loyalist, with the assistance of his sons. The
timber was cut in the neighborhood of Paris, C. W, and floated
down the Grand River to the site, where it was sawn by hand, and
the clapboards were beaded by hand, as may be seen by an exam-
ination.

The church was the first built in that part of Canada which in
1791 became Upper Canada, and was the first DProtestant edifice
built in either Upper or Lower Canada. It was consecrated by the
Rishop of Quebec in 1830.

In “The Church of England in Canada, 1759-1793,” (1893)
the Rev. H. C. Stuart of Three Rivers, Quebec, claims the latter
honor for a church at Sorel, Quebec, but the building was not
erected for a church, it was originally a “ marine store.” and fitted
in 1784 for church purposes. In 1785 another building had ta he
obtained as the “ marine store” was removed, then “one of the best
houses in Sorel, part of a bankrupt’s effects,” was purchased and
fitted for a church. Dr. Doty, rector of Sorel. wrote in his diary
under date Christmas, 1785, “ Completed the first Protestant
Church built in Canada and opened it for Divine Service.”

The structure was not built as a church; it had been a house.
“ part of a bankrupt’s effects,” and had a less valid- claim to be
called “the first church built in Canada” than had the old “ marine
store,” fitted up for a church a year before. The present church at
Sorel was built in 1790. When Dr. Doty made the entry in his diary
at Christmas. 1785, he evidently was not aware that the Mohawk
church had been built earlier in the year, and further he made an
incorrect use of the word “ built.”

In April, 1784, Sir John Johnson wrote to Governor Haldi-
mand concerning the boundaries of the grant of land to the Indians,
and also stated that “ Brant has applied for a place of worship, and
for a bell that is now at Carleton Island,” which application Sir
John recommended should be granted.

The Rev. Bro. Ashton. who has charge of the Mohawk Insti-
tution and church, has made much research into the.early history
of this church. He informs the writer that at one period the lower
part of the church structure. its timber and sidings had rotted away.
These have been replaced. the first three feet of the siding being
now composed of machine sawn timber, while all above that is of
the original hand-worked boards.
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__ When the church was built the entrance was at the east end;
it is now at the west. The spire was different in design. The windows
were lower, broader, and not so pointed.

THONNUD) AMVHO FH]
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Mr. James Wilkes, who was present at services in the church
in 1823, and whose memory even at this date is perfect. states that
on entering at the east end he saw the tablets containing the creed
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and the ten commandments, and the communion table. The pulpit
was in the centre of the south wall, facing north. . On the west side
of the church was the pew occupied by the Brant family. At either
side at the west end facing the altar were two pews for the white
members of fhe congregation, the remainder of the seats being for
the Indians. All the seats were high box pews. The Mohawk
church, strange to state, had no regular minister in charge during
the first forty years of its existence.

In 1829 the church was repaired by the New England Com-
pany. The spire was taken down and rebuilt, the lower portion
being so enlarged as to form an entrance porch through its centre,
a small vestry on the south and a small store room opposite on the
north side. ' ®

The door at the east end of the church was boarded up. It is
still within the wall. The communion table and tablets were re-
moved from the west to the east end of the church.

The royal arms of England were given to the church by the
British government and adorn the wall on the west end. The Mo-
hawk church at the Bay of Quinte received the same gift. Both
these churches are known in official phraseology as “ H. M. Chap-
els of the Mohawks.”

The church possesses a handsome communion service of beaten
silver, each piece bearing an inscription, stating it to have been
Eil:n by Her Majesty, Queen Anne of England, “ To her Indian

pel of the Mohawks, 1712.” As the larger body of the Indians
finally settled on the Grand River to their church was given the
flagon for the wine, the alms bowl for the offering, the chalice, or
consecrated cup for the wine, and paten, or consecrated plate for
the eucharistic bread, and also the large Bible. The church at the
Bay of Quinte was given a flagon, a chalice and paten only. The
Bible bears the inscription “ To Her Majesty’s Church of the Mo-
hawks, 1712.” The inscription on the plate bears no date, but the
silversmith’s mark is 1711. From March, 1696, until June, 1720,
Britannia and the lion’s head were substituted for the leopard’s
head crowned and the lion passant on silver, which both before and
since have been in use. All silver bearing the former mark is now
greatly prized and is generally termed “ Queen Anne silver.”

Dr. Stuart visited the Mohawk Village in 1788. He describes
the village as consisting “of a great number of good houses, with
an elegant church in the centre. It has a handsome steeple and
bell and is well furnished within.” He also mentions the communion
service, the crimson covered furniture in the pulpit and that “the
Psalmody was accompanied by an organ.”

Lieut. Hall, in his “ Travels.” states that he visited the church
in 1816, and that the services were being conducted by * Aaron, a
grey-headed Mohawk (who) had touched his cheeks and forehead
with a few spots of vermillion in honor of Sunday. He wore a sur-
plice and preached.”

It was after a report made by the Rev. John West in 1823 that
the New England Company decided to assist the Mohawks on the
Grand River.

It was claimed that the bell in the steeple was given by Queen
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THE COMMUNION SERVICE.

Anne, but as it bears an inscription, noting that it was made by
*“ John Warner, Fleet Street, London, 1786, this pleasant fiction
passes away. The bell was given by the government, with other
furnishings at Chief Brant’s request, when he was in England. It
was placed in the steeple in 1787, but was removed to a new church
at Kanyenga in 1866. There it was cracked in 1873, taken down
and replaced by a new bell. The original English bell was made

THE BELL oF THE MOHAWKS,
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ready to be shipped to Troy as old metal, but was rescued by the
Rev. Mr. Ashton at the railway freight shed before the train left
Brantford.

The Rev. Bro. Ashton (for he is past District Deputy Grand
Master of the Eighth Masonic District) has charge of the Mohawk
Institution as the agent of the “New England Company.” The
children are boarded and receive a good English education. The
boys are taught trades in workshops established on the premises.
There are about 120 children in the school, and these include not
only Mohawks, but Tuscaroras and the children of other tribes.

The Mohawks had the Church of England Prayer Book trans-
lated into their language as early as 1714, an enlarged edition being
issued in 1769, reprints of which were ordered by General Haldi-
mand at Quebec in 1780, as the Indians had lost theirs. In 1787

GRAVE OF CHIEF JOSEPH BRANT.

an improved edition was issued in London. to which was added the
Gospel of St. Mark translated into the Mohawk language by Capt.
Joseph Brant. All of Brant’s translations were made before the war
of 1776-82. He had nothing whatever to do with the editing of
the Prayer Book after that date.

The grave of Brant lies on the south side of the church and
is surrounded by an iron railing. The original vault of the Brant
family was of wood, and being out of repair was in 1850 replaced
by one of stone. The services at the completion of this monument
were attended by a large number of persons, including the Masonic
fraternity from Brantford, Brant having been a member of Barton

lodge No. 10 at Hamilton, and No. 11, the lodge at the Mohawk
Village.
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The stone slab forming the top ot the tomb bears the following
inscription:
This Tomb
Is erected to the Memory of
Thayendanegea, or
Capt. Joseph Brant,
Principal Chief and
Warrior of
The Six Nations Indians,
By his Fellow Subjects,
Admirers of his fidelity and
Attachment to the
British Crown,
Born on the baunks of the
Ohio River, 1742, died at
Wellington  Square, U.C, 1807.

It also contains the remains
of his Son, Ahyouwaighs, or
Capt. John Brant,

Who succeeded his father
as Tekarihogea, and
distinguished himself in
The War of 1812-15.
Born at the
Mohawk Village, U.C, 1704,
Died at the same place, 1832,
Erected 18s0.

A short distance from Brant's grave is another with a head-
stone stating that it was erected to the memory of “ Peter Brant
John,” a grandson of Joseph Brant.

Joseph Brant, or Thayendanegea, was born on the banks of the
river Ohio in 1742. His father was Nickus (Indian for Nicholas) Brant,
a full-blooded Mohawk of the Wolf family—one of the three totems
into which each of the Five Nations was divided. Brant is said to have
been a grandson of one of the five Sachems, who visited England in
1710 and were presented to Queen Anne. He was educated at
Lebanon, Connecticut, by Sir William Johnson, who took as his second
wife Molly Brant. One of Sir William’s daughters married Dr. Robert
l?err, of Niagara, P. G. M. of the Provincial Grand Lodge at that
place.

In 1776 Brant visited England and was introduced at Court.
when he proudly declined to kiss the King’s hand, but remarked
that he would gladly thus salute the Queen.

He was initiated into Masonry in “ The Falcon” in Princess
street, Leicester Fields, London, on the 26th April, 1776. His certi-
ficate is signed by James Heseltine, who was the sole Grand Secretary
from 1769 until 1780 of the Grand Lodge of the Moderns.

While in England Bro. Joseph Brant was presented with a
Masonic apron by King George III. This apron was presented by
the old chief to his son, Capt. John Brant, and by him given to his
brother-in-law, Col. Wm. Johnson Kerr, who in 1787 married Bessie
(Elizabeth) Brant, a daughter of Joseph Brant. Col. Kerr presented
the al?r;:;\ to Mr. O'Reilly, and the latter gave it to a relative who
now holds it. :
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CaPT. JosepH BrRANT (1N His YOUNGER Days).

Capt. Brant visited Navy Hall at Newark while Governor and
Mrs. Simcoe were residing there, and in Mrs. Simcoe’s diary she
refers to him as follows:

oth Dec’r, 1792. “ Capt. Brant dined here. He has a countenance expressive
of art or cunning. He wore an English coat with a hand-
some silk blanket, lined with black and trimmed with gold
fringe, and wore a fur cap; round his neck he had a string
of plaited sweet hay. It is a kind of grass which never
loses its pleasant scent. The Indians are very fond of it
It smells like the Tonquin Bean.” :

Brant died at Wellington Square on the 24th November, 1807,
aged 64, and his remains were removed to the Mohawk Village on
the Grand River and interred in a vault near the south side of the
church. According to the constitution of the Mohawks the in-
heritance descends through the female line exclusively and not to the
eldest male, the eldest female nominating one of her sons or grand-
sons. The widow selected John, or Ahyouwaighs, the fourth and
youngest son, who was also a member of the Craft. He was born
at the Mohawk Village on the Grand River, on the 27th September,
1794, and received his education at Ancaster and Niagara. where he
was an attentive student. His amiable and manly disposition was

44
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much improved by education. When in 1807 he succeeded his father
he became the Tekarihogea, or principal chief of the Six Nations. He
took the field in 1812 and was a leader at the battle of Queenston.
At the close of the war he resided at Wellington Square with his sister
Elizabeth. This was a village in the township of Nelson, eight miles
from Hamilton. The family house of the Brants was, for those days,
a handsome two-storied dwelling, situated north of the beach which
divides Lake Ontario from Burlington Bay.

On the 13th October, 1886, a memorial statue of Chief Brant in
bronze was unveiled at Brantford, Ontario, the foundation stone of
which had been laid by the Council of the Six Nations Indians.

The first clue to the origin of the lodge at the Mohawk village
was discovered in January, 1899. True, a reference to this lodge had
been found in the minutes of Union Lodge at Flamborough West
for 1816, alluding to a brother who was permitted to affiliate “ with-
out a certificate,” as ‘“ it could not be procured on account of Lodge,
No. 11, being broken up, which he formerly belonged to.” That it
was a Jarvis lodge was also known from the fact that it was given in
the official lists of 1797 and 1800, as meeting in the * Mohawk Castle.”
Again in a return issued by R. W. Bro. Sylvester Tiffany, the Grand
Secretary at Niagara, on the 2oth January, 1800, under the list of
lodges within the jurisdiction of the Provincial Grand Lodge of
Upper Canada, there is “ No. 11, Mohawk- Villiage.”

The discovery of January, 1899, however, shows that. although
the lodge is given in the return of 1797, its warrant, which was in the
usual form of the period, was not issued until 12th*February, 1798.
It names the first officers as: Capt. Joseph Brant, Master; Thomas
Horner, SSW.; and Wm. K. Smith, J.W.

On the 6th April, 18c1, a rcturn issued from Niagara giving a

MasoNic APRON OF CAPT. JoserH BRANT.
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7. .
ondbires

st of the lodges includes * No. 11, Mohawk Village, G.R.” The
initials * G.R.” indicated The Grand River. In the return of oth
March, 1802, “ No. 11, Burford,” is given. This last entry shows that
cither the location of the lodge or its name was changed. At the
meeting of the Provincial Grand Lodge at York in 1804, No. 11 was
not represented, as the record states “ No. 11, Burford, did not
attend.”” This lodge is not referred to amongst those present at the

first ineeting of the Grand Masonic Convention at Kingston, in 1817,
nor do we find any mention of its name or work in the report of
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the Grand Visitor, R. W. Bro. McAllister, who in 1819 reported on
the state of all the lodges in affiliation with the Convention.

On one occasion R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby visited the lodge
during the regime of the schismatic Grand Lodge at Niagara, and
there is a strong reason for the belief that No. 11 did not adhere to
the standard of R. W. Bro. Jarvis, but enrolled itself with the
opponents of that official in constituting the rival Grand Lodge at
Niagara. The lodge, however, did some work, as is shown by their
payments to the Grand Secretary. But this work is a matter of the
past, without record or location—nothing but a name. The lodge
met at the Council House, which seems to have been utilized for all
such functions. The general belief is that No. 11 was removed to
Burford in Brant township, nine miles south-west of Brantford, some-
timne in the summer of 18o1.

CHAPTER XXXIIL

Lopok No. 12, P. R.,, TownsHip oF StaAMFORD, COUNTY OF WEL-
1.AND.—THE LODGE oF FRIENDS.

\\ hen to-day the Craftsman travels through the Niagara district
and, tarrying on the east side of the township of Stamford, at the
point where can be viewed in all their grandeur the Falls of Niagara,
he can perhaps realize the feelings of kather Hennepin when for the
first time he beheld * the waters which fall from this horrible preci-
pice * * * * foam and boil after the most hidcous manner
imaginable, making an outrageous noise, more terrible than that of
thunder.”

\When the venerable priest saw this ‘“ cadence of water ” the sur-
roundings were of a vastly different character to those of to-day.
Both sides of the river were thick with forest foliage, while perhaps
the pathway through the woods may not have been marked by even
the footprints of an Indian trail. This was in the last quarter of the
sixteenth century, in 1679, when La Salle enclosed with stockades
the site of the first fort at the mouth of the Niagara river. To-day
Stamiord is one of the centres of fruit farming and agriculture in the
Dommion of Canada, and Niagara IFalls have been viewed by admir-
iy anllions from every part of the old and new worlds.

The township of Stamford is in the county of Welland, which
wi'hi Lincoln and Haldimand forms what is known as the old Niagara
di-trict A mile and a half from the river was the village of Stam-
ford. in the days of 1798-1812 with a population sufficient to make
the place a business centre—for from 1784, when the township was
first settled, the present location of Stamford seemed to suggest itself
as most convenient for the pioneer hotel and primitive blacksmith-
shop with its imported anvil and home-made grind-stone.
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Here is was that our Masonic forefathers planted the warrant of
lodge No. 12, or as it was for years known “the Lodge of Friends,”
an organization which contributed in no small measure to the effort
made by R. W. Bro. Robert Kerr, when he raised the banner of the
irregular Grand Lodge. .

The lodge No. 12 was warranted by R. W. Bro. William Jarvis,
the Provincial Grand Master of the Provincial Grand Lodge of Upper
Canada, Niagara, about the year 1799, probably in the early part of
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THE JoNES’ Housg, AN EARLY MEETING-PLACE OF THE LODGE
AT STAMFORD.

that year. Lodge No. 13, in Leeds, had its warrant in August, 1799,
and lodge No. 15, at Grimsby, had its warrant in December of the same
year, so that lodge No. 12, at Stamford, must have been founded prior
to August of 1799, in fact it is not improbable that it was in the latter
part of 1798. It is known that it met in 1800 at the house of Bro.
Jones, lot No. 27, in the township of Stamford, on the Beaver Dams
road, four miles from Niagara Falls south, and three from Lanty
Shannon’s house. The house was built in 1800, and the lodge was
held in the upper north room. The old house stands to-day as it
stood years before the war of 1812, when it was the resting place of
many a weary loyalist, who with musket on shoulder plodded along
the newly made mud road, and, at times, through the bush path on
the way to the village of Stamford, which was adjacent to the scene
of operations in the days of the struggle with the American republic.

The interior of the house bears evidence of the work of the
colonial carpenter. The stairway is not machine-made as in modern
times. The balustrades, the mouldings on the door, the care displayed
in the frame work at the entrance of the house, and the details of the
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Lopce Roou oF No. 12 IN THE JoNES HOUSE, STAMFORD, 1800.

Tur HaLL AND Staircase LEapiNGg 1o THE LopGe Roown 1IN
. THE JoNEs Housk.
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colonial architect, so many examples of which may be found in the
Niagara district, all recall the pioneer days of nearly a century ago.

The first festival, of which there is record at Stamford, was cele-
brated in December of 1800 in the Jones house. The room to-day is
a parlor—in those days it was used as a dining room and probably a
sitting-room. Its mantel is unique in size and build. It stands six
feet in height and eleven in length, and at the west end there is an
oven built of brick, out of which-many ‘a substantial loaf of bread
was turned in the days when the public bakeries were unknown and
when the recipe for making palatable bread was the chenshed secret
of the housewife of the sturdy colomst .

THE RooM IN which THE FirsT FESTIVAL OF St. JouN was HELD
AT STAMFORD, 1800.

The first notice of the lodge is found in the “ Upper Canada
Gazette or American Oracle,” published at West Niagara on June
3oth, 1798. Newark was the eastern portion of the present town of
Niagara, and Niagara, or Niagara West, was the present town. The
- Gazette " notice is dated at Newark and reads:

" The anniversary of the Festival of St. John ™ was celebrated on * the
2sth inst,” as the 24th fell on Sunday, and that “the procession was formed
of the following lodges, viz.: The Grand Lodge, the Grand Master's Lodge,
Lodge No. 2. Lodge No. 4, and Lodge No. 12.”"

In a circular issued by the Grand Secretary of the Provincial
Grand Lodge, R. W. Bro. S. Tiffany, amongst the ‘“lodges under
their sanction and jurisdiction” was lodge “ No. 12, Stamford.” In
1802, “ No. 12, Stamford,” is on the list. In the first financial state-
ment of the Grand Secretary of the Provincial Grand Lodge, issued
31st December, 1802, “lodge No. 12” is debited with ~ £6. 12. 6.,
Halifax currency.
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THE First SEAL oF LoDpGE No. 12, STAMFORD, 1800.

PAIrR oF CoMPASSES USED IN LopGE No. 12.

In the minutes of the meeting of the Provincial Grand Lodge
held at York on 1oth February, 1804, the record states that lodge
“ No. 12, Stamford, did not attend.” This is explained by the fact
that No. 12 was an adherent of the rival Grand Lodge body at
Niagara under R. W. Bro. Robert Kerr. In a circular issued by this
budy in 1810 the name of R. W. Bro. Benjamin Middough is given
a~ Senior GGrand Warden of the irregular Grand Lodge.

The first writing of Masonry in the township of Stamiord is that
of the bylaws and minutes of ** the Excellent, High Excellent. Mark
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Man and Mark Masters Lodge, under the warrant of Lodge No. 12,
in Stamford, Upper Canada.” These bylaws bear the signature of
the members of the Mark lodge, that of James Middough being dated
as signed “ Feby 6, 1803.” This is followed by the minutes of the
Mark lodge, dated “ Stamford, July 6, 1803.” This writing proves
conclusively that lodge No. 12 was an active body. The Mark lodge
. met at Bro. John Clow’s, and the last minutes extant are 27th March,
1817.

Thie earliest minute book of No. 12, which has been preserved,
is from the 21st August, 1806, down to 3ist January, 1822. This
book, however, shows that from the 23rd July, 1812, until the 15th
June, 1815, the lodge was called off “in consequence of the late war
with the United States of America.”

The minutes of the 21st August, 1806, show that a regular meet-
ing had evidently been held in the previous month, for the record
says ‘“‘ the minutes of the last regular lodge night being read and
confirmed.” The lodge met at the house of Bro. Lanty Shannon and
at this meeting Bro. Benjamin Middough, being master, no business
other than the reception of a petition from Mr. Wm. Rowls was
transacted. The officers were: Bro. Adam Bowman, S.W.; Bro.
Thomas Derfield, J.W.; Bro. Lanty Shannon, treasurer; Bro. John
Misner, S.D.; and Bro. Haggai Cook, .]J.D. .

Bro. Lanty Shannon lived at a place called Muddy Run, about
twe hundred feet from a bridge that crosses the small creek or run
at the portage road which led from Queenston to Chippewa, and over
which goods were carried by waggons; for all merchandize was team-
ed from Queenston by this road, so that it could be shipped up the
lake beyond the Falls of Niagara. This was also the main road, and
the house of Bro. Shannon, of which an engraving is given, was on
lot 113, township of Stamford, on the west side of the portage road,
about a mile from the present village of Niagara. Bro. Shannon
emigrated from Ireland when about 22 years of age, and had his
first house in New Jersey. He came to Canada about 1797, with Bro.
Robert Cook, also a member of lodge No. 12. As a Mason he was
popular. He stood about six feet in height and was straight as an
arrow, and his walk was that of an active man up to within twenty
years of his death, when he became stooped and bent with the years
that crowded on him. He was active in temperament and his clean-
shaven face had so much of mirth in its lines that it was not to be
wondered at that he was an enjoyable companion and that all the
neighbors delighted in the company of Lanty Shannon. He was
of kindly and benevolent disposition, and the only beings towards
whom he bore malice were the small boys who then, as now, would
without permission, strip the chestnut and the fruit trees at Muddy
Run. He had a farm at this place and another at Beechwoods, about
three miles from where the battle of that name was fought. His
closing days were spent on his farms, and of an evening he delighted
to gather the neighbours around his fireside and tell them stories of
the war of 1812-15, and of the work of the old Craft lodge or, as he
used to say, of “ number twelve ” at Stamford. He died in 1846 and
was buried in the ground near the red meeting house at Lundy’s
Lane, and known as the gravevard on Drummond’s Hill.
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Bro. Shannon’s sister married Bro. James Lundy, after whom
Lundy’s Lane was named. Bro. Shannon had two daughters, one a
Mrs. Hebron and another a Mrs. Lynch, of Lundy’s Lane. A Mrs.

‘QOg! ‘QMOAMVIS ‘NNY AAANY LV ISNOH S,NONNVHS ALNVT 'O¥f

Baxter of Chicago was brought up by Bro. Shannon. Bro. Hebron
was a past master of “ No. 12,” and on festival nights the wives and
daughters of the members of the lodge always made it a point to pro-
vide bountifully for the refreshment of the brethren.
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THE GRAVES OF BRO. LANTY SHANNON AND HIs WIFE.

In In Memory of
Memory Agnes
of wife of
Lanty Shannon Lanty Shannon
who departed who was born 8 April
this life 1775
A.D. 1846 and died 23 dec 1857
aged 75 years Erected by her granddaughter
& 9 months. S. M. Denison, Toronto.

THE INSCRIPTION ON THE MONUMENTS IN THE GRAVEYARD AT SOUTH
N1AGARA FALLs.

At the meeting of October 23rd, 1806, Bros. Blanchfield, Thos.
Huitt and Fredr. Brackbell, of No. 2, at Niagara, weré visitors, and
the lodge “received a deposit from Wm. Rowls for his first degree,”
and “ Wm. Rowls being duly prepared was brought forward and took
the first degree in Masonry.” A committee * for settling lodge
accounts ” reported that it had " found in notes payable to the Lodge
£25. 12. 5., and money in the hands of the Treasurer £10. 5. 10, a
total of £35. 18. 3.,” which must have been a satisfactory rendering
for the brethren of a pioneer lodge, so much so that *“ a motion was
made that the refreshment of the committee,” amounting to ten
shillings, *“ be taken out of the funds.” After this report the lodge
spent an hour and a half at refreshment and then closed *“in good
harmony ” till the regular meeting night, the “ Thursday previous
to the full moon in November ™ except in case “ of Emergency.”
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FaAc-siMILE OF THE HANDWRITING OF Bro. LANTY SHANNON.

The odd receipt, dated 1820, given by Bro. Lanty Shannon, as
Treasurer of No. 12, reads:

“ Decmr. 27th, 1820,
‘ Recd of Robtr Pew, as tr., one
dollar on Account of Lodg
No. 12, Recd by me—mm———
* Lanty Shannon.”

At the mecting of 2oth November Bro. William Rowls * took
the second degree of Masonry, and at the same time paid one pound
four shillings, N. York Currency.” At the meeting of 18th December,
1806, being the regular meeting, the master “ opened a fellow Craft
lodge.” It was customary in the early days to open in whatever
degree the W. M. desired. At this meeting Bro. Middough presided,
and amongst the visitors was a brother Thos. Fanning, of * No.
Nine.” This was a lodge in the township of Bertie, at the south-east
corner of the county of Welland, its south boundary fronting on Lake
Erie, and its east on the Niagara river. Fort Erie is in Bertie, and old
“ Fort Erie Lodge, No. §,” said to have been held under a military
warrant in 1794, i1s considered the predecessor of “ No. Nine,” which
was warranted by R. W. Bro. Wm. Jarvis. There is no trace of No.
9. Bertie, other than its name on the list of lodges, so that the fact of
a visitor from “ No. Nine” at “ No. 12" proves that the lodge had
an actual existence. The officers were re-elected at this meeting of
18th December. The term of office was six months.

The meeting of 22nd January, 1807, was for routine, while the
meetings for the remainder of the year were of a similar character,
diversified only by the elcction and installation of officers in June and
the faithful discharge of all duties directly under the care of Bro.
junior warden.

At the meeting therc were two visitors, Bro. McMicking, of
“No. two.” and Bro. Blanchfield, of “ St. Man.” The * No. two ” it
is thought referred to the lodge of that number on the Jarvis register,
and the “ St. Man ” was an abbreviation for “ St. Jolin's Man,” or as
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it was sometimes written “ St. Johnsman.” At the meeting of 24th
June, 1807, the entry is repeated: “ Br. Cooper, St. John Man,” and
* Br. John Burch, No. 2.” These entries occur at various meetings
of which there are minutes, and point to the idea which has prevailed
as to the absolute distinctness of these two bodies.

On the 15th October, 1807, “ the lodge allowed Bro. Haggai
the 14th October, 1807, at Niagara. At the meeting on 12th Novem-
Cook one dollar for attending the Grand Lodge of Emergency ” on
ber, 1807, amongst the visiting brethren were R. W. Bros. Robert
Kerr, the Grand Master of the irregular Grand Lodge, Stephen
Brown, Grand Senior Warden, William Willis, Grand Junior War-
den, and William Emery, the Grand Secretary.

The meeting of the 10th December, 1807, is in error written
“1806” in the MS. minutes. At this meeting “ William McKee
being balloted for and carried in the negative” the lodge ordered
“his money returned.” The officers were elected and Bro. John
Misner was selected as master.

The meetings of 1808, which were held with regularity, were
devoted to degree work. At the meeting of 3oth June a Bro. Crane,
desirous of afhiliation, on “ making application to our lodge to become
a member was carried in the affirmative by a show of hands,” and
paid as a fee ‘ nine shillings, N. Y. Currency.” The fece for initiation
was $6, for the second degree $3, for the third degree $2, and for
affiliation $1. “ Nine shillings,” N. Y. Cy. would be nine York
shillings, each York shilling being an English sixpence. There is
no reason given for the extra charge of one shilling. The correct-
ness of the fees for degrees is shown by the minutes of 1st September,
1808, when Bro. Joseph Harres received the “ degree of Master
Mason and paid 16 shillings, N. Currency.” Sixteen shillings or
sixteen English sixpences were equal to $2, the fee quoted above and
charged for the degree.

At the meeting of 1st December, 1808, the election for the
ensuing six months was recorded, and Bro. Joseph Harres paid
“ nine shillings, N. Y. Cucy, for registering his name.” This was the
brother who received his third degree at the meeting of 1st Septem-
ber, 1808. When he affiliated he was only a Fellow Craft. The
registration was really affiliation, for which he paid “ Nine shillings,
N. Y. Cucy.” The meetings for the year did not vary from the
ordinary routine. There was instruction and work in the second
and third degrees and an occasional affiliation.

At the meeting of 19th January Mr. Johnson Harris was by “a
dispensation from the Grand Master” balloted for, accepted and
initiated “ at this meeting without the customary notice having to be
given prior to ballot.”

On 26th January, 1809, the R. W. Bros. Robert Kerr, the G. M.,
Christopher Danby, D. G. M., Isaac Swayze, G. S. W., Benjamin
Middough, G. S. W,, and Bro. Adam Bowman, the Grand.Treasurer
of the irregular Grand Lodge, were present. Bro. Johnson Harris,
who had been initiated by special dispensation, paid at this meeting
“forty shillings, N. Y. Currency, for his two degrees.” the second
and third, being $3 for the second and $2 for the third. The regis-
tration of visitors at the early lodges is of great value to-day, as it
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furnishes the names of many members of lodges whose records have
been destroyed.

In 1809 the even tenor of the way does not seem to have been
disturbed. R. W. Bro. Danby on the 1gth October paid a visit and
gave a lecture. He was not as well paid as when years before he had
visited lodge No. 6 at Barton, and instructed the brethren at a cost of
$40, for at the meeting of November 16th, 1809, “ a motion was made
and carried in the affirmative that Bro. Danby’s expenses of his visit
should come out of the fund of this lodge, it being eight shillings
York,” or a dollar of modern currency. Bro. Angus MclIntyre of
“No. 9" was present, so that probably the lodge at Bertie was in
full operation, and, as is not at all unlikely, may have favored the rival
organization at Niagara.

The minutes of this lodge possess the merit of being a mere and
bare record of the work performed, without any attempt to give future
generations any idea of business other than degree work, and little or
nothing regarding the celebrations of the festivals of St. John. When
there were no initiations other degree work offered, and when there
was a paucity in this direction, the call from labor to refreshment
which no doubt enlivened the brethren and their visitors. It is sur-
prising the number of brethren from the United States who crossed
the river to pass Masonic greetings with the brethren of Canada.

Prior to 1809 the election of members was done by show of
hands, but at the meeting of 25th May, 1809, a motion was carried
that = we shall ballot with balls instead of a show of hands.”

At the festival of St. John the Baptist, on 24th June, 1809, Bro.
James Cooper, of St. John’s lodge, Niagara, was present as a visitor.
He was entered as a  S. J. man.” This brother had been initiated in
1787 in " St. John's Lodge of Friendship,” No. 2, township of
Newark, alias Queenston. At this meeting of No. 12 there were also
two brethren registered as from *“ No. 2,” Bros. Goring and Carn,
which leads one to assume that St. John’s lodge, No. 2, at Queenston,
and No. 2, at Niagara, were two different organizations, one in the
township of Niagara and the other at the town of Niagara. Similar
entries have been noted in earlier minutes of No. 12, as on 24th June,
1807, in the cases of “ Br. John Burch, No. 2,” and “ Br. James
Cooper, St. John Man.”

In the absence of records it is simply impossible to explain the
exact identity of these two lodges. The record in the minutes of
No. 12 that there were visitors at their meetings from *“ No. 2" and
“St. John’s,” favors the assumption that these were two separate
lodges and that no amalgamation had taken place up to 1809. This
statement is substantiated by the fact that of the list of members
present at meetings of No. 12 those registered from * St. John’s” or
as “ S. J. man,” or ** St. Johnsman ” are found on the roll of lodge No.
2, of Friendship, which met at Queenston as carly as 1782, while
none of those registered from “ No. 2” are found on the roll of * the
Lodge of Friendship.” Lodge No. 2 was within a few miles of Stam-
ford lodge, which would be convenient for those of its members who
were desirous of visiting. The point is that entries of visitors from
“No. 2” and of “ St. John’s ” indicate that these lodges were distinct
bodies. It would appear that whatever position they occupicd prior
to 1794-5. there was only one “ No. 2 heard of after that date. There
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could not be two of the same number on the Jarvis register. The
lodge No. 12 was also known as “ the Lodge of Friends,” although
this name does not appear in the printed records of either the regular
or irregular Grand Lodge between the years 1792 and 1822.

At the meeting of 7th March, 1811, “a dispensation” was re-
ceived “ from the Grand Lodge for Wm. Forsyth and laid. over until
the next lodge night”” This Mr. Forsyth was a relative of Bro.
George Forsyth, the first Provincial Grand Master of the irregular
Grand Lodge at Niagara. At the meeting of 4th April, 1811, “ the
lodge did not think proper to initiate William Forsyth on the dispen-
sation from the Grand Lodge.” No reasons are given. At the meet-
ing of August 2gth, 1811, it was resolved “ to furnish the lodge with
six handsome aprons for the use of visiting brethren.”

The minutes of 24th October, 1811, record in full the name of
“The Right Wp. Christopher Danby, D. P. Grand Master,” as a
visitor. At the meeting of 2oth February, 1812, it was resolved “ to
raise the charge for admitting an old member.” By the minutes of
21st May, 1812, it is recorded that on the 3rd May a “ John Reyle,
Esq.,” presumably a member, had been buried at an expense of
£3. 4.0. N. Y. C.

At the meeting of 18th June, 1812, it was ordered that “ Br.
James Middough should have the loan of eight dollars out of the fund
of this lodge for six months,” and that “ Miss Shannon should re-
ceive five dollars from the Treasurer for her trouble of the lodge
room.”

At the meeting dated “ Stamford, July 23rd, 1812, the lodge
met, worked the third degree, had the usual “ refreshment” and
*“closed in harmony.” This was about a month after the declaration
of war by the United States against England on the 18th June, 1812.
This closed temporarily the work of the lodge. The Niagara district
was a military camp, and in the neighborhood of Stamford and Bertie
the greatest excitement prevailed.

The treasurer’s jewel, an engraving of which is given, was found
on the battlefield some time after the fight at Lundy’s Lane. It is an

ap
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TREASURER’S JEWEL FOUND ON THE BATTLEFIELD AT LuNnDY's
LANE, 1812.
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American Craft jewel and represents the emblem worn by the treas-
urers in American lodges. The English jewel of that office is a single
key and Canadian lodges from 1764 have perpetuated the same form.

In 1815 the great trouble was over and peace was hnally declared
in December by the treaty of Ghent. In June of this year, in view
of the anticipated peace, the “ Lodge of Friends,” No. 12, met again
on the 15th June, at the house of Bro. Lanty Shannon.

The bylaws passed were much the same as those of lodge No.
10, Barton, and No. 6 at Kingston. Amongst the rules it was pro-
vided that

‘ the lodge shall meet each Thursday previous to the full moon at the
house of Bro. l.anty Shannon in Stamford, at 6 ock from March to Septem-
bLer. and at 7 ock during the remainder of the year, when every brother
shall appear in clean, decent apparel, with proper Masonic clothing.”

“ If any brother in this lodge curse, swear or use any reproachful language
in derogation of God’s word or of good manners, he shall be fined.”

Or if “ disguised in liquor ” he  will not be admitted,” but “ be
sure of being admonished by the Master” the next night. For
absence a fine of “ one shilling, N. Y. C’'y ” was imposed.

The roll was called over “ half on hour after the opening of the
lodge,” and absence for a year severed all connection regarding mem-
bership, unless the offending brother * shall satisfy the lodge that
pressing business or distance, or that it would have injured his
family’s welfare to have attended.” A brother so absent had no
claim upon ‘““any cash” or “ property ” belonging to the lodge. The
W. M., P. M.’s and wardens had full power to represent the lodge in
Grand Lodge, and the J. W. was to " keep an exact account of the
reckoning,” and any member “ ordering liquor without the consent
of the Junior Warden shall pay for the quantity, exclusive of his pro-
portion for the night.”

Persons were to be proposed at one regular meeting and balloted
for at the next, and the proposer had to deposit * six dollars to ensure
the lodge that the candidate will attend.” For * the first step” the
six dollars deposit was the fee, for ‘“ the second step " three dollars.
and for “the third step” two dollars, in all eightv-eight shillings.
N. Y. Currency, or eleven dollars of the currency of to-day. If his
proposition were refused his deposit money was returned, but if
accepted and the candidate failed to appear for initiation, the deposit
money was forfeited to the lodge.

The fee for affiliation was two dollars, with half a dollar to the
secretary for registration of name. Fines and dues, if not paid by
the festival day, deprived the member of a vote.

In the absence of the W. M., the S. W. presided. and ii he were
not present the J. W, and if these officers were absent “an old
officer,” the choice being determined “ by a show of hands.” The
warrant and property were to be “in the care of some responsible
brother.”

The W. M., wardens, the treasurer and sccretary were to be
chosen by ballot, every six months, and other officers appointed bv
the W. M. elect. all to be installed on the festival dav “ on the fore-
noon of the aforesaid days.”

Every person proposed must have resided in the province unless

45
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a dispensation from the Provincial Grand Lodge were issued to
suspend this clause. Members were required * to conduct themselves
decently and with sobriety, that the character of the lodge may not
be injured thereby,” and the rules were to be read by the secretary
at every initiation “ and once a quarter perpetually.”

These bylaws were signed by forty-six members. Amongst the
names are those of Bros. Thomas Lundy, James Lundy and James
Secord. The Lundys owned much of the land in and surrounding
the battlefield of July, 1814, known as Lundy’s Lane. Bro. James
Secord was the husband of the heroine Laura Secord. Bro. Secord
fought and was wounded at Queenston Heights.

A meeting for reorganization was held on 15th June, 1815. The
minutes read:

“ Lodge No. 12 met at Brother Lanty Shannon’s at 8 o’clock. Opened
in Entered Apprentice Degree. The Minutes of the Last regular Lodge
(which was held on the 23rd July, 1812, a regular lodge night), was read
and unanimously approved of. In consequence of the late War with the
United States of America, This Lodge has been unable to meet until this
Night, when the following Brethren were Present.”

Then follow the names of Aaron Crane, W.M.; Wm. Roles, S.W.:
Bro. B. Middough, J.W.; Bro. Adam Bowman, treas.; Bro. Haggai
Cook, secretary, and Bro. Grough and Lewis Smith. S.D., and J.D.
respectively, with Bros. Lanty Shannon, John Fralick, Calvin Cook,
Thomas Lodge, and Bros. John Burch and Wm. Forsythe, of lodge
No. 2.

It will be remembered that * beforc the war” Bro. Wm.
Forsyth had been proposed in No. 12 and had received a special
dispensation from the Grand Master of the irregular Grand Lodge
for initiation. The jewels and other furniture of the lodge had been
lost or mislaid so that it was ‘“ proposed that Bro. Bowman should
purchase the jewels and other implements required by a lodge ” and
“a committee ” was voted “for the purpose of constituting a code
of bylaws.” R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby’s name was the first
on this committee.

At the meeting of July 2oth, 1815, R. W. Bro. Kerr, the G. M.,
and R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby, D. G. M., of the Niagara Grand
Lodge, were present, and the petition of Thomas Lundy and four
others were presented.

" At the mieeting of 17th August, 1815, there was more than the
.average number of members and visitors present. Amongst the
visitors were R. W. Bros. Kerr and Danby, Bros. Daniel Shannon
and Jno. J. Lafferty, from No. 9, the lodge at Bertie, and James
Blanchfield from lodge No. 24. The only No. 24 on the Provincial
Grand Register was Harmony lodge at Edwardsburgh, but an
examination of the list of members of that lodge does not show the
name of Bro. Blanchfield. The No. 24 may have been the lodge of
that number, which met in the State of New York.

The presence of the Grand Master afforded an opportunity for
the proposal of a candidate, who was balloted for and initiated at the
same meeting—an emergency being called for the following day.

“ A petition was laid before this lodge by the Right Worshipful Gd.
Master, Robt. Kerr, Esqr., praying for the initiation of George Thomas
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Frederick Ireland, To-morrow morning at Ten o'clock,” and, “a petition
from James Thompson of the same tenor was also read.”

In the minutes of 17th August there is given the usual list of
visitors, among whom were some from.‘ No. 9 ” at Bertie, one from
“No. 2" and another “ Robert Smith,” a “ St. John Man,” which is
followed by the words * Irish istablast.” The origin of “ St. John's
Lodge of Friendship, No. 2, in the township of Newark, alias
Queenston,” has never been discovered. It is probable that this lodge
worked under an Irish warrant—perhaps a military charter—brought
out before 1782 by the soldier settlers. There is no record, however,
of such a lodge on the books of the Grand Lodge at Dublin.

On the morning of the 18th August, at ten o’clock, an emergent
meeting was held, at which W. Bro. Aaron Crane, the W. M., pre-
sided. “ The petition of George Frederic Ireland was read and by
order and in the presence of the Right Worshipful Grand Master,
Robert Kerr, Esqr., was initiated in the first degree of Masonry.” The
lodge was closed in good harmony at 12 o’clock. There is no men-
tion of further business. At this morning meeting doubtless the
customary refreshment was dispensed with.

The meeting of 14th September was attended by a large number
of members and visitors. R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby was present,
with Bro. Blanchfield of No. 24, and Bro. Lafferty, of No. 9, with
Bro. William Weston, of lodge No. 8, Montreal. The business was
routine and degree work. The succeeding meetings were devoted to
initiation, passing and raising. At the meeting of 12th October Bro.
Amos Bradshaw, of lodge No. 24, was present. At the meeting of
14th December the officers for the ensuing six months were elected.
l%l&o. Rowls was “ appointed to purchase a sword for the use of the

ge.n

At the meeting of 4th April, 1816, “ the lodge proceeded to busi-
ness and heard the following brethren repeat their obligations,” after
which the brethren were passed to the second degree. This action is
worthy of repetition in the lodges of to-day.

The lodge had a vigorous existence during 1816. At a2 meeting
on 11th April no less than four were “ raised to the sublime degree
of a Master Mason.” At a committee meeting of the lodge in May
the accounts were audited, showing “a balance remaining in the
hands of Brother Adam Bowman, treasurer, amounting to the sum
of £91. 3. 2.” This sum would be a creditable showing for many
lodges of the present time.

At many of the meetings the Grand officers of the Niagara
Grand Lodge were present. R. W. Bro. Christopher Danby seemed
to be particularly interested in the success of No. 12. He was pre-
sent at the meeting of the gth May, when there were twenty-four mem-
bers and four visitors present. Four persons were balloted for, one
was rejected and ** the money and petition returned.” The lodge must
have decided Ly ballot whether accounts should be paid or not, for
at this meeting “ the lodge moved by ballot to pay Brother Timothy
Street a bill against the lodge for blank certificates.” At the meeting
of 6th June Bro. Street was elected W. M.

At the meeting of 24th June Bro. Danby was present and
amongst others Bro. Thomas Noxon from No. 14. This was the
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lodge in the township of Southwold, which met at Lee’s house on the
Talbot road, some miles from what is now the city of St. Thomas.

In the MSS. of No. 12 there is a lodge certificate filled out for
Brother Richard Allen, 1g9th Light Dragoons. It is dated 1st August,
1816, but is unsigned and was issued in September. At the meeting
of 1st August Bro. Allan received his third degree, and the minutes
state that “ Thomas Graham and Richard Allan belonging to the
army ” moved for their certificates.

At the meeting of 5th September, 1816, Bro. Danby was again
present. Amongst the visitors were Bro. Edward Peer, of No. 24;
Bro. Stephen Wyn, of Hiram lodge, No. 1. This must have been an
American lodge. Bro. Samuel Glover, of St. John’s, No. 17, in error
for 16, Josiah Cushman, of Hiram lodge. This brother was a mem-
ber of lodge No. 16, York, in 1820, and may have been a member of
Hiram chapter, Barton, but there is no record of a Hiram lodge in
the western part of Canada. Bro. Jacob Finch was present from
Hiram lodge, No. 14. This could not have been the lodge at South-
wold for that lodge was known as Howard lodge. These names are
of importance as affording a clue to the membership of lodges, of
which there is no record of any kind. At the meeting of s5th Septem-
ber Bros. Graham and Allan of the 1gth Light Dragoons paid their
fees for their certificates of withdrawal. The treasurer was ordered to
transmit “ thirty-one dollars and three shillings, N. Y. Cy. to be paid
into the Grand Fund for quarterages and registering fees for this
lodge.” It was also resolved to “ provide a seal for the lodge.”

At the meeting of 3rd October, 1816, with a view of lightening
the burden of indebtedness, ““ all the officers of this lodge who have
represented it at the Grand Lodge have relinquished all claim for fees
for attendance for time past.” For the purpose of keeping the
records “two books for the use of the lodge” were purchased, “ for
the ledger 18/-, for the minute book 40/-"" It was resolved to
amend the 15th article of the bylaws in so far that it “ shall not exclude
old Masons from the privilege of joining the lodge.”

It would seem from the meeting of 2nd January, 1817, that the
minutes had not been regularly entered but probably kept in a rough
minute book for “an order was given by the worshipful master to
pay Brother Paxton a bill against this lodge for copying the minutes
of this lodge, and for his boarding at Mr. Shannon’s while employed
at the same, amounting to two pounds, sixteen shillings, N. Y. Cur-
rency, and the treasurer to pay the same from the funds of this lodge.”
This minute book has disappeared. From the MSS. from which this
history is written it is evident that the book, which cost “ 40/-” was
not the paper-covered volume now to the fore.

At the meeting of 3oth January, 1817, it was resolved “to have
the jewels hung with scarlet,” and at the meeting of 27th February
Bro. Middough was granted ““an order on the Treasurer for £7. 14.
1 1/2, N. Y. C,, it being for the hanging for the jewels.” Bro. Aaron
Crane was “admitted to draw from the Treasurcr the sum of Fifty
Dollars with giving proper security.”

At the meeting of 27th March, 1817, “a motion was made and
carried in the affirmative that Br. Benjamin Middough should have
an order from the Worshipful Master on the Treasurer for fifty
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pounds, N. Y. C,, by giving proper security.” This was certainly
going beyond the limits defined for the Craft in modern times.

All the meetings of this period were well attended, and it was

extraordinary the number of initiations and affiliations. At the
meeting of 24th June, 1817, * Mrs. Shannon for her kindness and
attention "’ was voted five dollars. At a committee meeting of 26th
June, 1817, “ Br. Burch was directed to answer .a letter received
from the lodge at Earnest Town,” and on the night of the 26th “a
Pprrinted letter was reccived and read from a Lodge at Earnest Town,”
and it was resolved that * it be laid before the Committee on Satur-
dlay, the sth July next, for to draft an answer.” There is neither a
xecord of this meeting nor a copy of the answer to the letter. This
1 etter from the lodge No. 13, at Earnestown, was the circular letter
<alling the Grand Masonic Convention at Kingston on the 17th
Auvugust, 1817. It is necdless to state that No. 12 did not attend.
"X he authority of the irregular Grand Lodge at Niagara did not recog-
maize the brethren who attempted at Kingston to reorganize the
Craft. As the reader will learn later, after the death of R. W. Bro.
Jarvis, lodge No. 13 issued a call for a convention at Kingston to
xeorganize the Provincial Grand Lodge and petition the Grand
X_odge of England for the appointment of another Provincial Grand
Nflaster.

On the 12th November, 1817, Bro. John Burch, the Provincial
Grand Sccretary of the Niagara body, issued a circular calling lodge
No. 12 to a quarterly communication at Niagara on the first Wednes-
day in December, and at the same time enclosing a printed copy of
the proceedings of the Grand Lodge of FEngland received “in the
time of the late war.” Bro. Burch states “ we transmitted one to
Kingston to No. 6 & 7 in the Bay of Quinty and No. 8 at York (the
officers of the above lodges formed a part of the committee out of
which the Grand Lodge of Niagara was constituted).” Bro. Burch
adds that answers had been received from Kingston, but that No. 6
thad come “ to no conclusion on the subject,” and had written to Eng-
land for information. There is nothing in the records extant of Nos.
G, 7 and 8, to indicate that they favored the Niagara Grand Lodge.
On the contrary these lodges were loyal to R. W. Bro. Jarvis.

At the meeting of 3oth November, 1817, it was resolved to carrv
**into effect the order from the Grand Lodge " and attend at Niagara
©on “ the 1st Wednesday in December.” At the mecting of 11th June,
1818, “ the seal of this lodge was lent to Br. John Burch for prefixing
it to a certificate.” On the 16th of July, 1818, “ a bill for three dollars
©n the Auburn bank, No. 7517. and also one on the Jefferson County
Bank for three dollars, No. 1896, were deposited in the Treasurer's
hands.” These bills were issued by the old State banks, which have
been supplanted by the National Banks in the United States.

On the 13th August, 1818, the lodge changed its mecting-place
to the house of Bro. Robert Pew, which was situated on lot 93, town-

ship of Stamford. one mile north of the Lundy Lane battle ground.
The lodge met at this place until the 31st January, 1822,

The record accompanying this history gives the dates of all
meetings of the lodge as far as known. The meetings were all of a
harinonious character and the amount of work done is significant of
the deep interest taken in Masonry by the brethren. On the 4th of
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February, 1819, they were determined to maintain the dignity of the
lodge, and, therefore, disciplined Bro. Hugh Rose, who, it is feared,
was inclined to occasionally stray beyond the bounds of moderation.
The minutes read:

House oF Bro. Rosert PEw, NEAR LunDY’s LANE.

——

“ Bro. Hugh Rose came before the lodge, his crime judicially stated to
him by the Worshipful Master, Bro. Hugh Rose acknowledged the justness
of the charge, pled inebriety and prayed the mercy of the lodge. The lodge
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well knowing the character of Bro. Rose to be that of an honest, and with
the exception of this charge, a true and faithful brother, freely pardoned the
insult in the charge and accepted him on the footing of a member of this
lodge.”

At the meeting of 25th November, 1819, the late treasurer, Bro.
Adam Bowman, was ordered to be notified that if “ he did not give
his note to the Treasurer for the amount of dues in his hand, with the
legal interest thereon.” Bro. Wareham Johnson for repeatedly dis-
obcying the order of the worshipful master of this lodge “ was sus-
pended for six months,” and Bro. Bragbill for non-attendance “ this
lodge thinks proper to state his contempt of orders to his lodge No.
2 for their consideration.” Bro. Bragbill was an affiliate, No. 2 being
his mother lodge. ’

Alter the record of the meeting of 27th December, 1819, in the
minute book, there appears this entry: “ Part of the proceedings of
Lodge No. 12, which met at Br. Robert Pew’s on the 27th January
were destroyed.” What remains in the blotter is as follows: “ To
labour to 9 o’clock.” This entry shows that a rough or draft minute
book was kept. The minutes of this date which remain, amongst other
things state that a motion was “ Carried in the affinnative that the
Lodge should pay Mr. Ferguson three dollars for his services on St.
John’s Day.”

On the 25th May, 1820, the lodge was notified to be present
at the next quarterly meeting of the Grand L.odge at Niagara. Bro.
Adam Bowman, the late treasurer, was not amenable to regulations,
for “ being particularly requested by the above members to settle his
old account” he “ utterly refused,” and at a committee meeting on
the 1oth June, “ Br. Lanty Shannon” was directed to prosecute for
the recovery of the same.

At the meeting of 17th August, 1820, it was resolved “to lend
Br. David Secord ten dollars out of the fund.” At the meeting of
15th February, 1821, a letter was read from the Grand Secretary oi
the Niagara Grand Lodge, informing No. 12 that ** the Grand War-
rant was now in possession of that lodge, and that a general meeting
of all the subordinate lodges was requested to attend the meeting of
the Grand Lodge in June next.” A committee meeting was held on
the 3rd March, 1821, to examine the accounts, finding “ £19. 2. 5 1,2
N. Y. C.,” due from the late treasurer, Adam Bowman, and on 15th
March, 1821, we find that Bro. Bowman paid over this amount.

The Red Meeting House, built about 1800 on lot 130 at the west
end of Lundy’s Lane, opposite the old Lundy house. one and a quar-
ter miles west of the Lundy’s Lane battle ground, in the township of
Stamford, was a building in which many of the members of the lodge
worshipped, and to which they marched in procession when the
festival of St. John was being commemorated.

The last meeting of which there is record is that of 31st January,
1822, at which a motion was “ made and carried that the Treasurer
should pay to Isaac Puffer three dollars for preaching on St. John'’s
Day.” At this meeting Br. William Roles was W. \l, Br. B. \id-
daugh, S. W., and Br. Josiah Brown was acting J. W., Robert Pew,
trcasurer, and Bro. Thomas Lundy, sccretarv. Of the brethren
present there were Bros. William Wilkins, William Stevenson, “ St
Johnsman,” Timothy Street, Peter Middaugh, and Stout More. “ St
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Tue Rep MeetTine Housg, StamMrForD, 1800-1840.
Johnsman.” A committee was appointed to settle the lodge accounts,
and the “lodge closed in good harmony ” until the “ Thursday pre-
vious to the next full moon, when every member shall have timely

This is the last written record in the minutes of No. 12. The
absence of the minute books prior to 1806 renders the record in-
complete regarding its formation. In the cash account of the treas-
There is no reference to lodge No. 12, at Stamford, in the proceed-
ings of the Provincial Grand Lodge organized by R. W. Bro. Simon
McGillivray in 1822. There was no lodge at that place until the
formation of St. Mark's lodge, No. 105, in 1858. A committec of
that lodge, consisting of Bros. James McGarry, JJW., and John
Roberts, was appointed to examine the papers and jewels of old No.
12, which had been presented to St. Mark’s lodge, No. 105, by Bro.
James Depew. In its report it is stated with regard to the property
of the lodge that

“We find in the parcel presented to us for our report the following,
viz.: Books and papers, eight red collars, to five of which are attached jew-
els, one senior and one junior Warden’s and one Treasurer's, also a Stew-
ard’s jewel; a squarc and a portion of a compass, a gavel and a chisel of
wood and five sheepskin aprons, very much worn.”

There were on the roll 104 members between the years 1806 and
1822.  Of these 61 were initiated and 6 affiliated in No. 12 during
this period, leaving 37 names on the roll as members at the date of the
earliest minutes extant. Of the 37 the minutes of the Mark Masters'
lodge, held under the warrant of No. 12, Stamford, show that 12
were members of the Craft lodge, No. 12, in 1803. There are 16
names on the roll of the Mark lodge not on that of the Craft lodge.
These brethren may or may not have becen members of No. 12 for
the Mark lodge drew its membership from the Craft lodges at
Queenston and Niagara, as in the case of Bros. John P. Clement and
TJames Cooper. The former was made a Mason in the lodge No. 156,
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in the 8th Regiment of Foot at Fort Niagara, in 1780, as is shown by
his certificate, and the latter was a member of lodge No. 2, in 1799,
also attested by his certificate. Both these certificates have been
preserved.

A GAVEL AND CHISEL oF WooD oF LonGe No. 12, STAMFORD.

Lodge No. 12 had a large number of visitors hetween 1803 and
1822, some 123, and of these 24 were from lodge No. 2, township of
Niagara; 5 from No. 4, Niagara; § hailed from the Grand Master’s
lodge at Niagara, and 32 came from miscellaneous forcign lodges and
15 from various Canadian lodges. It is worthy of note that the only
list of the membership of No. 2 after 1806 is that compiled from the
visitors’ book of No. 12, and that the only clue to the membership
of No. 9. in the township of Bertie; No. 4. in Niagara town, and the
grand Master’s lodge at Niagara, is also from the visiting book of

0. I2.

In some years the lodge accomplished morce than the average
amount of work. In 1806-7-8 there was only onec initiation in cach
year; in 1809 there were eight, while in 1810 there was one. and in
18:1, eleven. In 1812 the number of initiations was reduced to two,
the lodge only meeting part of this year; and in 1813-14. on account
of the war, the lodge work was suspended. In 1815 there was a revival
and eleven were brought in, while in 1816 the number increased to
thirteen; in 1817 there were three; in 1818, four; in 1819, two; in
1820, one; and in 1822, three. In some cases there are records of
the conferring of the E. A, but none of the F. C. or M. M., while in
others the record of E. A and F. C. is shown but none of the M. M.
The minutes are defective in the required dates.

There were 1go meetings held between 1806 and 1822, ¢xcept in
the period between 23rd July, 1812, and 15th June, 1815 Of the
190 meetings 18 were emergencies, and in the period of twelve years
the average number of meetings each year was ncarly 16, while the
average attendance of membership was about twclve or with visitors
about fifteen.

The roll of officers elected every six months at the meeting prior
to the festivals of St. John is fairly perfect. As W. M. Bro. M.
Middough held office for seven terms, and he also <erved in all the
offices except those of secretary and trcasurer. All those who held
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the office of S. W. reached the chair except seven. Bro. N. Cook was
secretary for eleven terms; Bro. Paxton for two; Bro. Burch, for
five, and Bro. T. Lundy for four. Bro. Lanty Shannon was treas-

I'n WHirLPOOL HoOTEL.

I

urer for fourteen terms; Bro. Bowman for seven, and Bro. R. Pew
for three. The honors were divided for the other offices. The tyler
does not seem to have been elected with the regularity of other
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officers, and the offices of senior and junior deacon were evidently
filled by brethren accurate in the floor work of the lodge, for, with the
exception of five, all the S. D.’s reached the chair.

A favorite place of resort for many of the Freemasons residing
in the Niagara district in the earlier days was the public house known
as “ The Whirlpool Hotel,” situated one mile west of the Whirlpool
on the west side of the bridge leading from the Queenston Heights to
Lundy’s Lane. It was built by Andrew Rosebank about 1816, and
was occupied by James Oswold for many years.

As a close to this history of lodge No. 12, it may be said that
St. Mark’s lodge, No. 105, Drummondville, being the legitimate
successor of “ the Lodge of Friends,” which met in the township of
Staniford, with the view of preserving the link which binds it to the
past, when applyini(for its dispensation in 1858 presented a memorial
asking the Grand Lodge of Canada to revive the old warrant, issued
by R. W. Bro. William Jarvis. In 1859 the Committee of Grand
Lodge on Warrants reported (p. 3904, Pro. 1859) that the “ old Jarvis
warrant of St. John’s Lodge, Stamford, County of Lincoln, recovered
by the brethren of St. Mark’s Lodge, Drummondyville, be retained in
the Archives of this Grand Lodge, and that $10.00, being the balance
due by St. Mark’s Lodge for their warrant, be remitted.’

The archives of the old lodge at Stamford show that there was
a Mark lodge held under the authority of Craft warrant No. 12, in the
township of Stamford, and while particulars regarding this Mark
lodge will be found in a History of Royal Arch Masonry in Canada,
in course of preparation, those members who belonged to both the
Craft and Mark lodges are specially indicated in the list.

Record of meetings, 1806-1822:

1806.—218¢ August, 23rd Oct., 20th Nov., 18th Dec. 1807.—22nd Jan., 19th
Feb., 1ah March, 16th April, 14th May, 24th June, 16th July, 13th August, 10th
Sept., 15th Oct, 12th Nov., 10th Dec. 1808.—7th Jan., 4th Feb., 10th March,
7th April, sth May, 2nd June, 3oth June, 4th August, 1st Sept, 29th Sept,
27th Oct., 1st Dec., 215t Dec., 29th Dec. 1809.—19th Jan., 2oth Jan., 23rd Feb,,
soth March. 27th April, 25th May, 22nd June, 24th June, 20th July, 19th Aug.,
23rd Aug.. 212t Sept., 19th Oct., 10th Nov., 14th Dec., 27th Dec. 1810.—18th
Jan., 1sth Feby. 1sth March, 12th April, 17th May, 14th June, 24th June, 12th
Juiy, oth Aug., 6th Sept., 11th Oct., 8th Nov., 6th Dec. 1811.—3rd Jan., 7th
Feb., 7th March, 4th April, 6th May, 3oth May, 4th July, 1st August, 15th
August, 20th August, 26th Sept., 24th Oct., 28th Nov., 26th Dec. 1812.—23rd
Jan., 20th Feb., 26th March, 23rd April, 21st May, 18th June, 23rd July. 1815.—
1sth June, 20th July, 17th August, 14th Sept., 30th Sept., 12th Oct., 20th Oct.,
oth Nov., 14th Dec., 27th Dec. 1816.—12th Jan., 8th Feb., 7th March, 4th
April, 11th April, gth May, 18th May, 6th June, 21st June, 24th June, 4th July,
1st August, sth Sept, 3rd Oct, 31st Oct.,, 28th Nov., 27th Dec. 1817.—2nd
Jan., 30th Jan., z7th Feb., 27th March, 24th April, 29th May, 24th June, 26th
June, 24th July, 1st August, 18th Sept., 23rd Oct., 30th Nov., 18th Dec., 27th
Dec. 1818 —i1sth Jan., 19th Feb., 19th March, 16th April, 14th May, 11th June,
and July, 16th July, 13th August, 22nd August, 10th Sept., 8th Oct., sth Nov,,
toth Dec., 19th Dec., 27th Dec. 1819.—7th Jan., 4th Feb., 6th March, 8th
April, 6th May, 3rd June, 1st July, 11th July, 20th July, 28th August, 28th Oct..
2sth Nov., 27th Dec. 1820.—27th Jan., 23rd Feb., 23rd March, 27th April,
asth May, 10th June, 22nd June, 24th June, 20th July, 17th August. 215t Sept.,
19th Oct., 10th Nov.. 15th Dec., 27th Dec. 1821.—15th Feb.. 15th March, 17th
April, 25th April, 1oth May, 19th May, 14th June, 4th July, 4th Oct.. &h Nov.
6th Dec., 27th Dec. 1822.—31st Jan.
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CHAPTER XXXIIL

LopGe No. 13, . R,, TownsHIir oF ELIzABETHTOWN, COUNTY OF
LeEeps, 1799-1803.—A CrRAFT CENTRE FOR A CENTURY.—A
CERTIFICATE OF 1801I.

The Johnstown district comprised in 1792-1841 the counties of
Leeds and Grenville. In Leeds there were eleven townships, of
which Bastard, Elizabethtown, Kitley, Leeds and Yonge had Craft
lodges, as well as the town of Brockville, which is also in Leeds
county. There are three lodges concerned in connection with lodge
No. 13, in the county of Leeds, viz.: New Oswegatchie, No. 7, a
lodge of American origin, in Elizabethtown; lodge No. 2, Harmony
lodge in Kitley, and lodge No. 13, in Elizabethtown, to which this
chapter is devoted.

A peculiarity connected with the history of these lodges is that
although they worked in three different places, the one minute book
contains records of all three. This book embraces 168 pages. Of
these the first 35 are devoted to the records of New Oswegatchie
from 10th October, 1787, until 13th September, 1791.

At the head of the 36th page are four lines which read: “ Har-
mony Masonic Lodge, Dr. 1839 to Br. Wm. W. Howard for expenses
of sd lodge and clearances from Farmersville, £8. 15. 0.”

The book was then reversed and the minutes of “ Lodge No. 13,
County of Leeds,” August 1799, are given and occupy 133 pages,
continuing until 6th August, 1803.

This is followed by four pages of a cash account, after which
there are 38 pages of a cash account of Harmony lodge from June
sth, 1836, until 22nd January, 1839, and the line “ carried to book the
second ” on the same page as contains the record of the “ clearances
from Farmersville.”

These details are important as they give a direct clue to the
connection of these three lodges.

Many years ago an article appeared in the Brockville “ Re-
corder,” edited by Bro. D. Wylie, which contained references to the
existence of New Oswegatchie, No. 7, Harmony, No. 2, Kitley, and
Sussex lodge, No. 5, of Brockville. The information was furnished
by the late Bro. Adiel Sherwood, whose father was a member and
P. M. of No. 7. In this article referring to the New Oswegatchie
lodge, No. 7, the statement is made that many of the members being
“half pay officers they did not like the idea of their lodge bearing
paternity from the United States, consequently application was made
for a dispensation or warrant from the Grand Lodge of England. and
this was obtained in 1790, which cancelled the existence of New
Oswegatchie, No. 7, and gave place to Harmony No. 2.” The asser-
tion is also made in the same article that No. 7 was succeeded by
lodge, No. 2, in that “ this lodge (No. 7) was continued until a political
feeling was introduced, which despite the efforts of the Master, Col.
McCrea, of Kitley, ultimately spread to such an extent that the war-
rant was retired and the lodge broken up.” There is, however, no
trace of the work of Harmony lodge from 1791-2 until 1838, and then
the records are scant.
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The lodge, however, about which this chapter is concerned and
which was assuredly connected with New Oswegatchie, No. 7, and
Harmony, No. 2, is lodge No. 13, in the county of Leeds, which was
warranted by R. W. Bro. William Jarvis about 1799.

There were up to the end of 1799 fifteen numbered warrants
issued by R. W. Bro. Jarvis, the last being Grimsby, No. 15, which
was warranted in December, 1799. The lodge No. 13 was warranted
about 1798 and the official circular from the Provincial Grand Lodge
at Niagara issued in August, 1800, gives “ No. 13, New Johnstown,”
and in another official list, issued on April 6th, 1801, it is given as
“ No. 13, Elizabethtown.”

Elizabethtown is a township of the county of Leeds, one of the
two counties forming the Johnstown district. The official list from
Niagara on 29th March, 1802, gives “ No. 13, Elizabethtown,” but
on the 10th February, 1804, at the meeting of the Provincial Grand
Lodge which R. W. Bro. Jarvis held at York the minutes give
“ No. 13, Elizabethtown, warrant delivered in,” and on the 11th Feb-
ruary, 1804, one day later, a warrant, No. 13, was issued for.a lodge
at Ernestown.

So that, if New Oswegatchie, No. 7, was succeeded by Har-
mony No. 2, it was only in this regard that some of the member-
ship, headed by Bro. McCrea received a warrant from some source
not unlikely the Grand Lodge at Quebec and opened at Kitley, for
there existed a Harmony lodge in that district until 184s.

To return to No. 13—it met in 1799 at the house of David
Kilborn, which was in the township of Elizabethtown, two miles
from Brockville. The first minutes extant are those of August, 1799,
and the meeting of which they are a record was not for the pur-
pose of organization. The minutes of the first meetings must be in
book No. 2, which has disappeared.

The first minutes read:

Lodge No. 13th, County of Leeds, 1st Saturday in August, the 3rd, 1799.
Lodge at Brother D. Kilburn’s. Present: Wp'fl T. Sherwood, M. Edwd.
J. Jessup, Junr. S. Wn.,, H. Landon, Jr. Wn., Peter Howard, Secty, .Bems-
lee Buell, S. D., Brothers Benj. Andrews, David Ratbern, Archibald Mec-
Lauren, Jonathan Mills Church, Phillip Matison, Isaac Booth, Visiting
Brother, Br. Thos. Dash, Dr. Basil Rorison, Br. Jacob Postman, Br. Joha
Stugmay. Lodge opened, and lack one took their places and proceeded to
l;’usinm The by-laws Read and approved of Lodge closed in peace and

armony.

The only indication that this may have been the first meeting
is the reference to the bylaws of the lodge. These, however, may
have been drafted and considered at an earlier date or may have
been amended rules. Thos. Sherwood was the master of QOswe-
gatchie lodge in 1789. The lodge met, as has been stated, at the
house of Bro. David Kilborn, who was the third son oi Benjamin
Kilborn, a U. E. Loyalist. His residence was on lot 4, 1 con,, in
Elizabethtown, adjoining Augusta, a couple of miles from Brock-
vilee. He had command of Fort Oswego, when Sir Guy Carleton
was capturing Carlton Island and Oswegatchie, now Ogdensburgh.
Bro. Kilborn also fought at all the battles of the Niagara district.
Bro. Basil Rorison was a captain in the Queen’s Rangers. when the

46
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regiment fought with Lord Cornwallis’ army. After the revolution-
ary war, Bro. Rorison settled in Leeds, and his wife bore the first
female white child born in Leeds or Grenville, on lot 4, 1st concession
of Elizabethtown.

The first male child born there was James Sherwood, son of
Thomas Sherwood, W. M. of lodge No. 13.

An autograph letter from Bro. James M. Rorison, uncle of
Bro. Basil Rorison, was found some months ago, and with it a cer-
tificate of St. John’s Royal Arch lodge No. 16 at York, in 1800,
both of which are of interest, the one from the sentiments expressed
by a brother in his ninetieth year, and the other because few of its
kind are in existence. Fac-similes of these will be found in the
chapter devoted to Royal Arch lodge No. 16.

Edward Jessup was a major in the colonial corps known as
“The Loyal American Regiment.” He was born in Fairfield, Conn.,
1735. At the time of the revolutionary war, he was residing in Al-
bany. He entered the service of the King, sacrificed his fortune,
including a grant of 500,000 acres of land, and joined Burgoyne’s
army. He raised the corps, known as Jessup’s Rangers, and, after
the war, settled on lots 1, 2 and 3, 1st concession, Augusta, county
of Grenville. In 1810, he had a town lot surveyed, in front of lots
Nos. 2 and 3, which he named Prescott, in honor of a British offi-
cer of that name. Bro. Heman Landon resided on concession 2.
lot 5, E. 1-2 100 acres, Elizabethtown, land which was patented on
the 6th March, 1798.

The minutes of the second meeting read:

Lodge No. 13, County of Leeds, first Saturday in Sept., 1799. Lodge
opened at Brother David Kilborn’s an Enteredly Apprentice’s Lodge in due
form. Present: Br. Thos. Sherwood, W. M., Br. Heman Landon, S. W,,
Pro tem, Br. David Kilbarn, J. W., Pro tem, Br. Mills Church, Tyler, Br.
Peter Howard, Secty, Br. Phillip Matison, Proceeded to business, by-laws
read (and) approved. and signed, an Enteredly Apprentice’s Lecture given
by the W. Master. Lodge closed at half after nine in peace and harmony.

It will be noted that the by-laws were read, approved, and
signed. The minutes of the succeeding meetings were of an unim-
portant character, the average attendance was eighteen, and the
time was devoted to routine, and the conferring of degrees, with
occasional lectures by the W. M. On this occasion, an ‘“ Enteredly”
Apprentice lecture was given. On the 27th December, 1799. the
election of officers for the ensuing year took place.

The minutes of 27th December, 1799, record the election of
officers, Bro. Edward Jessup, Jr., being W. M. for the ensuing six
months. On the 4th January, 1800, Jonathan and James Dunham
were proposed and accepted, but John Gardner was not accepted.
Levi Comstock was also proposed, but “ unanimously agreed by the
body to be omitted until the next night in February or called for.”
This meant in part a postponement of the ballot, but the term
“called for " is unknown to all but the worthy secretarv of » cen-
tury ago. :

At the meeting of s5th April, 1800. Bro. Adiel Sherwood. son
of W. Bro. Thos. Sherwood, the W. M., was balloted for and ac-
cepted. On the 3rd May, William Kilborn was bhalloted for. but not
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accepted, and a similar fate awaited Levi Comstock and Ruggles
Hunsal. At the meeting of 7th June Bro. Heman Landon was
elected W. M. for the ensuing six months, along with the other
officers of the lodge. :

The minutes of 23rd August, are dated at “ Elizabethtown,” as
are also those of 6th September, 1800. At the latter meeting the
lodge “ voted to give our consent to have the Grand Lodge moved
to York.” There was at this time the dispute between the brethren
at York and those at Niagara as to the location of the Provincial
Grand Lodge.

At the meeting of sth July, 1800, the concluding portion of the
minutes reads:

“Called from labor to refreshment for a small space of time. Called
from refreshment to labor—Voted, that, when any brother, by misfortune,
or otherwise, shall break a glass, shall make it good.”

And in September the lodge showed its allegiance to consti-
tuted authority, for at the meeting held in

* Elizabethtown, 6th Sept., 1800, 6 o'clock, P. M. Opened on the first
step of Masonry. Voted to give our consent to have the Grand Lodge
moved to York. Application made to alter the by-laws, by Adiel Sherwood,
and Jonathan M. Church—voted that B. Jessup pay his fine for nonattend-
ance last Lodge night. Called from labor to refreshment. Called from re-
freshment to labor.”

The next meeting which seems to have been important was
that of 1st November, 1800. Bro. W. McKay, of Kingston, the
Superintendent of Inland Navigation for the government, had been
appointed Deputy Grand Secretary by the Provincial Grand Lodge
and had applied to No. 13 for payment of their annual fees on which
it was *“ Voted by the body that Br. Barthw. Carlev should go for-
ward with 